

Agricultural Attache U.S. Department of Agriculture Journal of Embersy of the United States of America Banglick, Taailand.

Sompremonto or

DAIRY SCIENCE

√Vol. 45

September, 1962

Number 9

CONTENTS

PEOPLE AND EVENTS	4
GENERAL INTEREST:	
Symposium: Education for Leadership in Dairying in Latin America. K. L. Turk, Moderator	109
Call for Papers for the 1963 Annual Meeting, A.D.S.A. Stanley Musgrave	137
Price Schedule for Reprints. H. F. Judkins	139
Fifty-seventh Annual Meeting	140
RESEARCH PAPERS:	
Heat Denaturation of β-Lactoglobulins A and B. Patricia Gough and Robert Jenness	.033
Influence of Homogenization, Copper, and Ascorbic Acid on Light-Activated	
Flavor in Milk. W. L. Dunkley, J. D. Franklin, and R. M. Pangborn	.040
High-Temperature–Short-Time Sterilized Evaporated Milk. IV. The Re- tardation of Gelation with Condensed Phosphates, Manganous Ions, Polyhydric Compounds, and Phosphatides.	
Abraham Leviton and M. J. Pallansch	045
Carbohydrate Metabolism of Lactic Acid Cultures. I. Effects of Antibiotics on the Glucose, Galactose, and Lactose Metabolism of Streptococcus lactis.	1057
K. M. Shahani and J. R. Vakil	.037
G. K. Murthy, J. E. Gilchrist, and J. E. Campbell 1	.066
Determination of Protein-Reducing Substance Values of Milk by Ferri- cyanide Reduction Methods. I. I. Peters	075
Cómparison of Orange G Dye, Formol Titration, and Kjeldahl Methods for	
Milk Protein Determinations. L. S. Castillo, G. W. Trimberger, C. R. Henderson, B. L. Herrington,	1079
Metabolism of Bovine Semen. XII. Galactose as an Indicator of Hexose Transport by Bovine Spermatozoa. R. J. Flipse	1083
Reasons for Disposal of Dairy Cows from New York Herds.	087
Effect of Deoxyribonuclease on the California Test for Mastitis. E. J. Carroll and O. W. Schalm	1094
Increased Lactation Response in Cattle with Thyroxine 50% Above Thy- roxine Secretion Rate. B. N. Premachandra and C. W. Turner	1098

(Continued on inside front cover)

CONTENTS

(Continued from front cover)

Thyrotropic Hormone Secretion in Cattle After Prolonge Therapy and After Complete Withdrawal. B. N. Premachandra and C. W. Turner	d Thy	yroxin	e . 1102
TECHNICAL NOTES:			
Whey Yeast Rat-Feeding Study. A. N. Booth, D. J. Robbins, and A. E. Wasserman			. 1106
Use of Digestible Dry Matter by Dairy Cows Group-Fed Silag M. E. McCullough	;e.		. 1107
SYMPOSIUM: Education for Leadership in Dairying in Latin Ame See under General Interest	erica.	•	. 1109
ASSOCIATION AFFAIRS:			
Surmounting Local, State, Inter-State and Regional Problems Revising, Reorganizing, Consolidating Dairy Science De			
G. M. Worrilow	• •	•	. 1131
Call for Papers for the 1963 Annual Meeting, A.D.S.A. See under General Interest	• •	•	. 1137
Price Schedule for Reprints	•••	•	. 1139
Fifty-seventh Annual Meeting	• •	·	. 1140
BOOK REVIEW			. 1158

IOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE OFFICIAL PUBLICATION OF THE

AMERICAN DAIRY SCIENCE ASSOCIATION SINCE 1917 E. O. HERREID, Editor-in-Chief, University of Illinois Editorial Address: Station A, Box 250, Champaign, Illinois Phone: 367-7073 and 333-0155

EDITORIAL BOARD

R. E. ELY

Reno, Nevada

C. K. JOHNS

Ottawa, Canada

J. E. LEGATES

Raleigh, N. C.

M. L. SPECK

Raleigh, N. C.

H. D. EATON

Storrs, Connecticut

Robert Jenness

St. Paul, Minnesota

F. A. KUMMEROW

Urbana, Illinois

L. H. SCHULTZ

Madison, Wisconsin

U. S. ASHWORTH Pullman, Washington E. L. JACK

Davis. California

MARK KEENEY College Park, Maryland

E. P. REINEKE

East Lansing, Michigan EVERT WALLENFELDT Madison, Wisconsin

G. M. WARD Manhattan, Kansas

COMMITTEE ON JOURNAL MANAGEMENT

II. A. HERMAN, Chairman

8 North Ninth St., Columbia, Mo.

J. E. LEGATES E. O. HERREID, ex officio F. J. DOAN, Advisor B. H. WEBB H. F. JUDKINS, ex officio

OFFICERS OF THE ASSOCIATION

I. W. RUPEL, President Department of Dairy Science, Texas A & M College, College Station, Texas H. F. JUDKINS, Sec.-Treas. 32 Ridgeway Circle, White Plains, N. Y.

S. T. COULTER, Vice-President Department of Dairy Industries, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minn. E. O. HERREID, Editor-in-Chief

RAYMOND ALBRECTSEN Ithaca, N.Y. C. W. NIBLER Lincoln, Nebr. E. O. HERREID, ex officio

E. L. JACK Davis, Calif. N. L. JACOBSON J. T. REID Ithaca, N.Y.

H. F. JUDKINS, ex officio

ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

General Advertising

Space	1 Time	6 Times	12 Times
One Page	\$150.00	\$132.00	\$108.00
Half Page	99.00	87.00	72.00
Quarter Page	52,20	46.20	39.00

Advertising plates, copy, insertion orders, contracts, and requests for information relating to advertising in the Journal should be addressed to the Journal of Dairy Science in care of The Garrard Press, 510-524 North Hickory Street, Champaign, Illinois.

Nonmember Subscriptions

Nomember subscriptions are \$20.00 per volume in the United States and Canada; \$20.50 in all other coun-tries, net and postpaid. New subscriptions and renewals begin with the first issue of the current volume. Renewals should be sent in by December 1 of the current year for the following calendar year to avoid a break in the series. Subscriptions should be sent to Claude Cruse, The Garrard Press, 510-524 North Hickory Street, Champaign, Illinois.

Subscriptions for the British Isles and the British Em-re should be ordered through our agents: Messrs. Bailpire should be ordered through our agents: Messrs. Bail-liere, Tindall and Cox, 7 and 8 Henrietta Street, Covent Garden, London, W.C. 2, England. Subscriptions for Aus-tralia should be sent to our agent: John H. Bryant, Herbert Street, St. Leonards, N.S.W., Australia.

Changes of mailing addresses, post office notices of un-deliverable copies, inquiries about copies lost in the mail and all other matters pertaining to the mailing list for nonmember subscribers should be sent to The Journal of Dairy Science in care of The Garrard Press at the above address. Claims for copies of the Journal of Dairy Sci-ence lost in the mails must be received within 30 days of address must be received within 30 days of address must be received date of issue.

Memberships

Membership dues in the Association are \$12.50 a year and should be sent to H. F. Judkins, Sceretary-Treasurer, 32 Ridgeway Circle, White Plains, New York. Renewal should be made not later than December 1 each year.

Changes of mailing addresses, inquiries about copies lost in the mail, requests of back copies and all other matters pertaining to the mailing list for members of the American Dairy Science Association should be sent to Dr. Judkins at the above address. Claims for copies of the Journal of Dairy Science lost in the mails must be received within 30 days (90 days foreign) of the date of issue. Notice of change of address must be received two weeks before date of issue.

Form 3579 to be returned to Garrard Press

Journal of Dairy Science is published monthly by the American Dairy Science Association and printed by The Garrard Press, 510-524 North Hickory Street, Champaign, Illinois.

Second class postage paid at Champaign, Illinois.

Copyright, 1962, by the American Dairy Science Association. Printed in the U. S. A.

Ithaca, New York O. W. KAUFMANN East Lansing, Michigan DURWARD OLDS

Lexington, Ky.

WILLIAM HANSEL

R. W. TOUCHBERRY Urbana, Illinois

> C. A. ZITTLE Philadelphia, Pa.

S. T. COULTER

St. Paul, Minn.

Champaign, Ill.

Ames, Iowa

DIRECTORS

W. M. ROBERTS Raleigh, N. C.

INSTRUCTIONS TO CONTRIBUTORS

The Style Manual for Biological Journals 'has been adopted as the guide for authors.' Publication of papers is limited to members of A.D.S.A., but only one author of a joint paper need be a member. Those of outstanding merit may be accepted from nonmembers. Papers when accepted become the copyright of the JOURNAL and can be reprinted only by the Garrard Press. Reproduction of graphs, tables, and illustrations for books and other periodicals may be authorized by the Editor-in-Chief.

ORGANIZATION OF PAPERS

- 1. Title should appear at the top of the first page, be as brief as possible, and be indicative of the research, followed by the author(s) name(s) and affiliation(s).
- 2. Summary and its preparation.
 - a. There are three reasons for the summary: first, convenience to readers; second, reduce costs and expedite work of abstracting journals; and third, to disseminate scientific information.
 - b. The summary should be brief, specific, and factual. It should not exceed 200 to 225 words.
 - c. The opening sentence should state the research objectives, but the title *should* not be repeated.
 - d. It should be intelligible without reference to the original paper and contain complete sentences and standard terminologies. It should be assumed that the reader has some knowledge of the subject.
 - e. The author(s) should emphasize newly discovered facts and observations, unique apparatus and techniques, numerical data with statistics, physical-chemical constants, and new methods and their accuracy.
 - f. References to earlier work should be omitted, except in most unusual cases.
- 3. Statement of the problem, pertinent investigations, and reasons for the study.
- 4. Experimental procedures.
- 5. Results.
- 6. Discussion. (5 and 6 may be combined.)
- 7. Conclusions.
- 8. Acknowledgments.
- References. All references must have author(s) name(s), name of periodical, volume, page number, and year of publication. If a book, publisher's name and address must be added.

¹American Institute for Biological Sciences, 2000 P Street, N. W., Washington, D. C. Price \$3.

³J. Dairy Sci., 44: 1788. 1961.

- 10. Manuscripts must be typed double-spaced ^a on 8½- by 11-inch bond paper. Lines on each page should be numbered from 1 to 26 or 28, to make it easier for the Editorial Board to review papers. The side margins should be one inch wide. Clipped-to, pasted-on, and written insertions are not acceptable. Do not staple pages together.
- Figures (graphs) should be made with black 11. India ink on white drawing paper, tracing paper, or blue linen and the sheets should not exceed 81/2 by 11 inches. Graph papers with yellow, green, and red lines should not be used, because the lines cannot be filtered out. Curves should be identified with the symbols \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \bigcirc , \square , \blacksquare , \triangle , \blacktriangle , \blacktriangledown , +, or \times , and they should be about 0.8 mm thick, for the axes about 0.5 mm thick, and for grid lines about 0.4 mm thick. Grid lines are necessary only if readings are to be made from the curves. Letters on the abscissae, ordinate, and the figure should be in upper case and be about 3 by 5 mm and about 0.5 mm thick, to be readable when graphs are reduced to column width. Titles for figures (graphs) must be on separate sheets. Following is a well-made figure reduced to size of the printed page:



FIG. 1. Acetic and butyric acids in raw and pasteurized milk Cheddar cheese during ripening (milligrams in distillate obtained from 150 g of cheese oil).

12. Tables should be numbered on the center of the page with the title immediately below, and each table should be typed on a separate sheet of 8½- by 11-inch bond paper. They should be placed together at the end of the manuscript.

³ Multilithing on bond paper is acceptable.

Titles should indicate the content of tables and facilitate comparisons, show relationships clearly, be self-explanatory, and save space. Label heading and subheadings accurately and concisely with the data centered under them. Use correct abbreviated dimensions. Data should be referred to and discussed but not repeated in the text, and they should be presented in only significant digits within the accuracy of the methods. Use the metric system whenever possible. Do not use vertical lines and only a minimum of horizontal ones.

Tables are costly. Use graphs whenever possible.

- 13. Colored illustrations can be reproduced. Authors should submit detailed specifications to the editor and costs will be supplied.
- 14. Abbreviations for titles of periodicals and

for botanical, chemical, physical, mathematical, and statistical terms should conform to those in the Style Manual for Biological Journals.

- 15. Terms such as Cottage cheese, Cheddar cheese, Limburger cheese, etc., should be capitalized as indicated. Butteroil, skimmilk, buttermilk, etc., should be written as one word. Milk fat has replaced butterfat.
- 16. Critical reading of papers, before they are submitted, by persons other than the author(s) will help to clarify statements and eliminate errors.
- 17. All manuscripts should be submitted to the Editor-in-Chief in duplicate.
- Receipt of manuscripts will be acknowledged. Authors will be notified within 30 to 60 days of the action taken by the Editorial Staff.

Back Numbers of Journal Needed

Certain numbers of the Journal of Dairy Science are needed to maintain an inventory and to take care of orders. If any of the numbers listed are available and of no further use to the owners, please send them to the Garrard Press, 510 North Hickory Street, Champaign, Illinois. Seventy-five cents plus postage will be paid for each number.

> 1919—January, March, May, July, September, November 1920—January, March, May, July, September, November 1921—January, March, May, July, September, November 1922—January, May 1923—January, March, May, July, September, November 1924—January, May, July, November 1925—January, July, September 1926—January, March, May, July, November 1928—January 1930-November 1931—January, March, May, November 1932—July, September, November 1934-October 1938-November, December 1943—January, February, March, April, August, December 1946—January, March, April 1947—January, February, March, April, May, June, December

Annual Report National Student Branch The American Dairy Science Association

During the past year, the National Student Branch made great strides in establishing itself as an intricate part of the American Dairy Science Association. The Executive Board of the Student Branch recognized the assistance of the faculty advisors and the student affiliate chapters in the progress made during the year.

A program planning meeting was held in Washington, D. C., October, 1961, to lay the groundwork for the Annual Meeting held at the University of Maryland, June, 1962. The tentative program drawn up at the Washington meeting was presented to the program planning committee meeting of the senior organization, held at Chicago. The purpose of this procedure was to coordinate sectional meetings and to avoid serious conflicts.

Between November and June details for the annual meeting were completed by correspondence. All of the year's activities were finalized by tying all ends together at the executive board meeting on Sunday, June 17, 1962. A detailed program for the week was prepared, including the appointment of a nominating committee consisting of Keith Jenkins, Joseph Lineweaver, Camilla Cristman, and Dr. J. T. Lazar.

In the short span of time much was accomplished at the business meetings. (1) It was decided to obtain the Student Affiliate pins from a Japanese company and to sell them for \$1 each to all student affiliate members. (2) The Student Branch Organization agreed to cooperate with Mr. W. W. Snyder, Editor of the Student News Section of the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE, in featuring an affiliated chapter each month under the title of Spotlight. (3) The Secretary-Treasurer was instructed to send a copy of the minutes of all meetings of the student branch association to each affiliate chapter.

Dr. G. H. Porter discussed the judging and evaluation of the annuals and scrapbooks in conjunction with the Chapter Awards. Points which he made that should be kept in mind for another year were: (1) neatness; (2) highlighting activities; (3) the number of members participating in activities; and (4) uniformity and continuity by using the same type or style of writing throughout the entire report. The Student Affiliate Chapter Award was presented to the Georgia Dairy Science Club for the second consecutive year. Awards of merit were given to the Louisiana, Mississippi, and Virginia Chapters for their outstanding work.

The Graduate Student Scientific paper presentation program was considered a success this year. R. L. Bradley, of Michigan State University, received the \$100 prize in the Manufacturing Section, and D. E. Otterby, of North Carolina State, won the award for the outstanding paper in the Production Section.

E. C. Flounders from Abbott's Dairies, Philadelphia, addressed the Student Affiliate luncheon, attended by 160 affiliates and guests. The main points he discussed under his topic, What Management Expects from the College Graduate, were:

1. Intelligence

2. Ability to handle people

- 3. Ability to adapt to the job
- 4. Ability to communicate
- 5. Ability to analyze

The Thursday morning breakfast was attended by 65 persons. The primary purpose of the program was to recognize those who helped make the third annual meeting a success. Dr. J. B. Mickle, senior advisor, and Miss Rebecca Murray, Maryland's Dairy Princess, were both honored. Miss Louise Knolle, American Dairy Association Princess, was honored earlier in the week. The present officers, advisors, Senior Branch Executive Board, and Past Presidents were each recognized.

Election of officers was held Thursday, June 21, with each represented chapter having one vote. The officers elected for 1962-1963 were: President: Norris Nichols—Oklahoma; 1st Vice-President: Robert Smariga—Maryland; 2nd Vice-President: Robert Allard—Ohio; 3rd Vice-President: Robert Rosser—Oklahoma; Secretary-Treasurer: Marie Jarvinen—Minnesota.

At the close of the Anual Meeting, the old and new officers and advisors met to discuss the pros and cons of this past year's program while making recommendations for the 1963 program to be held at Purdue University.

> CAMILLA CRISTMAN Secretary-Treasurer National Student Branch, A.D.S.A.

UNIVERSITY NEWS

Wisconsin Offers New Program in Endocrinology

The University of Wisconsin Graduate School at Madison announces a Postdoctoral Training Program in Endocrinology. Its purpose is to increase qualified personnel for teaching and carrying on research in endocrinology. Breadth of training will be emphatory research, seminars, colloquia, workshops, and teaching under the coordinated auspices of faculty members from the colleges of Letters and Science, Medicine, and Agriculture. Medical candidates may obtain postdoctoral training in clinical endocrinology and metabolism. Examples of current research are studies having to do with the purification, biological Solves Expansion Problems



problem 1: Find extra storage space for raw milk (None available in plant)

answer:

Store raw milk outside-two 12,000 gallon CP Stainless Steel Vertical Cylindrical Storage Tanks - refrigerated for ammonia cooling -- (photo, left) are close-mounted to outside of building.

Save space inside — integral alcoves, (photo, right) recessed in wall of processing room, provide ready access to storage tank manhole doors and valves. Tanks are equipped with C.I.P. spray units.

problem 2: Increase pasteurizing capacity

answer:

Pre-plan for Economical Expansion—CP "Cres-cent" HTST Plate Pasteurizer (photo, left) proc-esses milk at rate of 30,000 lbs. per hour, and

provides for further expansion by addition of plates.

CP "Vac-Heat" Product Treating System (photo, right) treats milk at rate of 30,000 lbs. per hour and will handle increased capacity when needed.



CP Engineering and equipment meets today's and tomorrow's needs ... economically

THE Creamery Package MFG. COMPANY Subsciences of the Complimental of t Compliments of the Agricultural Attache

U.S. Department of Agriculture Embassy of the United States of America Banghok, Thailand.



action, and chemistry of pituitary gonadotropic hormones, maintenance and activity of the corpus luteum, delayed implantation, chronic obesity, nutritional effects on pituitary-gonad relationships, prenatal mortality, and neural control of pituitary function, stress and adrenal function in birds.

Candidates for 'postdoctoral traineeships (M.D., Ph.D., D.V.M.) will be selected on the basis of professional promise and career interest. Appointments will carry a yearly stipened of \$6,500. Applicants may apply any time during the year. Notification of appointments will be made December 1 and April 1, with the traineeship to begin either July 1 or September 1.

Send inquiries and requests for applications to W. H. McShan, Birge Hall, University of Wisconsin, Madison 6, Wisconsin.

Dr. L. H. Schultz Speaker at Crusade Against Mastitis

DR. L. H. SCHULTZ, professor of dairy husbandry, University of Wisconsin, was one of the principal speakers at the kick-off meeting of the Crusade Against Mastitis, launched July 24-25 by Babson Bros. Dairy Research Service at North Aurora, Ill.

Also present were DR. J. L. ALBRIGHT, assistant professor of dairy husbandry, University of Illinois, and his former mentor, DAVE RISLING, instructor in dairying, Modesto Junior College, Modesto, Calif.

In addition to his illustrated talk on Mechanical Milking, Dr. Schultz presented results of a study made of the mastitis situation on 45 dairy farms in the Madison area. Two significant points were observed: Those dairy farms with relatively poor sanitation practices had more cases of mastitis than those using a good sanitation program. Also, there was a close correlation between vacuum fluctuations in milking systems and herds with extensive mastitis.

Speaking on the Necessity for Mastitis Control was CLARENCE LUCHTERHAND, chief of milk certification, State of Wisconsin. He advocated following the recommendations of the National Mastitis Council, Inc., in a program of education among these in all occupations connected in any way with milk production.

L. A. BROOKS, professor of agricultural engineering, showed how to gauge and test various milking systems for efficiency. C. W. BURCH, department of veterinary science, gave the results of Mastitis Control Field Trials and summarized the Wisconsin Mastitis Control Program.

University of Kentucky Helps Sponsor Dairy Research Field Days

Progress in dairy research was taken to dairymen of Western Kentucky by means of two field days sponsored jointly by the Department of Dairy Science, University of Kentucky, Western Kentucky State College, and Murray State College.

The state colleges were hosts on successive days, with inspection of their dairy facilities the high light of the morning programs. BILLY ADAMS, Professor of Dairying at Western State College, Bowling Green, headed the program at that school, and E. B. Howron, Head of the Agricultural Department at Murray State College, Murray, was in charge of the program there.

In the afternoon of each day DR. LOUIS BOYD, Associate Professor of Dairying, University of Tennessee, discussed Efficiency of Roughage Utilization by Dairy Cattle. DR. D. M. SEATH, DR. DURWARD OLDS, and DR. D. R. JACOBSON of the Department of Dairy Science at the University described research and results of research being conducted in Lexington.

These first dairy field days held in this part of the state attracted over 150 dairymen and their families at Bowling Green and over 180 at Murray. This is the initial phase of a plan to alternate field days in various parts of the state in an effort to inform more dairymen about the results of recent research in dairy production.

Kentucky Appoints Dr. J. C. Wilk

DR. J. C. WILK, former instructor at the University of Minnesota, has joined the staff of the Department of Dairy Science of the University of Kentucky. He will be an extension specialist for 4-H dairy projects and breed improvement.

A native of Clearwater, Kansas, Dr. Wilk was raised on his family's farm and for 9 yr was either member or leader in 4-H club work. After receiving a bachelor of science degree from Kansas State University in 1951, he operated a dairy farm for 3 yr, served in the U. S. Marine Corps for 2 yr, and was with the American Jersey Cattle Club at Columbus, Ohio for 2 yr. Since 1958, he has been with the University of Minnesota where he received his M.S. and Ph.D. degrees in the field of dairy breeding. He is a member of Alpha Zeta and Gamma Sigma Delta.

The position Dr. Wilk will assume at Kentucky was that held by GARLAND BESTIN, who was recently advanced to district supervisor of county agents.

Kentucky to Sponsor Dairy Manufacturing Conference

Representatives of several universities, of industry, and of government will be featured on the staff of the Annual Dairy Manufacturing Conference of the University of Kentucky.



A scene from the last Dairy Industries Exposition in Atlantic City

Inis... is where the Freeway to Progress begins! Atlantic City's mammoth Convention Hall, where the Dairy Industries Exposition will open on Sunday, October 28 and run through Friday, November 2, 1962. 350 displays of every item of equipment, every supply, every service needed for To-day's—and Tomorrow's—dairy industries. If you're in the dairy industries, you *belong* in Atlantic City during the week of the Exposition and nine concurrent conventions! *Be sure you're there*.

For a booklet describing the Show, write the Exposition's sponsor:

DAIRY INDUSTRIES SUPPLY ASSOCIATION

1145 19th Street, N.W., Washington 6, D. C.



The conference, sponsored jointly by the Dairy Products Association of Kentucky and the University's Department of Dairy Science, will be held Nov. 19 and 20, 1962. The meeting place will be on the University campus at Lexington.

The two-day program has been streamlined to include meetings on all products in major production in the state. There will be included a chocolate ice cream clinic and a Cottage cheese clinic led by outstanding experts in the field.

For further information contact DR. A. W. RUDNICK, JR., Department of Dairy Science, University of Kentucky, Lexington.

Washington State University Dairy Team Named

An interdepartmental dairy committee has been formed to develop a teamwork attack on problems affecting Washington State's dairy industry.

Announcement of the committee was made by L. L. MADSEN, director of WSU's Institute of Agricultural Sciences, following a meeting of various faculty groups interested in the problem. The committee includes: DR. ELMER SEARLS, Extension marketing specialist, Puyallup, chairman; and DR. MARY ROSE GRAM, nutritionist, College of Home Economics; DR. T. H. BLOSSER, dairy science department chairman and DR. E. J. WORKING, agricultural economics department chairman, all of Pullman.

The faculty committee may call upon other members of the University to develop data and present information. The committee will also work with representatives of producers, handlers, state and federal regulatory agencies and consumers.

R. E. Brown of Illinois to Australia

DR. R. E. BROWN, Associate Professor of Nutrition, University of Illinois, Urbana, has received a Fulbright Grant for research on volatile fatty acid metabolism in ruminants in association with DRs. G. L. MCCLYMONT and E. F. ANNISON at the University of New England, Armidale N.S.W., Australia. Dr. Brown and his family sailed from San Francisco, September 6, 1962, and will remain in Australia nine months. They will return via Europe in August, 1963.

Ohio State Adds to Staff

DR. C. O. Das, Head of the Department of Agricultural Biochemistry at Allahabad Institute of Agriculture, Allahabad, India, began



ORIGINAL and still the

The

BEST

FLAVORS

Millions of packages already sold to date

YOU CAN BE IN THE DIP-N-CHIP BUSINESS PRACTICALLY OVER-NIGHT just use your present equipment—stir the flavor into your sour cream and dig in for profits.

• French Onion

Advertising

Production Know-How Containers FIVE FLAVORS • Bleu Tang • Garlic • Chive

Bacon and Horseradish

RAMSEY Laboratories, Inc.

Write or call today for particulars ies, inc. 2742 Grand Avenue Cleveland 4, Ohio

SWeetbriar

JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE



Starting today, De Laval brings dairymen the first really new milker development in 44 years...

Here's the most important milker advance since the introduction of the first practical milking machine in 1918:

New fast-milking De Laval Milkers now milk 25% faster than other milkers...and improve udder health at the same time.

This was proved by 3 years of research and tests on 2700 cows, and 2 million milkings, at veterinary colleges, De Laval's Research Farm and commercial dairy farms coast to coast (results on request).

Tests showed dramatic improvements in udder health. For example, on test farms in

California research veterinarians found an average 40% improvement in udder health...as measured by CMT tests.

Test results booklet: Send for this free report. It gives you the names, addresses and results data of farms that tested the new milker. You can get it by writing Harry G. Hodges, D.V.M., Dairy Research Department, The De Laval Separator Co., Poughkeepsie, N.Y.





Accurate profit-control is the job of Mojonnier Milk Testers for standardizing butterfat and total solids content. • Mojonnier Testers have been a must for profitable dairy operation over 45 years. • Fat Determination accurate to .03 of 1%. Total Solids Tests accurate to 1/10th of 1%.

Write for full details today



a three-months association with the Department of Dairy Technology, Ohio State University in mid-August. Dr. Das, who received his doctorate in Agricultural Biochemistry at Ohio State in 1948, will observe the operation of the various Department programs in anticipation of an expansion of similar activities at his home Institute.

Another recent addition to the Department's staff is DR. D. B. STUSSI, on leave from his position as Bacteriologist at the Swiss Federal Dairy Research Station in Liebefeld, Bern, Switzerland. Dr. Stussi received the doctorate degree from the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Zurich. While with the Department, he will be conducting cheese flavor research under a grant from the American Dairy Association.

Research assistants for the fall quarter include G. A. PURVIS, of Rocky Ford, Colorado, JAIME HIDALGO-ABEL, of Santiago, Chile, and D. H. BROWN, of Warren, Ohio. Mr. Purvis received the B.S. and M.S. degrees from Colorado State University in 1954 and 1962. In the intervening period he served in the U. S. Army, was a management trainee with Safeway Stores ice cream department, and worked with the Colorado Department of Agriculture as a Dairy Chemist.

Mr. Abel received the degree of Bachelor in Industrial Chemistry from the Catholic University of Santiago in 1959. Since that time he has been chief chemist and bacteriologist at a milk pasteurization and by-products plant in Santiago.

David Brown is a 1962 Ohio State graduate. During his undergraduate career he worked extensively in the Department's research laboratories and gained considerable dairy plant experience through summer employment. He was the recipient of several scholarships, ineluding the R. B. Stoltz Memorial Scholarship awarded each year to outstanding senior students. In the 1962 International Collegiate Dairy Products Judging Contest, he placed first in all-products. He will pursue the Master of Science Degree.

The 14th Annual Homecoming Brunch of Ohio State's Department of Dairy Technology will be held the morning of October 20 in the auditorium of the Agricultural Administration Building. Co-hosts for the affair will be the Department Staff and the student Dairy Tech Club. The program will feature an informal social period, followed by the brunch, the high light of which will be the presentation of the 1962 Department of Dairy Technology Award of Merit to an outstanding member of the Ohio Dairy Industry. After the brunch, alumni will attend the Homecoming football game between OSU and Northwestern, tickets for which have been made available by the Department.

University of New Hampshire Names Dr. C. H. Boynton Chairman

DR. C. H. BOYNTON was named Chairman of the Department of Dairy Science, University of New Hampshire, as of July 1, 1962.

Dr. Boynton has been a member of the Dairy Science staff at New Hampshire since 1945. As chairman, he replaces PROFESSOR K. S. MORROW, who has served in this capacity since 1934.

Completed Theses

Ph.D. Degree:

- C. HILTON BOYNTON—Some histological and histochemical studies of the genitalia of dairy bulls as related to fertility. Rutgers University.
- TSUNG CHU CHOU—The chemical nature of the characteristic flavor of cultured buttermilk. Ohio State University.
- JOHN A. SIMS—Characteristics of milking flow among dairy cows. Iowa State University of Science and Technology.
- JOHN D. SUTTON—Functional development of epithelial tissue of the reticulo-rumen in calves. Iowa State University of Science and Technology.

M.S. Degree:

- LINDA GRAY—Anaerobic gas production of bovine spermatozoa. Washington State University.
- PADMANAHBA REDDY PETA-The effects of

different levels of urea on the nutritive value of a high fiber concentrate mixture for dairy cattle when fed with a highquality forage. University of New Hampshire.

INDUSTRY NEWS

Harvestore Products Appoints New Director of Research

DR. C. B. KNODT of Wayzata, Minnesota, has been named to the newly created post of Director of Research of A. O. Smith Harvestore Products, Inc., it was announced recently by A. D. HYDE, President.

Dr. Knodt, who for 20 yr has been active in education and research in industry as an animal nutritionist, was

animal nutritorist, was previously on the staff of the Squibb Institute for Medical Research at New Brunswick, New Jersey, where he was Director of Nutritional Research.

Dr. Knodt obtained his B.S. degree from the University of Minnesota in 1940, his M.S. from the University of Connecticut in 1942, and his Ph.D. from the University of Minne-



C. B. Knodt

FISKE MILK CRYOSCOPE...the leader in the field



The NEW compact laboratory model of the FISKE MILK CRYOSCOPE is economically priced; includes all the leadership features of the previous model and is available for immediate delivery.

The problem of added water in milk concerns you, both from the profit angle and the quality control necessary in maintaining the reliability and reputation of your products.

Fiske MILK CRYOSCOPES determine accurate water content in milk and other dairy products by the freezing point method. It enables you to process small test samples rapidly and easily, with a minimum of technically trained personnel.

A decisive factor in Fiske leadership in precision cryoscopy is continuous research and development. The Fiske MILK CRYOSCOPE is the instrument around which the official procedures are written, as described in latest Standard Methods for the Examination of Dairy Products, A.P.H.A., and in Laboratory Manual Milk Industry Foundation. The Fiske Cryoscope also meets the specifications of the A.O.A.C.

Address any inquiries directly to the plant, or through our authorized agents.





You must use the finest dairy ingredients, the finest flavors, the finest mix processing and freezing equipment, the finest packaging—And The Finest Stabilizer—KELCO STABILIZER.

Dariloid XL® for your white mixes Sherbelizer® for your chocolate mixes Products of KELCO COMPANY

FLAV-0-LAC FLAKES and FLAKES 40 Now Available:

Buttermilk #1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15 Cheese #1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 Butter #1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Sour Cream #1, 2, 3, 4, 5 Streptococcus thermophilus Streptococcus faecalis (D-K) Streptococcus durans (S.D.A.) Lactobacillus bulgaricus Lactobacillus acidophilus Lactobacillus helveticus Yoghurt culture (3 strains) Propioni bacterium shermani Standard "Flake" makes 1 quart starter.

"Flake 40" bottle makes 40 quarts culture. "40" is unique in the industry, proved in use for 23 years. First propagation produces 40 quarts culture . . . no additional incubation, no special treatment involved.

Also available: * Roquefort and Camembert molds, various Leuconostoc strains on agar slants. ★ Whey phage testing

program.

THE DAIRY LABORATORIES 2300 Locust Street

Philadelphia 3, Pennsylvania

sota in 1944. Following this, he was on the staff of Cornell University and served for 8 yr as professor of dairy husbandry in charge of research work at Pennsylvania State University. He was also in charge of beef, dairy. and sheep research for General Mills, Director of Research for Burrus Mills, Inc., and Research Farm Director for Cargill, Inc.

He has published more than 90 scientific papers and has written many articles for farm magazines. His professional memberships include the American Dairy Science Association, American Society of Animal Science, American Institute of Nutrition, Society of Experimental Biology and Medicine, American Chemical Society, American Genetics Association, and the American Association for the Advancement of Science.

Borden's Appoints New Vice-President

F. V. FORRESTAL, who has charge of the Borden Foods Company's Eastern Hemisphere operations for the International Division, has been named assistant vice-president of the foods company, according to T. O. HOFMAN, vice-president of The Borden Company.

Formerly the International Division's area manager for Europe, Africa, and the Middle East, Mr. Forrestal spent the last 3 yr in Holland, where he also exercised executive supervision of Borden's manufacturing operations in the area. He first joined Borden's in 1949, in the foreign operations department. He left the firm in 1954 but returned in 1959 as assistant Eastern Hemisphere sales manager.

Mr. Forrestal will maintain his office at Borden headquarters, 350 Madison Ave., New York, N. Y.

Social Events, Ladies Activities Set for Week of Dairy Conventions and Exposition in Atlantic City

Three gala all-industry evening social events. plus a full schedule of activities for the ladies, have been set for the week of October 28-November 2 in Atlantic City, which will see the conventions of eight dairy industry groups and the staging of the 23rd Dairy Industries Exposition.

À Dairy Conventions Committee, composed of New Jersey and Pennsylvania dairy industry men and their suppliers and equippers, announces this schedule of events:

Sunday night, October 28, at the Hotel Dennis-A Poor Richard Party, which, planners predict, will provide participants a proverbial good time! Taking its themes from Benjamin Franklin's Poor Richard's Almanac, the party will feature colonial decorations and favors. As a salute to the city where Franklin lived much of his life, Philadelphia, a marching string band of 70 mummers will present a special program during the evening. At other times, an orchestra will play for dancing. The main function of the evening will be to furnish a gathering place of welcome for friends who may not have met since the last convention. Refreshments will be available.

Tuesday night, October 30, at the Traymore Hotel-Presenting the Pacesetters Banquetwill be the only organized banquet during the week. It will honor college seniors from about 30 of the nation's dairy schools who have participated in the Collegiate Students' International Contest in Judging Dairy Products. Biographical material about each of the approximately 100 college students present will appear in the evening's souvenir program, and a most unusual after-dinner program has been planned. Once the main course has been removed, winners of the judging contest will be announced and a brief entertainment program will be presented. Then, the guests and the college students will adjourn to another room where three ice cream buffets will be in operation. Here, guests will make their own desserts and have an opportunity to become acquainted with the students, the pacesetters of tomorrow's industries.

Wednesday night, October 31, at the Chal-

fonte Hotel-Caribbean Carnival, an entertainment extravaganza, will take over the hotel's entire lounge floor. Four famous Caribbean night clubs will be created by use of realistic scenery, and continuous entertainment will be presented in all four. Guests will be invited to move about from club to club, and as one show is completed, to move on to the next. Steel bands, limbo dancers, calypso and marimba music, vocalists and variety acts will be presented in different shows in every room. Refreshments will be available. Favors in the form of straw hats for the men and beads for the women will be presented to all guests, and additionally, open stalls resembling the markets in Caribbean ports will offer Caribbean souvenirs for sale.

For the ladies, two hospitality parlors—one in the Dennis Hotel and one in the Chalfonte-Haddon Hall—will operate during the week, and here ladies may enjoy informal bridge tournaments, receive free tickets for special activities, and gain shopping tips. On Wednesday, in a site yet to be selected, a luncheon is planned.

The committee planning these events is composed of representatives of Milk Industry Foundation, which meets at the Dennis and



Shelburne hotels October 28-October 31; International Association of Ice Cream Manufacturers, which meets at the Chalfonte-Haddon Hall hotel October 31-November 2; and Dairy Industries Supply Association, which sponsors the 23rd Dairy Industries Exposition in Convention Hall, October 28-November 2.

These social events are open to all visitors in Atlantic City, regardless of organizational affiliation. Tickets will be available in advance from the national headquarters of the three associations, and in Atlantic City at the registration areas of the Dennis, Chalfonte-Haddon Hall, and Convention Hall.

The Dairy Conventions Committee is headed by a chairman, E. T. HOLSAPPLE, Welsh Farms, Inc., Long Valley, N. J. Assisting him are two co-chairmen, R. O. DAVISON, Kelco Company, Clark, N. J.; and T. K. WILSON, JR., Wilson Dairy Company, Atlantic City, N. J.

Subcommittees are responsible for the individual social functions.

Fifth International Food Congress Held in New York September 8-16

The Fifth International Food Congress and Exhibition was held in the United States for the first time, at the New York Coliseum, September 8-16.

The first of these world-wide triennial Congresses and Exhibitions was held in Paris, June, 1960. Thereafter, it was held in Ostende (Belgium), 1953; Rome, 1956; and Lausanne, 1959. An estimated 2,370 delegates from 26 countries, and 200,000 public visitors attended the Lausanne Congress.

Theme of the New York Congress was to dramatize the Life Line of Humanity—Food from Farm to Table. Its purpose: to show the world at large how—under the system of free enterprise and free competition, and through the teamwork of all segments of the industry from farm to table—the most basic need of humanity—food—can be brought to the people efficiently, conveniently, and abundantly.

Secretary of State Rusk Sees Lack of Proper Nourishment as Most Pressing World-Wide Problem

Secretary of State Dean Rusk recently said, "No more pressing problem faces the world than providing adequate nourishment for its many peoples."

"The food industries have made significant contributions in aiding efforts to resolve this problem," Secretary Rusk stated in a letter to Hans J. Wolflisberg, Chairman of the Fifth International Food Congress and Exhibition, held at the N. Y. Coliseum from September 8 to 16.

He expressed hope that the International Food Congress will serve to increase knowledge of basic food science so that "the nutri-

FOR TECHNICAL HELP ...

🗩 lumenthal call the man from

In addition to supplying you with high quality chocolate flavorings and coatings for your ice cream, The Man From Blumenthal will gladly:

- 1. Discuss prices and prevailing market conditions.
- Arrange for his laboratory to perform special services that can only be handled by a lab staffed with chocolate technicians and equipped with the latest analytical and pilot plant equipment to produce special types of chocolate for ice cream.
- Refer your problems to one of our consultants specializing in technical ice cream problems.
- 4. Conduct research on new ideas suggested by you.



BLUMENTHAL BROS. CHOCOLATE CO.

MARGARET AND JAMES STS., PHILADELPHIA 37, PA.



the trusted dairy sanitizer that belongs at every washing station!

Here's Why: Improved B-K POWDER is economical. More than 1,000 gallons of 100 ppm sanitizing solution can be made from a single 1¾ lb. bottle. The cost? Only a penny for every 7.4 gallons. B-K POWDER is stable . . . maintains its full concentrated strength of 50% available chlorine during normal storage life. And B-K POWDER dissolves readily. Use it in your plant. Now available in an unbreakable plastic container that means extra safety in the plant. The FREE measuring spoon also helps you avoid waste.

B-K Department **PENNSALT CHEMICALS CORPORATION** 3 Penn Center, Philadelphia 2, Pa.



กระกรวงอดเป็นกระม

แผนกห้องสมุก กายวิทยา**สาสคร**์

tional advantages we enjoy may be shared by all."

This international food festival included dramatic displays under thematic areas portraying the full scope of the world-wide food industry. The theme of the Fifth International Food Congress and Exhibition is The Life Line of Humanity—Food from Farm to Table." Key food industry executes from all parts of the world gathered and exchanged information during a four-day series of trade sessions and seminars. Each of these sessions was conducted by leaders of the U. S. food industry and other world authorities.

U. S. Government participation in this huge food exposition included displays by the U. S. Departments of Agriculture, Commerce, Interior, Labor, as well as the U. S. Public Health Service and the U. S. Food and Drug Administration.

Protect Consumer by FDA Control of Animal Feed Additives and Drugs—AVMA

The American Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA) recently urged passage of legislation to strengthen Food & Drug Administration (FDA) control over animal feed additives and drugs.

The Association, representing 17,000 U. S. and Canadian veterinarians, said the only way to prevent tissue residues in food-producing animals "is to provide the FDA with the authority needed to insure the consumer public that drugs for animals are safe, efficacious, and reliable.

"The possibility of tissue residues harmful to man in food products from animals receiving drugs or chemicals is not to be ignored," the AVMA warned a House subcommittee studying three feed additive and animal drug bills.

"The AVMA is vitally interested in having a constant supply of safe, efficacious, and reliable drugs for treating and preventing animal ailments. We are also concerned that the drugs used in food-producing animals not affect the animal product in any way deleterious to man."

The AVMA's views were submitted in a statement filed with the House Subcommittee on Health and Safety, which is currently conducting hearings on H. R. 12420, 12437 and 12715. The AVMA supports H. R. 12420 (The Nelsen Bill) and H. R. 12715 (The Dominick Bill), principally for a clause in them permitting the Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW) to restrict a product if there is "substantial doubt as to its safety."

The AVMA also urged correction of the prior sanction clause in existing legislation, which permits the use of additives in products introduced before a certain date but bans them in products introduced after an arbitrary date. The AVMA called this clause "unfair and discriminatory."

"The AVMA urges that the scientists within the FDA be given full opportunity to use their scientific knowledge and judgment in determining a government decision on problems arising under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

"The AVMA strongly supports the activities of the FDA and its supervision of foods, drugs, and devices for animals and man.

"The AVMA opposes any proposals to decrease the supervisory power of the FDA over the manufacture and use of non-prescription drugs and food additives. In fact, the AVMA feels that FDA supervision should be greater over food additives and non-prescription drugs than over prescription drugs, because with the latter there are professional practitioners controlling the dispensing and use of prescription products."

American Institute of Cooperation Announces Two Awards

The problems a farm supply cooperative faces in trying to serve, on an equitable basis, members with large-scale business or commercial operations and those with small operations, are the basis of the thesis winning the Stokdyk Award. The \$500 annual award will go to K. R. ERLEWINE of the University of Nebraska, it was announced recently by J. K. STERN, President of the American Institute of Cooperation, national educational and research agency for farm business cooperatives.

The second-place Metzger Award of \$100 was won by R. L. SLOAN of Oklahoma State University, for his research study entitled Relationship of Cost Characteristics of a Cooperative Association to Contracting Volumes of Grain Handled.

Dr. M. F. Brink Joins National Dairy Council Staff

DR. M. F. BRINK has joined the staff on the National Dairy Council as Associate Director of the Department of Nutrition Research, MILTON HULT, NDC President, has announced.

A 1955 graduate of the University of Illinois, Dr. Brink was a high school teacher of vocational agriculture and general science from 1955 to 1956. Starting in 1956, Dr. Brink was a graduate assistant in animal nutrition at the University of Illinois and received his Master's degree in 1958. After 1958, at the University of Missouri, he served as a graduate assistant in the animal husbandry department and was awarded his Ph.D. in animal nutrition in August, 1961.

Previous to joining the National Dairy Couneil, Dr. Brink was research biologist with the U. S. Naval Radiological Defense Laboratory, San Francisco.

16



If it's made with dairy products— (KRAFT) Care makes it even better!

It is Kraft Care that assures users of Kraft dairy product ingredients of consistent quality, uniformity, and dependable performance —in production and in final product results. Kraft ingredients are selected for superior flavor and blending characteristics, and processed under rigid testing and quality control standards. Finally, all Kraft ingredients must merit the approval of the Kraft Kitchens in taste and performance tests. For a sample of these superior dairy product ingredients, contact your nearest Kraft division office.

Krageleen Ice Cream Stabilizer. Specially formulated to add firmness and creamy body, maximum keeping qualities, and to inhibit ice crystal formation.

Sher-Stay Sherbet Stabilizer. For firm body, smooth texture, and superior flavor transmission. Guards against iciness from heat shock. Extends keeping qualities.

Krabyn Stabilizer for Frozen Novelties. Now in instant form for hot or cold process. Produces smooth texture, inhibits ice crystal growth, prevents color, flavor, and sugar bleeding.

Ice Cream Emulsifier. Concentrated for economy. Adds excellent whipability without interfering with freezing. Makes a dry ice cream with improved texture. Ice Cream Emulsifier-Stabilizers. Three types combining advantages of emulsifier and stabilizer for economy of production and storage.

Sweet-K-Malt. Evaporated malt extract flavor for frozen confections, chocolate syrup, and ice cream.

Stabilized Chocolate-Flavor Powders. Base for chocolate-flavor drinks or milk. Many types to meet all body and flavor requirements.

Miniature Marshmallows in Bulk. Add taste appeal and visual appeal to ice cream and sherbet. Also available in colors, and in syrup and whipped form.

Fruit Bases. Orange, and grape. Made from real fruit to give drinks fresh, natural flavor.

KRAFT FOODS DAIRY SERVICE DIVISION

Dept. J-9, 500 Peshtigo Court, Chicago 90, Illinois Division Offices: Chicago • New York • Garland, Texas • San Francisco

DAIRY INDUSTRY PLANT TRAINING MANUAL

FOR THE INDIVIDUAL AND THE COMPANY

TRAINING FOR LEADERSHIP

Prepared by

THE PERSONNEL TRAINING MANUAL PREPARATION COMMITTEE THE AMERICAN DAIRY SCIENCE ASSOCIATION

H. B. HENDERSON, University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, Chairman F. C. EWBANK, Michigan Milk Producers Association, Imlay City, Michigan

I. A. GOULD, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio

FARNUM GRAY, Southern Dairies, Charlotte, North Carolina

H. F. JUDKINS, American Dairy Science Association, White Plains, N. Y.

H. F. WILLIAMS, Carnation Company, Los Angeles, California

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

Section I Objectives and Requirements of the Program

Section II Training Program Schedules for Plant Operation

- 1. Orientation
- 2. Plant operations
- 3. Laboratory
- 5. Procurement
- 6. Sales and distribution
- 7. Office work

4. Engineering and maintenance

- Schedules providing for varying periods of time are provided for the above categories for the operation of
 - 1. Milk plants
 - 2. Ice cream plants

- 4. Cheese plants 5. Butter plants
- 3. Condensed and dry milk plants
- 6. Evaporated milk plants

Many questions are asked for the trainee to answer before passing from one phase of training to the next and progress reports and rating forms are provided.

Section III Management and Development

1. Developing skills in personnel management

2. Developing skills in quality control and cost

Many study projects are outlined which are not only essential to management development but may result in savings to the plant that will more than pay the cost of training.

Plant Trainees

Teachers, for a reference text

Appendix

1. List of professional and trade organizations

2. List of reference books, booklets, and periodicals

COPIES WILL BE NEEDED BY:

Plant Managers Plant Supervisors

POSTPAID PRICES:

\$4.00 per single copy \$4.00 per copy, less 10% for 5 to 9 copies, one order \$4.00 per copy, less 15% for ten or more copies, one order

Payment to be sent with order

ORDER FORM

H. F. Judkins 32 Ridgeway Circle White Plains, N.Y.	Date
Please find enclosed \$	for copies of the Dairy Industry Plant
Training Manual. Deliver to:	
	Name
	Company
	Address

At NDC, he will work closely with NDC's Director of Nutrition Research, DR. M. S. READ, in meeting the increasing responsibilities and expanded NDC nutrition research activities in behalf of the dairy industry. Dr. Brink will assist in the conduct of NDC's regular nutrition research grant-in-aid program, the planning and direction of NDC nutrition research conferences and symposium programs, the study of all current nutrition literature related to the place of milk and milk products in the diet, and research interpretation services to the scientific community and the dairy industry.

Among other duties, Dr. Brink will develop and write major articles for Dairy Council Digest. Articles for the Digest are drawn from the most recent research information pertaining to selected subjects. The Digest is a technical NDC publication which regularly serves as a primary reference source for physicians, dictitians, nutritionists, and other health leaders on the nutritional values of dairy foods.

A member of a number of national professional and honorary organizations, Dr. Brink has published papers in professional journals on mineral nutrition.

Organization of the Vth Congress for Animal Reproduction and Artificial Insemination

The Vth Congress for Animal Reproduction and Artificial Insemination will be held at Trento, Italy, from September 6th to 13th, 1964.

This Congress proposes to define the world situation with regard to questions of fundamental importance concerning animal reproduction and artificial insemination by means of reports and scientific communications, organized in four Congress sections.

The scientific program has been drawn up by the Italian Committee on the basis of many suggestions submitted by more than 200 scientists from various countries who have been previously questioned on this matter.

The Congress is divided into four sections: 1) Biology of reproduction; 2) Morphology and physiology of reproduction; 3) Artificial insemination; and 4) Pathology of reproduction.



P. O. Box 2217, Madison 5, Wisconsin

ADVERTISERS' INDEX

Blumenthal Bros. Chocolate Company	14
Creamery Package Mfg. Company	5
Dairy Industries Supply Association	7
Dairy Laboratories	12
De Laval Separator Company	9
Difco Laboratories 4th Cor	ver
Fiske Associates, Inc.	11
IVth International Congress on	
Animal Reproduction	20
Johnson & Johnson	19
Kelco Manufacturing Company	12
Klenzade Products, Inc	6
Kraft Foods	17
Lazarus Laboratories, Inc	13
Marschall Dairy Laboratory, Inc	10
Mojonnier Bros. Company	10
Pennsalt Chemicals Corporation	15
Ramsey Laboratories, Inc.	8
West Chemical Products, Inc.	13
Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation	19



SUSTAINING MEMBERS A.D.S.A.

American Cyanamid Company Agricultural Division Post Box 400 Princeton, N. J. Babcock Dairy Company 945 Berdan Avenue Toledo 12, Ohio Biltmore Dairy Farms Biltmore, North Carolina **Brookshire Dairy Products** Company P.O. Box 289 Columbus, Mississippi **Carnation** Company 5045 Wilshire Blvd. Los Angeles 36, California Challenge Cream & Butter Association 929 East Second Street Los Angeles 12, California Chore-Boy Mfg. Co. Cambridge City, Indiana Consolidated Dairies, Inc. 3415 Third Avenue, South Birmingham 12, Alabama Crowley's Milk Co. Inc. 145 Conklin Avenue Binghamton, New York Crystal Cream & Butter Co. Box 1313 Sacramento 6, California Dairymen's League Cooperative Association, Inc. 100 Park Avenue New York 17, New York Deltown Foods, Inc. 170 Saw Mill River Road Yonkers, New York

Elgin Milk Products Company 3707 W. Harrison Street Chicago 24, Illinois

FMC Corporation 333 West Julian St. San Jose 8, Calif.

Foremost Dairies, Inc. 425 Battery Street San Francisco 11, California

Germantown Manufacturing Company 5100 Lancaster Avenue Philadelphia 31, Pennsylvania

Irwin's Dairy, Inc. 512 S. 32nd Street Camp Hill, Pennsylvania

Knudsen Creamery Company of California P. O. Box 2335 Terminal Annex

Los Angeles 54, California Laesch Dairy Company P. O. Box 601

Bloomington, Illinois Lilly Ice Cream Co. P. O. Box 233 Bryan, Texas

Lily-Tulip Cup Corp. 122 East 42nd Street New York 17, New York

Minnesota Valley Breeders' Association New Prague, Minnesota

Moorman Mfg. Company 1000 North 30th Street Quincy, Illinois

National Milk Producers Federation 30 F Street, N.W. Washington 1, D. C. **Oak Farms Dairies** P O. Box 5178 Dallas 22, Texas Otto Milk Company 2400 Smallman Street Pittsburgh 22, Pennsylvania Ralphs Grocery Co., Creamery Division 2200 E. 89th Street Los Angeles 2, California Schepp's Dairy, Inc. 4935 Dolphin Road Dallas 23, Texas Sealtest Foods 260 Madison Avenue New York 16, New York Spreckels-Russell Dairy Co., Ltd. 1717 Mission Street San Francisco 3, California Turner Dairies, Inc. P. O. 1161 Anniston, Alabama Twin Pines Farm Dairy 8445 Lyndon Detroit 38, Michigan USI Solar Division of U.S.

JSI Solar Division of U. S Industries 3315 West North Avenue Melrose Park, Illinois

Vitex Laboratories 60 Park Place Newark 1, New Jersey

THE CONGRESSBOOK

With

PROCEEDINGS OF THE FOURTH INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS ON ANIMAL REPRODUCTION

(Physiology, Pathology and Artificial Insemination)

THE HAGUE — JUNE 5-9, 1961 WAS PUBLISHED IN AUGUST, 1962

The Congressbook consists of 4 volumes, 166 papers and 984 pages.

TO ORDER: Please send a cheque for \$29 to the Secretariat of the IVth International Congress on Animal Reproduction, 14 Burgemeester de Monchyplein, The Hague, Netherlands.

RESEARCH PAPERS

HEAT DENATURATION OF β -LACTOGLOBULINS A AND B¹

PATRICIA GOUGH AND ROBERT JENNESS

Department of Agricultural Biochemistry, University of Minnesota, St. Paul

SUMMARY

 β -Lactoglobulin B was more rapidly denatured than β -lactoglobulin A by heat treatments of skimmilk or solutions of the isolated proteins at pH 6.7 in the temperature range of 67 to 75 C. Three criteria of denaturation, solubility at pH 5.0, sulfhydryl group activity, and specific optical rotation, all demonstrated the difference in denaturability of the two proteins. They were found to differ in energy of activation and in entropy of activation. Both proteins undergo both the primary and secondary stages in heat denaturation.

β-Lactoglobulins A and B have been shown to differ in electrophoretic mobility under certain conditions (2) and in capacity to form aggregates at pH's near the isoelectric point (7, 11, 13-15). Variations in such physical properties suggest a difference in the charge density of the two proteins as a result of differences either in the amino acid composition or in the arrangement of the residues into the structure of the molecule. Small differences have been observed in the amino acid constituents (5, 12), β-lactoglobulin A having two aspartie acid residues that are apparently replaced by two glycine residues in the β-lactoglobulin B molecule.

It seemed possible that the differences in the amino acid composition, and in the arrangement of the residues, could influence the relative resistance of the two types of β -lactoglobulin to the effects of heat. Heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulin prepared from herd milk has been studied by several workers (1, 4, 6, 9), but none of the earlier investigations was performed on protein that can be considered homogeneous by the present criteria. In the following experiments, a comparison has been made of the heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A and B.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE AND RESULTS

Preparation of β -lactoglobulin. Paper electrophoresis in veronal buffer at pH 8.6 and ionic strength 0.05, with a potential of 250 v

Received for publication March 9, 1962.

¹Paper No. 4737. Scientific Journal Series, Minnesota Agricultural Experiment Station. Data presented herein are taken from a thesis presented by Patricia Gough in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Master of Science degree, University of Minnesota, June, 1961. for 16 hr, was applied to the fraction of milk proteins not precipitated by 20 g sodium sulfate per 100 ml to characterize each lactating cow of the University of Minnesota dairy herd as to type of β -lactoglobulin produced. A Spinco Model R paper electrophoresis apparatus with S and S No. 2043A gl paper strips was used for this characterization. Four cows were selected for the preparation of two lots of β -lactoglobulin A (designated here as specimens β -lactoglobulin A-1 and β -lactoglobulin A-2), and four cows for the preparation of two lots of β -lactoglobulin B (designated here as specimens β -lactoglobulin B-1 and β -lactoglobulin B-2), each lot being prepared from the combined milk of two cows. A single lot of β-lactoglobulin AB (from two cows that synthesized both A and B type protein) and two lots of β -lactoglobulin from herd milk (referred to here as specimens β -lactoglobulin herd milk 1 and β -lactoglobulin herd milk 2) were also isolated for use as controls in the experiments. The procedure of Larson and Jenness (10) was used for isolation and crystallization, the only modification being that whole milk rather than skimmilk was used as the starting material.

Rate of heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulin solution. Five-milliliter aliquots of 1% solutions (at a pH of 6.7 in phosphate buffer of ionic strength 0.1)² of β -lactoglobulins A-1, B-1, and herd milk 1 in loosely stoppered 18 by 150 mm test tubes were preheated at 60 C for 3 min, followed by heating at 73.0 C in a thermostatically controlled water bath. At the end of each time period, ranging from 7 to 97 min, one tube of each type of β -lactoglobulin was removed from the 73.0 C water bath and

 2 The buffer was of pH 6.86 and ionic strength 0.1. Solution of 1% β -lactoglobulin reduced the pH to 6.7-6.74.

rapidly cooled by immersion into an ice-water bath. The denatured protein was precipitated by adjusting the pH of each sample to 5.0 with 1.8 ml of 0.1 N acetic acid and centrifuging. The undenatured protein concentration in the supernatants was determined by a micro-Kjeldahl analysis for nitrogen. The rate of denaturation of β -lactoglobulin B-1 was greater than that of β -lactoglobulin A-1; and β -lactoglobulin herd milk 1 was denatured at an intermediate rate. A graph of the per cent denaturation as a function of time of heating at 73.0 C appears in Figure 1.



FIG. 1. Relationship between the per cent denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A-1, B-1, and herd milk 1, as measured by the protein precipitable at pH 5.0, and the time of heating at 73.0 C.

A second criterion used to compare the rates of denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A-1 and B-1 was specific optical rotation. A Schmidt-Haensch polarimeter, with a sodium lamp as a light source, was used to measure the optical rotation of 1% solutions of the protein at pH 6.7 in phosphate buffer of ionic strength 0.1 in a 2-dm 16-ml jacketed polarimeter tube at 20.0 C. The specific rotation of native β -lactoglobulins Λ and B did not differ greatly, but heating at 73.0 C for 30 min caused a greater increase in the rotation of β -lactoglobulin B-1 than in that of β -lactoglobulin Λ -1 (Table 1). The change observed with β -lactoglobulin from herd milk 2 was intermediate.

The third indication of rate of denaturation of the β -lactoglobulins was the decrease in the sulfhydryl group activity (due to oxidation during and following heat treatment) as measured by the o-iodosobenzoate-iodine titration procedure of Larson and Jenness (8). The difference in the activities of the native protein solutions was not significant (Table 1). Twentyfive-milliliter aliquots of 1% solutions in phosphate buffer of ionic strength 0.1 and pH 6.86 were preheated at 60 C for 3 min before being transferred to 25 by 200 mm test tubes that had been preheated at 73.0 C for 5 min; the solutions were heated at 73.0 C for 30 min, followed by rapid cooling. After refrigeration for 72 hr, in order that oxidation of activated sulfhydryl groups would be complete, each solution was titrated by the o-iodosobenzoate iodine procedure; the protein concentration of each solution was determined by a micro-Kjeldahl nitrogen analysis. The results indicated that the loss of activity of sulfhydryl groups was greater with β -lactoglobulin B-1 than with β lactoglobulin A-1 (Table 1).

These experiments were repeated with β -lactoglobulins A-2, B-2, and AB to confirm that the differences are related to the β -lactoglobulins rather than to chance variations between cows. In this series, concentrations of the supernatants at pH 5.0 were measured refractometrically with a Zeiss dipping refractometer equipped with an L-1 heatable prism instead of by micro-Kjeldahl. The curves obtained

TABLE 1

Change in specific optical rotation and sulfhydryl group activity of β -lactoglobulin solutions as a result of denaturation by a heat treatment of 73.0 C for 30 min

	Specific opt	ical rotation	Sulfhydry	vl activity		Acid
B-Lacto-		Specific optical rotation $[\alpha]_{D^{20}}$		%) Cysteine	(%) Dena-	precip- itable
	Native	Heated	Native	Heated	tured	(%)
A-1	-33.5	-58.9	1.12	0.44	60.7	72.7
B-1	-33.8	-67.2	1.20	0.30	75.0	86.8
Herd-2	-33.5	-62.7	1.19	0.36	69.7	79.5
A-2	-32.9	-65.1	1.21	0.49	59.3	64.5
B-2	-34.3	-79.0	1.18	0.26	77.4	78.2
AB	-33.0	-61.0	1.13	0.36	68.2	68.2



Fig. 2. Relationship between the per cent denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A-2, B-2, and AB, as measured by the protein precipitated at pH 5.0, and the time of heating at 73.0 C.

(Figure 2) are virtually identical to those for β -lactoglobulins A-1 and B-1. The curve for β -lactoglobulin AB, however, differs from that for β -lactoglobulin herd milk 1, in that it levels off and crosses the curve for β -lactoglobulin A-2. This difference may result in part from differences in proportions of the two proteins in the AB and the herd milk specimens. Data showing the effect of heating at 73 C for 30 min on the optical rotation and sulfhydryl activity of B-lactoglobulins A-2, B-2, and AB are included in Table 1. They are similar to the data for specimens A-1, B-1, and herd milk 1 except for the somewhat higher rotations of heated samples of A-2 and B-2 and for the fact that the change in specimen AB does not fall between those for A-2 and B-2. No explanation is evident for these discrepancies.

Rate of heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A and B in milk. The rates of denaturation by heat of β -lactoglobulins A and B as they exist in milk, capable of interaction with other constituents, were also compared. One composite sample of skimmilk from two cows that produced only β -lactoglobulin A and another from two that produced only β -lactoglobulin B were used. One hundred-milliliter portions were heated in a 500-ml, 3-necked, round-bottomed flask equipped with a thermometer and a condenser in a thermostatically controlled water bath at a temperature of 74.0 C for 30 min. Cooling was accomplished at the end of 30 min by immersing the flask in an ice-water bath.

The two samples of heated skimmilk, as well as unheated skimmilk from the same two pairs of cows, were fractionated according to the procedure of Aschaffenburg and Drewry (3) and the concentrations of the various protein fractions were determined by a micro-Kjeldahl analysis for nitrogen. The distribution of protein among the various fractions appears in Table 2. The quantity of β -lactoglobulin was twice as great in the unheated β -lactoglobulin A milk as in the unheated β -lactoglobulin B milk. On the assumption that the denaturation follows first-order kinetics, the proportionately greater change in β -lactoglobulin B milk in 30 min at 74 C suggests a higher rate of denaturation than in the β -lactoglobulin A milk. The per cent decrease in β -lactoglobulin A upon heating at 74.0 C for 30 min was 46.3%; that of β -lactoglobulin B was 71.4%.

Kinetics of heat denaturation. Since there was a difference in the rates of heat denaturaion of the two β -lactoglobulins at 73 C, experiments were undertaken to investigate the kinetics of the reaction at several temperatures. Six-milliliter aliquots of 1% solutions at pH 6.7 of each type of β -lactoglobulin-2 in phosphate buffer of ionic strength 0.1 were pre-

TABLE 2

Distribution of protein in milk (Aschaffenburg and Drewry fractionation) following heating at 74.0 C for 30 min

	β -Lactoglobu	lin A Milk	β -Lactoglob	ulin B Milk
Fraction	Unheated	Heated	Unheated	Heated
	(mg N/n)	nl milk)	(mg N/	ml milk)
Total Protein N	5.32	5.32	6.30	6.30
Casein N	4.19	4.55	5.37	5.66
Total Serum Protein N	1.13	0.77	0.93	0.64
Total Albumin N	0.93	0.59	0.84	0.53
β-Lactoglobulin N	0.56	0.30	0.28	0.08
Residual Albumin N	0.37	0.29	0.56	0.45
Proteose-Peptone N	0.15	0.16	0.07	0.08
Globulin N	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.02

heated at 60 C for 3 min in 18 by 150 mm test tubes. The tubes, lightly stoppered to avoid loss of water through evaporation, were transferred to a thermostatically controlled water bath, the temperature of which had been maintained at the desired level for 1 hr before use. Samples were heated at 67.00 ± 0.05 , $69.00 \pm$ 0.05, 71.00 ± 0.02 , 73.00 ± 0.05 , and $75.00 \pm$ 0.02 C for various intervals of time.

At the end of the heat treatment, the tubes were rapidly cooled by immersion into an icewater bath and the denatured protein was precipitated by adjusting the pH of each solution to 5.0 with 0.1 N acetic acid. The native protein remaining in the solutions was determined by a micro-Kjeldahl analysis for nitrogen. A series of curves that related per cent denaturation to time of heating showed β -lactoglobulin B-2 to be denatured the most rapidly of the three β -lactoglobulins, regardless of the temperature at which the denaturation was induced. Figure 3 compares β -lactoglobulins A-2 and B-2 at four of the temperatures.



FIG. 3. The effect of time of heat treatment at various temperatures on the extent of denaturation of β -lactoglobulins A-2 and B-2, as measured by the per cent of the protein precipitated at pH 5.0.

For each beta-lactoglobulin solution, the log of the ratio between the original concentration of β -lactoglobulin and that after heating was plotted as a function of the time of heating at each temperature, in order that the specific velocity constants for the heat denaturation reactions might be calculated (Figure 4). Since the relationship between these two variables was linear, the reactions were first order with respect to the protein concentration, and the



FIG. 4. The relationship between the change in β -lactoglobulins A-2 and B-2 concentration and the time of heat treatment at various temperatures.

slopes of the lines were, therefore, equal to the velocity constants for the reactions at the various temperatures.

An Arrhenius plot (Figure 5) of the log of



FIG. 5. Arrhenius plot relating the specific velocity constants for the denaturation reactions of the β -lactoglobulins to the temperature of heat treatment.

eta-Lactoglobulin	Temperature (C)	Rate constant (k') sec ⁻¹	H* ª cal/mole	F* ^b cal/mole	S ^{* °} cal/mole/ degree
β-Lactoglobulin A-2	67.0	1.289	64,924	26,044	114.4
E = 65.5 kcal	69.0	2.295	64.920	25,959	113.9
	71.0	4.036	64,916	25,577	114.4
	73.0	7.365	64,912	25,314	114.4
	75.0	12.02	64,908	25,129	114.3
3-Lactoglobulin B-2	67.0	1.765	76,424	25,835	148.8
$\mathbf{E} = 77.1$ kcal	69.0	3.407	76,420	25,546	148.8
	71.0	7.305	76,416	25,173	149.0
	73.0	12.80	76,412	24,943	148.9
	75.0	22.70	76,408	24,693	148.6
3-Lactoglobulin AB	67.0	1.204	70,924	26,092	131.9
E = 71.6 kcal	69.0	2.543	70,920	25,743	132.1
	71.0	5.103	70,916	25,419	132.3
	73.0	9.041	70,912	25,176	132.2
	75.0	14.25	70,908	25,012	131.9

TABLE 3

Thermodynamic functions calculated for the process of heat denaturation of the β -lactoglobulins

^a H* = Heat of activation.

^b $F^* = Free energy of activation.$

 $^{\circ}$ S* = Entropy of activation.

these velocity constants (k') as a function of the reciprocal of the temperature (degrees Kelvin) of heat treatment was drawn, in order that the energy of activation for the denaturation reaction could be calculated. Since $\ln k' =$ -E/RT, the energy of activation (E) is equal to 2.303 times the slope of the line obtained. Such calculations showed the energy of activation of β -lactoglobulin A-2 to be 65.6 kcal/mole, of B-2, 77.1 kcal/mole, and of AB, 71.6 kcal/ mole. Other thermodynamic functions were also calculated and appear in Table 3.

Primary and secondary denaturation. Briggs and Hull (4) observed that heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulin (from herd milk) involves at least two distinct processes: 1. primary denaturation which is initiated only at temperatures above 65 C and which is not accompanied by a change in the electrophoretic mobility of the protein; and 2. secondary denaturation which occurs only after the first is initiated and which is accompanied by further aggregation of the β -lactoglobulin molecules and an increase in electrophoretic mobility. Since solutions of native β -lactoglobulin B do not appear to be aggregated (electrophoretic and ultracentrifugal evidence) under conditions of pH and temperature at which solutions of β -lactoglobulin A are aggregated although B can be incorporated into aggregates of A to form mixtures (7, 11, 13-15), the question arose as to whether the type of aggregation upon denaturation observed by Briggs and Hull could occur when either β -lactoglobulin A or β -lactoglobulin B were heated independently.

Primary denaturation of 0.5% solutions of β -lactoglobulins A-2, B-2, and AB, in phosphate buffer of ionic strength 0.1 and pH 6.86,³ was accomplished by heating 25-ml aliquots of the solutions, deaerated in vacuo to prevent surface denaturation, in 25 by 200 mm test tubes at 100 C for 10 min. The tubes were rotated for the first minute to bring the solutions rapidly to water-bath temperature. Extent of this reaction was observed by micro-Kjeldahl analysis of the supernatants obtained after the denatured protein was precipitated at a pH 5.0 by the addition of 0.1 N acetic acid (Table 4). Primary denaturation occurred both in β -lactoglobulin A solutions and in β -lactoglobulin B solutions. The rate of this reaction at 100 C was so rapid that after 10 min the extent to which it had proceeded was the same for both β -lactoglobulins A and B.

Secondary denaturation, by which the aggregate is formed, occurred when the primarydenatured solutions were heated for 30 min at 70.0 C in a thermostatically controlled water bath. The extent of this reaction was observed by comparing the concentration of the fastermigrating aggregate to that of the slowermigrating native and primary-denatured β lactoglobulin, using Tiselius electrophoresis with

 3 In this case the solution of the protein was equilibrated by dialysis versus a large volume of the buffer so that the pH of the solution was 6.86.

	TABLE 4	
Extent of primary	denaturation of the β -lactoglobulins as measured protein precipitated at pH 5.0	by the per cent of the
	ma N/ml	Ct A sid

β -Lactoglobulin	mg N/ml supernatant	% Acid precipitable
Native—A-2	0.547	
B-2	0.573	
AB	0.597	
Primary-denatured-A-2	0.070	87.20
(100 C—10 min) B-2	0.073	87.26
AB	0.097	83.75

phosphate buffer of pH 6.86 and ionic strength 0.1, the current constant at 10 ma for 3 hr. The patterns, Figure 6, show that secondary



FIG. 6. Tiselius electrophoretic patterns of β lactoglobulins primary denatured (100 C—10 min) and secondary denatured (100 C—10 min followed by 70 C—30 min). All are ascending patterns of 0.5% protein solutions in phosphate buffer at pH 6.86, N = 0.1, 4 C, 10 ma, 3 hr in the 11 cc Klett cell.

denaturation occurred in both β -lactoglobulins when heated separately.

DISCUSSION

The experiments presented herein show that β -lactoglobulin B is denatured at a more rapid rate than β -lactoglobulin A, regardless of whether the protein under study is isolated, purified, and dissolved in buffer at the pH of milk, or is present in milk itself with other normal constituents. Since the results were the same when different pairs of cows were used, the difference does not seem to be due to individual peculiarities of the cows.

Greater sensitivity of β -lactoglobulin B to heat is made very evident by the differences in the specific velocity constants for the denaturation reactions at different temperatures. The velocity constants for the heat denaturation of β -lactoglobulin AB are similar to those obtained by Anderson (1) and Larson and Jenness (9) for β -lactoglobulin from herd milk.

The calculated energy of activation of β -lactoglobulin AB was 71.6 kcal/mole, as compared to 80.6 kcal/mole determined by Larson and Jenness (9) for herd milk β -lactoglobulin on the basis of changes in sulfhydryl activity. Anderson (1) obtained the identical value of 80.6 kcal/mole using the criteria of acid precipitability and optical rotation. Although Anderson showed that the rate of denaturation and the energy of activation depend strongly on pH, the difference between the present result and those reported earlier is probably not due to differences in pH. In all three investigations the solvent for the protein was a phosphate buffer of pH 6.86 and ionic strength of 0.1. One per cent solutions of β -lactoglobulin in this buffer have a pH of 6.70-6.74. [Larson and Jenness (9) reported the pH of the buffer rather than that of the solution.] Perhaps the difference arises in part from a difference between the β -lactoglobulin AB (from two cows) and herd milk β -lactoglobulin in the proportion of the two proteins present.

The slopes of the lines representing the denaturation reaction of β -lactoglobulins A, B, and AB were definitely different, with B having the steepest slope and, therefore, the greatest energy of activation.

Although observations have been made by several workers (11, 13-15, 29), that native solutions of β -lactoglobulin B do not form aggregates under conditions where such aggregates are observed to occur with solutions of native β -lactoglobulin A, there was no difference evident in the ability of either type to undergo the secondary denaturation process. Apparently, these two types of aggregation involve entirely different groups on the protein molecule and are not at all related.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The financial support of the American Dry Milk Institute and of the United States Public Health Service is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- ANDERSON, CHARLES A., JR. Heat Denaturation of β-Lactoglobulin and α-Lactalbumin. Ph.D. thesis, University of Minnesota. 1955.
- (2) ASCHAFFENBURG, R., AND DREWRY, J. Occurrence of Different β-Lactoglobulins in Cow's Milk. Nature, 176: 218. 1955.
- (3) ASCHAFFENBURG, R., AND DREWRY, J. New Procedure for the Routine Determination of the Various Non-Casein Proteins of Milk. N.I.P.D. Paper No. 2039, Proc. XVth Intern. Dairy Congr., 3: 1631. 1959.
- (4) BRIGGS, DAVID R., AND HULL, ROBERT. Studies on Protein Denaturation. I. Electrophoretic Study Kinetics at Neutrality of Heat Denaturation of β-Lactoglobulin, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 67: 2007. 1945.
- (5) GORDON, WILLIAM G., BASCH, JAY J., AND KALAN, EDWIN B. Differences in Amino Acid Composition of β-Lactoglobulin A and B. Biochem. Biophys. Research Commun., 3: 672. 1960.
- (6) JENNESS, ROBERT. Milk Proteins: Effects of Heat Treatment on Serum Proteins. J. Agr. Food Chem., 2: 75. 1954.
- (7) KLOSTERGAARD, HENRY, AND PASTERNAK, R. A. Electrophoresis and Ultracentrifuge Studies of Milk Proteins. I. β_1 and β_2 -Lactoglobulins. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79: 5671. 1957.
- (8) LARSON, BRUCE L., AND JENNESS, ROBERT. The Determination of Protein Sulfhydryl Groups with Iodine and o-Iodosobenzoate

by an Amperometric Titration. J. Dairy Sci., 33: 890. 1950.

- (9) LARSON, BRUCE L., AND JENNESS, ROBERT. Characterization of the Sulfhydryl Groups and the Kinetics of Heat Denaturation of Crystalline β-Lactoglobulin. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74: 3090. 1952.
- (10) LARSON, B. L., AND JENNESS, ROBERT. β-Lactoglobulin in Biochemical Preparations, 4, by W. W. Westerfeld, ed., pp. 23-29. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. 1955.
 (11) OGSTON, A. G., AND TOMBS, M. P. The
- (11) OGSTON, A. G., AND TOMBS, M. P. The Heterogeneity of Bovine β-Lactoglobulin. Biochem. J., 66: 399. 1957.
- (12) TANFORD, CHARLES, AND NOZAKI, YASUHIKO. Physico-Chemical Comparison of β-Lactoglobulins A and B. J. Biol. Chem., 234: 2874. 1959.
- (13) TIMASHEFF, SERGE N., AND TOWNEND, ROB-ERT. The Association Behavior of β -Lactoglobulins A and B. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80: 4433. 1958.
- (14) TOWNEND, ROBERT, AND TIMASHEFF, SERGE N. The pH Dependence of the Association of β-Lactoglobulin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 63: 482. 1956.
- (15) TOWNEND, ROBERT, WINTERBOTTOM, R. J., AND TIMASHEFF, SERGE N. Molecular Interactions in β-Lactoglobulin. II. Ultracentrifugal and Electrophoretic Studies of the Association of β-Lactoglobulin Below Its Isoelectric Point. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82: 3161. 1960.

INFLUENCE OF HOMOGENIZATION, COPPER, AND ASCORBIC ACID ON LIGHT-ACTIVATED FLAVOR IN MILK

W. L. DUNKLEY, J. D. FRANKLIN,¹ AND R. M. PANGBORN Department of Food Science and Technology, University of California, Davis

SUMMARY

This study reports on some factors that influence light activated flavor induced in milk by exposure to fluorescent light under conditions that produced distinct light flavor with little or no lipid oxidation as measured by the thiobarbituric acid test. Homogenization increased susceptibility to light flavor, but decreased susceptibility to both copper-induced and light-induced oxidized flavors. Both addition of copper, and of neocuproine to chelate natural copper, demonstrated that copper catalyzes light flavor. Destruction of ascorbic acid by ascorbic acid oxidase decreased susceptibility to light flavor, but added ascorbic acid did not inhibit light flavor, as it does oxidized flavor.

Exposure of milk to light may result in activated or oxidized flavor, or both. Unfortunately, the flavors develop concurrently, and suitable tests are lacking for measuring changes responsible for or accompanying activated flavor. The resulting difficulties in research on activated flavor account for many confusing and contradictory reports on light-induced flavors. The present study was undertaken to clarify the influence of homogenization, copper, and ascorbic acid on the development of light-induced flavors in milk.

Recent reviews of research on light-induced flavors of milk include those of Strobel et al. (8), Stull (9), and Wildbrett (11).

Light induces at least two distinctly different types of flavors in milk: the well-known oxidized flavors, resulting from lipid oxidation; and flavors resulting from degradation of protein, described by such terms as activated, solar activated, burnt feather, burnt protein, scorched, cabbage, and mushroom. In the United States, the terms light, sunlight, and sunshine flavor usually refer to flavor in which the activated or radiated-protein characteristics predominate, even though, under many conditions of exposure, changes in both protein and lipid may contribute to the off-flavor. In this study, the term activated is used to describe flavor assumed to be caused by chemical changes in protein constituents exposed to light. Sensory evaluations alone cannot provide assurance

Received for publication May 10, 1962.

¹ Present address: Tillie Lewis Foods, Stockton, California.

that activated flavor is not accompanied by some flavor attributable to concurrent lipid oxidation. Therefore, we describe the flavor as light when the estimation of activated flavor is determined by sensory evaluations and may be influenced by lipid oxidation, even though the panel members attempted to differentiate between activated and oxidized flavors.

The dominant flavor characteristic induced by light depends upon many factors, particularly the product and the conditions of exposure and storage. Homogenized milk is more susceptible to activated flavor than is unhomogenized milk, but is less susceptible to oxidized flavor. The flavor predominating in homogenized milk exposed to light is usually activated flavor after relatively short exposure and oxidized flavor after long exposure [e.g., compare results of Dunkley et al. (2), Birdsall et al. (1), and Smith and MacLeod (5, 6)].

The influence of copper on activated flavor has not been reported. Patton (3) presented evidence that ascorbic acid promotes activated flavor, and Weinstein and Trout (10) found that increasing the ascorbic acid concentration in milk did not prevent activated flavor, as it does oxidized flavor.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

The methods and materials have been described (2). Briefly, the milk was produced by the University herd of Holstein and Jersey cows receiving dry feeds, was pasteurized and homogenized in the University creamery, and was exposed within 2 hr of being processed. Light exposures were by the agitated procedure, i.e., milk was exposed at 42 ± 2 F in half-

	Storage	T	9	0.111.14			BA
	time	Light flavor score ^a		Oxidized flavor score ^a		Unhomog.	Homog.
Treatment	(hr)	Unhomog.	Homog.	Unhomog.	Homog.	$(A \times 10^3)$	$(A \times 10^3)$
Experiment 1							
Control	0	20/00	20.075	2012/01	0000	13	17
	24	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	14	14
	48	0.2	0.1	0.1	P. 0	16	17
Exposed ^b	0					23	22
<u>r</u>	24	0.5	2.7	1.7	0.3	49	18
	48	1.0	2.3	2.1	0.2	65	15
Cu added °	0					15	20
ou uuuou	24	0.6	0.1	3.3	0.1	107	16
	48	0.3	0.2	3.5	0.1	153	29
Experiment 2							
Control	0					15	16
	24	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	16	15
	48	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	16	17
Exposed ^b	0					24	17
	24	1.3	3.2	1.6	0.1	45	19
	48	0.8	3.0	1.1	0.2	66	19
Cu added °	0					14	21
	24	0.4	0.2	3.4	0.1	101	17
	48	0.0	0.2	3.7	0.0	154	20

 TABLE 1

 Influence of homogenization on light activated and oxidized flavor in milk

^a Average of 18 judgments for Experiment 1, 12 for Experiment 2: 0 = none, 4 = strong. ^b 40 min.

° 0.1 µg/g copper added.

filled elear-glass quart milk bottles mounted horizontally over two 40-watt Cool White fluorescent lamps on an assembly that was rocked at 75 oscillations per minute. Flavors were scored by a panel of six highly trained judges (nine for Experiment 1, Table 1) on a scale of: 0, none; 1, questionable; 2, slight; 3, distinct, objectionable; and 4, strong, very objectionable. In experiments in which the panel scored both light and oxidized flavor, reference samples of both defects and an untreated control were provided. For analysis of variance of flavor scores, results for samples stored 24 and 48 hr were combined.

Methods for the thiobarbituric acid (TBA) test, additions of copper and neocuproine, and preparation of crude ascorbic acid oxidase were as outlined by Smith and Dunkley (7). The crude ascorbic acid oxidase was dried by acetone precipitation of the prevaporated juice.

RESULTS

Homogenization. Table 1 contains the results of two experiments that demonstrate the influence of homogenization on light and oxidized flavors in milk. For both experiments, analysis of variance of combined results for samples stored 24 and 48 hr showed that the scores for light flavor for the exposed homogenized and unhomogenized samples differed significantly between themselves and from all other samples (P < 0.001). Likewise, the oxidized flavor scores for the homogenized and unhomogenized samples containing added copper differed significantly between themselves and from all other samples (P < 0.001). Also, the scores for oxidized flavor for the exposed unhomogenized samples differed significantly from the scores of all other samples (P < 0.001). The scores for light flavor are consistent with others' results in showing that homogenized milk is more susceptible to activated flavor than is unhomogenized milk. The exposed unhomogenized sample received a higher score for oxidized flavor than for light flavor. The TBA results were consistent with the flavor scores in indicating oxidized flavor in the unhomogenized sample but not in the homogenized sample. These results show that homogenization inhibits light-induced as well as copper-induced oxidized flavor.

The reliability of the judges in differentiating between activated and oxidized flavors was indicated by the scores for exposed samples and the samples containing added copper. In 56 of 60 judgments, the exposed homogenized sam-

ple received scores of 2 or above for intensity of light flavor, but only three scores above 1 for oxidized flavor. In 56 of 60 judgments, the unhomogenized sample containing added copper received scores of 3 or above for oxidized flavor, and scores of 0 (50 judgments) or 1 (four judgments) for light flavor. The remaining four scores were 3 or 4 (one and three times, respectively) for light flavor, and 0 or 1 (one and three times, respectively) for oxidized flavor. We believe that these four were errors in identification, for the sample was protected from light. Three of these errors were by one panel member. Deletion of this individual's scores from Experiment 1 would have given respective average scores for light and oxidized flavors of 0.1 and 3.8 for 24 hr, and 0.1 and 3.7 for 48 hr (instead of 0.6, 3.3, 0.1, and 3.7, respectively). Thus, eight of the nine panel members were able to differentiate reliably between activated and oxidized flavors.

The TBA tests indicated little or no lipid oxidation except in the unhomogenized milk exposed to light or containing added copper. The exposed homogenized milk had a distinct light flavor, yet the average difference in TBA absorbancy between the exposed and unexposed samples was only 0.002 (which is within experimental error).

Copper. The results in Table 2 are representative of several experiments showing that copper increases light flavor in milk. The sample with copper added developed more intense light flavor than the control. Addition of neocuproine to chelate the natural copper prevented the development of such an intense light flavor. For both the 30- and 60-min exposures, all differences among the scores were very highly significant (P < 0.001).

The TBA results were slightly higher for the samples with added copper than for the control or neocuproine-treated samples. The results indicate that a slight lipid oxidation may have contributed to the differences in flavor scores between the control and the samples with added copper, but not between the control and the samples containing neocuproine. However, since the differences in flavor scores were greater between the neocuproine-added and the control samples than between the copper-added and control samples, we believe that lipid oxidation had very little, if any, influence on the scores for light flavor.

Ascorbic acid. Table 3 contains representative results showing the influence of ascorbic acid on light flavor. Destruction of ascorbic acid by ascorbic acid oxidase markedly reduced the intensity of activated flavor (P < 0.001), but added ascorbic acid had little effect.

Differences among the TBA results were not significant. Hence, the scores for light flavor were entirely attributable to activated flavor.

DISCUSSION

The TBA test was included as a measure of lipid oxidation. Unfortunately, no corresponding test is available for estimation of the extent of chemical changes responsible for or accompanying activated flavor development. However, the low TBA results for all samples except those criticized for oxidized flavor indicate that the scores for light flavor were attributable to activated flavor. Furthermore,

		Flavor score for ^a				TBA	
Exposure time (min)	Storage time (hr)	Control	Copper ^b	Neocu- proine °	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Control} \\ (A \times 10^3) \end{array}$	Copper ^b $(A \times 10^3)$	Neocuproine $^{\circ}$ $(A \times 10^3)$
0	0				29		
	24	0.1			24		****
	48	0.2			18		
30	0				24	31	27
	24	2.0	3.6	0.5	19	30	22
	48	1.8	3.0	0.3	21	32	14
60	0				26	28	28
	24	2.7	3.7	1.1	$\frac{1}{22}$	27	26
	48	3.2	3.5	0.9	24	33	17

 TABLE 2

 Influence of copper on light activated flavor in homogenized milk

^a Average of 12 judgments of light flavor: 0 = none, 4 = strong.

^b Copper added at 0.1 μ g/g.

^c Neocuproine added at 4.5×10^{-6} M.

Exposure time (min)	Storage time (hr)	Flavor score for ^a			TBA		
		Control	A.A. ^b added	A.A.° destroyed	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Control} \\ (A \times 10^3) \end{array}$	$\substack{\text{A.A.}^{\text{b}}\\\text{added}\\(\mathcal{A}\times10^3)}$	${ m A.A.^c} \ { m destroyed} \ (A imes 10^3)$
0	0				16		
	24	0.2			14	10000	
	48				13		
30	0				21	17	22
	24	2.8	3.0	0.3	17	15	16
	48	2.7	2.6	0.3	16	17	16
60	0			22222	24	23	22
	24	3.3	3.8	1.3	22	17	$\overline{21}$
	48	3.4	3.0	1.2	17	16	16

TABLE 3 Influence of ascorbic acid on light activated flavor in homogenized milk

^a Average of 12 judgments of light flavor: 0 = none, 4 = strong.

^b Ascorbic acid added at 50 mg/liter.

^c Ascorbic acid destroyed by ascorbic acid oxidase.

most of the panel members were highly consistent in differentiating between light and oxidized flavors. The member less reliable in identifying the defect was retained on the panel because his scores for intensity of light flavor, when present without oxidized flavor, were highly reproducible.

It is well established that homogenization of milk increases susceptibility to activated flavor and decreases susceptibility to copper-induced oxidized flavor. It has not been clear, however, whether homogenization inhibits light-induced oxidized flavor, for some investigators have not differentiated between activated and oxidized flavors. Results in Table 1 demonstrate that homogenization inhibits both light-induced and copper-induced oxidized flavor.

Although copper is recognized as an important catalyst of oxidized flavor, its role in reactions resulting in activated flavor has not been established. Results reported above show that copper catalyzes activated as well as oxidized flavor. Since the Strecker degradation, considered to be responsible for activated flavor (3, 4), is an oxidative reaction, the catalytic activity of copper is not unexpected.

The influence of ascorbic acid provides a helpful distinction between activated and oxidized flavors, and a means of preparing milk with a distinct activated but little or no oxidized flavor. Destruction of ascorbic acid inhibits development of both activated and oxidized flavors. In contrast, increasing the concentration of ascorbic acid inhibits oxidized flavor but not activated flavor. In our laboratory we have prepared reference samples with a distinct activated flavor by exposing homogenized milk to light after increasing the ascorbic acid concentration by as much as 1%. Such samples are helpful in training new panel members and in testing scorers for ability to identify light flavor and evaluate its intensity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by a grant from the American Dairy Association. The cooperation of the taste panel and the assistance of Mr. E. C. Jensen and Mrs. I. M. Trabue are gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- BIRDSALL, J. J., TEPLY, L. J., AND DERSE, P. H. Effects of Light on Homogenized Whole Milk and Some Fortified Milk Products. Food Technol., 12: 670. 1958.
- (2) DUNKLEY, W. L., FRANKLIN, J. D., AND PANGBORN, R. M. Effects of Fluorescent Light on Flavor, Ascorbic Acid, and Riboflavin in Milk. Food Technol. (In press.)
- (3) PATTON, S. The Mechanism of Sunlight Flavor Formation in Milk with Special Reference to Methionine and Riboflavin. J. Dairy Sci., 37: 446. 1954.
- (4) SAMUELSSON, E. G., AND THOME, K. E. Investigations on the Influence of Light on Milk as a Contribution to the Knowledge on Sunlight Flavor. Proc. Intern. Dairy Congr., 1: 488. 1959.
- (5) SMITH, A. C., AND MACLEOD, P. The Effect of Artificial Light on Milk in Cold Storage. J. Dairy Sci., 38: 870. 1955.
- (6) SMITH, A. C., AND MACLEOD, P. Effects of Pasteurization Temperatures and Exposure to Light on Homogenized Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 40: 862. 1957.
- (7) SMITH, G. J., AND DUNKLEY, W. L. Prooxidants in Spontaneous Development of Oxidized Flavor in Milk. J. Dairy Sei., 45: 170. 1962.

1044

- (8) STROBEL, D. R., BRYAN, W. C., AND BAB-COCK, C. J. Flavors of Milk. USDA, Washington, D. C. 90 pp. (mimeo.) 1953.
 (9) STULL, J. W. The Effect of Light on Acti-
- (9) STULL, J. W. The Effect of Light on Activated Flavor Development and on the Constituents of Milk and Its Products: A Review. J. Dairy Sci., 36: 554. 1953.
- (10) WEINSTEIN, B. R., AND TROUT, G. M. The Solar Activated Flavor of Homogenized Milk. I. Susceptibility of Individual Cow's Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 34: 554. 1951.
 (11) WILDBRETT, G. The Effect of Light on Milk
- (11) WILDBRETT, G. The Effect of Light on Milk and Its Protection Against Light. Milchwissenschaft, 15: 21. 1960.

HIGH-TEMPERATURE–SHORT-TIME STERILIZED EVAPORATED MILK. IV. THE RETARDATION OF GELATION WITH CONDENSED PHOSPHATES, MANGANOUS IONS, POLYHYDRIC COMPOUNDS, AND PHOSPHATIDES

ABRAHAM LEVITON AND M. J. PALLANSCH

Dairy Products Laboratory, Eastern Utilization Research and Development Division U. S. Department of Agriculture, Washington, D. C.

SUMMARY

Polyphosphates, manganous salts, polyhydric compounds, and phosphatides are important additives for prolonging the storage life of high-temperature– short-time sterilized milk concentrates. A sixfold and threefold increase in the storage life of 3 to 1 and 2 to 1 concentrates was, respectively, obtained by adding per 100 g milk 0.05 g sodium polyphosphate containing an average of 4.8 P atoms per chain; and a similar increase was obtained by adding approximately the same quantity of MnSO. In concentrations greater than about 1 g per 100 g milk solids, the polyphosphate conduced to age-thickening. The polyphosphates function also as stabilizers against heat coagulation during sterilization. The antigelation activity of the polyphosphates increased with increasing concentration and chain length. The cyclic tetrametaphosphate and adenosine triphosphate were more effective than the corresponding linear polymer and sodium tripolyphosphate, respectively.

Added orthophosphates were found to conduce to gelation.

Nearly a twofold increase in storage life was brought by the incorporation in 2 to 1 concentrates of 9.6 g per 100 g product of either lactose, sucrose, dextrose, or sorbitol. At higher concentration levels specific effects were met which limited the activity of the sugars, but not that of sorbitol. In stabilizing the lipid phase, added phosphatides stabilize HTST sterilized milk concentrates both against heat coagulation during sterilization and gelation during storage.

Theoretical considerations postulating the existence of two kinds of micellar structures, one active in gelation phenomena, the other in heat coagulation, served as a guide in the selection of the additives used in the present study.

Gelation represents a single aspect of a many-sided instability problem encountered in the manufacture and storage of sterile milk concentrates. It is unique in the sense that only in the storage of high-temperature-shorttime (HTST) sterilized milk products does it assume serious proportions. Upon the solution of the gelation problem may depend the successful application of HTST sterilization techniques to the development of improved fluid milk concentrates. The study of additives constitutes an inviting and obvious way to approach the problem as demonstrated by wellknown observations on the ability of additives to retard coagulation during sterilization of conventionally prepared evaporated milk.

Studies in our laboratory, over a period of

Received for publication April 18, 1962.

years and restricted to technologically applicable compounds, have disclosed the value of four groups of substances—polyphosphates, manganous salts, polyhydric compounds, and phosphatides—all of which, to some significant degree, possess the capacity of prolonging the storage life of HTST sterilized milk concentrates.

It is the object of this paper to report on the results of our studies, emphasizing for the moment their practical rather than their theoretical value.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Methods. The techniques described in Parts 1 and 2 of this series of papers were used throughout the experiment (10, 11). With the exception of high-pressure homogenization, carried out with a Manton-Gaulin high pressure
homogenizer¹ capable of homogenizing at 8,000 psi, all operations were carried out on a laboratory scale. Homogenization was usually carried out at 160 F in two stages-7,500 and 500 psi. Forewarming for 17 min at the temperature of boiling water was carried out under nitrogen in a rotating film evaporator. Concentration under vacuum was effected in the same evaporator to a point slightly greater than the desired concentration, and final adjustment was made by the addition of a weighed quantity of water to the weighed concentrate. The concentrates sealed in bomb microviscometers were sterilized in an oil bath for either 5 or 15 sec at 137.4 C, then cooled in a water bath to room temperature. Samples were stored at 30 C in the same viscometers. Sedimentation and creaming were minimized by mounting the viscometers with their axes horizontal in a rotating device. Prior to a viscosity measurement, the position of the liquid thread in the viscometer was reversed twice in a centrifuge. Each viscometer tube contained a glass bead, and thus it could be arranged to function in the manner of the Höppler falling ball viscometer.¹ Viscosity measurements were made periodically on the same samples in triplicate throughout the experimental period. Fat and solids were determined according to the procedure recommended

¹ The use of trade names is for the purpose of identification only, and does not imply endorsement of the product or its manufacturer by the U. S. Department of Agriculture.

by Mojonnier and Troy (14), and homogenization indices by turbidimetry (2).

A plastometer was available consisting of a turntable mounted on a variable-speed, quickstarting motor. The viscometer tubes in radial grooves could be subjected to a relative centrifugal force varying from zero to 35 times gravity.

Many, but not all, procedural details may be inferred by referring to data in the various tables. In experiments with different condensed phosphates, additive concentrates were adjusted for comparison purposes so that, at each concentration level, the milks contained the same number of available orthophosphate groups (19).

Unless stated otherwise, in experiments with condensed phosphates and manganous salts, the additive in solution was added to the concentrate just prior to sterilization. In experiments with polyhydric compounds, the additives were added to the milks prior to processing.

In several experiments with phosphatides, the milks were modified with synthetic serums to yield products with a weight ratio between fat and protein of 4.5 to 2.4 in one experiment (see Table 10) and 5.0 to 1.9 in another (see Table 11). The serum diluents had the same pH as milk and approximately the same ionic strength as milk serum.

Materials. Commercially available condensed phosphates under various trade names were

	Some properties of			
Source	Ratio Na2O/P2O5	Average no. of P atoms per chain (calculated)	Average no. of P atoms per chain (experimental)	Weight phosphorus mg per g (experimental)
Laboratory prepared	1.05	40.0	31.9	303
Laboratory prepared	1.18	11.0	10.8	289
Laboratory prepared	1.25	8.0	7.8	286
Laboratory prepared	1.30	6.7	6.7	286
Commercial ^a		******	4.8	263
Commercial ^b	2.0	2.0	******	139
Commercial ^c			7.0	286
Commercial d	1.0		******	258
Commercial ^e		3.0		156
Commercial ^r	1.67	3.0		252

TABLE 1

^a Sodium polyphosphate glass.

^b Sodium pyrophosphate + 10 H₂O.

^c Sodium hexametaphosphate glass.

^d Sodium tetrametaphosphate + 4 H₂O.

^e Adenosine triphosphate.

¹ Granular sodium tripolyphosphate.

obtained from a number of manufacturers. The commercial compounds and crystalline sorbitol, dextrose, lactose, sucrose, and MnSO₄ ·H₂O were of the highest quality. Dextran was obtained through the courtesy of Dr. Allene Jeanes of the Northern Utilization Research and Development Division, U. S. Department of Agriculture, Peoria, Illinois. Purified lecithin and cephalin were prepared from vegetable lecithin according to the instructions of Thornton et al. (17) and Folch (4), respectively. The alcohol-insoluble phosphatides were purchased from Central Soya Company¹ and were specified to contain 4.0% chemical lecithin, 28.5% chemical cephalin, 55.0% inositol phosphatides, 4.0% soybean oil, and 8.5% miscellaneous.

of their properties. In addition, a number of chain polyphosphates were prepared in the laboratory from mixtures of monobasic and dibasic phosphates according to a method outline by Van Wazer and Holst (23). The average number, \bar{n} , of phosphorous atoms per chain and the weight of phosphorus per gram were determined by titration (19). This information is also contained in Table 1.

polyphosphates which were tested and some

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Salient features of the data on the effect of polyphosphates, manganous sulfate, polyhydric compounds, and phosphatides, are contained in Tables 1-6, 7, 8, and 9-11, respectively.

Theoretical considerations. As a first step e in this study, a working hypothesis was formu-

Table 1 lists the commercially available

 TABLE 2

 Storage life of skimmilk concentrates (28%) solids with and without added sodium polyphosphate glass (4.8 phosphorous atoms on an average per chain)

Addi- tive	Viscos- ity before				Stor	age tir	ne in	days				Min.	Stor
concen- sterili- – tration zation	Ō	8	16	21	28	35	49	69	91	130	– vis- cosity	age life ^b	
g per 100 g milk solids	(centi- poises)				Vi		v at 3) poises	0 C				centi- poises	days
None	7.0	12.0	8.4	19.2	gel							8.4	16
0.14	7.5	13.4	8.2	9.1	20.0	\mathbf{gel}						8.2	20
0.29	8.0	11.4	7.0	6.8	7.2	10.2	33.8	gel				6.7	32
0.56	8.5	11.4	6.7	6.5	6.3	6.4	6.3	6.4	7.7	16.9	gel	6.3	89
0.56 ^a	12.1	22.9	8.9	8.5	8.5	8.5	8.5	8.5	9.2	11.6	19.3	8.5	128

Sterilization temperature-137.4 C.

Sterilization time-5 sec.

^a Polyphosphate added after sterilization.

^b Time in days required for viscosity to attain a value equal to twice the minimum value.

lated which will be discussed briefly. The existence in equilibrium of two micellar species is postulated, reactive (denatured) and unreactive. The tendency of casein monomers to pass in and out of the micelle to a degree depending on the amount of cross-linking or stabilizing agents (among which are calcium ions) present in the micelle gives rise to a reactive form consisting of a core with protruding monomer filaments. As the temperature is raised, calcium ions tend to enter the micelle and stabilize it further by drawing together the monomer filaments, thus giving rise to an unreactive smooth and compact form characterized by the absence of protruding filaments. Denaturation reactions with negative temperature coefficients have been observed (7). This form as the temperature is lowered tends to revert to the reactive one at a rate and to a degree depending on the equilibrium temperature. However, prolonged heating stabilizes the unreactive form against reversion. Unreactive micelles behaving as emulsoid particles, although quite stable at storage temperature, interact at elevated temperatures through the agency of polar groups on their surfaces mediated by calcium ions. Activated micelles, on the other hand, behave as if they were the centers of long-range attractive forces, and it is interaction mediated by calcium ions between the monomer filaments belonging to these micelles which leads to structure formation. Ad-

Additive	Viscosity at 86 F before sterilization	Viscosity after sterilization	Minimum viscosity	Storage life at 86 F
	· · ·	-(centipoises)-		(days)
None	4.4	4.5	4.1	107
Monophosphate buffer salts	4.4	4.5	3.9	55
Amorphous sodium polyphosphate phosphorous atoms per chain)	$(4.8 \\ 4.4$	4.3	3.3	274
Ratio between solids and fat Homogenization (before forewar Forewarming for 15 sec at Concentration to solids conen. of Sterilization for 15 sec at Buffer salt (g per 100 g 12.6% Polyphosphate (g per 100 g 12.6 Storage life = time required for a value equal to twice minimut Viscosity in centipoises of polyp	fluid milk) % fluid milk) viscosity to rea um		$\begin{array}{c} 3.25:1\\ 2,500\\ 280\ \mathrm{F}\\ 26\%\\ 280\ \mathrm{F}\\ 0.053\\ 0.049\end{array}$	psi and 160 F

TABLE 3

Results of laboratory-scale experiments showing how the storage life of high-temperatureshort-time sterilized whole milk concentrate (26% solids) is extended with added amorphous sodium polyphosphate (4.8 P atoms per chain) and shortened with added monophosphate salts

TABLE 4

Storage life of whole milk concentrates (36% solids) with and without added sodium polyphosphate glass (4.8 phosphorous atom on average per chain)

Additive concen- tration	Viscosity before sterilization	Viscosity after sterilization	Minimum viscosity	Time to reach minimum viscosity	Storage life ^a at 30 C
(g per 100 g milk solids- nonfat)		—(centipoises)—		- (days)	(days)
None	14.5	35.3	31.0	4	9
0.59	19.3	29.5	21.8	4	91
0.66	19.5	27.5	19.8	4	120
0.74	19.8	26.5	18.6	6	150

Sterilization temperature-137.4 C.

Sterilization time-5 sec.

^a Time required for viscosity to reach a value equal to twice the minimum value.

ditives capable of diffusing into the micelle and capable of forming cross-linkages between protein monomers would have the same effect as heat, tending to bring about a retraction of monomer strands, thus compacting the micelle and shifting the equilibrium in favor of the unreactive form.

Stabilization by polyphosphates. The polyphosphates with respect to their value as additives for stabilizing high-short concentrated milk products possess the following important properties:

1. A high proton donor capacity per molecule of the corresponding acids.

- 2. A marked stability against hydrolysis and reversion to the monomeric phosphates.
- 3. A metal complexing capacity (20).
- 4. Physiological and pharmacological properties consistent with their use in foods.

Well known among protein chemists is the high proton donor capacity of the condensed phosphoric acids which permits them to function as protein precipitants—an interaction involving the positively charged groups on the protein and negatively charged polyphosphate anions (8).

Interactions of this character at the normal pH of concentrated milk result in a building

Additive	Additive concen- tration ^b	Viscosity before sterili- zation	Viscosity after sterili- zation	Minimum viscosity	Time to reach min. viscosity	Storage life at 30 C
	g per 100 g milk solids)		-(centipoises)		(days)	(days)
None		9.0	12.8	11.0	4-6	11
Pyrophosphate	0.61	13.2	12.6	8.9	4-6	33
Tripolyphosphate	0.56	11.8	12.9	8.3	4-6	59
Adenosine triphosphat	e 0.93	9.9	14.5	11.1	4-6	80
Polyphosphate $\overline{n} = 4.8$	8 0.54	10.8	12.6	8.1	4-6	90
Hexametaphosphate	0.50	10.2	12.8	7.5	4-6	148
Tetrametaphosphate	0.55	9.0	11.6	7.9	5-8	159

TABLE 5 Influence of some commercially available polyphosphates on storage life of a HTST sterilized milk concentrate (28.2% milk solids)." Sterilization temperature and time, 137.4 C and 5 sec

^a Skimmilk used in this experiment had been stored at 4 degrees for 1 wk. It was derived from a fresh milk as that used to obtain data shown in Table 6. ^b Concentration refers to weight of additives in anhydrous state. Additives contain same

number of available orthophosphate groups.

TABLE 6

Influence of polyphosphate glasses, and orthophosphates on storage life of a HTST sterilized skimmilk concentrate containing 28.2% milk solids. Sterilization temperature and time, 137.4 C, and 5 sec, respectively

Additive	Additive concen- tration	Viscosity before sterili- zation	Viscosity after sterili- zation	Minimum viscosity	Time to reach min. viscosity	Storage life
Av. no. of P atoms per chain (\overline{n})	(g per 100 g milk solids)		(centipoises))	(days at - 30 C)	(days ai 30 C)
None ^a		9.0	11.1	9.4	4-6	16
$A(\overline{n}=1)^{b}$	0.13	9.8	14.6	10.2	4-6	9
$B(\overline{n}=6.7)$	0.29	9.7	9.2	6.2	4-6	85
$B(\overline{n}=6.7)$	0.48	10.2	9.9	6.7	4-6	135
$B(\overline{n}=6.7)$	0.63	11.7	10.4	6.7	4-6	148
$C(\overline{n}=7.8)$	0.29	9.7	10.8	6.8	4-6	85
$C(\overline{n}=7.8)$	0.48	10.4	10.7	7.1	4-6	151
$C(\overline{n}=7.8)$	0.63	11.7	10.4	6.6	4-6	170
$D(\bar{n} = 10.8)$	0.29	9.5	10.9	7.4	4-6	103
$D(\bar{n} = 10.8)$	0.47	10.3	11.3	7.1	4-6	167
$D(\overline{n} = 10.8)$	0.65	11.5	11.5	7.2	4-6	180
$E(\overline{n}=31.9)$	0.28	9.5	10.6	7.3	4-6	109
$E(\overline{n} = 31.9)$	0.45	10.4	12.0	7.5	4-6	169
$E(\overline{n}=31.9)$	0.62	12.2	13.1	7.8	4-6	180

^a Control sample for B, D, C, and E, but not for A; Control sample for A contained 29.4% solids and had a storage life of 13 days. ^b Additive consists of a mixture of orthophosphates, pH 6.5.

up of the net negative charge on the micelles, an effect which conduces to an expansion of the micelles and to swelling. Expansion is engendered by electrostatic repulsion, and swelling by osmosis in view of the Donnan effect. The increase in hydrodynamic volume is con-

Concentra- tion of MnSO₄ • H₂O	Viscosity before sterili- zation	Viscosity after sterili- zation	Minimum viscosity	Time to reach minimum viscosity	Storage life at 30 C *	Remarks
(g per 100 g milk solids)		(centipoises)		(days)	(days)	
0	9.0	14.3	10.1	4	14	
0.135	8.4	13.8	9.9	8	26	
0.27	8.0	15.6	10.6	11	56	Concentrate ex hibits plastic flow and thix otropy at end of storage life
0.54	7.6	49.0	15.3	13	120	Concentrate ex hibits plastic flow and thix otropy at end of storage life

TABLE 7

Life of skimmilk concentrates (28.3% milk solids) with and without added manganous sulfate

All viscosity measurements at 30 C.

Sterilization temperature 280 F; time 5 sec.

* Time in days required for viscosity to attain a value equal to twice the minimum value.

TABLE 8

Influence of various sugars and sorbitol on storage life of HTST sterilized skimmilk concentrates (19.2% milk solids). Sterilization temperature 137.4 C, sterilization time 15 sec

Additive	Additive concentration	Viscosity before sterilization	Viscosity after sterilization	Minimum viscosity during storage	Storage life at 30 C		
	(g per 100 g prod.)		(centipoises)				
None (control)		2.8	3.0	2.6	111 ^a		
Lactose	$9.6 \\ 17.5 \\ 24.2$	$3.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 5.3$	$3.4 \\ 4.4 \\ 5.7$	$3.4 \\ 4.4 \\ 5.7$	$180^{\mathrm{b.c}}$ $192^{\mathrm{b.d}}$ 110^{b}		
Dextrose	9.6 24.2	$\begin{array}{c} 3.4 \\ 5.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.4 \\ 5.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.4 \\ 5.3 \end{array}$	$175^{ m b}$ $249^{ m b}$		
None (control)		2.8	3.1	2.5	98 °		
Sucrose	$9.6 \\ 17.5 \\ 24.2$	$3.5 \\ 4.5 \\ 5.7$	$3.8 \\ 4.5 \\ 5.7$	$3.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 5.7$	${190}^{ m b}\ {315}^{ m b}\ {144}^{ m b}$		
Sorbitol	$9.6 \\ 17.5 \\ 24.2$	$3.2 \\ 4.0 \\ 5.1$	$3.1 \\ 3.8 \\ 4.8$	$3.1 \\ 3.8 \\ 4.8$	172^{b} 360^{b} 607^{b}		

" Coagula visible after 124 days; marked coagulation after 134 days.

^b Thickening but no coagulation observable during storage period.

^c Viscosity after 210 days—12 centipoises. ^d Viscosity after 350 days—15 centipoises.

" Coagula visible after 109 days; marked coagulation after 115 days.

sistent with an increase in viscosity. The effect of charge in concentrated milks is particularly striking when concentrations of polyphosphate greater than 1 g per 100 g milk solids in 3 to 1 milks are employed, and in such concentrates, a marked thickening effect is observed. At lower concentrations, such as those reported in this paper, the thickening effect which is small in the unsterilized product is more than compensated for by effects which take place in

4	А	pparent viscos	sity	Storag requir		
Sample	Before sterili- zation	After sterili- zation	Minimum during storage	Onset of viscosity increase	Viscosity to reach twice minimum	Cream layer after 70 days ^b
		-(centipoises)		– (days)	(days)	
Concentrated milk	4.9	16.4	7.2	38	65	6
Concentrated milk plus 0.33% chemical lecithin °	4.9	13.1	6.6	41	88	0
Concentrated milk plus plus 0.33% chemical cephalin ^d	4.9	14.4	6.1	41	88	0
Concentrated milk plus 0.33% crude animal lecithin	4.9	16.1	6.2	41	85	0

 TABLE 9

 Effect of various phosphatide preparations on storage life of concentrated homogenized ^b milk (26% solids) sterilized at 137.4 C for 15 sec

^a Samples stored in capillary tubes and held quiescent in vertical position at 30 C.

 $^{\rm b}$ Milk homogenized in two stages and recycled to yield a product with homogenization index of 87%.

^c Phosphatidyl choline.

^d Phosphatidyl ethanolamine.

TABLE 10

Improvements of storage life effected by addition of cephalin to modified milk ^a concentrates (26% solids) sterilized at 137.4 C for 15 sec

	А	pparent visco	osity		ge period red for :	ä	
Sample	Before sterili- zation	After sterili- zation	Minimum during storage	viscosity	Viscosity to reach twice minimum		
	(centipoises)			(days)	(days)		
Unforewarmed concen- trate, no cephalin	3.5	Forms gel	Forms gel	0.0		Coagula visible after sterilization	
Unforewarmed concen- trate, with added cephalin	4.6	11.9	11.9	99	126	Highly thixotropic structure after sterilization	
Forewarmed concen- trate, no cephalin	3.0	4.3	4.3	49	77		
Forewarmed concen- trate, with added cephalin	3.7	5.4	5.0	400	400	Extremely fragile structure forms in some samples	

Additive-containing milks contain 0.3 g cephalin per 100 g unconcentrated milk.

Viscosity measured after sample had been inverted twice.

^a Modified milks (ratio between fat and protein—4.5 to 2.4) prepared by blending cream and skimmilk with a synthetic serum, pH 6.5, ionic strength 0.075 containing per liter: 50 g lactose, 3.43 g Na₂HPO₄2H₂O, 0.75 g citric acid, 2.80 g KCl and NaOH to bring pH to 6.5. Milks homogenized at 65 C in two stages—7,500 and 500 psi.

Sample	Phos- phatide concen- tration	Vis- cosity before sterili- zation	Vis- cosity after sterili- zation	Mini- mum vis- cosity	Stor- age ª life	Remarks
	g per 100 g con- centrate		centipoises	;)	- (days)	
Modified skimmilk concentrates	0	2.1	2.1	1.9	162	Marked body deteri- oration after 179 days; marked co- agulation
Modified whole milk concentrate	0	3.0	5.7	5.3	88	Stirred-out viscosity ^b at end of 137 days —45 centipoises
Modified whole milk concentrate	0.2	3.3	4.0	3.8	122	
Modified whole milk concentrate	0.4	3.5	3.9	3.8	157	
Modified whole milk concentrate	0.6	3.6	4.0 3.	9 3.9	175	Soft, homogenous, highly thixotropic body prevails after end of storage life. Stirred-out viscos- ity after 218 days 13.3 centipoises

TABLE 11

Influence of alcohol-insoluble phosphatides on storage life of modified milk^c concentrates sterilized at 137.4 C for 15 sec

* Time in days for viscosity to reach a value equal to twice minimum vaule observed during storage.

^bStirred out by alternately freezing sample in dry ice-acetone bath and thawing. ^c Modified skim prepared by blending 28 lb milk with 10.6 lb of a synthetic serum, pH 6.5 ionic strength, 0.075 containing per liter: 50 g lactose, 0.46 g citric acid, 2.80 g KCl, 1.46 g NaCl, and 0.32 g NaOH. Modified whole milks prepared by mixing 9.5 lb, modified skim with 0.5 lb butter oil containing graded concentrations of phosphatides. Dispersions of phosphatides in water unstable. Hence, they were dissolved in butter oil which had been separated from butter at 50 C and clarified at 120 C. Milks homogenized at 65 C in two stages—7,500 and 500 psi.

milk concentrates during sterilization and storage.

In milks containing cyclic phosphates, reversion to a thinner body takes place largely during storage. The stabilizing effect observed during sterilization of concentrates containing linear condensed phosphates may be attributed to the complexing of calcium, and thus the chain polyphosphates, like the orthophosphates, function as stabilizers against heat coagulation. The augmented attenuation of body during storage may be postulated to result from a shift in equilibrium favoring intramicellar stabilization as opposed to intermicellar interaction. The thinning out of body is particularly pronounced in the concentrate containing the cyclic phosphate. Inasmuch as the cyclic phosphates do not form strong complexes with calcium, the entire decrease in viscosity to a value considerably lower than that of the control milk before its sterilization can reasonably be attributed to a type of intramicellar interaction involving volume contraction.

The thickening in concentrates containing high concentrations of polyphosphate is reversible in character, for on diluting the concentrates to the concentration of normal milk, the viscosity and smooth texture of the original milk is restored (data are not recorded in this paper). Thickening brought about by the addition of large quantities of polyphosphates increases during storage of the concentrate, although structure formation is delayed.

Antigelation effectiveness per phosphorous atom increases with increasing chain length of the linear polyphosphates, an effect which is more pronounced among the polymers of shortchain length. This effect may be associated with the greater effectiveness of the long-chain polyphosphates compared to the shorter-chain compounds as protein precipitants and, hence, to their greater affinity for proteins (8). Adenosine triphosphate is more effective than the corresponding sodium tripolyphosphate. It appears, therefore, that the adenosine moiety augments the affinity for proteins of the polyphosphate grouping. In support of this observation are the observations of Leviton and Pallansch on the binding of riboflavin and riboflavin phosphate (11).

Influence of polyphosphate concentration. Storage life of HTST sterilized milk concentrates is significantly increased in the presence of added polyphosphate. The increase varies with additive concentration, and the rate of increase is more pronounced at the lower concentrations. Employed at a concentration level of approximately 0.05% based on the original milk, the effect of the polyphosphates with more than four phosphorus atoms per chain, is to prolong the storage life at 30 C of 3 to 1 milk concentrates from 2 or 3 wk to many months and, correspondingly, the storage life of two to one concentrates from three or four months to more than nine months. Limiting the effectiveness of the polyphosphates is their slow conversion to the orthophosphates. Inasmuch as the orthophosphates tend to accelerate the gelation rate (see Table 6), this net result of the hydrolysis of polyphosphates would be magnified to the extent that the orthophosphates are formed. The greater the chain length of the polyphosphates, the slower would be the hydrolysis to and subsequent accumulation of orthophosphates in milk concentrates, and the less noticeable would be the contribution of increasing orthophosphate concentration to a reduction in storage life. The cyclic phosphates, because they resist hydrolysis to the chain polyphosphates to an appreciable degree have, when employed as additives, the advantage of a greater over-all stability (compared to the corresponding linear compounds) against conversion to orthophosphates (1).

Possibly another limiting factor with respect to the effectiveness of the linear polyphosphates is their complexing affinity for calcium and similar metal ions. Inasmuch as calcium ion itself possesses antigelation activity, the net effect of complex formation would be the reduction in effective concentrations of both calcium and polyphosphate (12). The cyclic phosphate, unable to complex with Ca⁺⁺ to the same degree as the linear polyphosphates, at least not until it has been hydrolyzed to the corresponding linear polyphosphate, would not be subject to the aforementioned limitation.

There is a strong temptation to associate the behavior of the polyphosphates with their calcium-complexing capacity leading to the sequestration of calcium ions. In conflict with this idea, however, are these observations: added calcium augments storage life, whereas added orthophosphates diminish it; the cyclic phosphate with its relatively weak complexforming capacity is quite effective in retarding gelation. It appears, therefore, that the ability to complex with metals is a property of the polyphosphates which, if related to its antigelation function at all, comes into play as result of intramicellar interaction involving the formation of a calcium caseinate-condensed phosphate complex.

Suitability of polyphosphates as food additives. The addition to evaporated milk of stabilizing salts to the extent of 0.1% by weight of the finished product has been legalized in the United States. The use of polyphosphates as food additives is not novel. Their use to the extent of 3-3.5% in processed cheese appears to be sanctioned in all processed cheese producing countries. Kiermeier and Möhler not only have tabulated the quantities of added condensed phosphates in various food products (9), but have also examined the question of the suitability of these substances as food additives, referring to the work of Schreier and Nöller (15).

Stabilization by manganous salts. Calcium salts stabilize slightly and orthophosphates destabilize high-short sterilized milk concentrates against gelation during storage. These salts function in the opposite sense during the sterilization of milk, the calcium salts acting to destabilize and the orthophosphates to stabilize against heat coagulation.

The effect of divalent manganese compared with the action of divalent calcium ions is quite large. The 8-9 fold extension of storage life brought about by its addition (0.54 g per 100 g milk solids) to 3 to 1 sterile skimmilk concentrate is of the same order of magnitude as that observed when the higher polyphosphates at the same concentration level are added to milk. The prolongation is roughly proportional to the concentration of added Mn^{++} .

Mn⁺⁺, when added to the concentrate before sterilization, brings about a significant decrease in viscosity in proportion to the quantity added. In this respect, it functions in a sense opposite to that observed when polyphosphates are added to milk. Manganese is known to form complexes with casein, and to the extent that it does, it would lower the negative charge on the micelles in milk; a certain amount of contraction would be expected as well as a reduction in the electroviscous effect, and a loss of water in consequence of the Donnan effect. It is doubtful, however, that the contraction in micellar volume arising from these effects would account entirely for the decrease in viscosity, inasmuch as the charge on the protein is in virtue of bound calcium already reduced to the point where the Donnan effect is small. It is not unreasonable, therefore, to account for the observed decrease in viscosity by assuming that the concomitant contraction in hydrodynamic volume is a consequence of cross-linking.

Sterilization is attended by an increase in viscosity, an increase which remains nearly independent of Mn^{++} at low levels of concentration, and which rises abruptly when the concentration of added $MnSO_4 \cdot H_2O$ reaches 0.54 g per 100 g milk solids.

Much of the observed increase in viscosity disappears during storage at a rate which decreases as the concentration of $MnSO_4$ is increased. If the increase in viscosity attending sterilization can be ascribed to the reversible formation of aggregates of modified micelles mediated by manganous ions, the subsequent thinning out of body may be ascribed to a reversal of this process, and age-thickening to the slow internal change in the structure of the micelles followed by aggregation of the changed micelles.

Judged solely from the extent of their action in prolonging storage life with respect to gelation, manganous salts are as efficient as the polyphosphates. The amount of manganese added to a pint of milk in the preparation of HTST sterilized milk concentrates would be far in excess of the amount of manganese found in human rations (16).

Possessing a number of valence levels manganese salts catalyze the formation of hydroperoxides in the oxidation of fatty acid esters in anhydrous nonpolar solvents (18). Inasmuch as this reaction is inhibited in the presence of polar solvents, an effect attributed to the formation of solvates, it may very well be that in aqueous solution sterie hindrance would prevent Mn⁺⁺ from functioning as a catalyst.

It has been found that manganese in butter exists in true solution in the serum phase, whereas copper and iron are bound to the colloidal constituents (proteins and phosphatides) of the serum (3). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the effect of manganese in the oxidation of milk fat would not parallel that of copper and iron.

Garrett (5) added 0-0.12 mM $MnCl_2$ to a liter of milk and 0.06 mM Cu^{++} , and found that the intensity of the oxidized flavor which de-

veloped in 96 hr was reduced from a maximum of five arbitrary flavor units (in the absence of added Mn^{++}) to zero. Added $MnCl_2$, unlike added copper salts, did not influence the development of oxidized flavor adversely, nor did it catalyze the oxidation of ascorbic acid.

It appears, in view of the aforementioned evidence, that the evaluation of manganous salts with respect to whatever flavor changes they may engender in milk concentrates must await further investigation. Concerning the utility of such salts in retarding gelation, there can be no question.

Stabilization by polyhydric compounds. To produce any measurable effect in milk concentrates, polyhydric compounds compared with manganous salts and polyphosphates must be used in high concentrations. Added to 2 to 1 sterile milk concentrates to the extent of 9.6 g per 100 g product the polyhydric compounds lactose, sucrose, dextrose, and sorbitol extended storage life 1.7 to 2 fold. The increase in viscosity (approximately 10%) brought about by the addition of these polyhydric compounds to the unsterile concentrates, reflecting as it does the increase in the viscosity of the continuous phase, is in no way commensurate with the increase in storage life. It appears, therefore, that the added storage life is not a consequence of a diminished micellar diffusion rate (the rate would be inversely proportional to the viscosity) but is rather a consequence of certain properties possessed in common by the polyhydric compounds.

Present in milk in higher concentrations, these compounds begin to exhibit differences in behavior which reflect differences in molecular groupings and structure. Thus, the disaccharides lose much of their effectiveness as the concentration in 2 to 1 milk is increased beyond 17.5 g per 100 g product. Sorbitol becomes increasingly effective as its concentration is increased. An interesting feature associated with the use of polyhydric compounds is that in their presence, sedimentation is visibly retarded, and flocculation such as one may observe in control milks in the late stages of age-thickening is largely absent.

It would be difficult to interpret the action of polyhydric compounds without assuming that interaction between these compounds and micellar proteins is involved. Such interaction is indicated in the results with dextran (data not included in this paper). Sterilization of dextran containing concentrates results in an appreciable increase in viscosity not shared by the control concentrates.

Stabilization by phosphatides. The participation of the lipid phase in coagulation phenomena has been the subject of a previous report in this series of publications (13). The quasi-inert behavior of this phase with respect to gelation was considered to indicate the existence of two diametrically opposed tendencies. one prompting the fat globules to behave as oriented protein particles, and the other, as oriented phospholipid particles. Behaving as protein, the lipid phase would tend to promote coagulation (a concentration effect) and, behaving as phosphatide particles, the fat globules would tend to hinder the development of graininess and structure formation by interfering with the free diffusion of interacting protein particles. Many milks behave as if they were out of balance with respect to the composition of the interfacial region. Modified milks rich in fat and relatively deficient in proteins may be prepared which show this imbalance to an exaggerated degree. Such milks respond to corrective measures and improved heat and storage stability is realized, as the results in Tables 9-11 show, if phospholipids are added to compensate for compositional deficiencies in the interfacial region.

The experiments in which the protein content of the milk was reduced by means of a synthetic serum and the fat content was correspondingly increased, illustrates strikingly how the fat rather than the protein phase may limit both the heat and storage stability of concentrated milks.

The possibility of producing highly stable milk concentrates with a high ratio between fat and protein is indicated. Such concentrates would have the same total solids as conventional HTST sterile concentrates, and would be richer in milk flavor. Much more work remains to be carried out in this connection, however, for although structure formation requires a definite minimum concentration of interacting elements, it is unlikely that aggregate formation is likewise limited.

The two purified phosphatides, lecithin and cephalin, appear to be equally effective, although marked deterioration in body was less noticeable in the cephalin-containing product. Equilibrium conditions in the interfacial region are probably reached slowly, if at all, and consequently variables such as rate and duration of heating and cooling, and the manner in which additives are incorporated (whether in the aqueous or in the fat phase, for example) influence results. It would be logical to incorporate additives in the lipid phase, for in this way labile substances are protected against hydrolysis and precipitation and diffusion into the interphase is expedited.

Forewarming, it appears, can play a part in the manufacture of HTST concentrated milk products no less important than the part it plays in the manufacture of conventional evaporated milk (see Table 11). Thus, forewarming serves to stabilize HTST milk concentrates against heat coagulation, a point of importance (notwithstanding the general impression that heat stability is not an important factor in HTST sterilization), and it serves to prolong storage life by retarding the developments of structure.

Footnote. Following the completion of the studies reported in this paper, the very recent and pertinent paper by Hoff et al. on irradiation induced gelation became available (6). Milk concentrates sterilized by ionizing radiation, it appears, become quite unstable toward heat and coagulate instantly at 90 C. These concentrates are also quite labile during storage and acquire within days a gel-like structure. Inasmuch as HTST sterile milk concentrates, unlike irradiated concentrates, are not instantaneously coagulated at 90 C, it would appear that irradiation-induced gelation is unrelated to gelation in HTST sterilized milk. However, in view of the observations of Hoff et al. that manganese salts and polyphosphates are effective inhibitors of irradiation-induced gelation, and in view of the observations recorded in this paper on the effects of these compounds in HTST sterilized milk concentrates, it appears likely that the gelation mechanisms are related.

REFERENCES

- BELL, R. N., AUDRIETH, L. F., AND HILL, O. F. Preparation of Sodium Tetrametaphosphate. Ind. Eng. Chem., 44: 568. 1952.
- (2) DEACKOFF, L. P., AND REES, L. H. Testing Homogenization Efficiency by Light Transmission. The Milk Dealer, 46: (10)61. 1957.
- (3) EILERS, H., SEAL, R. N. J., AND VAN DER WAARDEN, M. Chemical and Physical Investigations on Dairy Products. Elsevier Publishing Co., Inc., New York, N. Y.; Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 1947.
- (4) FOLCH, J. Brain Cephalin, A Mixture of Phosphatides. J. Biol. Chem., 146: 35. 1942.
- (5) GARRETT, O. F. Some Factors Affecting the Stability of Certain Milk Properties. V. Interrelation of Certain Metals and Metallic Ions and the Development of Oxidized Flavor in Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 24: 103, 1941.
- (6) HOFF, J. E., SUNVACH, J., PROCTOR, B. E., AND GOLDBLITH, S. A. Radiation Preservations of Milk. XI. Studies on the Radia-

tion-Induced Gelation of Concentrated Milk. The Effect of Polyphosphates. Food Technol., 14: 27. 1960.

- (7) JACOBSEN, C. F., AND CHRISTENSEN, L. K. Influence of Temperature on the Urea Denaturation of β-Lactoglobulin. Nature, 161: 30. 1948.
- (8) KATCHMAN, B. J., AND VAN WAZER, J. R. The 'Soluble' and 'Insoluble' Polyphosphates of Yeast. Biochim. et Biophys. Acta, 14: 445. 1954.
- (9) KIERMEIER, F., AND MÖHLER, K. Zur Verwendung der Polyphosphate bei Lebensmitteln. Z. Lebensm. Untersuch. u.-Forsch., 106: 33. 1957.
- (10) LEVITON, ABRAHAM, AND PALLANSCH, M. J. Laboratory Studies on High Temperature– Short Time Sterilized Evaporated Milk. I. Easily Constructed Eccentric Falling Ball Type Bomb Microviscometers Suitable for Containing Biological Materials During Sterilization and Storage. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 1389. 1960.
- (11) LEVITON, ABRAHAM, AND PALLANSCH, M. J. Binding of Riboflavin and Riboflavin Phosphate by the Proteins of Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 1713. 1960.
- (12) LEVITON, ABRAHAM, AND PALLANSCH, M. J. High Temperature-Short Time Sterilized Evaporated Milk. II. Laboratory Techniques for the Preparation and Study of Sterile Evaporated Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 442. 1961.
- (13) LEVITON, ABRAHAM, AND PALLANSCH, M. J. High-Temperature-Short-Time Sterilized Evaporated Milk. III. The Influence of the Lipid Phase on Heat and Storage Stability. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 633. 1961.

- (14) MOJONNIER, T., AND TROY, H. C. The Technical Control of Dairy Products. 2nd ed. Mojonnier Bros., Chicago, Illinois. 1925.
- (15) SCHREIER, K., AND NÖLLER, H. G. Arch. Exptl. Path. Pharmakol., 227:119. 1955.
- (16) SMOLYANSKII, B. L. The Hygienic Significance of Manganese Content of Rations in Pioneer Camps and in Manual Training Schools. Trudy. Leningrad. Sanit.-Gigien. Med. Inst., 45: 25. 1958. [C. A., 53: 14255h. 1959.]
- (17) THORNTON, M. H., JOHNSON, C. S., AND EWAN, M. A. The Component Fatty Acids of Soybean Lecithin. Oil & Soap, 21: 85. 1944.
- (18) URI, N. Metal Ion Catalysis and Polarity of Environment in the Aerobic Oxidation of Unsaturated Fatty Acids. Nature, 177: 1177. 1956.
- (19) VAN WAZER, JOHN R. Structure and Properties of the Condensed Phosphates. III. Solubility Fractionation and Other Solubility Studies. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72: 647. 1950.
- (20) VAN WAZER, JOHN R., AND CALLIS, CLAY-TON F. Metal Complexing by Phosphates. Chem. Revs., 58: 1011. 1958.
- (21) VAN WAZER, JOHN R., GRIFFITH, E. J., AND MCCULLOUGH, J. F. Structure and Properties of the Condensed Phosphates. VII. Hydrolytic Degradation of Pyro- and Tripolyphosphate. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77: 287. 1955.
- (22) VAN WAZER, JOHN R., AND HOLST, K. A. Structure and Properties of the Condensed Phosphates. I. Some General Considerations About Phosphoric Acids. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72: 639. 1950.

CARBOHYDRATE METABOLISM OF LACTIC ACID CULTURES.^{1, 2} I. EFFECTS OF ANTIBIOTICS ON THE GLUCOSE, GALACTOSE, AND LACTOSE METABOLISM OF *STREPTOCOCCUS LACTIS*

K. M. SHAHANI AND J. R. VAKIL

Department of Dairy Husbandry, University of Nebraska, Lincoln

SUMMARY

Streptococcus lactis UN metabolized glucose, galactose, and lactose and produced varying amounts of lactic, formic and acetic acids, carbon dioxide, ethanol, and glycerol. Lactic acid constituted the major product, accounting for 26 to 93% of the metabolized sugar. Possible mechanisms of production of the various metabolites are discussed. Under the conditions of the study, *S. lactis,* normally a homofermenter, functioned as a heterofermenter. The results indicate that the organism metabolized the sugars partly through classical glycolysis and partly through the hexosemonophosphate shunt pathway.

Penicillin and streptomycin inhibited almost completely the growth of the organism, the utilization of carbohydrates, and the production of various metabolites for the first 18 to 24 hr. However, upon extended incubation up to 48 hr, the organism grew, metabolized sugars, and produced acid and the various metabolites. In general, in the presence of the residual antibiotics, the emerging cells produced lactic acid and carbon dioxide at a reduced rate. Penicillin was more inhibitory toward the fermentation of the monosaccharides than toward that of the disaccharide, and the reverse was true for streptomycin. Aureomycin and the random inhibited completely the growth, the sugar metabolism, and the acid production up to 48 hr of incubation.

Fermentation patterns of Streptococcus lactis have been found to vary from strain to strain under similar conditions of growth and also in the same strain under different conditions of growth. Platt and Foster (15) and Angelotti (2) observed that S. lactis, when grown on different carbohydrate substrates, produced formic, acetic, and butyric acids, acetoin, diacetyl, n-butanol, ethyl alcohol, glycerol, and carbon dioxide in addition to lactic acid, indicating that S. lactis, normally a homofermenter, metabolized sugars heterofermentatively. Wiken (21) and Wood (22) have reported that there exists a thin or diffused line of demarcation between homofermentative and heterofermentative lactic organisms.

Effects of antibiotics in milk and on starter cultures have been reviewed by Albright, Tuckey, and Woods (1). However, most of the reviewed articles were concerned only with

Received for publication April 24, 1962.

¹Supported by a grant from the U. S. Public Health Services (National Institutes of Health).

² Published with the approval of the Director as paper no. 1240, Journal Series, Nebraska Agricultural Experiment Station, Lincoln. the study of the inhibition of the acid production by antibiotics in milk, and very little has been reported on the mode of action of antibiotics on the carbohydrate metabolism of S. lactis or on different metabolites produced by S. lactis. Angelotti (2) observed that, concomitant with the development of resistance to terramycin, S. lactis partially lost its ability to metabolize sugars and produce acid. Shahani (17) reported that terramycin inhibited very markedly the aerobic utilization, but very mildly the anaerobic utilization, of carbohydrate by S. lactis. Also, the antibiotic inhibited very severely the activity of young cells, but had little or no effect upon the activity of the resting cells, indicating that terramycin might be more inhibitory toward protein metabolism than carbohydrate metabolism.

Albright et al. (1) and Gale (5), in their review articles, reported that penicillin and polymyxin inhibited the cell wall or membrane formation of several microorganisms and that aureomycin, terramycin, streptomycin, and chloromycetin inhibited the nucleic acid or protein synthesis. However, all the studies reviewed were of microorganisms other than lactic organisms. The purpose of this investigation was to study the differences in the carbohydrate-metabolic patterns of *S. lactis* when grown on lactose and on its constituent monosaccharides, glucose and galactose, and to study the effect of several antibiotics upon these metabolic patterns.

METHODS

Culture and media for fermentation studies. Streptococcus lactis strain UN, obtained from the Department of Bacteriology, University of Nebraska, was used throughout this study. In the initial stages, three media—milk medium, micro inoculum broth (Difco), and the APT medium of Evans and Niven (4), as modified by Platt and Foster (15), were compared for use in the growth studies. The APT medium was finally selected for use because of the consistency of the results obtained. The medium contained 1% (w/v) glucose, galactose, or lactose as the only carbohydrate source.

The culture of S. lactis was maintained on sterile milk medium and transferred every 15 days. Prior to its use in growth studies, the culture was transferred three times in the APT broth (pH 6.8) containing 1% of the carbohydrate under study and incubated at 30 C. Fermentation studies were carried out in 250-ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 95 ml of the sterile medium inoculated with 5 ml of an 18-hr broth culture of S. lactis (18-20% transmission at 640 m μ) and incubated at 30 C, in the stationary condition. In the trials designed to study the effect of antibiotics on the metabolism of various sugars, 0.05 to 0.1 ml of an aqueous solution of penicillin, streptomycin, aureomycin, or terramycin was added to the flasks before incubation to yield ten units or 10 μg of an antibiotic per milliliter. To the control flasks was added an equal amount of sterile water. At intervals of 6, 12, 18, 24, 36, and 48 hr of incubation the flasks were removed for various analyses.

Analytical methods. The rate of growth in the fermented broth was determined turbidimetrically at 640 m μ . The bacterial cells were removed from the fermented broth by centrifugation, and the supernatant was analyzed for total titratable acidity, residual sugar, and different metabolic products.

The total titratable acidity was determined in an aliquot by titrating it against a 0.1 Nalkali. Lactose was estimated by Folin and Wu's method as described by Hawk et al. (9), glucose and galactose by Nelson's modification of Somogyi's method (14), and lactic acid by the method of Barker and Summerson (3). For determining volatile acids, the paper chromatographic method of Kennedy and Barker (11), applied to the distillate of the fermentation broth, revealed that it contained only acetic and formic acids. Total acids were determined in the distillate by titration; formic acid was determined by the colorimetric method of Grant (6) and by difference acetic acid was estimated (15). Glycerol was determined by the method of Lambert and Neish (12). Carbon dioxide and neutral volatile compounds were determined by the method of Neish (13). The determination of neutral volatile compounds like n-butanol, diacetyl, acetoin, n-propanol, and ethanol involved distillation of the fermented broth, celite-water column chromatography of the distillate, and dichromate oxidation of different compounds present in different fractions of the eluate obtained from the celite column. The method revealed that only ethanol was present.

RESULTS

Rate of growth, sugar utilization, and acid production. The average results of four to six series of trials with each carbohydrate and each antibiotic are presented in Figure 1. In the absence of any antibiotic, the organism was found to grow luxuriantly in all the three sugars. Although, in the initial stages of incubation, there were some differences in the growth rate of the organism in the three media, at the end of 48 hr the growth in all three media was almost the same (Figure 1a).

In the earlier stages of incubation, the organism metabolized glucose and lactose more rapidly than galactose. However, at the end of 48 hr of incubation, the organism utilized an average of 91, 88, and 83% of glucose, lactose, and galactose, respectively.

The maximum total titratable acidity obtained in fermentations of the three carbohydrates was almost the same, differing only in the time required to reach the maximum level (Figure 1c). In all three sugars the maximum acidity was attained in 24 to 36 hr. In galactose and lactose, the total acidity decreased slightly after 36 hr of incubation; whereas, in glucose, once the initial maximum peak had been reached no decrease in acidity was observed up to 48 hr of incubation. In general, although the organism metabolized galactose more slowly, its rate of growth and total acidity produced were comparable to those obtained in the glu cose or lactose broth.

Effect of antibiotics. In Figure 1 are also presented data of the inhibitory effects of penicillin and streptomycin upon the rate of growth,



FIG. 1. Rate of growth, carbohydrate metabolism, and acidity production of *Streptococcus lactis* in the absence and in the presence of antibiotics.

sugar utilization, and acid production of *S. lactis.* The other two antibiotics, aureomycin and terramycin, inhibited completely the growth and carbohydrate metabolism of *S. lactis* during the entire 48-hr incubation period.

In glucose or galactose broth, penicillin inhibited completely the growth, sugar utilization, and acid production up to 24 hr of incubation, after which the organism started growing slowly, metabolizing the carbohydrates and producing acid. However, although the organism showed growth, its sensitivity towards the antibiotic was further evidenced by morphologic changes. In place of the normal regular chain of cocci, the emerging cells became elongated and swollen, with a tendency towards becoming Gramnegative. After 18- and 24-hr incubation periods, the growth medium was assayed for the antibiotic concentration, and it was observed that the medium still contained 60 to 70% of the added antibiotic. The fact that after the initial complete inhibition of growth for 18 to 24 hr the organism could multiply in the presence of the antibiotic, and the organism had changed in morphology and in Gram-staining, indicate that the growth may have been due to the multiplication of emerging mutants.

At the end of 36 hr of incubation, the growth of the culture was found to have been retarded in the presence of penicillin by 80 to 92% in the three media. At the end of 48-hr incubation, the inhibition still persisted but to a lesser degree. In general, penicillin inhibited the glucose or galactose metabolism more severely than the lactose metabolism. Streptomycin also inhibited completely the growth of the organism, but only up to 18 hr, following which the organism grew slowly, utilizing the three sugars and concomitantly producing acidity. However, the organism did not develop any changes in morphology or in Gramstaining, as observed in penicillin. Compared to penicillin, streptomycin was less inhibitory towards the glucose or galactose metabolism but more inhibitory towards the lactose metabolism.

Production of various metabolites. Data relative to the pH changes and the production of various metabolites by S. lactis are presented in Table 1. For the sake of comparison, the per cent sugar metabolized was calculated in terms of μ M/100 ml broth and is also presented in Table 1.

During the carbohydrate metabolism of S. *lactis* with the increase in the acidity, the pH of the medium decreased from the initial value of 6.8 to 3.9 or 4.0, after which it remained fairly stationary.

S. lactis produced lactic acid as the major metabolic product, along with varying concentrations of formic and acetic acids, glycerol, ethanol, and carbon dioxide. In glucose or galactose fermentation, the yield of lactic acid obtained was maximum at 36 hr of incubation, after which it declined slightly. In lactose metabolism, however, continuously increasing yields of lactic acid were observed up to 48 hr of incubation. During the glucose or lactose fermentation, the formic acid production increased up to 36 hr of incubation, then declined. Considerably more formic acid was produced during galactose or lactose fermentation than during the glucose fermentation.

The production of acetic acid or carbon dioxide was a continuous process throughout the fermentation of the carbohydrates. Considerably more acetic acid was produced during galactose fermentation than during the glucose or lactose fermentation; whereas, more carbon dioxide was produced during the lactose fermentation than during the fermentation of the monosaccharides.

Analysis for several neutral volatile products revealed that only ethanol was produced; contrary to the observations of the previous workers (2, 15), the organism did not produce any detectable concentrations of n-butanol, npropanol, isopropanol, diacetyl, or acetoin. In glucose and lactose media, a high level of ethanol was produced within the initial 12 hr of incubation, which remained fairly stationary thereafter; whereas, in galactose medium the ethanol production continued up to 48 hr. Nearly 11 to 12 times more ethanol was produced in galactose fermentation than during the fermentation of the two other sugars.

While glycerol production progressed during the entire 48 hr of glucose fermentation, during the galactose or lactose fermentation it reached

	Incuba- tion		Metabo- lized sugar – µM/100 ml f medium	Fermentation products $\mu M/100$ ml medium						
Substrate	time (hr)	$_{\mathrm{pH}}$		Lactic	Formic	Acetic	Carbon dioxide	Ethanol	Glycero	
Glucose	6	4.2	555	444	29	82	231	7	277	
	12	4.0	2,500	1,922	85	159	250	60	827	
	18	4.1	3,089	2,471	93	179	282	56	865	
	24	3.9	4,000	3,411	103	186	290	55	885	
	36	3.9	4,722	5,888	123	223	296	55	935	
	48	3.9	5,077	5,511	54	232	206	50	1,756	
Galactose	6	4.9	45 0	576	167	180	229	112	88	
	12	4.4	1,875	2,403	199	640	244	554	504	
	18	4.2	2,403	3,555	240	721	285	560	721	
	24	4.1	2,553	4,777	248	766	290	568	787	
	36	4.1	3,424	6,000	262	716	292	588	585	
	48	4.0	4,627	4,200	286	723	304	605	567	
Lactose	6	4.3	542	553	511	169	365	52	258	
	12	4.2	1,200	1,330	680	175	425	93	528	
	18	4.2	1,580	2,220	869	190	431	93	553	
	24	4.0	1,900	3,249	771	228	453	93	508	
	36	4.0	2,069	6,207	793	220	456	66	472	
	48	4.0	2,450	8,333	511	209	458	53	455	

TABLE 1

the maximum level within 18 to 24 hr, then declined.

Effects of antibiotics upon the production of rarious metabolites. In Tables 2 and 3 are presented the data relative to the inhibitory effects of penicillin and streptomycin, respectively. Simultaneous with the inhibition of growth and sugar metabolism, the antibiotics inhibited completely the production of the various metabolites during the initial 18 to 24 hr of incubation. Once the organism started to grow in the presence of the antibiotics and to metabolize sugar, it produced all the metabolites that were produced in the absence of the antibiotics.

As presented in Table 2, at the end of the 48-hr incubation period, penicillin had retarded significantly the production of lactic and acetic acids and carbon dioxide in all the three media. The production of the other metabolites was affected to a variable degree. The antibiotic inhibited strongly the formic acid production of the organism in the galactose broth, had no effect on the formic acid production in the lactose broth, and had a stimulatory effect on the formic acid production in the glucose broth. The antibiotic retarded the production of ethanol in the galactose and lactose fermentation, but stimulated it in the case of glucose fermentation. Similarly, while glycerol production was inhibited in the glucose broth, it was stimulated in the galactose and lactose broths.

Streptomycin also inhibited sugar metabolism and the production of various metabolites (Table 3). Compared to penicillin, streptomycin was less inhibitory toward the metabolism of the monosaccharides than toward the metabolism of the disaccharide. At the end of 48 hr of fermentation, streptomycin had inhibited significantly the lactic acid production in lactose broth (72%), but in glucose broth it showed only mild inhibition, and in galactose broth the lactic acid production was stimulated. The antibiotic inhibited the production of other metabolites either mildly or showed a stimulatory effect.

DISCUSSION

S. lactis grew at almost the same rate in glucose, galactose, or lactose broth although, on a molar basis, lactose was metabolized at about half the rate of the monosaccharides (Table 1), since the molecular weight of the disaccharide is about twice that of the monosaccharides. When grown on any of the three carbohydrate sources, the organism produced almost the same amount of total titrable acidity but different amounts of formic and acetic acids, carbon dioxide, ethanol, and glycerol. The fact that the organism produced similar compounds, although the amounts were different, in all the three media, indicates that the three carbohydrates were metabolized by the organism through similar pathways.

A transition of S. lactis cultures from a homofermentative to heterofermentative type as a result of a variation in carbohydrate source is characteristic. The production of metabolites other than lactic acid indicates that under the conditions of this study S. lactis, normally a homofermenter, functioned as a heterofermenter, as has been reported for several streptococci (2, 15). Also, in another study, Shahani and Vakil (18) observed that S. lactis possessed the lactose dehydrogenase system which converted lactose to lactobionate, and the latter produced gluconate and galactose. The organism was able to utilize lactobionate and gluconate and produced amounts of fermentation products comparable to those observed in the present study. These observations suggested that S. lactis utilized the carbohydrates partly through the Embden-Meyerhof cycle and partly through the hexose monophosphate pathway.

The rate of lactic acid production was markedly faster in the earlier than in the later stages of incubation. This could be because after about 18 hr of the incubation period essentially resting cells are metabolizing sugar in a medium with a pH of 4 or below—a condition not optimum for the lactic acid production. The lactic acid production accounted for as much as 26 to 93% of metabolized sugar. Other workers (8, 15, 20) have shown that 78 to 98% of metabolized glucose and 21 to 57% of metabolized galactose were converted into lactic acid.

In the present investigation, the other metabolites produced, in the order of the amount of sugar metabolized, were glycerol, acetate, carbon dioxide, formate, and ethanol. Five to 25% of the metabolized sugar was converted into glycerol and 0.3 to 13% into each of the other compounds.

Two possible pathways of the formate production have been suggested (20, 22)—one by phosphoroclastic cleavage of pyruvate into formate and acetate, and the other by the reversal of formic hydrogenlyase action, as shown in the following reaction:

HCOOH formic hydrogenlyase
$$H_2 + CO_2$$

The organism produced both acetate and formate as well as carbon dioxide. However, no efforts were made to determine how formate was produced by *S. lactis.*

	Tnanba.		Metabolized sugar	olized ar	Laetie	tie	Formie	mie	Acetic	tie	Carbon dioxide	oon ide	Eth	Ethanol	61	Glycerol
Subst. + Antib.	tion time (hr)	Hq	μ M/100 ml me- dium	Inhib." (%)	Prod. ^b	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. $(\%)$	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)
Glucose + Penicillin	e	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	o	100	0	100
	12	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	18	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	6.7	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	36	5.3	1,322	72	1,600	73	92	25	107	52	125	58	66	-20	529	43
	48	5.2	2,055	59	2,480	55	73	-34	115	50	230	25	11	-42	1,417	20
Galactose + Penicillin	9	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	12	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	18	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	6.8	0	100	C	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	36	6.4	1,844	46	1,066	82	25	06	175	76	124	57	168	11	676	-15
	48	5.8	2,163	53	1,444	99	19	93	180	75	181	40	374	38	683	-20
Lactose +	8		c	000 F	c	00 5	c	0.01	\$	100	c	0.01	¢	001	c	001
Fementin	<u>ہ</u> و	0.0 8		100		100	0 0	100	0 0	100	0 0	100	0 0	100		100
	18	6.7	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	6.0	744	61	1,539	53	348	55	59	67	247	45	30	67	526	- 4
	36	5.5	1,238	39	4,440	29	390	51	70	68	389	15	34	48	507	- 7
	48	5.1	1,805	26	6,660	20	500	¢1	34	83	437	5	38	28	472	- 4

TABLE 2

	Incurbe.		Metabolized sugar	ized r	Lactic	tie	Formic	nic	Acetic	tie	Carbon dioxide	oon ide	Eth	Ethanol	9	Glycerol
Subst. + Antib.	tion time (hr)	Hd	μM/100 ml me- dium	Inhib." (%)	Prod	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)	Prod.	Inhib. (%)
Gllucose + streptomycin	9	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	12	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	18	6.7	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	4.4	1,900	52	2,777	19	93	10	57	48	125	57	41	25	538	39
	36	4.2	2,688	43	5,222	12	142	-15	161	28	137	54	11	-29	838	12
	48	4.0	3,200	35	5,333	3	70	-30	239	- 3	250	18	56	-12	1,548	11
Galactose + streptomyein	9	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	12	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	18	6.7	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	5.2	1,394	45	2,222	54	204	18	380	50	106	63	286	50	681	9
	36	4.5	2,800	34	4,200	30	222	15	520	27	125	57	301	49	629	2 -
	48	4.5	3,033	18	5,588	-33	248	13	069	5	231	24	605	0	207	2 -
Lactose +																
streptomycin	9	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	12	6.8	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	18	6.7	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100	0	100
	24	6.0	555	71	666	80	820	9 -	128	28	235	48	100	2 -	506	0
	36	5.5	694	67	1,440	77	848	9 -	188	15	267	41	102	-48	453	5
	48	5.2	833	66	2,361	72	652	-28	200	4	361	21	110	-107	437	4

TABLE 3

Gunsalus and Niven (8) and White et al. (20) observed that while metabolizing glucose or galactose at pH 7.0 to 9.0, Streptococcus liquefaciens and Streptococcus pyogenes produced formate, acetate, and ethanol in the ratio of 2:1:1. However, at a lower pH they did not observe such a relationship. They suggested that since the combined values for acetate and ethanol equaled the formate, they may have originated from a three-carbon precursor, possibly pyruvate (7). However, Platt and Foster (15) observed a much lower C_1 (formate $+ CO_2$): C_2 (acetate + ethanol) ratio, which they ascribed to a possible CO₂-fixation. In the present study, the observed C1:C2 ratios of 1.3:1 in the glucose metabolism and 1:2.2 in the galactose metabolism seem to proximate the findings of the previous workers. Also, as observed by Platt and Foster, CO₂ rather than formate was almost always the major oxidized product.

Preliminary studies indicated that S. lactis used in this work possessed an aldehyde dehydrogenase-alcohol dehydrogenase system, as was shown to be present in beef liver (16) and in S. pyogenes (20). Also, the finding that acetate was present in higher concentrations than ethanol corroborates the observations of White et al. (20). It appears that S. lactis oxidized ethanol to acetate, as was reported for S. liquefaciens (8).

On the basis of the present data, the exact pathways of formation of the various metabolic products cannot be established. The above discussion presents possibilities for future lines of approach which will be considered further in the subsequent reports of this series.

S. lactis UN was sensitive toward all four antibiotics. Aureomycin and terramycin inhibited the organism completely for 48 hr of incubation (maximum incubation studied). Penicillin and streptomycin inhibited its growth and its carbohydrate metabolism for 18 and 24 hr, following which the organism grew and metabolized the sugars, but at a reduced rate. Since at the end of 18 to 24 hr of incubation the medium still contained 60 to 70% of the added penicillin or streptomycin, the emerging growth may have been essentially due to the growth of mutants capable of growing in the medium containing antibiotics. At the end of the 48 hr incubation in the media containing penicillin, the production of lactate, carbon dioxide, and acetate had been retarded, and the production of the other metabolites had been affected to a variable degree. On the other hand, in the streptomycin series, the carbon dioxide production had been retarded in all three carbohydrate media, and the lactate production had been retarded in the lactose medium. In general, penicillin was more inhibitory toward the metabolism of the monosaccharides than toward that of the disaccharide. However, the reverse was true in the case of streptomycin.

Gale (5) reported that penicillin impaired the synthesis of cell wall material, which Strominger (19) has recently confirmed to be primarily due to the failure of the incorporation of UDP-N-acetyl glucosaminelactyl peptide into cell wall in the presence of penicillin. The observations that penicillin caused *S. lactis* cells to become elongated and swollen are in agreement with the report of Hunter (10) and Gale (5), who suggested that the elongated or swollen cell formations might be due to the failure of the cells to complete cell-division or due to osmotic damage to the cells effected by penicillin.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Able technical assistance of Miss Clara Zoz is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- ALBRIGHT, J. L., TUCKEY, S. L., AND WOODS, G. T. Antibiotics in Milk. A Review. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 779. 1961.
- (2) ANGELOTTI, R. Studies on the Physiological Activities of Terramycin-Resistant and Susceptible Cultures of Cheese-Ripening Strain of *Streptococcus lactis*. Ph.D. thesis, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio. 1955.
- (3) BARKER, S. B., AND SUMMERSON, W. H. The Colorimetric Determination of Lactic Acid in Biological Material. J. Biol. Chem., 138: 535. 1941.
- (4) EVANS, J. B., AND NIVEN, C. F. Nutrition of the Heterofermentative Lactobacilli that Cause Greening of Cured Meat Products. J. Bacteriol., 62: 599. 1951.
- (5) GALE, E. F. The Action of Antibiotics. Research Appl. Ind., 14: 219. 1961.
- (6) GRANT, W. M. Colorimetric Microdetermination of Formic Acid Based on Reduction to Formaldehyde. Anal. Chem., 20: 267. 1948.
- (7) GUNSALUS, I. C. Energy Metabolism of Lactic Acid Bacteria. Proc. 4th Intern. Congr. Biochem., 13: 444. 1959.
- (8) GUNSALUS, I. C., AND NIVEN, C. F. The Effect of pH on the Lactic Acid Fermentation. J. Biol. Chem., 145: 131. 1942.
- (9) HAWK, P. B., OSER, B. L., AND SUMMERSON, W. H. Practical Physiological Chemistry. 12th ed. p. 215. The Blakiston Co., Philadelphia. 1947.

- (10) HUNTER, G. J. E. The Effect of Penicillin on Lactic Streptococci. J. Dairy Research, 16: 39. 1949.
- (11) KENNEDY, E. P., AND BARKER, H. A. Paper Chromatography of Volatile Acids. Anal. Chem., 23: 1033. 1951.
- (12) LAMBERT, M., AND NEISH, A. C. Rapid Method for Estimation of Glycerol in Fermentation Solutions. Canadian J. Research, 28B: 83, 1950.
- (13) NEISH, A. C. Analytical Methods for Bacterial Fermentation. 2nd rev. pp. 31, 46. (Rept. No. 46-8-3.) Nat'l Research Council Canada. 1952.
- (14) NELSON, N. A Photometric Adaptation of the Somogyi's Method for the Determination of Glucose. J. Biol. Chem., 153: 375. 1944.
- (15) PLATT, T. B., AND FOSTER, E. M. Products of Glucose Metabolism by Homofermentative Streptococci Under Anaerobic Conditions. J. Bacteriol., 75: 453. 1958.
- (16) RACKER, E. Aldehyde Dehydrogenase, A Diphosphopyridine-Linked Enzyme. J. Biol. Chem., 177: 883. 1949.

- (17) SHAHANI, K. M. Carbohydrate and Pyruvate Metabolism of Oxytetracycline-Sensitive and Oxytetracycline-Resistant Organisms. Antibiotic Ann. 1956-57, p. 523. Med. Encyclopoedia, Inc., New York. 1957.
- (18) SHAHANI, K. M., AND VAKIL, J. R. Carbohydrate Metabolism of Lactic Acid Cultures. II. Effects of Antibiotics on Certain Enzymes of Streptococcus lactis. J. Dairy Sci. (In press.)
- (19) STROMINGER, J. L. Biosynthesis of Bacterial Cell Walls. Federation Proc., Symposia, 21(1): 134. 1962.
- (20) WHITE, A. G. C., STEELE, R. H., AND PIERCE, W. A., JR. The Effect of pH on the Fermentation of Glucose and Galactose by *Streptococcus pyogenes.* J. Bacteriol., 70: 82, 1955.
- (21) WIKEN, T. Lactic Acid Bacteria. Proc. 4th Intern. Congr. Biochem., 13: 433. 1959.
- (22) WOOD, W. A. Fermentation of Carbohydrates and Related Compounds. In the Bacteria. Vol. II. p. 59. Metabolism, Eds. Gunsalus, I. C., and Stanier, R. Y. Academic Press, Inc., New York. 1961.

METHOD FOR REMOVING IODINE¹³¹ FROM MILK

G. K. MURTHY, J. E. GILCHRIST, AND J. E. CAMPBELL

Milk and Food Research Program, Robert A. Taft Sanitary Engineering Center Cincinnati, Ohio

SUMMARY

Fresh samples of raw whole milk containing iodine¹³¹ (either added and stored for 24 hr at 4 C before use, in vivo labeled, or market milk samples containing dwith fresh fallout) were passed through a column $(2.0 \times 4.8 \text{ cm})$ containing 15 ml of Dowex 2-X8 anionic resin previously charged with an aqueous solution containing NaCl, NaH₂PO₄, and Na₃C₆H₅O₇ at pH 6.6. The concentration of each anion in the charging solution expressed in mm/liter was 4.03 (mm Cl/liter) + 4.64 (mm inorganic P/liter) + 20.4 (mm citrate/liter), where the expressions in parentheses represent the composition of the milk to be treated and the numerical coefficients provide for the difference in affinity of these anions for the resin.

Analysis of treated milk indicated that approximately $98 \pm 2\%$ of I¹³¹ was removed from 120-130 resin bed volumes of milk (and about 95% from 230 resin bed volumes). The removal of I¹³¹ did not vary with flow rates of 5-20 ml per min, and the anionic composition was essentially unchanged. Also, the rate of removal was not affected by temperatures, which ranged from 1-30 C, indicating that cold temperatures may be maintained during the process, thereby minimizing bacterial growth. All the I¹³¹ in milk was removed except the proteinbound I¹³¹, which was not available for ion exchange. Although the proteinbound I¹³¹ in milk from individual cows may vary from 0-10%, it is negligible in market milk contaminated with fresh fallout. The flavor of resin-treated milk was comparable to that of untreated milk. The absorbed I¹³¹ on the resin may be stripped with 2 N HCl prior to resin regeneration.

Murthy et al. (16) described a method for removing cationic radionuclides (Sr⁹⁰, Ba¹⁴⁰, and Cs¹³⁷) from milk. A method for the removal of iodine¹³¹ (I¹³¹) is described in this paper.

Of the several fission products formed from nuclear weapons testing and nuclear reactor accidents, the only anionic type of radionuclide observed in measurable amounts in milk is I¹³¹ (2, 19). Although the International Committee on Radiation Protection had set a maximum permissible concentration (MPC) of 2,000 $\mu\mu c$ /liter for I¹³¹ (9, 10), the Federal Radiation Council has recently published guide lines in which the acceptable levels of population exposure for I¹³¹ have been substantially decreased. Recognizing that similar concentrations of I¹³¹ would give a higher dosage to the smaller thyroid glands of children, because of size and sensitivity, than to those of adults, the council has recommended 100 $\mu\mu c$ of I¹⁸¹ as an average maximum daily intake. Thus, the annual dose to the thyroid of an exposed population (children) would be 0.5 rem (5).

Received for publication June 29, 1962.

The nature of I^{131} in milk of various species of animals has been reviewed (13). In cows' milk, 90-100% of the I^{131} is in the inorganic form as the iodide and the remainder is bound with the proteins.

In several methods for the removal of I¹³¹, ion-exchange resins in both column and batch techniques have been employed. In addition, an electrolytic process in which ion-exchange membranes are used has also been investigated.

Column experiments with commercially available synthetic ion-exchange resins in the chloride form removed 96-98% of the Γ^{131} from milk labeled in vivo and from milk labeled in vitro. The presence of nonionic Γ^{131} in milk resulted in a slightly lower removal from that labeled in vivo than from that labeled in vitro. The removal of Γ^{131} was found to be independent of flow rates (3) under the experimental conditions studied.

Batch process studies with ion-exchange resins in the chloride form removed 89.9-93.0%of the I¹³¹ from milk labeled in vivo, but the anionic composition of the milk was altered considerably. An increase of 50% in chloride and decrease of 12% in phosphate content were observed (4).

When milk was treated in membrane cells consisting of a cation-anion-anion-cation system, approximately 60-70% of the Γ^{an} was removed at an applied voltage of 14 v and 99.8% at 50 v. This treatment produced no changes in taste, odor, pH, appearance, density, or sodium content; however, the chloride content increased from 60 to 100 ppm and there was bacterial spoilage (8).

These experiments showed that synthetic ionexchange resins will remove I^{1st} from milk, but its anionic composition is drastically altered in the process. Equilibration of a suitable anionic exchange resin with a synthetic solution containing chlorides, citrates, and phosphates under appropriate conditions seemed necessary for removing I^{1st} without significant changes in the anionic composition of the milk. An investigation has resulted in the method described here.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Materials. Milk that was labeled in vitro was prepared by adding an aliquot of an I¹³¹ solution of known activity to milk and allowing the mixture to equilibrate at 4 C for at least 24 hr prior to use. That labeled in vivo with approximately 0.5 μ c I¹³¹ and 0.03 μ c Sr⁵⁵ per liter was obtained from the Dairy Products Laboratory, USDA, Beltsville, Maryland. The I¹³¹ tracer, obtained from Oak Ridge National Laboratory, was carrier-free NaI¹³¹ in basic sulfite solution, pH 7-11. Market milk samples contaminated with fresh fallout were purchased locally during October-November 1961.

The anion-exchange resin used was Dowex 2-X8 (Cl⁻), 20-50 mesh size, with a total exchange capacity of approximately 1.33 meq/ml of wet resin.

Resin regeneration procedure. Since Dowex 2-X8 resin, as purchased, was in the chloride form, it was necessary to regenerate it on a chloride, phosphate, and citrate (Cl:P:Cit) cycle. The regeneration of the resin was performed as follows: First, the anionic composition of milk was determined. Based on this analysis, a mixed salt solution of chlorides, phosphates, and citrates was prepared according to the formula described under Results and Discussion. The pH of the salt solution was adjusted with 2 N NaOH to the same value as that of milk. The charging solution was passed (downflow) through a glass column (2.0 \times 4.8 cm) containing 15 ml of the resin, at approximately 2-3 ml per minute, until the composition of the effluent was the same as that of the influent; approximately 350 ml of solution per 15 ml of resin was required. After equilibrium was reached, excess salts were removed by washing the resin with distilled water.

Procedure. The milk containing I^{iai} was allowed to flow at 12-14 ml per minute through the exchange column containing 15 ml of Dowex 2-X8 anionic resin in the Cl:P:Cit cycle. The treated milk was analyzed for I^{iai} activity and anionic composition.

Analytical methods. The following methods were used:

- 1. The pH was determined by use of a Beckman Model Zeromatic pH meter.
- 2. The radioactivity was determined by gross γ -counting or by gamma spectroscopy, according to the method described by Branson et al. (1).
- 3. Chloride was estimated as silver chloride, according to A.O.A.C. method modified by Murthy and Whitney (14).
- Inorganic phosphorus on an aliquot of the filtrate obtained from trichloroacetic-acid precipitation of the proteins in the milk (4) was measured by developing the color according to Fiske and Subbarow's procedure (6).
- 5. Citric acid on an aliquot of the filtrate obtained from trichloroacetic-acid precipitation of the proteins in the milk (14) was determined by developing the color according to Marier and Boulet's method (12).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Resin-charging procedure. Preliminary investigations for charging the anionic resin were conducted by methods similar to those for cationic resin (16). With a mixture of chloride, inorganic phosphate, and citrate in the same proportions but at five times the concentration observed in milk and at the pH of milk, the results were unsatisfactory because the treated milk (27 column volumes) showed an increase of 35% in chlorides and a decrease of 64% in citrates. No significant change in phosphates was observed.

To determine the proportions of chlorides, phosphates, and citrates required on the resin so that the composition of the milk would remain unaltered after treatment, seven 15-ml portions of Dowex 2-X8 (Cl⁻) resin were equilibrated by passage of 1.5 liters of raw whole milk through the columns. The excess milk was removed by washing columns with warm distilled water. The absorbed anions were eluted with 300 ml of 2 N NaNO₃ in 0.16 N HNO₃ and analyzed. In calculations of the mole fractions the values for citrates and inorganic phosphates were considered in their trivalent forms. The results showed the mole fraction of anions on the resin as follows: 0.632 ± 0.019 for chlorides, 0.075 ± 0.006 for phosphates, and 0.293 \pm 0.020 for citrates. The values in the milk were : 0.503 ± 0.007 for chlorides, $0.350 \pm$ 0.008 for phosphates, and 0.147 ± 0.004 for citrates. The ranges in the above values represent standard deviations between replicate samples. These results indicate that only a small portion of inorganic phosphate in milk was available for ion-exchange reactions and the observed order of absorption was chlorides >citrates > phosphates. It has been shown (7) that when a mixed solution containing equivalent concentrations of hydrochloric acid, phosphorie acid, and citric acid (total strength 0.1 N) is passed through a De Acidite column, the order of absorption is hydrochloric >phosphoric > citric, whereas with IR-4B resin, NaH₂PO₄ is preferentially absorbed to Na₂-HPO₄. In milk, however, the citrates exist

mostly in the trivalent form and inorganic phosphates mostly in the monovalent and divalent forms. Therefore, the behavior of various species of these anions would be expected to depend upon their relative concentrations, ionization constants, solubility, and pH.

To determine the effect of slight variations in pH of milk on the mole fractions of anions on the resin, 1.5-liter portions of fresh raw whole milk were adjusted to pH's of 6.4, 6.6, and 6.8, either with dilute CH_sCOOH or NaOH, and passed through 15-ml portions of resin in the chloride form, as described before. Analysis of resin eluates showed that as pH was increased from 6.4 to 6.8 the mole fraction of citrates increased from 0.252 to 0.279, that of chlorides decreased from 0.675 to 0.645, and that of phosphates did not change appreciably (0.073 to 0.077).

The effect of varying the anionic composition of milk on anions absorbed on resin was also investigated. A controlled factorial experiment was performed on eight milk samples contain-

	k compo de numb		Conce	entrations in (mm/liter)			entrations or (mole fractio	
Chlo- ride	Inor- ganic phos- phate	Citrate	Chlo- ride	Inor- ganic phos- phate	Citrate	Chlo- ride	Inor- ganic phos- phate	Citrate
	0	0	32.50	21.18	8.847	0.596	0.0734	0.329
	0	1	32.17	20.97	12.092	0.568	0.0719	0.360
0		0	32.17	24.30	8,758	0.598	0.1076	0.294
	1	1	32.50	24.30	12.09	0.594	0.0680	0.338
		0	42.17	20.97	8.758	0.656	0.0657	0.278
	0	1	42.17	21.00	12.09	0.679	0.045	0.276
1		0	42.17	24.30	8.850	0.711	0.069	0.220
	1	1	42.17	24.30	12.09	0.678	0.0585	0.264
		0	32.50	21.18	8.847	0.596	0.0734	0.329
	0	2	31.85	20.76	15.336	0.532	0.0673	0.401
0	2	0	31.85	27.42	8.670	0.577	0.1236	0.302
	2	2	31.62	28.00	15.410	0.532	0.0859	0.382
	0	0	51.85	20.76	8.670	0.714	0.0582	0.228
0	0	2	51.50	20.64	15.200	0.664	0.0442	0.292
2	0	0	51.50	27.86	8.800	0.738	0.0762	0.186
	2	2	52.16	28.00	15.400	0.706	0.0578	0.236

TABLE 1

Effect of variation in anionic composition of milk on mole fraction of anions on resin

			es of mole	ns in milk			
	Degrees of	variane	on resin	Tractions	F-Rati	o to error va	triance
Effect		Chlorides	Phosphate	s Citrates	Chlorides	Phosphates	Citrates
Average effects:							
$A = \tilde{C}hlorides$ in milk	1	0.042778	0.001619	0.027848	120.16(**)	39.01(**)	69.62(**)
B = Phosphates in milk	: 1	0.000276	0.001260	0.002492	0.78(N.S.)	30.36(**)	6.48(*)
C = Citrates in milk	1	0.004560	0.000726	0.008844	12.81(*)	17.49(**)	22.11(**)
Interaction effects:							
$\mathbf{A} \times \mathbf{B}$	1	0.000904	0.000173	0.000338	2.54(N.S.)	4.17(N.S.)	0.85(N.S.
$A \times C$	1	0.000092	0.000016	0.000181	0.26(N.S.)	0.39(N.S.)	0.45 (N.S.
$\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{C}$	1	0.000172	0.000162	0.000005	0.48(N.S.)	3.90(N.S.)	0.01 (N.S.
$A \times B \times C$	1	0.0000001	0.000092	0.000060	0.00(N.S.)	2.23(N.S.)	0.15 (N.S.
Error (between replicate	e				s /		,
milk samples)	6	0.000356	0.000042	0.000400			

T	AB	T 1	- Fi	1	Δ
14	J D	111		T	<i>(</i> 1 .

Analyses of variance of mole fractions of anions on resin corresponding to (0-2) concentrations in milk

N.S.-Not significant at 5% probability level.

* Significant at 5% probability level.

** Significant at 1% probability level.

ing the eight possible combinations of high and low concentrations of each of three anions at two levels. Sample compositions were adjusted by the addition of $1 \times \text{NaCl}$, NaH_2PO_4 , or $\text{Na}_3\text{C}_8\text{H}_3\text{O}_7$. The samples were stored at 4 C overnight and then passed through resin columns to determine mole fractions of each anion absorbed on the resin. The results are presented in Table 1. Analysis of variance was applied to data on mole fractions of anions on the resin and is shown in Table 1-A. The results from Table 1-A and the data in Table 1 show that increasing the concentration of any anion in the milk caused a statistically significant increase in mole fractions of the same anion and a significant decrease in the mole fractions of the other two anions absorbed on the resin. An exception to this general rule was that increasing the concentration of phosphates in the milk had no significant effect on the mole fraction of chlorides absorbed on the resin.

 TABLE 2

 Mole fractions of anions on resin predicted from a mathematical additive model

					Mole fracti	ons on resin	1	
	t compos de numb		Chlo	rides	Phos	ohates	Citra	ates
Chlo- ride	Phos- phate	Ci- trate	Ob- served	Pre- dicted	Ob- served	Pre- dicted	Ob- served	Pre- dicted
	0	0	0.596	0.577	0.073	0.084	0.329	0.338
	0	2	0.532	0.530	0.067	0.066	0.401	0.405
0		0	0.577	0.589	0.124	0.109	0.302	0.302
	2	2	0.532	0.541	0.086	0.090	0.382	0.369
	0	0	0.714	0.724	0.058	0.056	0.228	0.220
2	0	2	0.664	0.676	0.044	0.037	0.292	0.287
2		0	0.738	0.735	0.076	0.081	0.186	0.184
	2	2	0.706	0.687	0.058	0.062	0.236	0.251

Model: $y_{c1} = .6323 + .0731 x_{c1} + .0057 x_P - .0238 x_{c1t}$.

 $y_P = .0732 - .0142 x_{Cl} + .0124 x_P - .0094 x_{Clt}$

 $y_{cit.} = .2944 - .0590 x_{ci} - .0182 x_P + .0333 x_{cit.}$

where: y = predicted mole fraction of the indicated anion on resin x = 1 at the higher level (2) of the indicated anion in milk

x = -1 at the lower level (0) of the indicated anion in milk

G. K. MURTHY, J. E. GILCHRIST, AND J. E. CAMPBELL

The effects of increases in anion concentrations in the milk on mole fractions of anions absorbed on the resin were independent (additive), within the limits of the experimental error. That is, there were no detectable interaction effects among pairs of anions. A purely additive mathematical model, fitted by least squares (Table 2), predicted mole fractions on the resin well enough so that standard deviations between observed and predicted mole fractions, calculated with four degrees of freedom for each type of anion, did not differ significantly from respective standard deviations calculated from mole fractions of anions absorbed by the resin from seven independently equilibrated samples of an average milk. Standard deviations of the errors of predictions were ± 0.017 for chlorides, ± 0.010 for phosphates, and ± 0.012 for citrates, whereas standard deviations between replicate samples were ± 0.019 for chlorides, ± 0.006 for phosphates, and 0.020 for citrates. Thus lack of fit in a purely additive mathematical model was no greater than experimental error.

Figure 1 shows the interrelationship of mole fractions of anions on the resin. Although the analysis of variance indicated that varying the concentrations of phosphates, chlorides, and citrates in milk caused statistically significant changes in the mole fractions of phosphates on the resin, the changes were so small that,



FIG. 1. Interrelationship between mole fraction of anions on the resin equilibrated with milk of varying composition.

for practical purposes, it may be said that the mole fraction of phosphates on the resin was not affected. The partial correlation coefficients between mole fractions of anions on the resin calculated for chloride vs. citrate (-0.970), chloride vs. phosphate (-0.030), and citrate vs. phosphate (-0.276) indicated that only the citrate vs. chloride correlation was significantly different from zero. This suggested that in



FIG. 2. Relationship between mole fraction of anions on resin equilibrated with milk or charging solution and composition of charging solution.

1070

preparing charging solutions consideration should be given to the effects of varying chloride and eitrate concentrations while keeping phosphates constant.

With the phosphates held constant at 100 mm/liter, the citrate and chloride concentrations were varied in the charging solutions in such a way that the total concentration of the three anions was 1.0 N. A graph of the mole fractions of anions on the resin vs. concentration of the respective anions in the charging solutions is presented in Figure 2. It can be seen that the mole fraction of phosphates in the resin changed very little for different charging solutions. Since the mole fractions of all three anions add to 1.0, and because the phosphates are held constant at 100 mm/liter and the total concentration of all the three anions is 1.0 N, the citrate curve is implied by the chloride curve and the chloride curve by the citrate curve. Thus, either of the two curves in Figure 2 may be used to predict the composition of a charging solution that would deposit the same mole fractions of anions on the resin as were deposited by a milk sample.

To simplify preparation of the charging solution, the values for the average anionic composition of seven milks, the average mole fractions of anions on the resin obtained with the above milks, and the information presented in Figure 2 were used to develop a formula. The average anionic composition of milks is 30.93 ± 0.40 mm/liter for chlorides, 21.57 mm/liter for inorganic phosphates, and 9.21 ± 0.55 mm/liter for citrates; the observed mole fractions of corresponding anions are $0.632 \pm$ $0.019, 0.075 \pm 0.006$, and 0.293 ± 0.020 , respectively. As Figure 2 shows, to obtain these mole fractions on the resin, the charging solution should contain approximately 125 mm of chlorides, 100 mm of phosphates, and 185 mm of citrates, per liter of solution. By dividing the concentration of respective anions in the charging solution by those in milk, numerical coefficients may be obtained and substituted in the following formula:

4.03 (mm Cl/liter) + 4.64 (mm Inorg P/liter) + 20.4 (mm citrates/liter),

where the expressions in parentheses represent the anionic composition of milk to be treated for the removal of I^{131} . The formula selects the concentration of an anion in the charging solution so that its ratio to the concentration of the same anion in a nonaverage milk sample to be treated is equal to the ratio of the concentration of the anion in the average charging solution to its concentration in the average milk.

To validate this technique, sufficient quantity of fresh raw whole milk was obtained, analyzed for anions, and a charging solution prepared using the above formula. The pH of the solution was adjusted to that of the milk before the required volume was made up. Three 15-ml portions of Dowex 2-X8 (Cl-) were treated with 350-ml portions of the charging solution. Raw whole milk in 1.5-liter portions was passed through the charged columns and through two uncharged columns. Analysis of absorbed anions on the resins (Table 3) showed that the resin equilibrated with the charging solution had approximately the same composition as that equilibrated with the milk. Also, the anionic composition of resin-treated and untreated milk were compared and found not to differ significantly.

Although the above technique of preparing charging solution is satisfactory, where the anionic composition of milk varies greatly with the seasons or because of geographic location (9, 16, 17), it is appropriate to determine experimentally the mole fraction of anions deposited on the uncharged resin by the nonaverage milk and then use Figure 2 to compute the coefficients in the formula.

To determine the effectiveness of the Cl:P:Cit

TABLE 3

Relationship between composition of milk, charging solution, and mole fraction of anions on resin

Sample	Chloride	Inorganic phosphate	Citrate
Average mole fraction and	0.632	0.075	0.293
its standard deviation	(± 0.019)	(+0.006)	(± 0.020)
Charging sol. (mm/liter)	125.0	100.0	185.0
Resin equilibrated	(1) 0.644	0.059	0.297
with charging solution	(2) 0.657	0.059	0.284
(mole fraction)	(3) 0.659	0.059	0.283
Milk (mm/liter)	30.93	21.57	9.21
Resin equilibrated	(1) 0.628	0.065	0.307
with milk (mole fraction)	(2) 0.628	0.068	0.304

Sample	Chloride	Inorganic phosphate	Citrate	I ¹³¹ Removal
	0	(g/liter)		- (%)
Untreated	1.08	0.644	1.84	
Treated (effluent)				
1st 25 ml.	1.14	0.629	1.77	98
4th 25 ml.	1.14	0.642	1.86	96
8th 25 ml.	1.12	0.647	1.80	96
12th 25 ml.	1.10	0.646	1.82	95
16th 25 ml.	1.10	0.642	1.86	
Average (treated)	1.12	0.641	1.82	

TABLE 4

* 15 ml. of resin 2.0×4.8 cm column.

resin for the removal of Γ^{rat} , and to confirm the adequacy of the system for maintaining a constant anionic composition in the treated milk, portions of milk labeled with Γ^{rat} in vitro were treated with the resin as described under Procedure. Results (Table 4) showed a constant removal of 95-98% of Γ^{rat} , with no appreciable change in the anionic composition of milk.

Effect of flow rates on the removal of I^{tar} . Commercial processing requires handling of large volumes of milk and, therefore, in the evaluation of any iodine removal method this point must be taken into consideration. To obtain information on speed of operation, portions of milk labeled in vitro with I^{tar} were passed through columns containing 15 ml of Cl:P:Cit resin at flow rates of 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30 ml per min, respectively. When analyzed for radioactivity, the corresponding effluents indicated I^{tar} removals of 99, 99, 99, 98, and 98%. This suggested that increases of flow rates up to 20 ml per min did not seriously reduce the removal of I^{tar} from milk.

Capacity of resin for the removal of I^{ist} . To determine the volume of milk that could be treated with a given amount of resin and maintain a high percentage removal of I^{ist} , several trial removals by techniques similar to that de-



FIG. 3. Effect of number of resin bed volumes of milk passed through the column on the removal of I^{131} .

scribed before were made. The results presented in Figure 3 show a constant removal of $98 \pm 2\%$ from 120 resin bed volumes of milk (and approximately 95% from 230 resin bed volumes), beyond which a gradual decrease was observed.

Effect of temperature on the removal of I^{ist} . During ion-exchange treatment, milk should not be exposed to temperatures which favor bacterial growth. Therefore, the influence of temperature on the efficiency of I^{ist} removal was determined. Portions of milk labeled in vivo and in vitro were adjusted to 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30 C and passed through columns containing Cl:P:Cit resin maintained at the temperature of the milk. Analysis of treated milk showed removals of $98 \pm 2\%$ of I^{ist} at all the temperatures.

Anionic composition of milk. During the course of this study several milk samples, before and after resin treatment, were analyzed for chlorides, citrates, and inorganic phosphates. The results presented in Table 5 clearly show that the resin treatment does not affect the anions investigated.

Comparison of I¹³¹ removal from milk labeled in vivo and in vitro. In view of the differences observed in the relative distribution of I¹³¹ in various fractions of milk labeled in vivo and in vitro, it was considered important to establish whether any significant differences existed in the removal of I¹³¹ from milk samples thus labeled. For this purpose, a fresh sample of cows' milk labeled in vivo and containing approximately 0.5 µc of I¹³¹ and 0.03 µc of Sr⁸⁵ was fractionated with trichloroacetic acid. Analvsis of fractions indicated that 91% of the I¹³¹ was present in the inorganic form as the iodide, whereas the 9% remaining was in the protein-bound form (PBI¹³¹). Passage of this milk through a Cl:P:Cit resin column showed a removal of $90 \pm 2\%$ of I¹³¹, indicating that

Sample	Resin treatment	Chloride	Inorganic phosphate	Citrate
			(g/liter)	
	Before	1.06	0.648	1.70
1	After	1.07	0.653	1.75
	Before	1.07	0.615	1.70
2	After	1.08	0.618	1.66
	Before	1.10	0.638	1.68
3	After	1.10	0.654	1.68
	Before	1.10	0.670	1.72
4	After	1.10	0.662	1.74
	Before	1.07	0.669	1.79
5	After	1.06	0.673	1.90

 TABLE 5

 Effect of Cl:P:Cit. resin treatment at pH 6.65 on the anionic composition of milk

all the inorganic I^{131} was removed by the treatment except that which was protein-bound. In contrast, all the I^{131} in milk labeled in vitro was removed by this technique.

To determine the practicality of this process, market milk samples contaminated with I¹³¹ from fresh fallout were treated with the resin as described before. The results presented in Table 6 show that all the I¹³¹ in milk was removed. The low removals observed in Samples 1 and 5 are due to decreased sensitivity of the instrument to detect low levels of radioactivity. Fractionation of milk with trichloroacetic acid also showed no detectable PBI¹³¹, substantiating that the I¹³¹ in these samples was all in the inorganic form.

Flavor of resin-treated milk. Several fresh raw whole milk samples were treated with Cl:P:Cit resin as described before. A portion of each served as a control. The various samples were pasteurized at 145 F for 30 min and submitted to laboratory personnel for evaluation. The judgments of those in the group indicated no difference between the untreated and treated milks. Regeneration of the resin. In order to reuse the spent resin, the absorbed Γ^{ai} must be stripped prior to regeneration. For this purpose, several 15-ml portions of Cl:P:Cit resin



FIG. 4. Effect of perchloric, acidified $NaNO_3$ and HCl on the elution of absorbed I^{131} from the resin.

T	Δ1	RT	\mathbf{E}	6
	c. L.	01	111	0

Effect of Cl:P:Cit. resin treatment on the I131 removal from environmental milk samples

	1 ¹³¹ Co	ntent	I^{131}
Sample	Untreated	Treated	Remova
	(μμc/l	iter)	(%)
1	145 ± 10	15 ± 8	90
$\overline{2}$	95 ± 8	0 ± 5	100
3	90 ± 8	0 ± 5	100
4	80 ± 8	0 ± 5	100
5	36 ± 8	4 ± 5	90

with absorbed I¹³¹ were treated with 2 N HCl, 2 N NaNO₃ in 0.16 N HNO₃, and 2 N HClO₄ acid, respectively, and the efficiency of I¹³¹ elution was determined. The results presented in Figure 4 indicate that all the three reagents are efficient in removing 98% of the absorbed I¹³¹. The use of HClO₄ and NaNO₃ was considered objectionable in processing milk; however, 2 N HCl appears to be satisfactory.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Mr. Kenneth Busch for his help in the statistical interpretations of the data and to Dr. L. F. Edmondson of the Dairy Products Laboratory, USDA, Beltsville, Maryland, for supplying cows' milk labeled in vivo.

REFERENCES

- (1) BRANSON, B. M., HAGEE, G. R., GOLDIN, A. S., KARCHES, G. J., AND STRAUB, C. P. Assembly and Operation of Low Level Counting Facility. J. Am. Water Works Assoc., 51: 438. 1959.
- (2) CAMPBELL, J. E., MURTHY, G. K., GOLDIN, A. S., ROBINSON, H. B., STRAUB, C. P., WEBER, F. J., AND LEWIS, K. H. The Occurrence of Strontium[®], Iodine¹³¹, and Other Radionuclides in Milk, May, 1957 through April, 1958. J. Am. Public Health Assoc., 49: 225. 1959.
- (3) COSSLETT, P., AND WATTS, R. E. The Removal of Radioactive Iodine and Strontium from Milk by Ion Exchange. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority. AERE-R 2881. 1959.
- (4) DEMOTT, B. J., EASTERLY, D. G., AND UNI-VERSITY OF TENNESSEE ATOMIC ENERGY COMM. Removal of Iodine¹³¹ from Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 118. 1960.
- (5) FEDERAL RADIATION COUNCIL. Background Material for the Development of Radiation Protection Standards. Rept. No. 2. U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C. 1961.
- (6) FISKE, C. H., AND SUBBAROW, Y. Colorimetric Determination of Phosphorus. J. Biol. Chem., 66: 375. 1925.

- (7) GEHRKE, C. W., AND ALMY, E. F. Action of Mineral Ion Exchange Resins on Milk Constituents. Ind. Eng. Chem., 42: 2344. 1950.
- (8) GLUEKAUF, E., COSSLETT, P., AND WATTS, R. Removal of Radioactive Iodine from Milk. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority. AERE-C/M 371. 1959.
- (9) INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE ON RADIOLOG-ICAL PROTECTION. Permissible Dose for Internal Radiation. J. Health Phy., 2:1. 1959.
- (10) INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE ON RADIOLOG-ICAL PROTECTION. Permissible Dose for Internal Radiation. J. Health Phy., 3:1. 1960.
- (11) JENNESS, R., AND PATTON, S. Principles of Dairy Chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. 1959.
- (12) MARIER, J. R., AND BOULET, M. Direct Determination of Citric Acid in Milk with an Improved Pyridine-Acetic Anhydride Method. J. Dairy Sci., 41: 1683. 1958.
- (13) MURTHY, G. K., AND CAMPBELL, J. E. A Simplified Method for the Determination of Iodine¹³¹ in Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 1042. 1960.
- (14) MURTHY, G. K., AND WHITNEY, R. McL. The Effect of Cation and Anion Resin Mixtures on the Salt Content of Skim Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 37: 571. 1954.
- (15) MURTHY, G. K., AND WHITNEY, R. McL. Colorimetric Determination of Citric Acid in Milk by Babad and Shtrikman. J. Dairy Sci., 40: 1495. 1957.
 (16) MURTHY, G. K., MASUROVSKY, E. B., CAMP-
- (16) MURTHY, G. K., MASUROVSKY, E. B., CAMP-BELL, J. E., AND EDMONDSON, L. F. Method for Removing Cationic Radionuclides from Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 2158. 1961.
- (17) NICKERSON, T. A. Chemical Composition of Milk. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 598. 1960.
- (18) NICKERSON, T. A. Interrelationships of Milk Constituents. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 1025. 1961.
- (19) SQUIRE, H. M., MIDDLETON, L. J., SANSOM, B. F., AND COID, C. R. The Metabolism by Dairy Cows of Fission Products from Operation Buffalo. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority Rept. T57/58, p. 119. 1959.

1074

DETERMINATION OF PROTEIN-REDUCING SUBSTANCE VALUES OF MILK BY FERRICYANIDE REDUCTION METHODS

I. I. PETERS

Dairy Science Department, A & M College of Texas, College Station

SUMMARY

Methods described for the determination of protein-reducing substance (P.R.S.) values of milk by Choi et al., Cardwell and Herzer, and Mulay have been reviewed and their results compared. Differences in procedures resulting in subsequent lower or higher P.R.S. values for raw, pasteurized, pasteurized homogenized milk, and admixtures with reconstituted milk are discussed. Lowest P.R.S. values are obtained by the method of Choi et al., somewhat higher values by the method of Cardwell and Herzer, and highest values by the method of Mulay. The method of Mulay was modified by replacing aqueous CaCl₂ for a 50:50 water:ethanol mixture, and by lowering the reaction temperature of $K_sFe(CN)_6$ to 85 C for 10 min, from the original temperature of 100 C for 5 min.

Milk possesses the ability to reduce potassium ferricyanide $[K_{a}Fe(CN)_{a}]$ to potassium ferrocyanide $[K_{i}Fe(CN)_{a}]$. The reducing capacity of a given milk sample is increased by heat treatment and by the addition of reconstituted milk. Since the ferricyanide reduction method of Choi et al. (2) has been recommended and is approved as a screening test to determine the presence of reconstituted milk in natural market milk (5), it seems timely to compare results obtained by this method with those of other existing methods. Additional work to improve the method of Mulay (6) is also presented.

The data in Table 2 show P.R.S. values of raw milk samples from cows of several breeds as reported by four groups of workers employing three different methods outlined in Table 1. Although the milk samples examined by the different workers were dissimilar, it is nevertheless evident that breed or composition affects the P.R.S. value of milk. Both Clay et al. (3) and Mulay (6) report higher P.R.S. values for Holstein than for Jersey milk, whereas Cardwell and Herzer (1) report the opposite. Considering the work of Crowe et al. (4), it would seem more likely that higher P.R.S. values would be expected with Holstein milk because of its higher casein :lactose ratio.

Pasteurization and homogenization of milk increases its P.R.S. value. This increase is greater with Holstein (64%) than with Jersey (58%) milk (4). Mulay's method results in a much greater increase in P.R.S. values be-

Received for publication November 20, 1961.

tween raw and pasteurized milk than does the method of Choi et al. Mulay's method, as compared with the method of Choi et al., employs a 50% higher concentration of K₃Fe(CN), a pH of 6.6-6.8 as against pH 4.6-4.8, and a heat treatment of 100 C for 5 min as against 70 C for 20 min, all such conditions known to contribute to greater ferricyanide reduction during the test. Choi et al. (2) report a 7% increase in P.R.S. value due to pasteurization of milk, whereas Clay et al. (3) report a 29% increase, both using the same method and mixed herd milk. Junker (5) reports from 80 to 140% variations in P.R.S. values with the method of Choi et al. (2), when used by 22 collaborators on identical samples of milk.

The methods of Cardwell and Herzer and of Mulay are outlined in more detail than is the method of Choi et al. If such detailed outline in procedure is essential for a closer duplication of results by different workers, then a more detailed description of procedure should improve the usefulness of the method of Choi et al.

Table 3 represents data on the influence of additions of reconstituted milk upon the P.R.S. values of natural raw, and pasteurized milk. All three methods register an increase in P.R.S. values with larger increments of added reconstituted milk. However, in no instance is the increase in values directly proportional to the increase in per cent of added reconstituted milk. The methods of Choi et al. and of Cardwell and Herzer register a declining rate of increase, whereas Mulay's method in general shows a rising rate of increase.

	Consecutive steps	Co	nditions at each step w	ith:
	in procedure	Choi et al.	Cardwell and Herzer	Mulay
1.	Pipette milk	$15 \mathrm{~ml} + 15 \mathrm{~ml} \mathrm{~H_2O} \mathrm{~a}$	$9 \text{ ml} + 18 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2\text{O}^{a}$	10 ml (100 F)
2.	Coagulate milk	$3 \text{ ml of } 5\% \text{ CH}_3\text{COOH}$	$3 \ \mathrm{ml}$ of $5\% \ \mathrm{CH_3COOH}$	0.2 ml rennet (15 min, 100 F)
3.	Wash and centrifuge curd (3×)	15 ml H₂O ª, 1,000 rpm 5 min each	18 ml acidified H ₂ O (pH 4.7) Babcock speed, 3 min each	15 ml of 50% aqueous ethanol, 2,000 rpm, 5 min each
4.	Add saturated urea	$3 \text{ ml} + 12 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2 \text{O}^{a}$	3 ml (20-30 min, 32 C)	3 ml (15-20 min, 100 F)
5.	Add phthalate buffer (pH 5.6)	$5 \text{ ml} + 15 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2\text{O}^{a}$	$5 \text{ ml} + 12 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2\text{O}^{a}$	None
6.	$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Add} \mathbf{K}_3 \operatorname{Fe}(\operatorname{CN})_6 \\ (1\%) \end{array}$	5 ml	5 ml	5 ml
7.	Heat sample	70 C, 20 min	70 C, 20 min	100 C, 5 min
8.	Cool sample	Ice water	Ice water, 5 min	Tap water, 3-5 min
9.	Add CCl ₃ COOH (10%)	5 ml	5 ml (32 C)	$5 \text{ ml} + 15 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2 \text{O}^{a}$ (100 F)
10.	Filter	Whatman, No. 40	Whatman, No. 40	Whatman, No. 40
11.	Adjust filtrate	$5 \text{ ml} + 15 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2\text{O}$ a	10 ml (32 C)	$5 \text{ ml} + 5 \text{ ml} \text{ H}_2 \text{O}^{a}$ (100 F)
12.	Add FeCl ₃	1 ml of 0.1% (10 min)	1 ml of 0.2% (10 min, 32 C)	1 ml of 0.2% (10 min, 100 F)
13.	Read sample	Phaltz-Bauer fluoro- photometer, 6100 Å	Beckman, Model B Spectrophotometer, 610 mµ	Coleman Junior Spectrophotometer, 610 mµ

	BI		
1 A.	\mathbf{D}	- E	- L

Procedures for methods described by Choi et al., Cardwell and Herzer, and Mulay

^a Distilled water.

TABLE 2

Protein-reducing substance values of raw, pasteurized, and pasteurized homogenized milk samples reported by previous workers

21.3302	Choi et al. (2)		Clay e	t al. (3)			rdwell : Ierzer (and the second se	Mula	y (6)
Breed ^a	М	н	G	J	М	Н	G	J	Н	J
Raw, minimum	1.50	a				1.54	1.66	2.00	1.96	0.42
maximum	1.80					2.13	2.20	2.63	5.74	4.90
average	1.62	2.47	2.29	2.25		1.84	2.03	2.33	3.73	2.97
Raw milk values	1.62				2.39				3.73	2.97
Past. (145 F, 30 min)	1.74				3.08				6.14	4.70
Increase in P.R.S. valu	es 7%				29%				64%	58%

M = Mixed, H = Holstein, G = Guernsey, J = Jersey. ^a Not determined.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS

The method of Mulay (6) was modified by replacing the 50% aqueous ethanol with 0.01 M aqueous CaCl₂ (Table 1, Step 3) and by changing the ferricyanide reaction from 5 min at 100 C to 10 min at 85 C (Table 1, Step 7). The data in Table 4 show results obtained on the same milk samples by the two methods. It is evident that the heat treatment of 85 C for 10 min gave values close to those of 100 C for 5 min. This was true with both curd-washing procedures. Although some differences in P.R.S. values were found between the two curd-washing procedures, such variations were not greater than were variations between duplicate runs with the same procedure. Thus, the more easily controlled, lower heating temperature and the

Investigator	Treatment of milk	No. of trials	Recon- stituted milk added	Increase in P.R.S. over control	Increase per 1% recon- stituted milk
			(%)	(%)	
Mulay (6)	Raw	6	3	39	13.0
	Raw	6	5	70	14.0
	Raw	6	7	118	16.7
Choi et al. (2)	Pasteurized	45	3	38	12.7
	Pasteurized	45	5	55	11.0
	Pasteurized	45	10	95	9.5
Cardwell and Herzer (1)	Pasteurized	1	3	35	11.7
x - /	Pasteurized	1	5	50	10.0
	Pasteurized	1	7	64	9.1
Mulay (6)	Pasteurized	10	3	37	12.3
an the first strategies and the set of the s	Pasteurized	10	5	73	14.7
	Pasteurized	10	7	102	14.6

 TABLE 3

 Effect of added reconstituted milk on protein-reducing substance values of natural, raw, and pasteurized mixed herd milk

TABLE 4

Protein-reducing substance values of pasteurized homogenized mixed herd milk as affected by modification of Mulay's method

		Milligram K ₄ Fe(CN) ₆ per 100 ml milk when washi curd with:			
Milk sample	Heat treatment C-min	50% aqueous ethanol	0.01 m aqueous CaCl ₂		
в	100-5 85-10	3.69-4.30 3.92^{-a}	4.15 - 4.15 4.20^{a}		
Ċ	$100-5 \\ 85-10$	$\substack{\textbf{4.62-3.00}\\ \textbf{5.46-5.60}}$	$3.64 - 3.78 \\ 5.46 - 6.02$		
D	$100-5 \\ 85-10$	$5.60 - 5.46 \\ 4.62 - 4.80$	4.62 - 4.62 4.62 - 4.90		
Avg	$\substack{100-5\\85-10}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.64 \\ 4.67 \end{array}$	4.14 4.76		

^a Duplicate values not determined.

more economical washing procedure were adopted for further work.

The modified method was checked for performance on raw, pasteurized, and pasteurized homogenized milk without and with added reconstituted milk. The results obtained with this modified method were similar to those obtained with the original method (Table 5).

TABLE 5

Protein-reducing substance values of raw, pasteurized, and pasteurized homogenized milk without and with reconstituted milk

	Treatment of milk								
		Raw		Pas	teuriz	ed ^a		teurize ogenize	
Reconstituted milk (%)	0	3	5	0	3	5	0	3	5
Mg K ₄ Fe(CN) ₆ per 100 ml milk	4.30	6.30	7.28	4.60	7.28	8.12	3.15	5.30	6.09
Increase in P.R.S. over control ($\%$)	0	46	70	0	58	76	0	63	93

^a One trial each; ^b average of two trials.

	No. of trials	Per cent reconsti- tuted milk added		(CN), per nilk with :	Per cent increase in P.R.S. over control with :	
Treatment of milk			Choi et al.	Mulay's modified	Choi et al.	Mulay's modified
Raw	2	0	1.78	1.69		
Pasteurized-homogenized	3	0	2.07 ª	2.97 ª		
	3	3	2.62	4.32	21	45
	3	5	2.90	5.19	40	75
	2	7	3.27	5.51	52	110
	2	10	3.54	7.35	64	182

TABLE 6	
Comparison of protein-reducing substance values obtained on the same milk by the meth Choi et al. and Mulay (modified)	od of

^a 2.15 and 2.57 averages for the two trials with 7 and 10% added reconstituted milk.

The modified method was also compared with the method of Choi et al. on samples of the same milk. These data, shown in Table 6, indicate that in general the values are higher with the modified method of Mulay. Also, the increment increase in P.R.S. value, with up to 7% of added reconstituted milk, is about twice that obtained with the method of Choi et al. All tests were made in an air-conditioned laboratory at 25 C.

Repeatability of P.R.S. values by the modified method of six replications with one sample of raw milk on two consecutive days was: First day, 4.15 minimum, 4.76 maximum, and 4.41 average; second day, 3.92 minimum, 4.70 maximum, and 4.30 average. A similar check with pasteurized cream line milk gave these values: First day, 5.18 minimum, 5.74 maximum, and 5.35 average; second day, 5.18 minimum, 6.02 maximum, and 5.76 average. These data, although limited in number, show high repeatability for the modified method of Mulay.

REFERENCES

- (1) CARDWELL, J. T., AND HERZER, F. H. Factors Causing Variation in the Protein Reducing Substances of Milk. Mississippi State Univ., Agr. Expt. Sta., Tech. Bull. 44. State College. 1958.
- (2) CHOI, R. P., KONGUS, A. F., CHERREY, G., AND REMALEY, R. J. Determination of Protein Reducing Value of Milk as an Indication of the Presence of Nonfat Dry Milk Solids. J. Milk Food Technol., 16: 241. 1953.
- (3) CLAY, C. L., BURKE, MARY B., AND JUNKER, GLADYS. Report on Detection of Reconstituted Milk in Fuid Market Milk. J.A.O.A.C., 38: 310. 1955.
- (4) CROWE, L. K., JENNES, R., AND COULTER, S. T. The Reducing Capacity of Milk and Milk Products as Measured by a Modified Ferricyanide Method. J. Dairy Sci., 31: 595. 1948.
- (5) JUNKER, GLADYS M. Method for Detection of Reconstituted Milk in Fluid Market Milk. J.A.O.A.C., 43: 407, 1960.
- (6) MULAY, C. A. The Detection of Reconstituted Milk in Natural Milk. Unpubl. Ph.D. dissertation. A & M College of Texas Library, College Station. 1959.

COMPARISON OF ORANGE G DYE, FORMOL TITRATION, AND KJELDAHL METHODS FOR MILK PROTEIN DETERMINATIONS¹

L. S. CASTILLO,² G. W. TRIMBERGER, C. R. HENDERSON, B. L. HERRINGTON, AND K. L. TURK

Department of Animal Husbandry, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York

SUMMARY

A highly significant correlation of +0.975 between Orange G dye and Kjeldahl methods of protein determinations demonstrated that for most practical purposes the protein content of milk can be determined as effectively by the use of the rapid Orange G dye binding method as by the time-consuming Kjeldahl method. The correlation of +0.839 between the percentage of total protein determined by formol titration and the Kjeldahl method indicated that the Orange G dye method has an advantage in accuracy compared to formol titration as a rapid method for determination of protein in milk. This is, in part, due to effects from stage of lactation and month of the year on the formol factors for total protein.

Protein, the most important of the two major constituents of solids-not-fat, is receiving more attention from both the consumer and dairyman. This is due in part to the high nutritional value of milk protein, to the changing food habits of consumers, and to the declining importance of milk fat. Also, there is an increasing trend toward including protein, in addition to fat content, in determing the payment for milk (6, 11, 14). From a practical standpoint, the recent development of a rapid test for total protein, comparable in accuracy to the Babcock method for fat determination, is of great value to dairymen.

The objectives of this research were: to compare the Orange G dye and formol titration methods with the Kjeldahl method for testing the protein content of milk.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Guernsey cows on Cornell's McDonald Farms near Cortland, New York, were used. Samples were taken at monthly intervals. Unweighted samples were taken from the evening and morning milk from each cow.

Received for publication August 26, 1961.

¹ This research was partly financed by the Grange League Federation, Inc., Ithaca, New York.

Research presented was used for a thesis submitted by the senior author to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Cornell University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Ph.D. degree.

² Present address: College of Agriculture, University of the Philippines.

Total protein. Total nitrogen was determined by the Kjeldahl method. This was then converted to total protein by using the factor 6.38. The samples were digested for 4 hr, because in preliminary trials this length of time gave better results than did 2 or 3 hr.

Dye method for total protein. Orange G dye was used to determine protein according to the method of Udy (23-25). Certified 92% Orange G dye was used, but it was adjusted to a concentration of 1 g of 100% dye content per liter. A 2-ml milk sample and 20 ml of buffered Orange G dye were placed in a 1-oz-capacity plastic bottle and thoroughly shaken for complete mixing. Treece et al. (22) recommended 10 min of mechanical shaking for best results, but Ashworth (3) found 15 sec to be sufficient when allowed to stand for 30 min before testing. Next, the contents were centrifuged at 820 rpm for 5 min in a Babcock centrifuge. The solutions were then filtered through No. 595 S & S filter paper to get a clear filtrate, free from fatty material. A short-light-path absorption cell was used to read the percentage of transmittance in an Evelyn colorimeter at 490 mu. The wave length was based on 470 mµ recommended by Udy (24) but adjusted to 490 m μ indicated by the lowest percentage transmittance for the equipment used. Refrigeration was used for holding either the dye or the dye-plus-milk samples.

Preliminary trials were also made with the use of Buffalo Black, as described by Vanderzant and Tennison (26). Readings of percentage transmittance were taken at 580 m μ . Data are not presented, but Buffalo Black gave a clear solution after centrifuging, so that filtering was not necessary.

Formol titration. The modified method of Pyne (19) was used to determine the protein content of milk by formol titration. A saturated potassium oxalate solution was made. To dissolve the crystals, the solution was heated but not boiled. A 37% formaldehyde and 0.1 N sodium hydroxide solution and 0.5% phenolphthalein indicator were used. Acidity of the formaldehyde solution was corrected. A color standard was made by adding 0.1 ml of a 0.01% solution of basic fuchsin to 10 ml of milk and 0.4 ml of potassium oxalate in a test tube. This procedure was dispensed with later, when sufficient skill in determining the end point was acquired. Formol titrations on samples were run in conjunction with the analyses for total protein and casein, to determine the conversion factors for both total protein and casein.

Casein. The method of Rowland (20) was used in the determination for casein. However, after the analyses of 183 samples, the amount of 10% acetic acid was increased from 1 to $1\frac{1}{2}$ ml to conform with the procedure of the A.O.A.C. (4). The former amount was found insufficient to precipitate all casein from 10 ml of milk, because Guernsey milk has a high buffer value. The method of Rowland uses the filtrate and corrects for the volume occupied by the precipitate, whereas that of the A.O.A.C. measures casein directly. There was a close agreement between the two methods.

Whey proteins. This was calculated by difference, substracting casein from total protein.

Errors in analyses. Duplicates were not run for all Kjeldahl analyses, but it was a practice to check on the analyses by running blanks and duplicates on at least six samples taken at random, two in each of the three digestion setups of 12 flasks each. Errors in determining total protein and casein were estimated by the method in which the difference between duplicates is divided by the smallest value and the quotient is multiplied by 100 to get the percentage error. The error for 85 duplicates in total protein determination was 0.9%; for 40 duplicates in casein determination, it was 1.9%. This is considerably less than the per cent error suggested as permissible for the method.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Methods of analyses for total protein and casein. A comparison of Kjeldahl, Orange G dye, formol factor, and linear regression equation based on formol titration is given in Table 1. The results from 61 samples were compared.

TABLE 1

Comparison of Orange G dye, formol factor, linear regression equation based on formol titration, and Kjeldahl method for determination of total protein

Method of estimation	Mean
Kjeldahl	3.65 ± 0.048
Orange G dye	3.61 ± 0.046 s
Formol factor (1.77)	3.75 ± 0.048 $^{\circ}$
Linear regression equation based	
on formol titration	3.65 ± 0.045

^a Tukey's test of significance of difference between means was used with D = 0.12. (Snedecor, Statistical Methods.) Differences were significant between the two extremes, but not for comparisons of the different methods with the standard Kjeldahl method.

The means for protein from the Kjeldahl and Orange G dye methods were 3.65 ± 0.048 and 3.61 ± 0.046 , respectively. There was a highly significant correlation of ± 0.975 between the Orange G dye and Kjeldahl methods of protein determination. Thus, it appears that the protein content of milk can be determined as effectively by the use of the rapid Orange G dye binding method as by the long and tedious laboratory procedure required for the Kjeldahl method.

Analysis of variance of the data shows that there was no significant difference between the formol titration and Kjeldahl methods for the determination of total protein content of milk. This is shown in Tables 2 and 3, and confirms results reported in other research (2, 5, 9–12, 14, 15, 17). Standard errors reported were larger for individual cows than for herd milk; however, the deviations for both total protein and casein from the Kjeldahl method were usually of the order $\pm 5\%$ for both.

The average formol factor of 1.77 for total protein was obtained by dividing percentage of total protein by milliliters of N/10 sodium hydroxide, and was based on 274 samples. The factor of 1.35 for casein was based on 360 samples. There was a highly significant correlation

TABLE 2

Comparison o	f l	Kjeldahl :	and	formol	titration
methods	\mathbf{in}	estimatin	ng t	otal pr	otein
		and case	in ^a		

Method of estimation	Mean, total protein	Mean, casein
Kjeldahl	3.80 ± 0.016	2.93 ± 0.015
Formol titration	3.82 ± 0.015	2.93 ± 0.014

^aA total of 650 and 536 samples from 142 cows was compared with the Kjeldahl method for protein and casein, respectively.

 TABLE 3

 Effect of stage of lactation on the ratio of casein to total protein and resulting factor for each

		Casein/ -	Formol	factor
Stage of lactation	No. of cows ^a	total protein	Total protein	Casein
1	32	0.789	1.73	1.37
	49	0.780	1.75	1.37
$\frac{2}{3}$	46	0.781	1.74	1.37
4	53	0.778	1.76	1.37
5	53	0.772	1.74	1.34
6	49	0.773	1.80	1.39
7	51	0.758	1.78	1.35
8	43	0.756	1.75	1.32
9	44	0.745	1.77	1.35
10	33	0.737	1.84	1.35
			1.77	1.35

^a A total of 453 samples from 124 cows. The factor for total protein and casein was based on 274 cows and 360 tests, respectively.

of ± 0.839 between percentage of total protein and milliliters of N/10 sodium hydroxide, and a correlation of +0.729 between percentage of casein and milliliters of N/10 sodium hydroxide. These are lower than those reported by Bannenberg and van den Hoek (5) for mixed herd milk. Budslawski et al. (7) and Comberg (8) report on the relationship of different milk constituents during lactation and the composition of bulk milk. The lower correlation for casein may be attributed to errors in the separation of casein from whey, especially during the first two months of the experiment. It is evident that the correlation of +0.839 between the percentage of total protein determined by formol titration and the Kjeldahl method indicated that the Orange G dye binding method, with a correlation of 0.975, is more accurate than the formol titration method.

The estimation of total protein by the use of linear regression equation gave the same results as did the Kjeldahl method, thus confirming the observation of Solberg et al. (21). Using the Kjeldahl method as the standard for comparison, none of the different methods gave significantly different results. However, since the correlation between the Orange G dye and the Kjeldahl method was much higher than between the formol factor and the Kjeldahl, it indicates an advantage in accuracy for the Orange G dye method for rapid determination of protein in milk. Amido Black was found equally as good as the Kjeldahl (1, 26) and has the advantage that filtering is not necessary after centrifuging. This has been used in Holland for routine testing of 1,400,000 milk samples from 80,000 individual cows in herd tests, and for pricing and selling milk at 30 dairies.

The use of the formol factor overestimated total protein by 0.10 from the Kjeldahl (Table 1). Gilmore and Price (13) reported a significantly higher value of 0.045 with formol titration than with Kjeldahl, but did not consider it important in practice. Since stage of lactation and month of the year may exert an influence on the results obtained, both of these were tested to determine their effect on the formol factor.

The effects of stage of lactation on the formol factors for total protein and casein are presented in Table 3. A total of 453 samples from 124 cows are represented in the table. Total protein formol factors showed a trend upward as the lactation period advanced. Casein formol factors exhibited a tendency to decrease, but the trend was not as consistent as for total protein. These opposite trends can be attributed to the increase in whey protein as the lactation period advances, which may also contribute largely to the increase in total protein percentage. This is shown in Table 3 by a decreasing ratio of casein to total protein, which is 0.789 and 0.737 for the first and tenth months, respectively.

Results on 536 samples from 124 cows presented in Table 4 indicated that months of the

TABLE 4

Effect of month of the year on the formol factor for protein and casein "

	Formol factor			
Month	Total protein	Casein		
August	1.76	1.30		
September	1.74	1.31		
October	1.81	1.38		
November	1.78	1.38		
December	1.76	1.38		
January	1.78	1.35		

^a A total of 536 samples from 124 cows.

year do have some effect on the formol factors for total protein and casein. However, if an average formol factor is used, based on determinations and calculations of representative months during the different seasons, sizable errors will not be introduced.

Both the dye binding and formol titration methods have some advantages for routine laboratory analyses. The dye binding method is more accurate, especially for individual cow samples. The formol titration has an advantage from the standpoint of time required and simplicity of apparatus. However, the continuous
presence of formaldehyde gas, even with good ventilation, may prove a hardship for the laboratory technician when a large number of samples are analyzed. Kay (16) reviewed recent methods for estimating milk protein, and concluded that formol titration could be very suitable for routine analytical work. Mogensen (18) reviewed published data on formol titration and concluded that the method is not sufficiently accurate to form the basis for payment for milk proteins. The dye method is rapidly gaining acceptance for accurate use on large-scale analyses of milk samples for protein content.

REFERENCES

- ALLAIRE, F. R., CORWIN, A. R., POTTER, F. E., AND GAUNT, S. N. Comparison of Orange G and Buffalo Black Methods for Milk Protein Determination. J. Dairy Sci., 45: 148. 1962.
- (2) ANTILA, M. Direct Distillation, A Quick Method for Estimation of Protein Substances. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 18: 689. 1956.
- (3) ASHWORTH, U. S., SEALS, R., AND ERB, R. E. An Improved Procedure for the Determination of Milk Proteins by Dye Binding. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 614. 1960.
- (4) ASSOCIATION OF OFFICIAL AGRICULTURAL CHEMISTS. Official and Tentative Methods of Analysis. 8th ed. Washington, D. C. 1945.
- (5) BANNENBERG, H. J., AND VAN DEN HOEK, W. The Formol Titration: A Practical Method for the Determination of Total Protein and Casein in Cows' Milk. Netherlands Milk and Dairy J., 33: 162. 1949.
- (6) BERGMAN, T., DANIELSON, H., AND JOOST, K. Milk Payment According to Protein Content. 12th Intern. Dairy Congr., 1: 370. 1949.
- (7) BUDSLAWSKI, J., DAMICZ, W., AND TOMASIK, M. The Composition of Bulk Milk in the North of Poland. 15th Intern. Dairy Congr., 1: 232. 1959.
- (8) COMBERG, G. The Constituents of the Milk of Black Pied Lowland Cows and Their Relationship to Each Other in the Course of Lactation. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 15: 734, 1953.
- (9) DAVIS, R. H., AND HARLAND, F. G. Variation in the Constituents of Milk Under Arizona Conditions. I. Variations of Individual Cows Within Breeds by Calendar Months. J. Dairy Sci., 30: 415. 1947.
- (10) DORDEVIC, J. Comparisons of the Accuracy of Four Different Methods of Casein Determination. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 16: 936. 1954.
- (11) EVENHUIS, N. Payment of Milk According

to Casein Content. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 19: 683. 1957.

- (12) EVERSON, D. O., FREEMAN, A. E., AND MEEK, A. M. The Formol and Kjeldahl Methods of Measuring Protein in Milk as Bases for Selecting Cows. J. Animal Sci., 18: 1473. 1959.
- (13) GILMORE, T.E., AND PRICE, W. V. Titration Test for Casein for Use in Cheese Making. Butter, Cheese and Milk Prod. J., 44: 28. 1953.
- (14) JANSE, L. C. Methods of Payment for Milk. Netherlands Milk and Dairy J., 4: 239. 1950.
- (15) JULSKJAER, O. Investigations on Different Methods of Protein Determination in Milk. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 20: 260. 1958.
- (16) KAY, H. The Analysis of Milk for Its Protein Content. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 20: 260. 1958.
- (17) LEALI, L. The Efficiency of Some Methods for the Determination of the Protein Content of Milk. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 20: 791. 1958.
- (18) MOGENSEN, M. S. Methods for Determination of the Protein Content of Milk. Dairy Sei. Abstrs., 20: 702. 1958.
- (19) PYNE, G. T. Determinations of Milk Protein by Formaldehyde Titration. Biochem. J., 26: 1006. 1932.
- (20) ROWLAND, S. J. The Precipitation of the Proteins in Milk. I. Casein. II. Total Proteins. III. Globulin. IV. Albumin and Proteose-Peptone. J. Dairy Research, 9: 30. 1938.
- (21) SOLBERG, P., SYRIST, G., AND STEINSHOLT, K. The Formol Titration and Its Applicability for the Estimation of Protein in Milk from Individual Cows. Dairy Sci. Abstrs., 20: 791. 1958.
- (22) TREECE, J. M., GILMORE, L. O., AND FECH-HEIMER, N. S. A Comparison of the Orange G Dye and Kjeldahl Methods for Determining Milk Protein. J. Dairy Sci., 42: 367. 1959.
- (23) UDV, D. C. Estimation of Protein in Wheat and Flour by Ion-Binding. Cereal Chem., 33: 190. 1956.
- (24) UDY, D. C. A Rapid Method for Estimating Total Protein in Milk. Nature, 178: 314. 1956.
- (25) UDY, D. C. Short-Light-Path Absorption Cell for Routine Colorimetry. Anal. Chem., 28: 1360. 1956.
- (26) VANDERZANT, C., AND TENNISON, W. R. Colorimetric Method for Determining Protein in Milk with Buffalo Black. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 435. 1960.

METABOLISM OF BOVINE SEMEN. XII. GALACTOSE AS AN INDICATOR OF HEXOSE TRANSPORT BY BOVINE SPERMATOZOA¹

R. J. FLIPSE

Dairy Breeding Research Center, Department of Dairy Science The Pennsylvania State University, University Park

SUMMARY

Galactose-1-C¹¹ has been used to study the transport of hexoses across the cell membrane of washed bovine spermatozoa. Trials with unlabeled glucose and with 2,4-dinitrophenol established an energy requirement for the transport of galactose. The transport system was shown to be sensitive to iodoacetate and to mercuric chloride, and did not respond to insulin. Since galactose readily accumulated in the cell and little C¹¹O₂ was produced, it was a good indicator of hexose transport. An active transport system was indicated, but some transfer appeared to be passive and not energy-dependent.

In the preceding paper (3), evidence was presented of the transport of fructose across the sperm cell membrane. It was pointed out that due to rapid metabolism of fructose, a true measurement of transport was difficult.

After considering the possibilities of the techniques which have been used to circumvent the complicating effects of metabolism in measuring transport (5, 7), galactose was selected for use as an indicator of hexose transport. The rationale for the use of galactose in this regard has been discussed by Levine and Goldstein (5).

This report presents the results of a series of experiments in which galactose- $1-C^{14}$ was used to indicate transfer across the sperm cell membrane. A preliminary report of some of these findings has been presented (1).

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

The semen used in these trials was obtained from Holstein bulls with the artificial vagina. After collection the semen was examined for quality and ejaculates from three or four bulls were pooled for use in each trial. The spermatozoa were washed in Ringer solution to remove

Received for publication June 7, 1962.

¹Authorized for publication on May 29, 1962 as Paper No. 2673 in the journal series of the Pennsylvania Agricultural Experiment Station. Supported in part by grants from the Pennsylvania Association of Artificial Breeding Cooperatives, The National Association of Artificial Breeders, and the Atomic Energy Commission, Contract No. AT(30-1)-1849. seminal plasma and resuspended in Ringer solution.

Transport was measured by incubating washed spermatozoa with galactose-1-C14 in 15-ml centrifuge tubes or (when CO₂ was collected) in Warburg flasks (3). After incubation, an aliquot containing 10^s spermatozoa was removed and vacuum filtered through a 25-mm diameter millipore filter of $1.2-\mu$ porosity. The cells were washed on the filter to remove extraneous radioactivity, care being taken not to disturb the thin layer of cells on the filter. The samples and filter discs were dried and attached with rubber cement to aluminum planchets for radioassay. Aliquots containing 10⁸ spermatozoa could be filtered and washed in less than 2 min; with larger aliquots filtration became so slow that this technique had no advantage over the previous procedure of washing in the centrifuge (3).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Fructose vs. galactose. Before galactose could be used as an indicator of hexose transport, it was necessary to establish entry into the cell and to determine what, if any, metabolic decomposition occurred. This was done by incubating equivalent doses of fructose-C¹⁴ and galactose-1-C¹⁴, and comparing the cellular uptake and C¹⁴O₂ production during 20 min incubation at 37 C. The results of these comparisons are shown in Table 1. It was noted that some 65% as much cellular radioactivity was found in galactose-fed cells as was found in those receiving fructose. In contrast to the large amount of C¹⁴O₂ from fructose, only traces

Expt.	Cellular	• uptake	$C^{14}O_2$ pro	duction	Total radioactivity recovered		
no.	Fructose	Galactose	Fructose	Galactose	Fructose	Galactose	
			-(cpm per	10^{8} cells)—			
27	2,625	2,320	6,090	100	8,715	2,420	
28	3,080	1,520	6,045	170	9,165	1,690	
29	3,900	2,980	7,720	470	11,620	3,450	
30	3,350	1,400	6,555	180	9,905	1,580	
Mean	3,239	2,055	6,602	230	9,851	2,285	

TABLE 1 Comparison of uptake and C¹⁴O₂ production from fructose-C¹⁴ and galactose-1-C¹⁴

of $C^{*i}O_2$ were derived from galactose-1- C^{*i} . Thus galactose, with a cellular uptake/ $C^{*i}O_2$ ratio about 20 times that of fructose, was well adapted for use in studying transport, with little complication from metabolism of the tracer compound.

It should be noted that galactose is not metabolically inert, but the shortness of the incubation period (20 min) permitted transport measurements to be made before appreciable metabolism had occurred. If incubation is continued for 3 hr, the carbon from galactose-1-C¹¹ appears in a number of metabolic intermediates (2).

Energy requirement. In the next series of experiments, efforts were made to determine if energy was required for movement of galactose into the cell. Obviously, a simple passive diffusion system would have no energy requirement, whereas a transfer system might require energy. Washed spermatozoa were incubated for 20 min at 37 C with a constant amount of galactose-1-C14, whereas the concentration of the energy source, unlabeled glucose, ranged from 0 to 10⁻³ M. As is evident in Figure 1, the lower concentrations of glucose increased the cellular uptake of galactose-1-C¹⁴, indicating that energy was required for the transport of galactose into the cell. At the higher concentrations of glucose, glucose competed with galactose for entry and the stimulatory effect observed at low concentrations was masked.

Additional evidence of an energy requirement is presented in Figure 2. Washed spermatozoa were incubated with galactose-1-C⁴⁺, and after 20 min 2,4-dinitrophenol was added to a final concentration of 10^{-4} M. This addition, indicated in the figure by the arrow, resulted in a loss of accumulated radioactivity from the cells, and although additions of 2,4-dinitrophenol always resulted in a loss of cellular radioactivity, the rate of loss and total amount lost varied from one experiment to another. In contrast to the reported results with bacteria (7), not all of the radioactivity left the cell; in fact, 30% or more of the total was retained. This may indicate that not all of the galactose crosses the cell wall by transport mechanisms and that some galactose movement is not energy-dependent.

Removal of radioactivity from the cell in a manner similar to that produced by 2,4-dinitrophenol also was induced by the addition of unlabeled galactose after an initial incubation with galactose-1- C^{14} .

Transfer against concentration gradient. Washed spermatozoa were incubated with galactose-1-C¹⁴ to permit cellular accumulation. The C¹⁴-loaded cells were washed free of extraneous radioactivity, then incubated anaerobically in fresh buffer with and without 0.1 M unlabeled galactose. Effluent C¹⁴ into the galactose-containing buffer averaged about 25% greater than that into the galactose-free buffer. This concentration of galactose against an osmotic gradient is much the same as that occurring with fructose (3).

Sensitivity to inhibitors. Cellular uptake of



FIG. 1. Effect of external glucose concentration on the cellular uptake of galactose-1-C¹⁴.

Experiment	Control	Treated	Inhibition
	(cpm/)	10 ⁸ cells)———	(%)
37-39, Iodoacetate, 10 ⁻³ м	427	180	58
40-42, Mercuric chloride, added befo	re incubation		
10^{-3} M	550	62	89
10 ⁻⁴ M	550	111	80
40-42, Mercuric chloride, added after	· incubation		
10^{-3} M	550	142	74
10 ⁻⁴ M	550	362	35

TABLE 2

galactose-1-C14 was sensitive to iodoacetate, as shown in Table 2. In these trials washed spermatozoa were exposed to the inhibitor for 20 min before the addition of galactose-1-C14. Mercuric chloride added under similar conditions caused an even greater inhibition of uptake (Table 2, added before incubation).



FIG. 2. Displacement of cell-accumulated galactose-1-C¹⁴ by 2,4-dinitrophenol. Dinitrophenol addition is indicated by the arrow.

With red blood cells, the addition of mercuric chloride after incubation has been used as a means of freezing the transfer of sugar (4). The procedure permitted measures of transport at time intervals of less than 1 min. Furthermore, since movement of sugar stopped upon the addition of the mercuric chloride, the subsequent analysis could be continued at an unhurried pace. This freezing procedure was tested with spermatozoa but, as shown in Table 2, the addition of mercuric chloride after spermatozoa had been incubated with galactose-1-C¹⁴ resulted in extensive loss of radioactivity from the cell. It is of interest that the extent of release of radioactivity by mercuric chloride was similar to that caused by 2,4-dinitrophenol.

Effect of insulin. Experiments were conducted to determine the effect of insulin on the transfer of galactose in spermatozoa. After preliminary tests, one unit of insulin per milliliter was adopted as approaching the optimum level. Galactose-1-C14 was added after spermatozoa had been exposed to insulin for 10 min, and transfer was measured after the usual 20-min incubation period. Results are presented in Table 3; insulin had no effect on the transfer of galactose under the conditions employed. In this respect, spermatozoa fall into the class of tissues, including red blood cells,

	Cellular	· uptake	$C^{14}O_2$ pr	roduction
Expt. no.	Without insulin	With insulin	Without insulin	With insulin
		(cpm per	• 10 ^s cells)	
43	820	830	160	130
44	2,245	2,180	855	865
45	1,255	1,460	310	300
46	2,860	2,855	655	630
Mean	1,795	1,831	495	481

TABLE 3

the gastrointestinal tract, kidney epithelium, and central nervous system, which is not responsive to insulin (5).

General discussion. These investigations with galactose-1-C14 have confirmed and extended the previous observations with fructose (3) in measuring transport of hexoses by spermatozoa. Galactose measurements have a decided advantage, in that they permit the use of uninhibited cells for transport studies with little uncertainty introduced by metabolism and removal of products from the cell. On the other hand, galactose enters the cell somewhat more slowly than does fructose, and the possibility exists that the transport mechanism is specific for one sugar and does not necessarily apply to a second sugar. The similarity in behavior of galactose and fructose toward inhibitors and osmotic gradient would seem to indicate the functioning of a nonspecific mechanism in the transport of both sugars.

The data presented are indicative of an active transport mechanism in spermatozoa which probably is similar to that in erythrocytes and yeast (6). This does not appear to be an exclusive process, however, for the results with 2,4-dinitrophenol (Figure 1), mercuric chloride (Table 2), and the effects of temperature (3) lead to the postulation that some transfer

occurs which is passive in nature and not energy-dependent.

REFERENCES

- FLIPSE, R. J. Transport of Galactose by Bovine Spermatozoa. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 1181. 1961.
- (2) FLIPSE, R. J. Unpublished data. The Pennsylvania Agricultural Experiment Station. 1961.
- (3) FLIPSE, R. J. Metabolism of Bovine Semen. XI. Factors Affecting the Transport of Fructose in Bovine Spermatozoa. J. Dairy Sci., 45: 917. 1962.
- (4) LEFEVRE, P. G., AND MCGINNESS, G. F. Tracer Exchange vs. Net Uptake of Glucose Through Human Red Cell Surface. J. Gen. Physiol., 44: 87. 1960.
- (5) LEVINE, R., AND GOLDSTEIN, M. S. On the Mechanism of Action of Insulin. Recent Progress in Hormone Research, 11: 343. 1955.
- (6) SCHARFF, T. G., AND KREMER, E. H. A Tentative Mechanism for the Anaerobic Transport of Glucose, Fructose and Mannose in Yeast. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 97: 192. 1962.
- (7) HORECKER, B. L., THOMAS, J., AND MONOD, J. Galactose Transport in *Escherichia coli*. 1. General Properties as Studied in a Galactokinaseless Mutant. J. Biol. Chem., 235: 1580. 1960.

REASONS FOR DISPOSAL OF DAIRY COWS FROM NEW YORK HERDS

G. V. O'BLENESS¹ AND L. D. VAN VLECK

Department of Animal Husbandry, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York

SUMMARY

A mail survey was conducted over a six-month period in New York DHIA herds to determine the reasons for disposal of cows from the herds. Responses were received on 7,362 cows. The most important reasons for disposal were low production, 27-32%; sterility, 16-19%; udder trouble or mastitis, 14-20%; and sold for dairy purposes, 14-15%. Brucellosis and tuberculosis reaction are now relatively unimportant, each accounting for about 1% of the reasons for disposal. Culling for undesirable dairy type is also not very intense, since only 2-4% of cows were disposed of for this reason. Distinct differences between age groups for relative reasons for disposal were noted, as were differences between breeds, although the numbers of observations were small for most breeds.

Studies of reasons for disposal of dairy cows have not been frequent. Asdell (1) has probably made the most extensive study. His data included reasons for disposal of 2,792,188 cows in 17 states during the years 1932 to 1949, inclusive. An early comprehensive study was reported by Seath (8) for Iowa and Kansas herds. Florida data were studied by Becker, Arnold, and Spurlock (2) for cows in 14 herds, excluding those sold for dairy reasons. Parker et al. (6) listed reasons for disposal from the Beltsville herd over a 40-yr period. Their results were confounded by a T.B. outbreak early in the study and by the effort made to sell no animals for dairy purposes or for low production.

A critical review of the literature of reasons for disposal may be found in Meek (4), who also conducted a thorough and intensive study of reasons for disposal of 4,768 cows born between 1937 and 1957 in 11 Iowa institutional herds.

There appear to be two main purposes for summary studies of disposal. First, the results serve to guide extension personnel and veterinarians to major problems of management and breeding and of disease on dairy farms. Second, the summaries guide research workers to technical problems which are of practical importance to dairymen.

The object of the present study was to amplify previous studies and to up-date the information needed to serve as guide lines for

Received for publication March 29, 1962.

¹ Present address: The Norwich Pharmacal Company, Norwich, New York. research and extension workers and for veterinarians.

METHODS

Under the New York Dairy Records Processing Center procedure, when a cow leaves the herd as reported by the responsible supervisor, a notation is indicated on that cow's record. The reason for disposal is, however, not indicated. Accordingly, for each New York cow marked as disposed of during the period October, 1960, to March, 1961, a mail survey form was sent to its owner. Unfortunately, only a part of a calendar year was included in the survey. The importance of reasons for culling during these months may not be representative of the remainder of the year. The cow's herd number and barn name were provided, along with space to list reasons for disposal. An owner could give as many reasons as he wished, listing the most important first and others in descending order of importance. Two different forms were used during the survey, to provide the evaluator with a numbered list of reasons. The herd manager could also write in any other reasons. The order of reasons on these two forms is shown in Table 1. Based on the other reasons listed, two additional categories were added before the data were punched for summarization-these left the herd because of: 21. Disease or 22. Abortion.

The numbers of responses for each reason for both forms are listed in Table 2. Of the 7,362 total responses, 4,629 were from Form 1 and 2,733 from Form 2. Very few responses listed more than two reasons for disposal.

A question always arises in the analysis of survey data concerning the influence of the

Fo	rm 1	\mathbf{Fo}	rm 2
No. of reason	Reason	No. of reason	Reason
1	Sold—Dairy purposes	1	Sold—Mastitis
2	Sold-Low production	2	Sold—T.B. reactor
3	Sold—Brucellosis	3	Sold—Dairy purposes
$\frac{4}{5}$	Sold—Mastitis	4	Sold—Unsound feet or legs
5	Sold—Udder trouble	5	Sold—Hard milker
6	Sold-–Unsound feet or legs	6	Sold—Brucellosis
7	Sold—Hard milker	7	Sold—Low production
8	Sold—Physical injury	8	Sold-Physical injury
9	Sold-Sterility	9	Sold-Sterility
10	Sold—Old age	10	Sold—Undesirable dairy type
11	Sold—T.B. reactor	11	Sold-Old age
12	Sold—Undesirable dairy type	12	Sold—Udder trouble
13	Died—Calving trouble	13	Died—Forage poisoning
14	Died—Old age	14	Died—Old age
15	Died-Hardware	15	Died—Hardware
16	Died—Accidental death	16	Died—Calving trouble
17	Died-Milk fever	17	Died-Milk fever
18	Died—Forage poisoning	18	Died—Bloat
19	Died-Bloat	19	Died—Accidental death
20	Other	20	Other

TABLE 1

Order of reasons for disposal on two forms used in a mail survey

TABLE 2

Summary of responses to a mail survey requesting information on why cows left the herd

		No. lis	ting reason	a		Sum
Reason	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	of 5
Dairy purposes	1,051	40	3	0	0	1,094
Low production	2,000	304	20	2	1	2,327
Brucellosis	86	9	0	0	0	95
Mastitis	616	170	10	0	0	796
Udder trouble	454	233	26	3	0	716
Unsound feet or legs	211	75	8	0	0	294
Hard milker	187	131	23	1	1	343
Physical injury	313	80	9	1	0	403
Sterility	1,191	208	26	2	0	1,427
Old age	272	209	33	2	0	516
T.B. reactor	60	7	0	0	0	67
Undesirable dairy type	154	131	32	3	0	320
Calving trouble	171	18	2	0	0	191
Old age	21	5	$\frac{2}{3}$	0	0	29
Hardware	88	10	3	1	0	102
Accidental death	47	2	0	0	0	49
Milk fever	51	11	3	0	0	65
Forage poisoning	13	1	0	0	0	14
Bloat	34	2	0	ō	0	36
Other	250	47	7	0	0	304
Disease	45	4	3	0	0	52
Abortion	47	7	0	0	0	54
Total	7,362	1,704	211	15	2	

^a A cow could be listed as disposed of for several reasons. The reasons were ordered according to 1st, 2nd, etc. reason for disposal.

survey form used. In this case the only difference in the two forms was the order in which the reasons were listed. A sample chi-square was computed to test whether the difference in response to the two forms was due to chance. A value of $\chi^2 = 216.9$, with 21 degrees of freedom, would indicate at a very high level of probability that the difference in response is not due to chance. This result almost immediately casts doubt on the validity of the survey. Examination of the summary for the two forms shown in Table 3 reveals that although the per cent values vary considerably, the same general pattern prevails in both sets of responses. Therefore, it was decided to report these results, together with a statement warning of the possible dangers inherent in all survey work. Previous reports have used only one survey form or have considered only responses to verbal questions. No one can be sure that the form used, the form of questioning, or the approach of the questioner can provide an unbiased response.

The summary of reasons for disposal by breed from the combined data is shown in Table 4. It must be remembered when examining these values that relatively few observations were available for the breeds other than Holstein. A sample chi-square of $\chi^2 = 242.3$, with 84 degrees of freedom indicates, however, that there are real differences in reasons for disposal among the five breeds.

The reasons for disposal when categorized by year of birth into six classes are summarized for the combined data in Table 5. The numbers in each group are fairly uniform, except for the youngest group with fewer observations and the oldest group with many more observations. The sample chi-square of $\chi^2 = 1247.5$, with 105 degrees of freedom, is much larger than could be expected by chance if the age groups were similar in their disposal ratios.

There may be some confounding of age and breed which could affect the per cent disposal values when summarizing the data separately for age and breed. If the numbers of observations were sufficient, a more complete analysis of an interaction between age and breed would be desirable. The small numbers of observations in the non-Holstein breeds when distributed over six age groups and 22 categories of reason for disposal would not allow suitable estimation of the interaction effect.

	For	rm 1	For	·m 2	Both	forms
Reason	(1) ^a	(2) ^b	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
Dairy purposes	.161	.167	.112	.117	.142	.148
Low production	.282	.323	.254	.305	.271	.316
Brucellosis	.013	.014	.010	.011	.011	.012
Mastitis	.077	.108	.095	.109	.083	.108
Udder trouble	.062	.096	.062	.099	.061	.097
Unsound feet or legs	.029	.044	.028	.034	.028	.039
Hard milker	.022	.047	.031	.046	.025	.046
Physical injury	.037	.050	.052	.063	.042	.054
Sterility	.163	.197	.160	.189	.161	.193
Old age	.036	.071	.039	.068	.036	.070
T.B. reactor	.002	.002	.019	.021	.008	.009
Undesirable dairy type	.016	.040	.029	.049	.020	.043
Calving trouble	.021	.022	.028	.032	.023	.025
Old age	.003	.004	.003	.004	.003	.004
Hardware	.011	.012	.014	.017	.012	.013
Accidental death	.007	.007	.005	.005	.006	.006
Milk fever	.006	.008	.008	.010	.006	.008
Forage poisoning	.002	.002	.001	.001	.002	.002
Bloat	.006	.007	.001	.001	.004	.004
Other	.027	.035	.046	.052	.033	.041
Disease	.009	.010	.001	.001	.006	.007
Abortion	.010	.011	.000	.000	.006	.007
Total responses	4,629		2,733		7,362	

 TABLE 3

 Summary of reasons given for disposal on two mail survey forms

^a Fraction of total number of disposals given as primary reason for disposal.

^b Fraction of total number of disposals given as either 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, or 5th reason for disposal.

	Ayr	shire	Gue	rnsey	Hol	stein	Je	ersey	Brown	n Swiss
No. cows	(273)		(669)		(5,	878)	(364)		(159)	
Reason	(1) ^a	(2) ^b	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
Dairy purposes	.139	.139	.124	.127	.144	.151	.173	.173	.107	.107
Low production	.300	.341	.354	.399	.255	.299	.357	.398	.302	.371
Brucellosis	.015	.015	.009	.010	.013	.014	.005	.005	.000	.000
Mastitis	.062	.066	.042	.061	.093	.120	.052	.063	.044	.063
Udder trouble	.062	.084	.049	.079	.064	.102	.052	.077	.044	.050
Unsound feet or legs	.029	.037	.024	.039	.030	.042	.011	.014	.031	.038
Hard milker	.018	.040	.018	.036	.027	.050	.011	.019	.038	.057
Physical injury	.029	.033	.027	.039	.046	.059	.030	.036	.038	.038
Sterility	.150	.165	.175	.212	.161	.193	.129	.157	.208	.258
Old age	.018	.048	.045	.079	.036	.070	.049	.082	.044	.069
T.B. reactor	.007	.007	.004	.004	.007	.009	.000	.000	.063	.063
Undesirable dairy type	.018	.033	.025	.057	.021	.043	.019	.027	.013	.057
Calving trouble	.022	.026	.016	.018	.024	.027	.022	.022	.025	.031
Old age	.004	.004	.006	.006	.002	.004	.005	.005	.006	.006
Hardware	.022	.022	.009	.009	.013	.015	.003	.003	.000	.000
Accidental death	.011	.011	.004	.006	.006	.007	.008	.008	.000	.000
Milk fever	.022	.026	.004	.006	.005	.007	.025	.025	.013	.013
Forage poisoning	.000	.000	.000	.000	.002	.002	.000	.000	.000	.000
Bloat	.000	.000	.003	.003	.005	.006	.000	.000	.000	.000
Other	.051	.059	.046	.052	.032	.039	.038	.052	.006	.006
Disease	.011	.011	.004	.004	.006	.007	.005	.005	.019	.019
Abortion	.007	.007	.009	.010	.006	.007	.003	.003	.000	.000

TABLE 4

Summary of reasons given for disposal by breed

^a Fraction of total number of reasons for disposal given as primary reason for disposal. ^b Fraction of total number of reasons for disposal given as either 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, or 5th reason for disposal.

Approx. age (yr)	2	-3	2	8-4		4-5	ŧ	5-6		6-7	Ole tha	der n 7
Reason	$(1)^{a}$	(2) ^b	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)	(2)
Dairy purposes	.176	.176	.227	.236	.194	.201	.175	.186	.147	.150	.072	.076
Low production	.458	.505	.343	.388	.336	.389	.298	.339	.289	.346	.173	.211
Brucellosis	.011	.011	.015	.015	.017	.020	.012	.013	.013	.015	.008	.009
Mastitis	.032	.043	.033	.046	.060	.085	.086	.108	.110	.140	.111	.141
Udder trouble	.043	.058	.033	.050	.031	.052	.067	.103	.071	.114	.083	.132
Unsound feet or legs	.006	.011	.012	.013	.011	.018	.016	.024	.016	.026	.054	.074
Hard milker	.043	.067	.028	.048	.017	.031	.017	.041	.029	.054	.027	.049
Physical injury	.037	.045	.035	.042	.037	.045	.034	.052	.048	.064	.049	.063
Sterility	.067	.082	.118	.141	.153	.178	.157	.185	.161	.197	.200	.240
Old age	.002	.002	.001	.001	.003	.003	.003	.005	.000	.004	.094	.178
T.B. reactor	.011	.011	.016	.017	.010	.011	.006	.007	.007	.007	.005	.007
Undesirable dairy type	.030	.069	.037	.070	.028	.053	.019	.043	.011	.034	.015	.029
Calving trouble	.019	.019	.018	.020	.031	.034	.024	.027	.025	.025	.022	.026
Old age	.000	.000	.000	.000	.001	.001	.000	.000	.000	.000	.007	.010
Hardware	.006	.011	.014	.017	.011	.012	.020	.022	.013	.017	.009	.010
Accidental death	.013	.013	.009	.009	.004	.005	.005	.005	.008	.008	.005	.006
Milk fever	.000	.000	.001	.001	.002	.003	.008	.010	.008	.009	.012	.015
Forage poisoning	.002	.002	.002	.002	.001	.001	.001	.001	.002	.003	.002	.002
Bloat	.002	.002	.005	.006	.009	.009	.005	.005	.001	.001	.004	.005
Other	.034	.037	.038	.049	.031	.039	.035	.039	.030	.038	.034	.042
Disease	.004	.004	.008	.008	.005	.005	.006	.009	.003	.003	.007	.009
Abortion	.002	.002	.008	.008	.008	.009	.008	.010	.007	.007	.005	.007

 TABLE 5

 Summary of reasons given for disposal by approximate age

^a Fraction of total number of reasons for disposal given as primary reason for disposal. ^b Fraction of total number of reasons for disposal given as either 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, or 5th reason for disposal.

DISCUSSION

The most important reasons for disposal over all breeds and age classes are, as expected, low production, sterility, and sold for dairy purposes. These three reasons account for more than 57% of the disposals. All disposals due to death accounted for only about 6% of the animals. About 4% more were sold for old age. Udder difficulties made up 14% of the primary reasons and were listed on 20% of the responses. It is likely that many dairymen classified mastitis trouble as udder trouble.

These results point out two areas for continued extensive research and teaching. Udder difficulties, which make up 14-20% of the reasons for disposal can in part be alleviated by practices known to veterinarians and research and extension personnel but still not practiced by many dairymen. Further research is also required in this area, in addition to more extensive dissemination of knowledge already acquired.

The other problem is well known. Factors affecting sterility have been studied extensively, but still 16-19% of the responses in this survey listed sterility as a reason for disposal. This area even yet evidently contains many problems which, if solved, could markedly affect the dairy operation.

Low production accounted for 27-32% of the disposals and sold for dairy purposes another 14-15%. Undoubtedly, several of the animals sold for dairy purposes could have been culled for low production. This rate of herd culling seems fairly high, but if the importance of sterility and mastitis was reduced the culling intensity could be increased substantially, with the resultant increase in genetic merit of the dairy cow population.

These results are in general agreement with the studies of Asdell (1) and Seath (8). Both reported approximately 34% of cows were disposed of because of low production and 24% for dairy purposes. Their values are a little higher than found in this survey, especially for the category sold for dairy purposes. Their values for udder trouble and sterility are considerably lower than reported here. If, as some dairymen believe, high production leads to a greater incidence of mastitis, this early report does not contradict the present results. Production in 1960 averaged considerably higher than did production in 1950 and 1940.

The more widespread use of artificial insemination in 1960 than earlier might provide a reason for the apparent rise in importance of sterility as a factor for disposal. The Asdell (1) study reported only 8% and Seath (8) only 5% of animals sold for sterility. Dairymen today are more aware of these problems, since they must observe their cows more closely to detect heat so they can call the inseminator.

Results for udder difficulties and for sterility are quite closely in agreement with those of Meek (4), who reported the incidence of disposal for these reasons of about 14-16 and 24%, respectively. The Iowa institution herds, however, had lower disposal rates for low production (20%) and slightly lower for dairy purposes (12%). The study of the Beltsville herd, Parker et al. (6), listed sterility as the reason for disposal in 41% of the cows. This reason is probably confounded with old age, since animals were not culled for low production and would, therefore, be allowed to grow older irrespective of production.

Abortion, brucellosis, and tuberculosis are evidently rather insignificant at this time as reasons for disposal—each accounting for only about 1% of all disposals. The earlier reports of Asdell (1) and Seath (8), and the 40-yr study of Parker et al. (6), showed much higher proportions of disposals for these reasons. The percentages reported by Meek (4) are only slightly higher for these occurrences than in the present survey.

The emphasis on dairy type as a reason for disposal is apparently very low, only 2-4% of cows being sold for this reason, although possibly some of those sold for dairy purposes may also have been sold for undesirable type.

Breed differences. The chi-square test for differences among breeds for reasons of disposal indicated that substantial differences do exist. It should be remembered that the small numbers of observations on the non-Holstein breeds make these estimates less reliable than if more were available. The major reason for disposal in each breed is low production. Among the Jersey and Guernsey breeds, however, about 10% more leave for low production than from among Holsteins. The Brown Swiss and Ayrshire breeds are intermediate between high and low. The current higher emphasis on milk yield rather than fat yield would tend to cause more Guernseys and Jerseys to be culled for low production than the other breeds. The ranking of the breeds in New York DHIA herds according to milk yield is Holstein, Brown Swiss, Ayrshire, Guernsey, and Jersey. This ranking conforms very closely to the inverse ranking for disposal for low production.

There also appear to be differences among the breeds in the rate at which animals are transferred from one herd to another. The largest transfer, making up 17% of the reasons for disposal, occurs among the Jersey herds and the lowest 11% among Brown Swiss herds. The other breeds fall in between.

Sterility problems evidently are more serious in the Brown Swiss breed, where 21% of disposals are for fertility problems. The possible connections between this high rate and the tendency for slower maturity in the Brown Swiss should perhaps be investigated. The Jresey herds had the least relative amount of sterility problems—about 13%. The other breeds were again intermediate between the extremes.

The Holsteins, with nearly 17% of disposals for udder and mastitis difficulty, appear to have much more trouble in this area. This would tend to support the theory of higher production making for more udder trouble. Ordering the other breeds by production and by udder trouble does not, however, further substantiate this hypothesis. In fact, the Brown Swiss are second in production and have the lowest relative disposal rate for udder problems. The difference between breeds in apparent susceptibility to mastitis and udder difficulty indicates a probable difference in genetic makeup among the breeds for susceptibilityeither directly or through other indirect physiological processes.

Although the per cent values in the death caused by milk fever category are low, it appears that a difference among breeds exists. The Guernsey and Holstein breeds were low and the Ayrshire and Jersey were high. This result would suggest the existence of genetic differences among breeds for susceptibility to milk fever.

Age differences. A steady decline in the proportion culled for low production occurs with increasing age. Nearly one-half of culled firstlactation animals are culled for low production. Most of the low producers will be eliminated in the first two or three lactations. The relative culling for sterility and udder trouble is low for this younger age group, which naturally allows for more rigid culling for low production. Among older cows, about 17% of those disposed are sold because of low production. This pattern is similar to that found by Meek (4).

The second lactation is apparently favorable for selling animals for dairy purposes (23%), whereas few (7%) older cows are sold into other herds. The economics of selling fairly well dictates this pattern.

Problems of fertility increase relatively after the first lactation (7-8% disposal rate) to plateau in the third to fourth lactation (15-16%) and then increase again among the older cows (20-24%). This same general pattern was found by Meek (4), where he found a steady increase to 7-8 yr of age, followed by a plateau for 2-3 yr, after which an increase was evident.

The incidence of mastitis and udder trouble also appears to increase gradually with agefrom 6-10% in the youngest group to 19-27% in the oldest group. There appear to be several explanations as advanced by Meek (4) and Plastidge (7) for this pattern. Either young cows are more free from mastitis or if it does occur it is more likely to be treated. In older animals with a past history of mastitis less leniency would be expected. However, they point out that it is doubtful if this explains more than a small part of the difference among age groups. Some association between age and mastitis infection apparently exists. Younger animals may be less susceptible to infection. The increased exposure to infection with increasing age may also be an important consideration. Perhaps both contribute to the pattern. A pattern of incidence of mastitis which increased with age was reported earlier by Legates and Grinnells (3). Meek (4) concluded that "From these figures it would seem that milking younger animals, with a faster turnover of cows, would be the best way to combat mastitis." Until further research points out better ways, it would seem his solution is the most practical one available.

It would appear from the data that most hard milkers are disposed in the first lactation. Similarly, disposals for undesirable type are likely to occur during the first two or three lactations.

Although the numbers of observations are relatively small, it appears that disposal due to milk fever increases cumulatively with increasing age. Milk fever is almost nonexistent in first-calf heifers which have not been previously subjected to the stresses of high milk production. Apparently, the physiological causes are connected with previous production and thus increased age may bring about increased severity, Meek (5).

CONCLUSIONS

The chief reasons for disposal as reported in this survey were low production, 27%; sterility, 16%; sold for dairy purposes, 14%; and udder difficulties, 14%. The importance to the dairyman of the freedom to cull for low production cannot be overemphasized. The primary importance of decreasing involuntary losses is to increase the culling rate for low production rather than to increase longevity.

The chief areas which need improvement are fertility and udder (mastitis) difficulties. If the incidence of these could be reduced markedly, more attention could be placed on culling for low production. Present knowledge, if applied, possibly could reduce the relative importance of these factors. It would appear, however, that additional research breakthroughs in these areas to find methods of prevention or cure are urgently needed in addition to increased dissemination of known methods of prevention or cure by extension personnel.

Factors which in the past have been serious problems, such as brucellosis and tuberculosis, have apparently been eliminated as significant reasons for disposal. This improvement has been due to thorough and extensive application of testing and slaughter for T.B. and vaccination for brucellosis.

Undesirable dairy type is only a minor reason for disposal, accounting for about 2-4% of total disposals. This indicates that most dairymen do not pay much atention to type characteristics when culling. This low value is in contrast to the much higher importance accorded culling for low production (27-32%).

REFERENCES

- ASDELL, S. A. Variations in Amount of Culling in DHIA Herds. J. Dairy Sci., 34: 529. 1951.
- (2) BECKER, R. B., ARNOLD, P. T. D., AND SPUR-LOCK, A. M. Productive Lifespan of Dairy Cattle. Florida Agr. Expt. Sta., Bull. 540. 1954.
- (3) LEGATES, J. E., AND GRINNELLS, E. P. Genetic Relationships in Resistance to Mastitis in Dairy Cattle. J. Dairy Sci., 35: 829. 1952.
- (4) MEEK, A. M. Survivorship in Dairy Cows. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Iowa State University of Science and Technology Library, Ames. 1961.
- (5) MEEK, A. M. Personal communication. 1962.
- (6) PARKER, J. B., BAYLEY, N. D., FOHRMAN, M. H., AND PLOWMAN, R. D. Factors Influencing Dairy Cattle Longevity. J. Dairy Sci., 43: 401. 1960.
- (7) PLASTRIDGE, W. N. Bovine Mastitis: A Review. J. Dairy Sci., 41: 1141. 1958.
- (8) SEATH, D. M. The Intensity and Kind of Selection Actually Practiced in Dairy Herds. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Iowa State University of Science and Technology Library, Ames. 1939.

EFFECT OF DEOXYRIBONUCLEASE ON THE CALIFORNIA TEST FOR MASTITIS

E. J. CARROLL AND O. W. SCHALM

Department of Clinical Pathology, University of California, Davis

SUMMARY

Nucleated but not non-nucleated body cells added to normal milks were found to produce typical California Mastitis Test (CMT) positive reactions. Treatment of mastitic milks with commercial $5 \times$ recrystallized deoxyribonuclease but not ribonuclease or trypsin was shown to prevent the formation of gels characteristic of a positive CMT. Treatment of gels formed by the reaction of mastitic milk with DNAase but not RNAase or trypsin resulted in almost instantaneous dissolution of the gel. A level of $1.65 \ \mu g$ DNAase/ml of markedly mastitic milk (CMT-3+) was found to be sufficient to abolish the CMT reaction completely. These observations suggest that polymerized DNA originating from cells of the inflammatory exudate in mastitic milk is the component responsible for positive California Mastitis Test reactions.

Since the discovery of the California Mastitis Test (CMT) (20), there has been a need for knowledge concerning the factors present in mastitic milk which react with the active principle of the CMT reagent (an anionic detergent) to form gels of varying strengths. With such knowledge, it may then be possible to precisely quantitate the reactive material in mastitic milk by suitable chemical means. From the very beginning, the correlation between total cell counts in milk and the CMT score indicated a very strong probability that the reactive substance was closely allied with body cells, especially those associated with the inflammatory exudate.

Direct observations revealed that the reactive material can be centrifuged or filtered out of the milk. It is present in both the sediment and fat layer but not the skim following centrifugation, indicating the reaction is associated with insoluble particulate material. During centrifugation, cells are both sedimented and are swept up with the cream. Following ether extraction, the reaction was found to be present in the aqueous but not the ether phase. It was found that the increased whey proteins of mastitic milk separated by DEAE cellulose failed to produce the reaction (3). In addition, mastitic milk proteins precipitated by trichloroacetic or perchloric acid followed by neutrali-

Received for publication June 4, 1962.

¹Supported in part by the Animal Disease and Parasite Research Division, Agricultural Research Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture. zation and dialysis failed to produce the CMT reaction. These observations suggested that fat or protein per se was not involved.

More indirect evidence suggested that the reactive material in the milk may be of nuclear origin. For example, it was found that typical CMT reactions were produced in normal milks by the addition of whole mammalian blood or the buffy coat (leukocytes) but not by washed mammalian erythrocytes. Minced tissue (liver), washed nucleated avian erythrocytes, or crude nuclear material separated from avian erythrocytes, on the other hand, all produced typical CMT-positive reactions when added to normal milks. In addition, unpublished observations (O.W.S.) on mastitis-free goat's milk have shown that non-nucleated cytoplasmic cellular material common to goat's milk (15) does not produce a positive CMT reaction.

A review of the literature regarding cell fractionation revealed that gels which appeared to be characteristic of positive CMT reactions were observed during various procedures used in the extraction of DNA, suggesting to us that DNA may be the cellular component responsible for positive CMT reactions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Treatment of mastitic milks was carried out with the following enzymes: trypsin ($2 \times$ recrystallized, salt-free), ribonuclease ($5 \times$ recrystallized), and desoxyribonuclease ($5 \times$ recrystallized). The enzymes were the products of Nutritional Biochemicals Corporation. The enzyme stock solutions were made up to a concentration of 50 mg/100 ml. The DNAase was made up in 0.25% gelatin and had a concentration of 35,000 Dornase units/ml. The addition of Mg⁺⁺ was found to be unnecessary. Ribonuclease and trypsin were made up in distilled water.

Varying amounts of the enzymes were added to mastitic milks which were then incubated 3-4 hr at 37 degrees. The CMT was then scored by one of us (OWS) without previous knowledge of the treatment. Suitable amounts of 0.25% gelatin or water were added to control milks to correct for dilution.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

If our hypothesis implicating nuclear material (DNA) in the CMT reaction is correct, it is felt that the demonstration that the CMT reaction can be abolished by treatment of mastitic milk with DNA as should be sufficient evidence to show that it is DNA which accounts for the CMT reaction. That such is the case is shown by representative experiments set forth in Table 1.

It can be seen that between 100-200 μ g of DNAase/4 ml of CMT-3 milk is sufficient to abolish the CMT reaction completely. We have never observed mastitic milks, regardless of the strength of the CMT reaction, in which the reaction could not be abolished by pretreatment with concentrations of 200 μ g of DNAase/5 ml of milk. When this level of enzyme was added to CMT-3 milk (the same as Tube 11, Table 1), a final concentration of DNAase equivalent to 1.65 μ g/ml of milk was sufficient to inhibit the CMT reaction completely. Lower concentrations of enzyme reduced the CMT score but did not abolish the CMT reaction. Incubation is not necessary for the demonstra-

tion of this effect. DNAase added to fresh milk immediately before the addition of the CMT reagent precludes the development of a positive reaction in mastitic milk.

Kay et al. (12) have shown that strong gels are formed by the addition of sodium dodecyl sulfate to various tissues in the isolation of DNA. Gels are also formed by isolated nuclei in the presence of the detergent. The description of such gels (5) markedly resembles the behavior of gels formed by equal volumes of mastitic milk and the CMT reagent when worked up in a beaker. The exact mechanism of this gel formation is little understood. Dounce feels that gel formation is due to dissociation of DNA from protein followed by hydration and swelling of insoluble DNA salts (5). Bernstein and co-workers (2, 10), on the other hand, feel that the structure of nuclear gels is due to the protein moiety, since trypsin treatment was shown to reduce the viscosity of nuclear gels. However, Cohen (4) showed that trypsin, or chymotrypsin treatment of thymus deoxyribonucleohistone increased the viscosity of the nucleohistone and suggested that the increased viscosity was due to polymerization and aggregation of liberated DNA.

Dounce et al. (6, 7) have also demonstrated that intact DNA is a requirement for the gelability of isolated nuclei, since treatment of gelable nuclei with DNAase, or isolation of nuclei in the presence of disrupted mitochondria, causes a loss of gelability. DNAase is contained in mitochondria (DNAase I) as well as lysozomes (DNAase II) (1). We have found that the addition of DNAase to the gel formed by mastitic milk and the CMT reagent causes an almost instantaneous breakdown of the gel. Trypsin, on the other hand, did not alter the

TABLE 1

Effect of incubating mastitic milk with various levels of DNAase on the CMT score

		Enzy	me conc.	
Tube		$\mu \mathbf{g}$	Dornase units	CMT score
1	4 ml milk A + 1.0 ml 0.25% gelatin (control)	0	0	3
2	4 ml milk A + 0.1 ml DNAase + 0.9 ml 0.25% gelatin	50	3,500	1
3	4 ml milk A + 0.2 ml DNAase + 0.8 ml 0.25% gelatin	100	7,000	Tr.
4	4 ml milk A + 0.4 ml DNAase + 0.6 ml 0.25% gelatin	200	14,000	Neg.
5	4 ml milk B + 1.0 ml 0.25% gelatin (control)	0	0	Neg.
6	4 ml milk B + 1.0 ml DNAase	500	35,000	Neg.
7	4 ml milk C + 0.4 ml 0.25% gelatin (control)	0	0	$3+^{\circ}$
8	4 ml milk C + 0.07 ml DNAase	35	2,430	2
9	4 ml milk C + 0.08 ml DNAase	42.5	2.965	1
10	4 ml milk C + 0.09 ml DNAase	46.3	3,233	Tr.
11	4 ml milk C + 0.4 ml DNAase	200	14,000	Neg.

^a Milk C was the strippings from an acutely mastitic quarter and contained large amounts of pus as well as many flakes and clots.

TA	BI	F	0
1 1	DI	117	-

Effect of the addition of trypsin or RNAase on the CMT reaction of mastitic milk

Tube		Enzyme conc. µg	CMT score
1	4 ml milk A + 1.0 ml water (control)	0	3
2	4 ml milk A + 1.0 ml trypsin	500	3
3	4 ml milk B + 4.0 ml water (control)	0	3
4	4 ml milk B + 4.0 ml trypsin (incubated overnight)	2,000	3
5	4 ml milk B + 1.0 ml RNAase	500	3
6	4 ml milk B + 4.0 ml RNAase (incubated overnight)	2,000	3

preformed gel. In addition, neither trypsin nor RNAase treatment affects the development of a CMT-positive reaction in mastitic milk (Table 2).

Other reagents have been shown to cause gelation or increased viscosity of nuclei or of nuclear material. For example, various concentrations of NaCl have been shown to cause gelation of nuclei (5, 14), fish spermatozoa (19), or to increase the viscosity of ribonucleohistone solutions (4). When the pH of suspensions of gelable nuclei is raised above 8 with NaOH or NH₄OH, gels are also formed (7). We have also produced gels similar to the CMT reaction in mastitic milks by addition of NaCl in high concentration or of NH₄OH or NaOH (White-side phenomenon, 21).

Ribonucleic, but not desoxyribonucleic acid, has been reported in milk (11, 16, 18), although it is not unreasonable to assume that DNA from desquamated secretory cells may also be shed into the milk during the milking act. However, the large numbers of leukocytes and other inflammatory cells containing DNA that appear in mastitic milk must perforce elevate the DNA content to measurable levels. Mizen and Peterman (17) calculated that the DNA content/nucleus for normal splenic cells was of the order of 6.6 \times 10⁻⁶ µg. If leukocytes have levels of the same order of magnitude, it should be possible to start with rather large volumes of milk and determine DNA concentrations. We are presently engaged in exploration of suitable methods for this determination. Preliminary tests have shown that reasonable recoveries of added DNA to normal milk can be achieved.

We have been concerned by the fact that the CMT reaction tends to decline on continued storage of the milks. Leukocytes contain DNAase which would be a convenient explanation for this observation were it not for the fact that leukocytes (human) also have been shown to contain rather potent DNA inhibitors (9, 13). Catheptic activity of lysed leukocytes in aged milks may also play a role in the decline

in strength of the CMT. Greenstein and Janrette (8) found DNAase in normal milks of the rat, mouse, rabbit, and guinea pig, but not in milks from the human, cow, goat, or mare. DNAase activity was also found in lactating mammary tissue. We have added various DNAase inhibitors such as citrate, arsenate, or fluoride to mastitic milk and compared the keeping quality of the CMT reaction with suitable controls. The results of these experiments are inconclusive to date, although this aspect will be pursued further. Of interest is the fact that the addition of very high levels of citrate to dialyzed mastitic milk failed to prevent the loss of the CMT reaction when the milks were treated with DNAase.

CONCLUSIONS

Investigations into the nature of the positive California Mastitis Test reaction strongly indicate that the active principle in mastitic milk is deoxyribonucleic acid, the DNA having its origin mainly in nuclei of cells constituting the inflammatory exudate. These findings add weight to the supposition that the CMT reactions are a qualitative measure of the concentration of cells in milk. While the observations to date with respect to DNA in relation to the CMT phenomenon are preliminary, the results are of sufficient significance to make them known at this stage of the investigation.

REFERENCES

- (1) BEAUFAY, H., BENDALL, D. S., BAUDHUIN, P., AND DEDUYE, C. Tissue Fractionation Studies 12. Intracellular Distribution of Some Dehydrogenases, Alkaline Deoxyribonuclease and Iron in Rat-Liver Tissue. Biochem. J., 73: 623. 1959.
- (2) BERNSTEIN, M. H. Observations on the Structure of Deoxyribonucleoprotein Gels. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 42: 703. 1956.
- (3) CARROLL, E. J. Whey Proteins of Drying-Off Secretions, Mastitic Milk, and Colostrum Separated by Ion-Exchange Cellulose. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 2194. 1961.

- (4) COHEN, S. S. The Enzymatic Degradation of Thymus Nucleohistone. J. Biol. Chem. 158: 255. 1945.
- (5) DOUNCE, A. L. Cytochemical Foundations of Enzyme Chemistry. *In* the Enzymes, Vol. 1, pt. 1, pp. 187–266. The Academic Press, New York. 1950.
- (6) DOUNCE, A. L., AND MONTY, K. J. Factors Affecting the Gelability of Isolated Nuclei. J. Biophys. and Biochem. Cytol., 1: 155. 1955.
- (7) DOUNCE, A. L., O'CONNELL, M. P., AND MONTY, K. J. Action of Mitochondrial DNAase I in Destroying the Capacity of Isolated Cell Nuclei to Form Gels. J. Biophys. and Biochem. Cytol., 3: 649. 1957.
- (8) GREENSTEIN, J. P., AND JANRETTE, W. V. The Depolymerization of Thymonucleic Acid by an Enzyme System in Normal and Cancerous Hepatie and Mammary Tissues and in Milk and Sera of Several Species. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 1: 845. 1940-1941.
- (9) HENSTELL, H. H., FREEDMAN, R. I., AND GINSBURG, B. An Inhibitor of Desoxyribonuclease in Human White Blood Cells and Bone Marrow Cells and Its Relationship to Cellular Maturity. Cancer Res., 12: 346. 1952.
- (10) KAUFMANN, B. P., MCDONALD, M. R., AND BERNSTEIN, M. H. Cytochemical Studies of Changes Induced in Cellular Materials by Ionizing Radiations. Ann. New York Acad. Sci., 59: 553. 1955.
- (11) KAY, H. D., AND MARSHALL, P. G. Phosphorus Compounds of Milk. IV. Presence of Adenine Nucleotides in Milk. Biochem. J. 22: 416. 1928.

- (12) KAY, E. R. M., SIMMONS, N. S., AND DOUNCE, A. L. An Improved Preparation of Sodium Desoxyribonucleate. J.A.C.S., 74: 1724. 1952.
- (13) KURNICK, N. B., SCHWARTZ, L. I., PARISER, S., AND LEE, S. L. A Specific Inhibitor for Human Desoxyribonuclease and an Inhibitor of the Lupus Erythematosus Cell Phenomenon from Leucocytes. J. Clin. Invest., 32: 193. 1953.
- (14) LASKOWSKI, M. Preparation of Living Nuclei from Hen Erythrocytes. Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med., 49: 354. 1942.
- (15) LITTLE, R. B., AND PLASTRIDGE, W. N., eds. Bovine Mastitis. Chap. 17, pp. 495-496. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York. 1946.
- (16) MANDEL, P., AND BIETH, R. Nucleic Acid in Milk. Compt. Rend. Soc. Biol., 142: 234. 1948.
- (17) MIZEN, N. A., AND PETERMAN, M. L. Nuclei from Normal and Leukemic Mouse Spleen. III. The Desoxypentosenucleic Acid Content per Nucleus Calculated from Total Cell Counts. Cancer Research, 12: 727. 1952.
- (18) MORTON, R. K. Lipoprotein Particles in Cow Milk. Biochem. J., 57: 231. 1954.
- (19) POLLISTER, A. W., AND MIRSKY, A. E. The Nucleoprotamine of Trout Sperm. J. Gen. Physiol., 30: 101. 1946.
- (20) SCHALM, O. W., AND NOORLANDER, D. O. Experiments and Observations Leading to Development of the California Mastitis Test. J.A.V.M.A., 130: 199. 1957.
- (21) WHITESIDE, W. H. Observations on a New Test for the Presence of Mastitis in Milk. Can. Public Health J., 30: 44. 1939.

INCREASED LACTATION RESPONSE IN CATTLE WITH THYROXINE 50% ABOVE THYROXINE SECRETION RATE ¹

B. N. PREMACHANDRA² and C. W. TURNER³

Department of Dairy Husbandry, University of Missouri, Columbia

SUMMARY

Nine lactating dairy cows were injected with thyroxine daily at a level 50% above their individual winter thyroxine secretion rates during the spring and summer to determine the effect upon milk yield, body temperature, and body weight. The body pool of thyroxine was raised to its ultimate level by one injection of thyroxine at the initiation of the experiment.

One cow reached a new peak of milk yield (weekly average) during the 2nd wk, one the 3rd wk, and the seven other cows the 4th wk. The mean increase in milk yield was 27.6%, with a range from 12.1 to 67.9%.

The effect of thyroxine at this level during the summer appeared to pose no problem in heat dissipation. The elevation in rectal temperature of the experimental cows was very small, with fluctuations in treated and nontreated cows quite comparable.

The mean body weight loss was 9.7%, with a range of 3.7 to 14.2%. This loss was regained within 2 wk after cessation of thyroxine treatment.

On the basis of the observed range in thyroxine secretion rate, and the beneficial effect of thyroxine upon milk yield administered at 50% above their secretion rate, it was suggested that the level of feeding thyroprotein might be reduced from 15 g to about 10 g/1,000 lb body weight/day in the great majority of dairy cows.

The thyroid hormones, thyroprotein, thyroxine (T_4) , and triiodothyronine (T_3) have been shown to stimulate variable increases in milk secretion in many dairy cattle (1, 2, 3). In the cows responding, much variation in the percentage of increase has been observed. Many suggestions have been advanced to explain the variations in response observed. Turner et al. (11) suggested that it indicates the degree to which endogenous thyroxine may be a limiting factor in the productive capacity of individual cows. During recent years, methods have been developed using radioactive iodine (I^{131}) for estimation of thyroxine secretion rate and many factors influencing the secretion rate have been determined (8). It has been shown that individual cows show a tenfold variation

Received for publication June 25, 1962.

¹ Contribution from Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station. Journal Series No. 2442. Approved by the Director.

² Present address: Institute of Experimental Pathology, The Jewish Hospital, St. Louis, Missouri.

³ Aided in part by a grant from the U. S. Atomic Energy Commission, Contract No. AT (11-1)-301.

in thyroxine secretion rate during the winter and during the summer decline to about onethird the winter rate. Cows with thyroxine secretion rates less than optimal but with adequate secretion of other essential hormones would be expected to respond to exogenous thyroxine; whereas, cows with serious hormone deficiencies other than thyroxine would not be expected to respond.

The rate of disappearance of thyroxine-I¹³¹ from the blood of the dairy cow is rather slow, requiring two and one-half days for one-half of the injected dose to leave the blood (6). From this observation, the concept was developed that the body pool of thyroxine in cows is greater than the daily thyroxine secretion rate, since two and one-half days are required for the disappearance of one-half of the daily secretion.

When exogenous thyroxine in excess of the thyroxine secretion rate is administered daily, a number of days are required for the new elevated body pool to become established (6). During this period, milk secretion increases gradually as the new level is reached. The question was raised, would the milk yield increase more rapidly if body pool of thyroxine was increased by a single high injection of thy-

roxine, followed by a constant level to maintain it at that level? Further, it was decided to administer the thyroxine to each cow at a level 50% above the determined winter thyroxine secretion rate. In none of the cows did the daily thyroxine injection level equal the highest winter thyroxine secretion rate so far observed (i.e., 10 mg/1,000 lb body weight).

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Thyroxine secretion rates of nine cows of several breeds were determined in late winter by a technique described by Pipes et al. (5). Lactation was induced experimentally by the method described by Williams and Turner (12). The present experiment was initiated when the cows had reached their peak and had begun to decline in milk yield (20th to 24th week). Exogenous 1-thyroxine was administered to each animal at a level 50% above its winter thyroxine secretion rate (Table 1). To raise quality alfalfa hay was available in the feed lot.

Two cows, no. 38 and 601, were used in a preliminary trial starting March 31, at the 16th and 20th wk of lactation. The seven other cows were started on July 21, at the 24th wk of lactation.

RESULTS

(a) Effect of thyroxine on milk yield. The two cows, 38 and 601, started on March 31 at their 16th and 20th wk of lactation, showed rapid increases in lactation following the injection of thyroxine. No. 38 reached an early peak during the 2nd wk. Her lactation was sustained and during the 8th to 10th wk she equalled or exceeded the early increased production. No. 601 reached her peak during the 3rd wk and continued at a uniform level throughout the experimental period (Table 2).

The seven other cows, started on July 21, showed somewhat more gradual increases in

TABLE 1

Thyroxine secretion rate and estimated body pool of cows injected with thyroxine 50% above secretion rate

Cow no.	Breed	T4 Secre- tion rate	Body weight	50% T ₄ increase/ day	T₄ body pool at 50% in- creased TSR	Terminal body weight	Weight loss
		(mg/day)	(<i>lb</i>)	(mg)	(mg)		(%)
870	н	5.1	1,140	7.6	19.5	1,090	4.3
873	н	5.1	1,030	7.7	19.8	950	7.7
869	H	5.4	1,200	8.0	20.6	1,070	10.8
24	B-S	6.7	1,340	10.0	25.7	1,170	12.6
25	B-S	7.2	1,200	10.8	27.8	1,050	12.5
630	J	2.4	800	3.6	9.3	770	3.7
478	G	4.8	1,200	7.2	18.5	1,050	12.5
38	G	5.2	1,300	7.8	20.0	1,180	9.2
601	$\rm Cross~J\times H$	3.6	900	5.4	13.9	772	14.2

the thyroxine body pool immediately to the level it would eventually reach after a variable period of time, the amount of thyroxine required was calculated by the method described by Pipes et al. (6). The requirement was computed by determining the difference between the original T_4 body pool and the proposed elevated body pool. On Day One of the experiment this amount of thyroxine was administered, followed by the daily subcutaneous injection equal to a 50% increase above the daily secretion rate (Table 1).

The cows were milked twice daily. Rectal temperature was recorded daily and body weight was determined weekly. A high energy ration containing 80% corn was fed and goodmilk yield, all reaching their peaks during the 4th wk, which was then sustained at a rather uniform level. At the end of 10 wk, the mean milk yield of the cows exceeded the mean milk yield before the experiment began. The mean increase in milk yield at the peak was 27.6%, with a range from 12.1 to 67.9%, with all but one animal exceeding a 20% increase.

(b) Effect of thyroxine on body temperature. An inspection of rectal temperatures in thyroxine-treated animals revealed a gradual rise during summer (range 102.1-104.2). When compared with animals receiving no thyroxine (range 101.8-103.6), the temperature elevation was very small. Indeed, two of the nontreated animals exhibited rectal temperatures higher

Animal Ino. and	Average weekly -	Avera	ge dai	ly mil	k yiel	d (by	week	ks) du	ring	thyrox	ine tre	eatment (lb)
	yield before treat- ment	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Maximum increase in milk yield
	(<i>lb</i>)											(%)
870 H	21.6	24.6	25.5	24.8	26.6	22.9	18.1	20.0	19.6	19.2	20.4	23.1
873 H	20.6	23.8	23.3	23.7	25.4	20.2	16.0	19.2	20.1	20.2	19.2	23.3
869 H	17.0	18.0	18.8	21.0	21.8	19.7	18.0	19.2	18.2	18.6	18.6	28.2
24 B.S.	19.7	20.2	23.5	26.0	26.8	22.9	24.3	24.8	23.8	23.5	25.6	36.0
630 J	17.9	18.8	22.4	23.4	24.0	21.5	21.1	22.2	20.6	19.7	18.4	34.1
478 G	13.7	14.5	17.6	21.7	23.0	21.5	19.0	22.0	19.1	19.0	17.8	67.9
25 B.S.	26.6	24.6	26.6	30.3	32.0	29.8	31.1	30.7	27.5	26.8	27.0	20.3
38 G	23.1	26.5	28.1	27.6	26.0	25.8	27.5	27.1	28.0	29.1	28.6	21.6
601 J-H	21.5	23.6	23.6	24.1	22.8	21.7	21.4	21.0	20.6	21.8	22.5	12.1
Mean milk												
vield (lb) 20.2	21.6	23.3	24.7	25.4	22.9	21.8	22.9	21.9	22.0	22.0	27.6

TABLE 2

Influence of thyroxine 50% in excess of winter thyroxine secretion rate on milk yield

than the majority of the animals treated with thyroxine in summer. The fluctuations in daily body temperatures in summer in treated and nontreated animals were very nearly comparable.

(c) Effect of thyroxine on body weight. The body weight loss ranged from 3.7 to 14.2% in the animals, and on the average it was 9.7%(Table 1). Swanson (9) has suggested that the loss in body weight is not real weight loss; rather, it is due to a reduction in gastrointestinal fill. The apparent loss in body weight was regained in less than 2 wk in all of the animals, on cessation of thyroxine treatment.

DISCUSSION

This is the first study on the effect of mild hyperthyroidism (50% above winter thyroxine secretion rate) upon the rate of milk secretion in cattle where the thyroxine level administered was related to the individual thyroxine secretion rate. The mean increase in milk yield of 27.6% attained during the summer in Missouri indicates that the maintenance of a uniform level of circulating thyroxine 50% above their winter TSR will increase and maintain elevated yields of milk at this time.

The effect of injecting thyroxine at an elevated level to immediately bring the body pool of thyroxine up to its calculated level at the beginning of the experiment showed some promise of effectiveness. One cow reached a peak in 2 wk, another in 3 wk, but the other cows reached their peaks during the 4th wk.

In an experiment by Tucker and Reece (10), where thyroprotein was fed to a group of ten cows at the peak of lactation, an average inerease in milk yield of 9.9% (range 3.4 to 18.4%) was observed during 14 days. On Day One of the experiment, a larger amount of thyroprotein was fed to elevate the body pool of thyroxine, as in the present experiment. It is interesting to note that seven cows attained a maximal response before the experiment was half over and the remaining three cows reached their maximum during the second half of the 14-day experiment.

In the present experiment, in cows in more advanced lactation, there appears to be a greater time lag in stimulating increased milk secretion, even when the level of circulating thyroxine was increased at once. Thyroxine may influence milk secretion in various ways. Heart rate and blood circulation should increase rapidly. Increase in cellular metabolism of the mammary gland milk-secreting cells should be rapid also. Moon (4) has shown recently that thyroxine increases the secretion of the lactogenic hormone in the rat. Further, thyroxine stimulates the secretion of the growth hormone as shown by the lack of growth in thyroidectomized animals. The effect of thyroxine on the secretion of the pituitary hormones (lactogen and growth) may require more time and thus increase milk yield more gradually.

To resolve the problem in an unequivocal experiment, it will be necessary to compare the rate of increase of milk yield in groups of lactating cows fed thyroprotein, in one group of which the body pool would be elevated at the onset of the experiment.

The feeding of thyroprotein at the rate of 15 g/1,000 lb body weight to dairy cattle has been recommended for many years. During the

past few years, the individual thyroxine secretion rates (TSR) of a number of cows have been determined (8). They show a range in TSR from 1 or 2 mg to 9 or 10 mg/1,000 lb body weight during the winter months.

Since about 10% of the thyroxine in thyroprotein is effective orally (8), the corresponding oral level of thyroprotein to equal the TSR of these animals would be 1 to 10 g/1,000 lbbody weight/day. Therefore, the feeding of 15 g/day of thyroprotein to lactating dairy cows would exceed the maximum TSR of 10 mg/day by 50% and the mean TSR of 5.4 mg by about 185%. The excessive level of thyroprotein feeding has been well tolerated due, it is believed, to the increased rate of thyroxine metabolism. It has been shown, recently, that the normal biological half-life $(t^{1/2})$ of thyroxine in dairy cattle was 2.47 days. When the cows in the present experiment were injected with thyroxine 50% above their winter TSR, the $t^{1/2}$ was reduced to 1.05 days (7). From these data, it is clear that the animal body increases the rate of thyroxine metabolism when higher levels of hormone are administered. Thus, thyroxine in excess of necessary requirements is not harmful but is wasteful of the hormone.

On the basis of the observed range in TSR of dairy cattle, and the beneficial effect of thyroxine on milk secretion, when administration of 50% above the individual TSR was followed, it is suggested that the level of thyroprotein feeding could be reduced to about 10 g/1,000 lb body weight/day and still stimulate increased milk production in most animals of a population of cows. This level of thyroprotein would equal the highest TSR so far observed and would provide a 50% or greater increase above the TSR of animals secreting up to about 7 mg/day/1,000 lb body weight.

REFERENCES

(1) BLAXTER, K. L. Some Effects of Thyroxine and Iodinated-Casein on Dairy Cows and Their Practical Significance. Vitamins and Hormones, 10: 217. 1952.

- (2) BLAXTER, K. L., REINEKE, E. P., CRAMPTON, E. W., AND PETERSEN, W. E. The Role of Thyroidal Materials and Synthetic Goitrogens in Animal Production and an Appraisal of Their Practical Use. J. Animal Sci., 8: 307. 1949.
- (3) FOLLEY, S. J. The Physiology and Biochemistry of Lactation. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh: Tweeddale Court, London: 39A Welbeck Street, W. I.
- (4) Moon, R. C. Influence of Thyroxine upon Pituitary Lactogenic Hormone Content. Federation Proc., 21: 193. 1962.
- (5) PIPES, G. W., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., AND TURNER, C. W. A Technique for in Vivo Measurement of Thyroidal-I¹³¹ in Cattle. J. Dairy Sci., 40: 340. 1957.
- (6) PIPES, G. W., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., AND TURNER, C. W. The Biological Half-Life of L-Thyroxine and L-Triiodothyronine in the Blood of the Dairy Cow. J. Dairy Sei., 42: 1606, 1959.
- (7) PREMACHANDRA, B. N., AND TURNER, C. W. Metabolism of Thyroxine in Hyperthyroidism in Cattle. Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med., 106: 818, 1961.
- (8) PREMACHANDRA, B. N., PIPES, G. W., AND TURNER, C. W. Thyroxine Secretion Rates of Cattle Utilizing Radioactive Iodine I¹³¹ as a Tracer. Missouri Agr. Expt. Sta., Research Bull, 727, 1960.
- (9) SWANSON, E. W. The Effect upon Milk Production and Body Weight of Varying Withdrawal Periods After Thyroactive Supplement Feeding. J. Dairy Sci., 37: 1212. 1954.
- (10) TUCKER, H. A., AND REECE,, R. P. Thyroid Supplementation at Peak of Lactation. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 1751. 1961.
- (11) TURNER, C. W., YAMAMOTO, H., AND RUP-PERT, H. L., JR. Endocrine Factors Influencing the Intensity of Milk Secretion. A. Estrogen, Thyroxine, and Growth Hormone. J. Dairy Sci., 40: 37. 1957.
- (12) WILLIAMS, RALPH, AND TURNER, C. W. Effect of Increased Levels of Ovarian Hormones and Duration of Treatment on the Experimental Induction of Growth of the Cow's Udder. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 524. 1961.

THYROTROPIC HORMONE SECRETION IN CATTLE AFTER PROLONGED THYROXINE THERAPY AND AFTER COMPLETE WITHDRAWAL¹

B. N. PREMACHANDRA² AND C. W. TURNER³ Department of Dairy Husbandry, University of Missouri, Columbia

SUMMARY

Seven lactating cows of several breeds were injected with thyroxine daily 50% in excess of their experimentally determined thyroxine secretion rate (TSR) for a period of 11-12 wk, and in one Holstein cow for 21 wk after the animals had passed their peak lactation. The Holstein cow also received a supplemental thyroxine treatment of 100% over its TSR for a further period of 8 wk. On cessation of thyroxine administration, milk yield decreased rather precipitously in all the animals for 10-12 days. After this period, there was a small rise in milk yield in some animals for a few days before a plateau was established. I^{131} uptake by the thyroid was determined every other day in all animals for 3 wk. Thyroid I³³¹ uptake commenced 12 days after cessation of thyroxine treatment and attained normality by 3 wk. The time at which the thyroid began to show avidity for iodine collection synchronized with the time at which no further decline in milk yield was noticed after thyroxine withdrawal. It is suggested that the precipitous decline in milk yield after thyroxine withdrawal is due to subnormal levels until endogenous thyroxine secretion is re-established.

Several investigators have administered thyroprotein (thyroactive iodinated casein) in lactating cows at various stages of latation, to stimulate more intense milk secretion, and this aspect has been reviewed (1-3, 7). It is a matter of common experience that total withdrawal of thyroprotein from feed results in marked lowering of milk production in cattle. Swanson and Hinton (11) suggested a more gradual withdrawal of thyroprotein to overcome the precipitous drop in milk secretion, while Pipes et al. (6) suggested that the decline may be due to an abrupt lowering of blood and body pool of thyroxine on complete cessation of thyroxine administration. So long as thyroprotein is administered in amounts in excess of endogenous thyroxine secretion of the animal, thyrotropic hormone secretion (TSH) from the anterior pituitary is completely blocked. Upon sudden withdrawal of thyroprotein, it would presumably take some time for the inactive thyrotropic cells to start secreting and discharge of the

Received for publication May 25, 1962.

¹Contribution from Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station, Journal Series No. 2443. Approved by the Director.

² Present address: Institute of Experimental Pathology, Jewish Hospital, St. Louis 10, Missouri. ³ Aided in part by a grant from the U. S. Atomic

Energy Commission [Contract AT (11-1)-301].

hormone. The present paper describes observations to show that such a time lag in resumption of TSH discharge does indeed exist, and the magnitude of this lag is described.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Eight lactating cows of several breeds were maintained in a dry lot under uniform conditions throughout the year, with free access to an iodized salt block. Thyroxine secretion rates (TSR) were determined in individual animals by a technique described by Pipes et al. (5). All the animals were brought into lactation artificially (12). After animals had passed their peak lactation yields, thyroxine was injected 50% above their individual TSR. In one Holstein cow, thyroxine was injected 50% above its TSR for a period of 21 wk and then 100% above its TSR for 8 wk. After the attainment of maximum milk secretion, and when the milk yield began to decline, thyroxine administration was discontinued. Three days before cessation of thyroxine administration, 100 μc of radioactive iodine (I¹³¹) was injected into each animal intravenously and 24-hr thyroid uptake determined. Thyriodal I¹³¹ measurements were made by the method described by Pipes et al. (5). The background radioactivity count was taken in the hip region. If the I¹³¹ activity in the thyroid was less than the

background radioactivity, thyroid blockade was indicated. Twenty-four-hour I^{131} uptake was determined every two days in each animal for a period of 3 wk. Since I^{131} uptake was determined successively every other day, care was taken to account for the residual radioactivity present in the animal at the beginning of each thyroidal uptake measurement (8). All the animals were milked twice daily.

RESULTS

When I^{131} was injected in animals prior to thyroxine withdrawal, there was no thyroidal uptake of I^{131} , as shown by a greater body count than in the thyroid (Table 1). The same situation continued for ten days after cessation of thyroxine administration. After ten days, in some animals, the thyroid began to pick up I^{131} at a rate greater than the body pickup (Table 1). By 12 days, it could be definitely said that in most of the animals the thyroid had begun to function and I^{131} was picked up with avidity (Table 1). However, it was not until 3 wk after cessation of thyroxine treatment that the magnitude of uptake had reached normal average values (Table 1).

Upon total cessation of thyroxine administration, milk yield declined daily for a period of ten days in three animals, and for a period of 12 days in the remaining five animals (Table 2). Individual maximum decline in milk yield over the treatment period (last day of thyroxine administration) ranged from 39.2-68.1%, with a mean of 51.7%. When no further daily decline in milk yield was noticed, some animals showed a slight increase for a few weeks before a plateau at a much lower level was established (Figure 1). It should be mentioned that the animals in this study were moderate milk producers and the lactation period in some animals had approached or exceeded the time at which they would normally be dried off.

DISCUSSION

The technique described for studying the activity of the pituitary and the thyroid is based on the classically described reciprocal relationship that exists between these two glands. During exogenous thyroxine therapy, endogenous TSH is blocked and the body will be dependent upon the exogenous source of supply of the hormone. The present investigation indicates that after cessation of thyroxine administration, about 12 days are required for the thyroid to begin to pick up I¹³¹, which is also indicative of secretion and release of TSH. Apparently, by 3 wk after discontinuation of thyroxine treatment in cattle, thyrotropic hormone was being secreted in normal amounts, as shown by the normal thyroid I¹³¹ uptake. In the Holstein cow (no. 601, Table 1), although the pituitary and the thyroid were blocked continuously for a period of 29 wk, the time lag for resumption of thyrotropic secretion and thyroid activity was the same as in other animals (12–14 days). The latter observation would seem to indicate that in cattle the pituitary does not undergo advanced atrophic changes at least for a period of 29 wk under chronic thyroxine treatment. Evidence for this effect is also provided in studies where thyro-

TABLE 1

Thyroid I¹³¹ uptake in lactating cows under prolonged thyroxine therapy and after withdrawal

				I	ս սր	otake	(per	cent a	dmiı	nisteree	1)
Animal no.	Breed	Treatment		Two days before cessa- tion of thy- roxine		ays af 4	ter ce	essatio	n of 10	thyro:	cine 21
			(wk)								
	~ ~ .	11/ 1/ 0000	a 2	0	~	~			~		~ 1
24	Brown Swiss	$1\frac{1}{2} imes \mathrm{TSR}^{\mathrm{a}}$	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	24
25	Brown Swiss	$1\frac{1}{2} imes ext{TSR}$	11	0	0	0	0	0	1	12	40
478	Guernsey	$1\frac{1}{2} \times TSR$	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	31
630	Jersey	$1\frac{1}{2} \times TSR$	12	0	0	0	0	0	3	12	30
869	Holstein	$1\frac{1}{5} \times TSR$	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	26
870	Holstein	$1\frac{1}{2} \times TSR$	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	33
873	Holstein	$1\frac{1}{2} \times TSR$	12	0	0	0	0	0	4	11	22
601	Holstein	$rac{1\sqrt{2} imes \mathrm{TSR}}{2 imes \mathrm{TSR}}$	$\frac{21}{8}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.8	28

^a TSR = Thyroxine secretion rate.

Animal no.	Day before			Days	after e	ressatio	n of th	yroxine			Maxi- mum percent age de- cline over the treat- ment
	cessa- tion	2	4	6	8	10	12	14	16	18	period
24	23.3	19.9	22.5	22.9	21.7	14.6	12.0	12.1	12.5	11.5	50.6
25	26.0	25.5	20.0	22.2	20.7	17.0	15.8	15.7	16.7	14.1	39.2
478	16.0	14.5	13.5	11.3	9.5	5.1	5.7	6.3	7.0	8.0	68.1
630	15.3	14.7	14.0	12.7	10.7	7.8	8.5	9.3	7.1	7.1	49.0
869	15.7	14.0	14.7	14.1	13.2	10.8	8.9	9.0	8.3	9.2	43.3
870	17.8	17.0	16.5	16.8	14.2	10.0	9.7	9.0	10.8	11.0	43.8
873	18.2	18.7	16.3	14.5	12.5	9.5	6.1	8.5	7.0	9.5	66.5
601	10.5	10.0	9.0	10.0	7.7	4.9	4.0	2.3	5.2	5.0	53.3
Mean	17.9	16.7	15.8	15.5	13.7	9.9	8.8	9.0	9.3	9.4	51.7

 TABLE 2

 Effect of thyroxine withdrawal on daily milk yield in cattle

protein has been fed for extended periods of time without any undesirable effects on the pituitary (and the thyroid) or on the animal (4).

The rapid decline in milk yield after thyroxine withdrawal was expected from several previous studies (9,10). Pipes et al. (6) pointed out that on withdrawal of thyroxine administration the body pool of thyroxine would be diminished at an exponential rate to subnormal levels transiently until the endogenous thyroxine secretion was established. This transient low level of thyroxine may very well account for the sharp decline in milk yield observed in this as well as in other investigations on cessation of thyroxine administration. Some evidence is provided for the latter statement because of the synchronization of cessation of decline in milk yield with the beginning of I^{ai} uptake by the thyroid. As mentioned earlier, the avidity of the thyroid to pick up I^{iai} is indicative of the return to normality of thyrotropic and thyroid activity. It would appear, therefore, that a certain level of blood and body



FIG. 1. Effect of withdrawal of thyroxine administration on daily milk yield and I¹³¹ uptake in cattle. It will be noted that milk yield declines for a period of about 12 days, at which time endogenous thyroxine secretion is reinitiated, as shown by the increase in I¹³¹ uptake.

pool of thyroxine is rather critical below which level milk-secreting cells would be functioning subnormally. On the other hand, if thyroxine is withdrawn gradually, blood and body level of thyroxine would be slowly reduced, while at the same time the thyroid gland would begin to function gradually, thereby cushioning the effects of a transient low level of hormone in the body. An inspection of the data in Tables 1 and 2 does not reveal any particular breed difference with regard to time, lag, either in resumption of TSH secretion or for cessation of decline in milk yield after thyroid withdrawal.

REFERENCES

- BLAXTER, K. L. Some Effects of Thyroxine and Iodinated-Casein on Dairy Cows and Their Practical Significance. Vitamins and Hormones, 10: 217. 1952.
- (2) BLAXTER, K. L., REINEKE, E. P., CRAMPTON, E. W., AND PETERSEN, W. E. The Role of Thyroidal Materials and Synthetic Goitrogens in Animal Production and an Appraisal of Their Practical Use. J. Animal Sci., 8: 307. 1949.
- (3) FOLLEY, S. J. Symposium on Present Problems in Nutritional Research. Ed., F. Verzer. p. 214. Verlag Birkhausen, Basel.
- (4) LEECH, F. B., AND BAILEY, G. L. The Effect on the Health of Lactating Cows of Treatment with Galactopoietic Doses of Thyroxine or Iodinated Casein. J. Agr. Sci., 43: 236.

- (5) PIPES, G. W., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., AND TURNER, C. W. Technique for in Vivo Measurement of I³¹ in Cattle. J. Dairy Sci., 40: 340. 1957.
- (6) PIPES, G. W., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., AND TURNER, C. W. The Biological Half-Life of 1-Thyroxine and 1-Triiodothyronine in the Blood of the Dairy Cow. J. Dairy Sci., 42: 1606, 1959.
- (7) PREMACHANDRA, B. N. Effect of Thyroxine Hormone on Production in Dairy Animals. M.Sc. thesis, University of Bombay, India. 1955.
- (8) PREMACHANDRA, B. N., PIPES, G. W., AND TURNER, C. W. Comparative Goitrogenic Activity of Tapazole and Carbimazole in Cattle. J. Animal Sci., 19: 553. 1960.
- (9) SEN, K. C., PREMACHANDRA, B. N., MURTHY, G. K., DASTUR, N. N., AND NARAYAN, D. The Effect of Feeding Iodinated Casein on Yield and Composition of Milk. Indian J. Dairy Sci., 7: 49. 1954.
- (10) SWANSON, E. W. The Effect upon Milk Production and Bodyweight of Varying Withdrawal Periods After Thyroactive Supplement Feeding. J. Dairy Sci., 37:1212. 1954.
- (11) SWANSON, E. W., AND HINTON, S. A. The Economy of Winter Feeding Thyroactive Supplement Under a Base-Surplus Marketing Plan. J. Dairy Sci., 36: 582. 1953.
- (12) WILLIAMS, R., AND TURNER, C. W. Effect of Increased Levels of Ovarian Hormones and Duration of Treatment on the Experimental Induction of Growth of the Cow's Udder. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 524. 1961.

TECHNICAL NOTES

WHEY YEAST RAT-FEEDING STUDY

The conversion of whey waste into a potential food or feedstuff by fermentation with Saccharomuces fragilis has been accomplished by Wasserman et al. (2, 3). This raises the question as to whether any undesirable effects would be encountered from the ingestion of such a yeast. Recently, Bender and Doell (1) reported the absence of any harmful effects on the rat when three different food yeasts were fed at dietary levels of 21% for four to six months.

The biological value of the protein of whey yeast has been evaluated by the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (personal communication). During a 4-wk period, the protein efficiency ratio decreased from 2.8 to 1.5 when rats were fed a diet containing 9% protein, contributed entirely by whey yeast in place of casein, and the average weight gain decreased from 100.3 to 50.4 g.

In this note we report the results of feeding whey yeast and brewers' yeast to rats on two different diets for a period of 90 days. The ingredients of the two basal diets are given in Table 1 (Diets 1A and 1B). The Diet B series involved a greater dependence on protein supplied by the two yeasts, which were added on the basis of contributing equal amounts of protein. S. fragilis, in common with most yeasts used for food purposes, is low in sulfur-amino acids. For this reason Diet 4B, containing added methionine, was included. Weanling male albino rats (five per diet) were caged together in solidbottom cages with wood shavings as litter, and allowed free access to food and water.

Body weight gains and efficiency of food utilization data are presented in Table 2. In the Diet A series, growth was slightly, although not significantly, improved when a 20% level of either whey or brewers' yeast was added. The food efficiency ratios were unchanged. However, when most of the dietary protein was provided by the veast supplements (Diet B series),

TA	DT	T	1
1 A	DL	111	1

Dietary				Diet n	0.					
ingredients	$1\mathrm{A}$	$2\mathbf{A}$	3A	1B	2B	3B	4E			
	[Composition (%)]									
Corn meal	73.0	58.4	58.4	73.0	63.0	68.5	68.0			
Linseed meal	10.0	8.0	8.0	10.0						
Crude casein	10.0	8.0	8.0	10.0						
Alfalfa meal	2.0	1.6	1.6	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0			
Bone ash	1.5	1.2	1.2	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5			
Sodium chloride	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5			
Cod-liver oil	3.0	2.4	2.4							
Corn oil				3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0			
Vitamins A and D ^a				0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1			
Brewers' yeast b		20.0			30.0					
Whey yeast ^b	*****		20.0			24.5	24.5			
DL-Methionine				100.000	10000		0.5			
% Protein (calculated)	17.1	21.9	23.5	17.1	17.5	17.8	17.8			

^a 2,500 I.U. Vitamin A palmitate and 300 I.U. Vitamin D₃ per 100 g diet. ^b Protein content of whey yeast $(N \times 6.25) = 49.1\%$; brewers' yeast = 40.5%.

TABLE 2

Growth and foo	lefficiency	of	rats	on	whev	and	brewers'	veast	diets	for	90	days

			Mean body weights (g)	Food efficiency	
Diet no.	Supplement	Start	$Gain \pm std.$ error	Wt. gain/ food intake	
1A	None	38.6	243 ± 14.1	0.23	
$2\mathbf{A}$	Brewers' yeast	39.5 ª	259 ± 11.6	0.23	
3A	Whey yeast	38.6	263 ± 9.7	0.23	
1B	None	36.6	255 ± 6.0	0.23	
2B	Brewers' yeast	38.4	$196 \pm 6.0*$	0.21	
3B	Whey yeast	38.2	$230 \pm 8.2^{**}$	0.22	
4B	Whey yeast + DL-Methionine	38.6	231 ± 9.7	0.21	

^a One rat died on 25th day.

* P < 0.01; ** P < 0.05.

growth was significantly reduced, possibly due to an imbalance or inadequate amount of certain amino acids. It was anticipated that methionine would be the most limiting amino acid but, when methionine was added, no response in growth or food efficiency resulted (Diet 4B, Table 2).

All rats were autopsied at the end of the 90day feeding period, examined grossly, and tissues saved for histopathological study. The only questionable abnormality noted by Dr. W. E. Ribelin, the veterinary pathologist who examined the slides, was the presence of yeast cells in the stomach and gland crypts of three out of five rats ingesting the whey yeast diet (3B). However, the presence of viable yeasts in the gastric glands of control rats was also observed.

There was no evidence of any toxic factor in whey yeast produced by growing *Saccharomyces fragilis* on milk whey. For optimum rat growth, both whey and brewers' yeast proteins require supplementation. A. N. BOOTH¹
D. J. ROBBINS¹
A. E. WASSERMAN²
Western Regional Research Laboratory¹
Albany 10, California, and Eastern Regional Research Laboratory²
Philadelphia 18, Pennsylvania

REFERENCES

- BENDER, A. E., AND DOELL, B. H. Absence of Toxic Effects by Food Yeast on the Rat. Brit. J. Nutrition, 14: 305. 1960.
 WASSERMAN, A. E. The Amino Acid and Vi-
- (2) WASSERMAN, A. E. The Amino Acid and Vitamin Composition of Saccharomyces fragilis Grown in Whey. J. Dairy Sci., 44: 379. 1961.
- (3) WASSERMAN, A. E., HOFKINS, W. J., AND POR-GES, N. Whey Utilization. Growth Conditions for Saccharomyces fragilis. Sewage and Indust. Wastes, 30: 913. 1958.

^{1, 2} Western and Eastern Utilization Research and Development Divisions (respectively), Agricultural Research Service, U. S. Department of Agriculture.

USE OF DIGESTIBLE DRY MATTER BY DAIRY COWS GROUP-FED SILAGE ¹

Our current feeding standards for dairy cows were gained from research done near the turn of the century with stall-fed cows, under feeding conditions quite different from those practiced by our present dairyman. This is particularly true for dairymen in the southeastern United States, where cows are group-fed hay and silage, with only limited attention being given to the special needs of individual cows. Few efforts have been made in recent years to recalculate feeding standards and these have led to controversy.

Reid (5) presented data indicating that the TDN requirement for producing a pound of 4% FCM increases at higher levels of milk production, but Huffman (3) was unable to find this decrease in efficiency up to 20,000 lb of milk per cow per year. Wallace (6) reported that the TDN requirement for maintenance of 1,000lb body weight was 12.9 under free grazing conditions in New Zealand, but Corbett (2) was unable to find a similar increase during stripgrazing compared with indoor feeding. In a later study, Wallace (7) stall-fed cows with freshly cut grass and obtained the requirements shown in Table 1. It seems logical that the method of feeding may influence at least the maintenance requirement and, for this reason, data from silage feeding studies conducted at this station were used to measure the relative

¹Georgia Experiment Station, Journal Series 425.

use of digestible dry matter from group-fed silages for milk production, maintenance, and live weight gains.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Data from feeding trials with 35 direct-cut silages made from a variety of crops and stored with several common silage additives were available for study. The silages were all harvested at the optimum state-of-maturity for this area and were fed as the sole roughage in the ration. Grain was usually fed on a grain-to-milk ratio of 1:4. Feeding trials were 28 days in length and silage was group-fed to four or five cows per treatment. The data were analyzed by multiple regression analysis, using an IBM 1650 computer and routine multiple regression programs.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The resulting requirements for production, maintenance, and weight gains are shown in Table 1, along with similar data from New Zealand and Morrison's standards. The 0.28 lb TDN required per pound of FCM is somewhat lower than that reported by other workers. The lower value may represent the frequently observed increase in efficiency of milk production from silage dry matter due, apparently, to the volatile acids present in silage. The maintenance requirement is similar to Wallace's (7) value for stall-fed, part-time-outdoors animals and somewhat larger than Morrison's standard. The requirement for live weight gain is similar to the New Zealand value. The data suggest that group-feeding increases the maintenance requirement above that of stall-fed cows, but has little influence on the feed required for milk production or changes in body weight. When the data were examined by multiple regression, 41% of the variation in intake was accounted for by maintenance, 21% by milk production, and 11% by changes in body weight.

To determine the usefulness of the data in predicting digestible dry matter intake at various levels of dry matter digestibility, the residuals from calculated minus actual intakes were correlated with per cent digestible dry matter in each of the silages. The resulting regression was Y = 21.96 - .348 X (r = .85), where Y is the residual and X is the per cent digesible dry matter. The equation shows that the values in Table 1 overestimate the consumption of silages below 64 percent digestibility and underestimate the intake of silages above this value. At a dry matter digestibility of 58% the average dry matter intake was overestimated by 1.8 lb per day, whereas at 70% digestibility intake was underestimated by 2.4 lb per day. Wallace (7) found similar trends in his studies of stall-fed forage. This finding is of particular interest, since it is quite similar to the observation of Conrad et al. (1), that intake was significantly influenced by digestibility up to 66%, but, above this level, intake followed a pattern with respect to metabolic size and production.

From these data and results previously published by McCullough (4), a reasonable goal in making silage to insure good intakes by dairy cows would be the production of a silage having at least 65% dry matter digestibility and 24% dry matter. This will not insure high levels of milk production, since animal performance is also influenced by ration balance and other factors, but it should provide optimum conditions for dry matter intake. Future research may provide the necessary information for adding other optimum requirements.

> M. E. MCCULLOUGH Georgia Experiment Station Experiment

REFERENCES

- (1) CONRAD, H. R., PRATT, A. D., AND HIBBS, J. W. Some Aspects of the Regulation of Feed Intake in Dairy Cows. J. Dairy Sci., 45:684, 1962.
- (2) CORBETT, J. L. Fecal-Index Techniques for Estimating Herbage Consumption by Grazing Animals. Proc. 8th Intern. Grassland Congr., 438. 1960.
- (3) HUFFMAN, C. F. High-Level Grain Feeding for Dairy Cows. J. Dairy Sci., 44:2113. 1961.
- (4) MCCULLOUGH, M. E. The Use of Corn Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles to Improve the Feeding Value of Silage. Proc., Distillers Feed Conf., 17:18, 1962.
- (5) REID. J. T. Problems of Feed Evaluation Related to Feeding Dairy Cows. J. Dairy Sci., 44:2122, 1961.
- (6) WALLACE, L. R. The Intake and Utilization of Pasture by Grazing Dairy Cattle. Proc. 7th Intern. Grassland Congr., 134. 1956.
- (7) WALLACE, L. R. Nutritional Requirements of Dairy Cattle. Proc. New Zealand Soc. Animal Production, 21:64, 1961.

TABLE 1

Comparison of allowances proposed for milk production, maintenance, and live weight gain

		TI	ND required for	
Feeding standard	Environmental conditions	Production (lb FCM)	Maintenance (1,000 lb cow)	Pound weight gain
			(lb)	
Wallace (6)	Free grazing	0.36	12.9	3.00
Wallace (7)	Stall-fed, part-			0.00
	time-outdoors	0.36	10.1	2.08
Morrison	Stall-fed, indoors	0.32	7.9	
Georgia	Silage, group-fed	0.28	9.5	2.10
Range of data		19 - 47	900 - 1.350	-0.7 lb
in Georgia study		lb/day	50 13 03 COLORGATION	to $+3.0$

Symposium :

Education for Leadership in Dairying in Latin America^{1, 2}

K. L. TURK, Moderator

Department of Animal Husbandry, Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y.

This symposium was organized by the International Relations Committee of the American Dairy Science Association to promote better mutual understanding of educational problems, needs, and opportunities in dairying throughout the Americas. The program was developed on the assumption that the key to a more important and progressive dairy industry in the future in any country is a better supply of welltrained people to provide the leadership needed in all aspects of dairying. There is general agreement that among the developing countries of the world the most underdeveloped science is animal science. Latin America is no exception and if dairying is to become important greater emphasis must be given to education in dairying to provide the leadership needed for this development.

Because dairying covers such a broad and diverse discipline it was decided to restrict this symposium to dairy production; therefore, relatively little time will be devoted to dairy processing and manufacturing.

Our speakers and discussants from Latin America are outstanding leaders in education and research in dairy production; others are

¹ The American Dairy Science Association acknowledges the generous support of the Rockefeller Foundation. 111 West 50th St., New York 20, New York, in providing travel grants for some of the Latin American participants in this symposium.

² Presented at the 57th Annual Meeting, American Dairy Science Association, University of Maryland, College Park, June 17-21, 1962. well-known dairy leaders from the United States who have lived and worked in Latin America. We have asked them to explore their subjects from every angle based on their wide experiences and observations, including the following:

An analysis of the major problems and what is now being done to meet the education needs for leadership in dairying in Latin America.

What are the most important things that Latin American leaders in education can do to solve their problems? What training is needed to do the job? Are a sufficient number of dairy leaders being trained?

Should more and stronger departments of animal and dairy husbandry be developed in the colleges and universities? Are there qualified people to staff such departments?

Are the Latin American students trained in the United States coming up to expectations in meeting the needs? If they do not measure up, why not?

What should a professor or scientist know concerning the culture, language, traditions, etc., before he goes on an assignment, temporary or otherwise, to Latin America?

Are there career opportunities in Latin America for North American college graduates with majors in dairy production—considering students from Latin America and the United States?

We hope that our speakers can enlighten us on these questions, and many others, and thus contribute to our common understanding of problems and how they may be solved to insure an adequate supply of leaders needed for agricultural sciences in the years ahead.

EDUCATION PROBLEMS IN DAIRYING IN LATIN AMERICA

FERRUCCIO ACCAME¹

Faculty of Animal Husbandry, Universidad Agraria, La Molina, Lima, Peru

In a broad sense, universities in Latin American countries have not played roles similar to those of United States universities in the technological development of the country. Integrated development plans should start with universities to ensure a consistent source of well-trained technicians, who in turn will be responsible for carrying out the different phases of the development program. Furthermore, the basic problems inherent in the natural development should be investigated at the university level where scientific attitudes and technical abilities prevail.

¹ Dean of the Faculty of Animal Husbandry and Vice-Rector, Agrarian University, La Molina, Lima, Peru. Traditionally, Latin American universities have devoted their main interest to Humanities. It is difficult to establish whether this has been the result of a keener interest of students in this field or whether it actually was the determining factor in keeping most of the students away from the undeveloped technological sciences. The fact is that in Latin America, with very few countries as an exception, only small groups of students have been engaged in agricultural studies.

Thus, the relatively small demand from Latin American students, the little recognition received from government agencies, together with the absence of rapid national growth, have been responsible in the past for the lack of develop-



Ferruccio Accame

ment of agricultural colleges.

Dairying has been no exception in this respect. It has faced and is still facing an urgent need for improvement in college teaching and research.

To discuss comprehensively the problems encountered, it is necessary to review briefly the conditions under which dairying takes place in the other republics of the Continent.

Let it be pointed out, in the first place, that it is not fair to refer to the 20 Latin American republies as being one large unit or group. Their geographical distribution is so extensive that there are extreme differences in environment. Tropical or arctic weather, jungle or desert, grazing areas located at sea level or at 13,000 feet of altitude, flat plains or gigantic mountainous chains, regular jet plane schedules or mule's back transportation, modern city dwellers or stone-age uncivilized tribesmen, all are actually existing contrasts. Differences are obviously too great! However, there are still important points in common among them.

Conditions under which dairying is developed. The training of leaders in dairying should cover all conditions under which this activity will take place. The lack of development in most countries and the socio-economical structures to be found in them result in a very low purchasing capacity of the people. Potential markets are small and their growth is further impaired through difficulties in processing, storage, and transportation of dairy products. In addition to this, poor labor efficiency and the absence of adequate production techniques result in an extremely high relative value for milk : about $\frac{1}{4}$ to $\frac{1}{5}$ of an average labor day-wage per quart throughout Latin America. College conditions as a background for teaching for leadership. Because local governments have given so little recognition to the importance of universities and colleges, a vicious circle has developed: inadequate financial support meant that many professors could teach only on a parttime basis and in turn had no time for either research or extension work. Curricula were designed to provide only one professional degree, and covered a wide area of training that was very shallow in depth of specialization. With this kind of background, it is not surprising to find veterinarians engaged in a continuing dispute with agricultural graduates on the question of which group should work in animal production.

Basis for teaching leadership in dairying. With fast development taking place in the Western Hemisphere, Latin American countries are living today the same experiences that the United States had many years ago. It is obvious now that universities must receive more attention from the governments of their countries, in view of the role they have to play. Fortunately, Latin American colleges have kept alive the seed of renewal and development in spite of their shortcomings. Now that the environment has become more favorable, the will for improvement has become activated and most of them are progressing.

The most important changes to be introduced are related to staff and teaching facilities. Others could be considered as a natural consequence of the former and refer to curricula, condition and activities of the staff, scholastic requirements for students, and development of national conditions connected with dairying.

Considering that 15 yr ago the Universidad Agraria at La Molina was fairly representative of many other agricultural colleges in Latin America, I should like to describe its attempt to develop a stronger course in dairying and related fields.

A. Staff. In 1947, the Agrarian University at La Molina, which was called at that time the National Agricultural College, had only three professors engaged in teaching animal husbandry. All of them were on a part-time basis and taught production courses, fundamentals of livestock diseases, and the main animal product processes. None of them had any graduate training.

It was believed then that the starting point in a development program to improve teaching in animal husbandry (dairying included) was to increase the number of staff members on a full-time basis and to increase the number of those with higher academic training in specialized fields. During the past 15 yr the Agrarian University has been able to achieve these goals in the animal science fields. It has at present a total staff of 30, 25 of whom are on a fulltime basis; three have a Ph.D. degree, eight have a Master's degree, five have received specialized graduate training abroad but have no academic degrees, and one is about to receive his M.S. in the United States. In addition, two professors are ready to begin work leading towards the M.S. degree, and one is about to start working towards his Ph.D.

This considerable change has been possible only because of the increase in the number of full-time professors. They were eligible to receive fellowships supported by the different foreign governments or foundations sponsoring programs of this nature.

Several major problems have been encountered in reaching this goal. Age was a limiting factor. Experience shows that once they reach a certain age, many well-qualified men find it nearly impossible to undertake graduate studies leading towards a degree. Economic and family situations are largely responsible. Whenever this circumstance was met, the procedure followed was to appoint promising young members to the staff, who eventually had the opportunity to receive the graduate training desired. In some instances, vacancies created by professors who left La Molina for graduate work elsewhere were not filled, because it was difficult to replace these men during their absence. When no other regular staff member is in a position to absorb this additional work, the possibility of obtaining a foreign specialist through appropriate channels should be explored. I realize that language might be a serious problem in using this solution.

Actually, the most important setback met in developing this training program was the language barrier. Before being accepted at any foreign graduate school, fellows-to-be are expected to have a minimum proficiency in the language of the country where they are to study. Most of our professors were able to overcome this difficulty through hard work for several months before they left. However, some others, for one reason or another, have not been able to acquire this minimum knowledge of the foreign language in spite of obvious ability in their particular fields. La Molina is sponsoring an inservice period of language training that should be very helpful to those preparing for study in foreign countries.

The training program has also involved yearly appointments of a few new young members to the staff to act as assistants while they obtain experience and training. It has been extremely successful, since it has enabled us to create a group of specialized men in almost every field.

The employment of full-time professors, and the additional training acquired by many of them, made it possible to initiate several years ago a strong research and extension activity in various fields of the animal sciences. At present, the La Molina group is the strongest research unit in Peru, and probably in Latin America. This is particularly true in the field of animal nutrition. The activities initiated in animal breeding (artificial insemination, cow-testing program, herd books, dairy cattle expositions, etc.) have changed the physiognomy of dairy herds in the country and have introduced the breeding of purcherd eattle. Nutrition and feeding projects for dairy cattle have permitted a higher, more efficient, and more economical milk production in the main dairy sheds, as well as the development of a vigorous feed-lot industry using dairy cattle as the basic source of livestock. Finally, research in dairy technology has facilitated the establishment of cheese manufacturing plants and the setting up of milk regulations.

B. *Teaching facilities*. Staff has been thought to be the most important need in developing academic activities at the Universidad Agraria. However, staff by itself cannot achieve miracles without a minimum of facilities to carry out a good teaching program.

The library has been a major problem and one that has not yet been fully solved. Books, journals, and other publications printed in Spanish are very scarce, even more so in the field of dairying. Books originally written in Spanish are almost nonexistent and most are not upto-date. Those books that have been translated into Spanish usually have new editions in their original language before they become available to us. The use of libraries is, therefore, actually restricted to bilingual professors and cannot be used effectively to develop interest and initiative among students.

Many of us have asked ourselves why is it that a center for translating books and journals has not been established. It would render an important service to all of Latin America. This organization might also find some publishing channels that could offer publications at a price low enough to make them available to the large majority of students. At present it would be impractical to ask students to purchase a textbook for every course, because of financial limitations.

The Universidad Agraria has recently set up an agreement with the Government Experiment Station through which the university and the station libraries will be merged under a single direction. The unified library will serve both institutions simultaneously. It is hoped that through this scheme a better service to everyone will be available.

Other very important academic requirements are laboratories and demonstration farms. Laboratories are lacking not only for the study of dairying but also in supporting fields such as ehemistry, physics, biology, and physiology. La Molina has been fortunate enough to attract interest from foreign institutions during the past several years. Through grants from foundations and from government agencies, we are in the process of enlarging considerably our laboratory facilities, in both the basic and applied fields. A good general laboratory for milk analysis has been equipped, thanks to a Rockefeller Foundation grant. Some butter and cheese

processing equipment has been obtained through local gifts and direct purchases. A 50-head dairy herd has been built up through the past 10 yr with the assistance of the Peruvian government agencies and with funds established by U.S. Public Law 480. This herd had the largest and second-largest herd production average within the cow-testing program in the country in 1959 and 1960, respectively. Our dairy farm has modern hand- and machine-milking facilities and a very good feed room in which we can prepare any experimental rations. All of its other installations were designed especially for the Peruvian coast environment. Calving pens, calf nurserv, corrals, bull pens, milk room, etc. have been used extensively by farmers as models.

The operation and development of this farm have been established on a commercial basis, so that sales of cattle and other products provide all funds necessary for its operation and improvement, at no extra cost for the University. This same method is being used to acquire dairy processing equipment to support teaching and research, in addition to grants that are being sought from other agencies.

Here again, cooperation with the Peruvian government agency responsible for agricultural research will provide financial support for the same purpose. Perhaps it should be pointed out that in most instances grants from foreign foundations and other sources are given only for equipment, with the understanding that the institution will provide the building to house it. This is too much to ask from any Latin American university, because they are now engaged in a general development program similar to the one at La Molina. This means that they are fully absorbed in many problems and are in no position to afford investments of this nature. Assistance is needed that is subject to little or no restriction, at least to those institutions that have shown a definite wish to develop and progress.

C. Academic aspects. The Agrarian University has made it a point to stress research by the staff. This is something new for many Latin American countries, but it is essential if improvement in teaching is desired.

The increase in staff members with advanced academic degrees, together with the development of research, has made it possible to attempt the local establishment of a graduate school. Foreign philanthropic foundations have encouraged this project because it will play a major role in turning out selected groups of better-qualified technicians who can be called upon for future staff expansions or to man other teaching and research institutions in the country. At the same time, this school will strengthen the teaching of basic sciences within the college.

Special attention has been given by La Molina to establishing a production curriculum which includes dairying, and possibly also the processing of animal products. It was felt that those graduates who were designated as agronomists were no longer properly trained to cope with the specialized problems met in Peru. In addition, the field of veterinary medicine is so wide and important in its medical implications that veterinarians should not be expected to do production work. The work of both the agronomist and the veterinarian should complement that of the animal husbandryman as a new profession in Peru and in Latin America. The expansion to come in the country during the near future calls for all of them and there are ample opportunities for animal husbandrymen, agronomists, veterinarians, and food technologists.

I believe that a solid basis in general sciences should be given for all animal production studies. With the limited resources available now, it is only natural to concentrate in a general basic strengthening of sciences and to include dairying in the curriculum of animal husbandry. This is in accord with current trends in the United States. In our plan more emphasis has been given to applied aspects than is common in the United States. The reason lies in the fact that Latin American graduates will not find the same possibilities as in the United States to pick up the application of principles at wellorganized and modern equipped establishments. On the other hand, they are expected by industry to master this kind of activity upon graduation. Fortunately, the 5-yr curriculum provides the opportunity to strengthen the basic sciences, to devote special attention to applied courses, and still leave time to inspire in all graduates a healthy interest in Humanities and social problems frequent in this part of America.

La Molina has also been successful in developing a close and strong interdepartmental coordination, so that each department or faculty is concerned only with the teaching of courses in its own field of activities. It is rather a unique situation in Latin America, where every faculty or department usually offers all of its courses contemplated within their curriculum. This creates duplication of activities between faculties and a very poor use of the limited funds available.

I believe that the program outlined above has been successful in up-grading the instructional program at the Universidad Agraria and in improving the quality of our graduates in dairying and in other animal and plant sciences. Further improvement at La Molina will depend upon continued increase in the graduate training of its present and future staff, the application to teaching of research and extension work, and the improvement of laboratories and demonstration facilites through cooperation with other Peruvian official agencies.

I feel that this program can be easily adapted to conditions in other countries of Latin America. The experience gained by the faculties of universites will enable them to understand, solve, and apply to teaching the nature of local conditions under which dairving takes place.

DISCUSSION

EARL WEAVER ' Department of Dairy, Michigan State University, East Lansing



Earl Weaver

All of us, I am sure, recognize that this paper by Dean Accame is an excellent one; we congratulate him. His paper has reminded me of major educational problems, which I know from experience, exist in Colombia. I shall comment on these.

Dean Accame indicates, as his first problem, that ". . . in Latin America, with very few countries as an exception, only small groups of students have been engaged in agricultural studies."

I can testify to the fact that Colombia conforms to this generalization. In 1956, the second year of our assignment in Colombia, results were reported on a survey to ascertain the choices by high school graduates for their desired university majors. The survey involved a questionnaire to each of 3,891 high school graduates; replies from 70% of them were received and tabulated. The following indicates the percentages of the responding students who intended to elect the various majors: medicine, 21%; engineering, 16; law, 10; army, 8; architecture, 7; agriculture, 3; chemistry, 2; economies, 2; veterinary medicine, 1%.

¹ Professor Weaver is a past president of the American Dairy Science Association. He spent several years in Colombia as leader of the Michigan State University ICA contract team working with the Colleges of Agriculture at Medellin and Palmira. Of course, I am not sure whether a comparable survey in the United States might reveal a higher or lower percentage who intend to study agriculture. I am sure the figure of 3% is not adequate to provide the agricultural or dairy leadership that Colombia needs.

Here I intend to make four observations on this question of agriculture enrollment as we observed it in Colombia. Vast numbers of influential men bemoan the low enrollment in agriculture and then proceed to do little, if anything, about it. Seldom are effective programs of student recruitment planned and completed.

My second observation relates to an almost unbelievable tendency toward some organized effort to forestall recruitment of new students in agriculture. Many university students resist such recruitment; evidently, they intend to avoid too much competition for available jobs. The Asociacion de Ingeniero Agronomos—the presumed agricultural leaders—has on occasion implied or expressed its official opposition to an increase in agricultural students, who on graduation could compete for their jobs. Even some university teachers are not sympathetic to student recruitment. In too many cases the teachers have no duties except to meet classes; additional students would increase the teaching load.

My third observation is that student recruitment in agriculture can be successful. From Dean Accame's paper it is evident this has been accomplished at La Molina. It was done in Colombia. Between 1955 and 1959 the number of students was more than doubled at the two colleges of agriculture at Palmira and Medellin.

A fourth observation will appear somewhat discordant here. Some of you will not agree with my belief and observation that short-course training can provide considerable effective leadership in most fields of dairying. Most of us seem to think that training for leadership has to come only at the university level. I urge that we forsake some of our traditional academic image and admit that short-course can provide some elements in leadership that otherwise could never be developed nor utilized.

This thought encroaches somewhat on topics assigned for other papers for this symposium; for that I apologize. On the other hand, this tendency among educators—in the States as well as in Latin America—to discount shortcourse training constitutes a problem; and our immediate topic here relates to educational problems.

Then I wish to comment on another education problem which exists throughout Latin America. It's the dictatorial powers which university students have usurped in the conduct of the universities. Because of the menace of student demonstration and strikes, university administrators often surrender their authority in curricular and personnel matters and in all policy actions. They fear to take disciplinary action against the few offenders who rejoice in leading others against authority. Fortunately, students in agriculture are less prone to the escapades than are those students with other majors. But the entire situation is a problem and handicap.

In my second annual report in 1957, I incorporated the following:

"University education in Colombia will be handicapped as long as the University and the Facultades are run by ill-advised, rabblerousing young men who aspire to a crusader's role."

There is another situation in Latin America which I feel constitutes a problem. All of us endorse graduate training for university teachers whether they may serve in Latin America or in the States. But it is regrettable that a teacher in Latin America usually has to contemplate his graduate study in some foreign country. As Dean Accame has stated so effectively, the foreign study usually entails serious personal problems in respect to finances, the language, and family situations. The problems exclude too many potentially good teachers. It is conceded that foreign study is broadening and usually valuable; I'm sure it is not always worthwhile.

Latin American countries must develop their graduate programs as La Molina has done. Colombia is progressing effectively in this direction at the present time. Other countries are at work, too.

My last comment is not related to students nor to matters of training. It's on the organization of the universities. In Colombia we were assigned to the two Colleges of Agriculture of the National University. The University is at Bogota, the national capital. One of the colleges is at Palmira, in the state known as the Valle; the other at Medellin, in Antioquia. The longer I worked in Colombia the more I was convinced the colleges would have fared better if each had been a part of its state university rather than a part of the huge university of Bogota. From Bogota the distant Colleges of Agriculture receive too little recognition and support and too much jealous opposition. If these colleges might be identified as parts of their state universities, through state pride they could enjoy more local support, both financial and otherwise.

DISCUSSION

HERNAN CABALLERO D.¹

Department of Animal Husbandry, University of Concepcion, Chillan, Chile

1. Some major factors affecting agricultural production in Latin America. In dairying, as well as in the other animal sciences, our goal is increasing production both in quantity and quality. The proper solution to the formal educational problems affecting these disciplines is mandatory. However, we must realize that to obtain a real and substantial improvement it will be necessary to consider other major factors.

The development of agricultural progress in Latin America has been inhibited by many complications that have to be overcome to achieve higher production. Among these we can mention the following most important factors:

Technological factors

- a) Lack of modern technology, at both farm and industry levels.
- b) Failure to make full use of available arable land.
- c) Poor transportation, processing, and marketing facilities.
- d) Lack of technical assistance to farmers through a well-organized and efficient extension service.

¹ Professor Caballero holds the M.S. and Ph.D. degrees in Animal Husbandry, Cornell University. Currently he is in the United States on a Guggenheim Fellowship. Economic factors

- a) Poor credit facilities.
- b) Land-holding systems which restrict improvements in production.
- c) Price control systems which discriminate against agriculture.
- d) Uncontrolled importation of dairy and other agricultural products.
- e) Lack of capital for agricultural development.
- f) Low wages earned by some farm laborers.
- g) Lack of support and means for research and education in agriculture.

The measures adopted toward the solution of these problems will greatly benefit the agricultural education and the food production in Latin America.

2. Professional, technical, and general education in agriculture in Latin America. In the 20 republies of Latin America, agriculture is the predominant activity despite the development of industry and mining. Nevertheless, the number of professional men and technicians in agriculture is extremely limited, considering the requirements of the region.

This paradoxical situation has two main causes: In the first place, the colleges of agri-

Hernan Caballero D.

culture have been left behind in their human and financial resources, and secondly, the students have not always been provided with adequate opportunities for performing effective work after graduation from these colleges. This is apparent from the fact that the prospective university students have shown little interest in agriculture and related fields.

Our universities, and especially our colleges of agriculture, need more funds and more welltrained, full-time professors to be more effective in teaching, research, and the development of the animal sciences. In some of these colleges it will be necessary to carry out substantial changes in their traditional systems of organization and teaching. Agricultural education should be conducted through more efficient, scientific, modern, and practical channels, thus providing the student with a solid knowledge of the basic sciences and with a better and deeper understanding of the professional courses, among which we may point out dairying.

In this line it is considered advisable to separate the dairying and the other animal sciences from both agronomy and veterinary training. This will lead to the solution of many problems that are actually interfering with a proper education in dairying and the rest of the animal sciences. In Latin America these disciplines are lost professionally between the schools of agronomy and veterinary medicine.

We must insist on improving the level of education in basic sciences in the colleges of agriculture. The professional man trained in animal science will not perform a satisfactory job in research and animal production unless he has been properly trained in chemistry, physics, mathematics, biology, and physiology. In this respect, we must remember that in Latin America there is an urgent need for research in dairying and the other animal sciences.

It may be of interest to relate that to raise the level of education of the basic sciences, the University of Concepcion, in Chile, has recently created four central institutes of chemistry, physics, mathematics, and biology. These institutes perform basic scientific research, and impart education and training to all university students who need these basic sciences. Many advantages have been obtained from the use of these facilities, among which are the following: (1) improvement of teaching in the basic sciences, (2) promotion of scientific research, (3) economy and more efficient utilization of laboratories and equipment, and (4) better and more specialized libraries.

Considering now the urgent need in Latin America for well-trained personnel in dairying and animal science, it will be advisable to establish a few well-equipped centers for research and for advanced training. In these centers a high level of technical and scientific instruction could be offered in the different fields of animal science. Since in Latin America many of the problems affecting animal production are common to all countries, these centers will not only benefit the country in which they are located but will also spread their benefits throughout Latin America. They could be organized and developed as in the North American land-grant college system.

In Latin America, it may be noticed that the few experts actually working in dairying and animal sciences do not have enough communication among themselves. In this respect, the formation of a Latin American Society of Animal Science will be highly beneficial. This might lead also to the establishment of a publishing center where the research workers could make public their findings.

The improvement of education in dairying and the other animal sciences at the university level does not represent the complete solution to the problem, however. It is necessary to consider the education and training of the personnel at other levels. This will require more special training centers that could supply the necessary instruction and training to professionals, farmers, farm operators, foremen, and farm workers. We must consider also the improvement of agricultural teaching and instruction at various school levels. Moreover, the consumer must be educated to appreciate and demand a good product. In many Latin American countries the consumption of dairy products is rather low. This is due, sometimes, to insufficient or low-quality production, but in other cases to consumers' habits. Through educational programs and wellorganized campaigns it will be possible to raise the demand for good-quality dairy products. This, in turn, will encourage production.

3. Final considerations. When we speak of the problems facing Latin American education in the agricultural field, it is difficult and sometimes impossible to generalize, because of the diversity of conditions which exist in different countries. It must be emphasized that there are exceptions to the observations presented here, but, in general, they portray the situation in Latin American agricultural education, and especially that concerning dairying.

Today most of the Latin American countries are awakening to the urgent need for greater development in the various fields of production, especially agriculture and industry.

During recent years some progress has been

made; however, this growth has not always been sufficient and harmonious. In this respect, agriculture has been in almost every case relegated to a very slow process of development.

The existing situation has not furnished a favorable environment for the development and progress of education in agriculture. I believe that very little progress will be achieved in this respect if we do not have the understanding and cooperation of the governments, the farmers, and the communities to place agriculture on an equal footing with the other production activities of Latin America. Only in this manner will Latin America overcome the acute problems arising from our insufficient food production.

TRAINING NEEDED FOR LEADERSHIP IN DAIRYING IN LATIN AMERICA

JORGE DE ALBA¹

Department of Animal Industry, Inter-American Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Turrialba, Costa Rica



Jorge de Alba

The views expressed in this paper are the product of the author's long-standing preoccupation with the problems of training Latin Americans in the field of animal production.

¹ Professor de Alba is a native of Mexico and is a graduate of the University of Maryland. He obtained the M.S. and Ph.D. in animal physiology at Cornell University. Before assuming his present position he managed cattle ranches in Mexico. As far as possible, these ideas are based on objectively observed facts.

In essence, these views express two main lines of thought: First, training for leadership in animal production can be accomplished in Latin America more effectively and forcefully than by the colleges doing it. The situation can be much improved if outstanding teachers are given the essentials of stability, continuity, and opportunity for research. Thus, they can maintain an understanding of the ever-changing scientific field.

A second problem is that although many outstanding young men are needed by colleges and experiment stations in Latin America, few of them are able, because of financial, or administrative difficulties, to prove the worth of the new trainees. Despite the excellence of their background, the new trainees must fit themselves into situations where progress is often impeded by traditions or financial limitations. They must be pioneers not only in their technical fields but in human qualities as well.

However desperate may be our efforts to bring about a change, it will be slow and painful. Despite the ample field and the multiple theoretical opportunities for work, many of our best trainees are going to find it very difficult to locate suitable jobs where they can develop to their expected potentials.

The pattern as it exists now. Even though each Latin American country has its own pecularities, there is a general pattern of development that applies everywhere almost equally. Most of them have facilities for teaching in agriculture. Some of the institutions were founded almost a century ago; many are more than 50 yr old. A study made by FAO and the Inter-American Institute of Agricultural Sciences revealed there were 46 colleges of agriculture in Latin America in 1957 and more than 60 today.

Many of the early colleges were founded under French and Belgian influence, and were usually government-sponsored, but only recently have become a part of university systems where some leadership in dairying is now being provided. But a cursory examination reveals that, as far as dairying is concerned, the training offered is deficient. Of the 60 agricultural colleges the author is acquainted with 21, only two of which have facilities for dairy manufacturing work. Among the others, facilities and budgets for dairy research are almost nonexistent. Only two have published specific papers on research findings in dairy production in the last 5 yr and no publications on dairy manufacturing have appeared in the last 10 yr. The pattern is similar if we include publications from schools of veterinary sciences.

Specialization is not offered in the Latin American agricultural colleges. Typical is the Ingeniero Agrónomo degree, which is granted on completion of a single type of general curriculum followed by all students for 5 yr. The present tendency is toward a slight amount of specialization. For example, in a questionnaire about specialization, used in Chaparro's study and answered by professors, students, and alumni, animal production was recognized as one of the most desirable agricultural majors. However, only nine of the 148 people who filled out the questionnaire mentioned dairying as a separate major from animal production. Animal husbandry occupied 11.1% of the time of students enrolled in agricultural colleges in 1955. Of 21 colleges that gave details about their animal husbandry courses, only six were giving Dairy manufacturing courses in dairying. courses were not listed separately by any of the colleges. [Chaparro, (2).]

From this brief look at the situation, it is obvious that the educational system is doing little to provide leadership in dairying in Latin America. It might not be so serious if the state of economic development were such that there were no demands for changes in the dairy industry. But such is not the case, for industrial development and rapid increases in the population of Latin American cities are creating a strong demand for quality dairy products. Many Latin Americans are investig in equipment for dairy manufacturing. The author knows of at least ten attempts to establish modern dairy processing plants in cities of Honduras, Mexico, and Colombia that failed completely for lack of technical knowledge on the part of the operators. Frequently, the dairies have survived and are operated either by European-trained plant managers or by local people who have learned the essentials through trial and error.

In one of the richest countries in South Amer-

ica, the largest dairy manufacturing and distributing firm, which owns many pasteurizing plants and a huge collection and distributing system, employs not one man trained specifically in dairy manufacturing. Some of the huge losses that have been incurred from time to time by this company are compensated for by the large price differential paid by the consumer. It might not be amiss to mention that this large company is North American–owned. In all cases where manufacturing establishes itself on a purely commercial trial and error basis, frequently protected by laws that prohibit the sale of unpasteurized milk, the relations between producers and manufacturers are strained. Wherever state regulations for the sale of milk are enforced by people with no knowledge of dairy production, the friction that ensues is especially evident, and cooperation from the producers is highly jeopardized.

Obviously, a new type of leadership is urgently needed for the dairy industry in Latin America. Some tentative solutions have been put into operation that are worthy of close examination. Outstanding among the solutions tried are the attempts at technical assistance and the training of Latin American students in countries with more advanced dairying systems.

Technical assistance in dairying. Several types of technical assistance in dairying have been attemped in Latin America. These can be subdivided into assistance rendered by international organizations, such as UNESCO, FAO, or the Inter-American Institute, to which the author belongs; assistance rendered through agreements between local governments and the U.S. Department of State; and assistance rendered through the foundations. Another type is the assistance rendered to regional or national projects by United States college contracts. This is also handled financially by the State Department, but few dairying projects have taken place under these agreements. [Adams and Cumberland, (1).]

In relation to the amounts of money invested, the results obtained have been rather disappointing. However, this is not the occasion to make a detailed analysis of the causes responsible for such meager success. Moreover, we are concerned with only a single aspect of agricultural technical assistance, that of dairying. One assistance plan that concerns dairying specifically has been the UNICEF-FAO scheme to provide facilities for producing, dehydrating, and distributing dried skimmilk for schools. Large sums of money have been spent in this project in equipment, buildings, and personnel. The failures have been more outstanding where huge plants were constructed in areas that had no experience in dairying. Better results are likely to be obtained where the dehydrating plants were organized as part of cooperative enterprises made up of dairy producers.
Frequently, when foreign technical assistance is given to Latin Americans, one finds the native technician or even the public at large highly critical of the capabilities of the men sent by the more advanced countries. The barriers of language, social customs, and traditions are slow and difficult to overcome. When the foreign technicians set up a separate shop from the local institutions and are personally protected by diplomatic privileges, assimilation into the local scene is more difficult. Constant routine transfers of personnel, not only within Latin America but to and from other totally dissimilar areas, have aggravated the problem of assimilation into the local environment.

Sending foreign technicians to solve dairying problems in Latin America is a sort of substitute system in lieu of national leadership. From an altruistic point of view the idea is commendable, but from a practical point of view it may be unsound. At best, it provides only a substitute for the permanent leadership required. Presumably, local leaders would come later. But when the foreign technician is not located in teaching institutions, and does not participate in the local life, the possibility of his influencing future generations is slim indeed. Perhaps all technical assistance schemes should be constructed with the awareness that no country has a surplus of brain power; also, it should be recognized that because brain power operates satisfactorily under one set of circumstances, there is no guarantee that it will function equally efficiently under another.

Training of future Latin American leaders in the United States or Europe. The undergraduate level. The North American college is an institution designed to give the most useful and practical training in the shortest time to the man who is going to work in the United States. Herein lies its greatest quality, its practical, down-to-earth approach and its ability to direct research findings toward the solution of practical problems. But the very practical nature of college training in the United States, so useful to the man who will apply the principles in the vicinity of the college, may turn out to be a liability for the man who tries to apply a set of solutions in totally different situations. Since the local situation may need a complete readaptation of principles, it takes a deeper knowledge of these principles before the adaptation can be made. Too often I have seen United States- and European-trained Latin American technicians become totally discouraged and despondent when they fail to make a success at their first efforts to improve production under primitive or difficult conditions. While many personal qualities (or the lack of them) may contribute to this failure, I would also blame the lack of depth in scientific principles as one of the underlying causes. Obviously, agricultural science has a greater share of these unadapted foreign trainees than the exact sciences,

such as engineering and mathematics or even medicine. The solutions to many of the latter's problems obey universal rules, they are not modified by levels of soil fertility and the interactions of soil fertility with history, tradition, and social structure.

The postgraduate level. If I am making an appeal for depth in scientific principles as a means of overcoming the problems of adapting research findings to new situations, postgraduate training should provide the answer to my plea. Many of you will immediately protest that postgraduate training is for the few, and that too many leaders are needed in Latin America to make the Ph.D. degree a requirement. But since I am convinced that quick, improvised solutions will not help us, I would aim for a slower but more certain action—one in which we would prepare the men who will train the leaders in their own countries.

To be able to do this, the man with an advanced degree must be given a chance to prove the worth of his scientific knowledge in the local situation. Before we turn him loose we must give him a period of protection, so that he may produce results of local significance.

I see no better place for our well-trained man to prove his ability and influence future leaders than in the Latin American colleges themselves. These are the colleges that we find so inept and poorly organized now. But they are the ones we must work with. Only progress from within can be long-lasting and important. Our leader, once trained and back on a job of importance, must make his own fight to obtain a budget for research in his institution, and for modernizing the teaching responsibilities given him.

This means that, for postgraduate training, preference should be given to the young men who have the contacts with and acceptance of their local colleges. It may also require some support and loan of personnel to enable his college to grant him time to study. I would even recommend that the thesis problem be developed locally by the Ph.D. candidate so that a local difficulty can be attacked along with his training. This is a deviation from American practice but, with the speed of present-day travel, the supervision of work done thousands of miles away is not difficult, though somewhat costly. I also recommend that the Latin American

I also recommend that the Latin American candidates for higher degrees be rigorously selected. Only the very best should be given the time and attention that good personal training requires. I would ask you to be completely dispassionate in this selection and, if anything, apply more rigid standards than usual because, as foreigners, they will have to develop and prove their worth under more trying circumstances than your own countrymen. The time spent in obtaining a Master's degree is an appropriate measure for selecting those best suited for further training. In fact, since postgraduate training at the Master's level is being offered now by some Latin American institutions, I would recommend that the American graduate school consult these institutions and heed their word in the selection of candidates.

Since our local colleges are so poor financially, the new leaders, or the institution itself, might need assistance to effect the changes that are so urgently required. I would say that money is well spent when it develops the sort of leadership that is self-perpetuating. I would certainly favor this kind of support over providing elaborate, expensive, superficial foreign leadership for the Latin American countries.

- ADAMS, R. N., AND CUMBERLAND, C. C. United States University Cooperation in Latin America. Michigan State Univ. 264 pp. 1960.
- (2) CHAPARRO, A. Un estudio de la Educación Agrícola Universitaria en América Latina. Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Agricultura y la Alimentación. Estudios Agropecuarios No. 48, Roma. 1,207 pp. 1959.

DISCUSSION

JOAO SOARES VEIGA¹ Department of Animal Husbandry, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil



Joao Soares Veiga

There are no special courses for dairy husbandry in Brazil. Animal husbandry occupies a small part of the veterinary and agronomy curricula, and only a few hours a year are assigned to their teaching and training. Students in veterinary and agronomy colleges have no opportunity to work on farms or in dairy plants to gain first-hand knowledge of the problems of dairy farming. Theoretical schooling rather than practical training is more frequently provided. Technical high schools that give better

¹Dr. Veiga is Director, Instituto de Zootecnia e Industrias Pecuárias, Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária Da Universidade De São Paulo, Pirassununga, Brazil. training than colleges operate in some states, but their level is still too low to provide adequate leadership in dairy husbandry. In Latin American countries both veterinarians and agronomists are often in dispute about their relative positions but, in truth, neither is sufficiently prepared to perform the job satisfactorily.

Brazil is an unusual country, with peculiar problems and conditions that differ in several aspects from those of other countries in the temperate zone. Dairy husbandmen in this country, which is both tropical and subtropical as are many other large areas of Latin America, must be prepared to face a number of outstanding problems, some of which are: climate, malnutrition, poor management, and diseases. To deal with these adverse environmental conditions, the dairy husbandman must understand animal reactions to high temperatures and humidity, animal physiology, and animal acclimatization. He must know how to raise animals resistant to the hazards of these environs, as well as ways to compensate for the effects of the environment. Furthermore, he must be well acquainted with cattle nutrition procedures, pasture grazing, and pasture melioration. He must be accomplished in the skills of hygienics and sanitation. As a rule, he should understand the economy of his area and be prepared to deal with inexperienced people.

In Latin America there are no specialized courses such as dairy husbandry, animal breeding, nutrition, or dairy industry. Few of these matters are dealt with in veterinary or agronomy courses; thus, veterinarians and agronomists have to invest much additional time to be able to execute their duties effectively in these fields. Obviously, the country is in great need of well-prepared experts in animal husbandry, nutrition, and dairy industry. These subjects should be taught in the schools of Brazil, and intensive research carried out; new curricula should be designed.

Technical schools and colleges need to change

both the systems and methods of teaching, and veterinary and agronomy colleges should put more emphasis on animal husbandry. In my opinion, it would be much better to create separate courses for animal husbandry in Latin American countries. But before opening or improving schools and colleges, skilled teachers and researchers must be available, and unfortunately there are too few of them in Latin America. I believe that animal husbandry personnel trained in the United States can really be helpful in Latin American countries, provided they are first acquainted with the problems of the region where they are to teach or work.

Latin American students can also be trained in the United States, but they should first be familiar with their own agricultural problems before entering an American college. Thousands of skilled husbandmen, personnel for management and operation of dairy plants, are urgently needed not only to improve but also to develop the production of milk and its by-products in Brazil. Farmers must be taught and trained in the skills and procedures of animal breeding, animal husbandry, pasture grazing, animal feeding, and care and management.

An extension service should be created to assist the dairy farmers. To meet this demand, again, large numbers of accomplished, skilled experts are immediately required. To increase the number of trained experts in animal husbandry in our country, it would be necessary to:

1. Restore and enlarge the curricula of veter-

inary and agronomy colleges, with more emphasis on animal husbandry;

- 2. Create specialized courses in animal husbandry;
- 3. Intensify training of students of animal husbandry in colleges and high schools;
- 4. Intensify research on such problems as cattle breeding, cattle acclimatization, pasture grazing, nutrition, diseases, housing systems for cattle, and many others;
- 5. Award teachers and technicians scholarships to train abroad;
- 6. Welcome foreign teachers and technicians as experts to aid our organizations, colleges, and research centers dealing with animal husbandry.

Millions of young men and women are awaiting up-to-date education in our country, especially in technical subjects, and it is our duty to lead them into agricultural and animal husbandry courses, thus offering them better opportunities to participate in the struggle for improved food production. All American countries should be unsparing in their efforts to help one another. The intercommunication between teachers and technicians is an invaluable aid to education and training in Latin America. Students in veterinary and agronomy colleges must be given a sounder basic training; for the time being, this could be accomplished by making more extensive use of the seminar system. To fufill our country's urgent need for highly skilled experts, therefore, Brazil must revise its animal husbandry teaching.

DISCUSSION

CARL H. NOLLER¹

Department of Animal Sciences, Purdue University, Lafayette, Indiana

Throughout recorded history one of man's greatest concerns has been how to influence his fellow man. My assignment is to help point out some of the training needed to exert an influence over those whose goal is the improvement of the dairy industry in Latin America. Many of the needs have already been stated by Dr. de Alba and I should like to discuss some of them in more detail and mention some others.

Dairying in the Latin American nations is developing at a rapid rate, considering the many grave obstaeles to progress not completely understood by people in the United States. One must recognize that, taken as a whole, the present state of the dairy industry in Latin America does not compare favorably with that in the technologically developed countries, although there are isolated herds and processing plants comparable to the best available in the more ad-

¹ Professor Noller spent 2 yr as a member of the Purdue University ICA team in Brazil. vanced countries. As might be expected, development is most rapid near large population centers with access to transportation and markets.

The dairy industry of Latin America appears to be in about the same state of development as that of the United States at the turn of the century. Dairying, as it is practiced in the United States today, did not develop overnight but was the result of a sequence of events, each of which served as a building block, or foundation, for the next. At the turn of the century, the United States had few leaders in dairy and very little specialization.

Much of the basic technical information needed to improve the dairy industry in Latin America is already available in the more advanced countries, but trained leaders are needed to disseminate and adapt it to existing conditions. Leaders must be found who have adequate technical training and who possess those personal qualities that command the respect and confidence



Carl H. Noller

of the group. It is this confidence, based in part on ability, which permits a leader to direct and organize the activities of a group toward achievement of their goal.

A leader is a person who directs the activities of a specific group. Leaders can be found on the national, state, and community level, and in various organizations or groups which may have overlapping interests, due to different objectives. Each group, from the total population to the smallest organization, has a leader to whom it looks for direction. A leader, then, is in a position to have tremendous influence upon a segment of a population.

Dairy leaders must have certain desired leadership qualities plus adequate technical training and dairy experience to maintain the confidence of the group. Dairying will not develop rapidly until sufficient stress is placed on training leaders qualified to take the responsibility for developing and intensifying technical progress in dairy production and processing. Emphasis should be placed on overcoming the shortage of basic technical and administrative skills in the areas of dairy education, research, and extension.

Since a high proportion of the future dairy leaders will come from the agricultural universities, it is important to be cognizant of the background of the students. Many of the students have little or no agricultural background and, as has been indicated by Dr. de Alba, only limited dairy training is provided in the undergraduate curriculum. Too often the students graduate without having heard about, or even seen, modern facilities, equipment, practices, and programs that we take for granted. As a result, they have considerable difficulty in promoting and obtaining acceptance of improved dairy practices.

To provide opportunity for some degree of specialization and more training in the basic subjects, a number of agricultural universities are presently extending the undergraduate program to 5 yr; but extending the program will not solve the problem if the sole emphasis is on course work. Stress must be placed upon practical experience with animals and farm operations and access to improved facilities, equipment, and techniques. Existing facilities and practices must be improved to teach adapted modern concepts of feeding, breeding, management, and milking procedures. There is not enough emphasis on practical work, which is particularly necessary for students without an adequate dairy background. Students need experience with milking parlors, milking practices, and milk-handling procedures as well as a better understanding of basic principles and their application to dairying.

As Dr. de Alba has pointed out, there is a similar lack of facilities, equipment, and experience in dairy manufacturing. Poor or nonexistent facilities provide little opportunity for the student to see or gain experience in dairy plants. Consequently, they have no concept of the problems or how to solve them. Modern milk plants can be found near high population centers and these might agree to cooperate in a training program.

Training for leadership in dairying in Latin America requires more than knowledge of improved techniques in dairying and their application; it must also provide a working knowledge of related fields such as agronomy, soils, processing, marketing, credit, etc. In view of the shortage of trained personnel, a leader cannot depend on others for assistance in solving related problems, nor should he be expected to be an authority over the whole range of problems. A degree of specialization is needed but not the high degree of specialization now found in advanced countries.

Training for dairy leadership in Latin America must be built on a broad base of practical and technical knowledge, to aid in understanding and solving problems. New practices may not be accepted because previous ones failed for lack of specific recommendations on procedures to follow. In one case, a silage-making program failed for lack of specific instructions, and today only a few of these dairymen are making should be encouraged.

Training is also needed in effective communication, since there is little use in promoting improved practices unless dairymen can be induced to accept advice and to adopt the reccommended practices. Persuading dairymen to accept and apply knowledge is an immense task. However, one should not be too critical of a lack of acceptance of new practices. In many instances this is not due to a lack of initiative or desire but rather to a lack of financial means to make the change.

A common error often made by both foreign and native technicians is the attempt to transfer a practice without modification to another country with different physical, biological, and social environments. Direct transfer of good practices is often questionable, but the basic principles can be applied to develop new systems within new environments. Obviously, anyone not capable of applying basic principles and the scientific method can fail utterly in an undeveloped country. Few people realize the vast amount of scientific information accumulated within the more scientifically advanced countries that serves as a foundation for present agricultural practices. In Latin America few basic data are available. Therefore, scientific leaders interested in practical application of knowledge must analyze the problem and develop new systems in terms of basic principles. For a dairy program to succeed, a concentrated attack must be mounted simultaneously on all major bottlenecks limiting increased production.

Basic to the improvement of dairying is a program of effective teaching, research, and extension. Such a program requires a large number of technically and practically trained persons. The training needed goes beyond that now given by the superior schools of agriculture and must provide opportunity for major fields of specialization. A program of this type has been initiated in Brazil by Purdue University, in cooperation with a Brazilian university, with the establishment of a graduate program in agriculture leading to a Master of Science degree.

The program will provide training in technical subjects and research under the conditions of the country. Advanced training within the country provides training pertinent to their needs, and the research, which is a required part of the program, provides needed information.

The present practice of sending students to foreign countries for advanced training leaves much to be desired. In the first place, the students often have difficulty with English, which handicaps them in the early months. Secondly, as has already been pointed out, graduate programs in the United States are not necessarily designed to provide the training needed by students from underdeveloped countries. More emphasis is needed on program planning and implementation, with training in basic principles and their application in solving problems. Thirdly, many foreign students show a preference for impractical courses and esoteric dissertation subjects. The limited sojourn permitted often prevents their conducting research so that they follow a non-thesis option or may analyze data of their own or obtained from others in their own country. This does not provide badly needed training in research methods and advanced techniques. Others may be assigned a segment of a total research problem without an understanding of its contribution to solving the overall problem. Upon their return home, these students may continue research begun in the United States, which may have little bearing on solving urgent problems in their own countries.

I feel also that more programs of specialization should be initiated in Latin America which lead to a Master of Science degree. Where needed, qualified professors from other countries should be invited to assist in the organization and development of the program. Such a program would provide specialized training under conditions of the country, train more students for the same expenditure of time and money, give stimulus to a research program, and provide opportunity to assist the country even during the learning period. Upon completion of the Master of Science degree only the most qualified students would be sent to other countries for further training, while the others go to work. This would provide for a more rigorous selection of students for foreign training, as was suggested by Dr. de Alba.

Another alternative which might be considered is a program whereby qualified students are sent to the United States for course work and training in research methods and advanced techniques. Then, with the assistance of the major professor, a research program would be planned, to be conducted in the home country. The research could be conducted alone or with the assistance of designated individuals within the country. Upon completion of the research, the student would return to the United States to prepare and defend the thesis. Another remote possibility is that, with the large number of North American university and other technical assistance personnel available in Latin America, a group of qualified examiners might be available to give the final examination. It is doubtful that many universities would approve the latter suggestion.

In addition to graduate training for education and research, there is a need for training in extension techniques and technology. Greater emphasis must be placed on the training of a staff to promote better understanding and preparation for the job. Higher priority should be given to field work in the initial phases if dairymen are to be served effectively. An extension man must have enough general knowledge and detailed experience to enable him to offer worthwhile guidance to a dairyman. The confidence of dairymen and processors cannot be sustained without adequate practical results. Extension men must have a practical grasp of the dairymen's problems and avoid an abstract, textbook approach. To discharge his responsibilities effectively, the extension man needs a working knowledge of the subject matter in dairy and related fields, an understanding of rural sociology and psychology, agricultural credit, and

farm management, as well as other aspects of agricultural economics, such as cooperative organizations and marketing.

The training needed for leaders in dairying will vary with the type and level of their future or expected activity. Technical and practical knowledge are important, as well as sufficient understanding of related areas. Since leaders function at different levels and in different areas of activity, their training by necessity must be different. Key factors which need emphasis are organization, development, and conduct of programs in a logical sequence, and cooperation between education, research, and extension. In addition to technical knowledge, a leader must have a deep-rooted faith in people and confidence in the potentialities of dairying in the area in which he is trying to work.

MEETING THE NEEDS FOR LEADERSHIP IN DAIRYING IN LATIN AMERICA

R. K. WAUGH¹ The Rockefeller Foundation, Bogota, Colombia



R. K. Waugh

My assignment is to discuss the following from a United States scientist's viewpoint:

- a) An analysis of the basic problems in dairying, and the major needs in teaching, research, and extension for helping to solve them.
- b) Tailoring curricula in the United States to the needs of Latin American students—what these needs are and how they should be met.
- c) What a professor or scientist should know concerning the culture, language, and customs

¹ Formerly was a member of the staff in dairy husbandry at Purdue University and North Carolina State College. Before assuming his present position he spent 3 yr in Peru as a member of the North Carolina State College ICA team. before going on a foreign assignment, temporary or otherwise, to Latin America.

d) Career opportunities in Latin America for North American college graduates with majors in dairy production for both United States and Latin American students.

This is a large and difficult task and for the purpose of this symposium these topics must be treated in very general terms, at the risk of leaving much unsaid and of making statements to which there are many exceptions.

Application of new methods. Dairying in Latin America has many problems. The major ones are disease, nutrition, management, and lack of eattle adapted to the hot areas. But the most general problem is the slowness with which technical and productive practices are adopted or, in other words, the manner in which these specific problems are attacked. While much of the data collected in other countries must undergo adaptation before being applied in Latin America, and the amount of data collected from within countries is limited, there is still much information that is not being put to use very rapidly.

What are the reasons?

a) There is a shortage of technicians. The most important basic problem is education at all levels-primary, high school, and university. There are not enough schools nor are there enough teachers. And many of those who are now teaching are not well prepared. It is estimated that, in Colombia alone, 30,000 children each year have no educational facilities, are lost as potential leaders, and never will produce much for the economy of the country. Furthermore, according to a recently published report on education in Colombia, 81% of the rural schools offered programs of 2 yr or less, and 91%, of 3 yr or less. Thus, the rural people, with a first-hand knowledge of the land, have very limited opportunities to obtain a high school education. With such an educational system a country cannot effectively utilize its human element.

High school and university facilities are likewise limited, and those who have the opportunity to attend a university come from a very small segment of the population.

As would be expected under these conditions, the facilities for graduate studies in any phase of agriculture are very limited, and for a good understanding of the application of modern research results it is important to have technicians trained at the graduate level.

b) As a result, many college professors do not have a good understanding of modern agricultural methods and thus their students who may become extension workers do not have the correct information to pass on to the farmer.

c) Often the organization in which the educator or extension worker faithfully tries to carry out his duties is cumbersome, and he is further handicapped by problems of communication and transportation.

d) In addition, social and economic conditions influence the effectiveness of an educational institution or extension service. A hired farm manager who earns a low salary seldom has had enough training and orientation to grasp new techniques where attention to details are of utmost importance for the success of the method. Furthermore, the landowner may not give much supervision. The farm manager is hesitant to introduce new methods without first checking with the owner, and the owner may not be readily accessible because he usually has other business matters to which he must attend. Thus, not all of the problems of introducing new methods is due to lack of technicians or to poorly trained technicians. In part, it is lack of a favorable environment for the application of scientific procedures.

In general, education, extension, and research are not coordinated, and standing alone they all fall short of expectations. Most of you at this meeting do not fully realize the mutual benefit which results from the close association of these three phases of agricultural education, although most of you have accepted a combination of duties as a desirable arrangement.

But to leave the impression that all is unfavorable would be erroneous and unjust. Many ministers of education and of agriculture are aware of these staggering problems. There are a few good schools at all levels, enough to show that the people appreciate the value of good education. There are some really bright spots in university education and in research in Latin America. Peru has made some important moves to combine research with education. I understand that in Argentina, where progress was slow with a previous system of separated extension, research, and teaching, a new organization has been formed within the research organization to give additional training to technicians of the organization.

In Colombia a strong start has been made to create what is essentially a land-grant college of agriculture with emphasis on a graduate school to start at the Master's level.

Improved practices are being put to use. One can observe excellent, well-managed herds in many areas. Again using Colombia as an example because the data were close at hand, 95%of the barley grown in the country is of a new improved variety which combines quality with good yields. In this case, farmer education was conducted by a commercial organization, using extension workers trained largely within the research program which developed the new variety. And in the fertile Cauca Valley, 90% of the corn grown is of improved varieties. These are concrete results from research and extension, but much remains to be done. There are enough isolated cases such as these to indicate that the demand for technical information will increase rapidly, and to meet increased demand the shortage of technicians will be even more critical. In addition, land reforms will further increase demands for technicians.

Where to start to meet these problems is a big question, but education in all its phases, including extension, is so handicapped by lack of leadership that first emphasis probably should be given to the universities, at both the undergraduate and graduate levels, to develop the needed personnel. And it is at these levels that the members of the A.D.S.A. are best prepared to help. I have said nothing about dairying, but the over-all situation must be improved before modern practices can be put into use on a large scale. The problems in dairying should be attacked, but the push for dairying should be combined with efforts in other technical fields, and I believe that what has been mentioned up to this point applies equally to all technical fields of agriculture.

United States curricula. Many Latin Americans have graduated from North American universities. Most of them are proud of their education and their contacts in the United States; many have accepted responsibilities within their own countries and have become internationally well-known.

However, I believe that North American universities can make greater and more valuable contributions in the field of education than they have in the past. At the undergraduate level it is difficult to develop methods or to make changes in curriculum for a small percentage of the students, and the basic curriculum at this level of training probably has not been too faulty. Nor should North American universities be most concerned with this level. Even with their shortcomings, Latin American countries have universities which should be attended by the majority of students who seeek an undergraduate degree. As far as teaching in agriculture is concerned, within the continental United States, the graduate level is the more important.

The North American graduate schools have

good basic courses that are appropriate for Latin American students, keeping in mind that some background courses will have to be taken. These courses serve as the nucleus for the student's program of study. However, graduate training consists of more than course work, and it is here that improvement can be made by a better understanding of the Latin American student and the conditions under which he will work when he returns home.

The following comments are about the Latin American student's background; they may help in improving the usefulness of his education if the professor is aware of them.

a) The Latin American student attending a North American university usually is from a very narrow segment of the population. Remember that the farm boy seldom gets the opportunity to study at the university level and it is very unlikely that a student in any phase of animal industry will have had much, if any, experience in animal management. A North American student taking a course in the physiology of lactation will immediately understand the importance of the physiology of milk let-down, because he has had experience with the idiosyncrasies of cows. Probably the Latin American student will have milked a few cows, but not enough to give him practical experience. The teachers in North American universities have been too quick to attribute the lack of experience to the assumption that the Latin American student does not want to get his hands dirty. While this may sometimes be true, it does not excuse the instructor for assuming it applies to all Latin Americans. The Latin American student who seems averse to dirty work is more likely afraid of appearing foolish in the eyes of other students because he is not skilled in manual labor. The instructor should realize that these students have not had the background experiences which are valuable as an aid to learning and understanding. The manual dexterity developed and the experience gained by young North Americans while tinkering on an old car, changing the oil in a tractor, or just fixing a fence are invaluable.

b) Many Latin American students have not found an environment really conducive to academic study and true understanding to scientific principles. They have language difficulties, and often do not feel that they are a part of the community. Some are socially shy; others, too socially inclined.

The orientation courses in agriculture which have been developed for foreign graduate students by Cornell University and by Southern Illinois University are a step in the right direction. Such courses as these, coupled with a greater awareness by the professor of the points mentioned above, should go far toward improving the training of Latin American students in the United States.

c) Latin American students have not grasped the over-all meaning of production efficiency nor of the role of our farm organization and management in North American agricultural production. Much of the agriculture in Latin America is carried out on an extensive scale. Especially, animal agriculture has been historically extensive in nature, where more attention has been given to the number of animals rather than to the individual production. Their background has not prepared them to easily understand the principles of intensification for which North American agricultural universities have striven so diligently and with much success.

United States technicians abroad. When a North American technician travels to a foreign country on assignment, temporary or otherwise, he accepts considerable responsibility. He has a responsibility to his employer, to the country to which he travels, to himself, to his country, to his family, and to his profession. These foreign technical assignments are wonderful opportunities to learn how other people live and to become acquainted with technical problems in other parts of the world. These assignments should not be taken lightly. Universities that lend their personnel should send their best technicians, keeping in mind that the best one at home is not always the best one abroad. There is no substitute for technical competence and in the field of agriculture the universities have the bulk of the know-how in the United States. Several years ago the United States government embarked upon a program of technical aid to foreign countries, and the program is being continued. They have had both success and disappointment, as might be expected, but for overall success it is vital that there be a much larger percentage of successful projects than failures. The only way to be successful is put the good men on the job and most of them are to be found in the universities. To use these men efficiently, the university must become a planned part of such programs. There are not enough high-calibre technicians outside of our campuses to get the needed job done.

In addition to professional competence there are other prerequisites for success of a man on technical assignment abroad. He should be able to adapt himself to a wide range of living conditions. If he can do so, it will be reflected in his work. The same applies to his family.

He must have an attitude of wanting to help and a desire to get the job done. He must remember that he is a guest and a foreigner, and that the United States does not have the best of everything.

Customs vary from country to country and it is important to learn the main ones as quickly as possible and for this it is largely a question of being alert. Books and counseling will help, but just as it is difficult to learn a foreign language with only a textbook, so it is also difficult to learn new customs without practicing them, and learn them sufficiently well so that one is comfortable when applying them.

Language is a part of a country. While a translator can usually be found, and there are many good ones, the use of a translator results in second-hand information. The lack of knowledge of the language is a deterrent to good communications, and poor communication is a handicap to working with the people. The North American people have been slow in learning languages and it seems that many of us have a mental block against it, with the excuse that English is universally understood. It has been relatively recent that more attention has been given to modern languages, but we still have not faced up to the problem, and are undoubtedly the most ignorant people in the world about languages. We are improving, but we must do much more. The fact that English is commonly spoken abroad is not a good excuse to refuse to study the language if one is going to reside in a country for more than six months. Young people learn to speak languages with more facility than older people, but most people of nearly any age can learn a language with the opportunity, effort, desire, and a good mental attitude. One is in a better position speaking with an accent than not speaking at all. Latin Americans would like to have us speak their language, and they are extremely tolerant of abuse of their language, especially where one is a beginner. A common error is to believe that one will just absorb a language. Children will, but adults probably will not, at least not to the extent that it cannot be considerably improved by some serious study.

Career opportunities. There are always ca-

reer opportunities for the well-trained, capable person. However, there are not many opportunities for the North American graduate trained in dairy production with a B.S. degree in Latin America unless he has the capital to go into business for himself. And, in this case he should know the language, business procedures, and customs which usually, for North Americans, means spending some time in the country before investing. Some opportunities do exist, but most of these are with North American companies or with foreign aid programs. Most commercial positions, for which dairy production majors with a B.S. degree are qualified, are taken by local technicians. North American technicians usually make their contacts in their home country. There are career opportunities for the Latin American with a B.S. degree from a North American university and they are essentially the same kinds of positions that their United States counterparts would qualify for in their own country; that is, with commercial companies such as feed companies, private dairy farming, extension work, or the universities but, in this latter case, as in North American universities, he would not be in a good competitive position without some advanced training.

There is a great need for technicians with advanced training and the number of Latin American universities which offer graduate training are very limited. Such people are needed in the fields of research, teaching, and extension. It is in this level of training that North American universities can make a real contribution.

DISCUSSION

LUIS RIVERA-BRENES¹

Department of Animal Husbandry, University of Puerto Rico Rio Piedras, Puerto Rico

My assignment is to comment of Dr. Waugh's talk from the viewpoint of a Latin American scientist, but my comments will also be from the viewpoint of an American citizen located at the crossroads of the Americas.

It is easy to point out all the various aspects of the dairy industry which offer a wide margin for improvement in Latin America, but Dr. Waugh is right when he points out that it will take considerable time to discuss everything in detail.

Of course, the demand is urgent, but I believe that before we start bringing out basic changes in production we ought to prepare a comprehensive program that will emphasize the raising

¹ Head, Department of Animal Husbandry, Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Puerto Rico, Rio Piedras, Puerto Rico. Professor Rivera-Brenes holds the Ph.D. from the University of Minnesota. of the educational and standards of living levels of the people concerned. This is of fundamental importance.

All Latin American countries should benefit from this kind of educational approach to their particular problems. The acquired know-how should enable them to raise their standard of living when they conscientiously exploit their vast natural resources.

Interest in improving and increasing leadership in any kind of industry, especially agriculture, happens to be slow when a bright future is hard to foresee; that is why an educational program will help the people to understand the problems and to visualize what may result from their efforts to solve them.

The growth and improvement of the dairy industry in Latin America may, in part, depend on how fast people learn about the nutritive value of milk and milk products and to what



Luis Rivera-Brenes

extent they are able to increase their purchasing power per capita. Leadership along these lines must be worked out parallel to both aspects —general education and living standards.

The United States is in a privileged position to help Latin America to develop this kind of leadership through the different programs already in progress.

Latin American countries must have also a sincere attitude toward educating their people. This is the cornerstone on which to build progress and democracy. After these objectives are achieved, others will follow.

In the meantime, as pointed out by Dr. Waugh, we can help by providing part of the technicians needed and also by training a considerable number of students from all those countries. In regard to this aspect, I want to add the following: technicians assigned for work in Latin America must be able to speak fluently the language of the country, if rapid results are expected. Most Latin Americans do not speak English; therefore, the language barrier defeats efforts toward mutual comprehension, and should be eliminated.

Our government may help by providing the means to teach Spanish to American technicians assigned to missions in Latin America. In that respect, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, I am sure, will do its best to cope with this situation if asked to do so.

I have been told that all technical personnel sent to Cuba by the Soviet Union speak Spanish fluently. Why could we not do the same in regard to our technicians going to South American countries?

Another thing, any personal attitude toward Latin Americans should be at such a level that they never feel any social differences between co-workers while performing common daily routines. It will result in mutual benefit if North Americans know how to mix socially with Latin Americans. That is why thorough knowledge of national customs and of language is so important for smoothing out nationalistic disparities when they arise.

As to the curricula for graduate studies in our universities, I agree with Dr. Waugh, in that the fundamental background courses must be taken. My suggestion is that thesis work should concern problems of the country of origin of the student. Arrangements could be made with experiment stations and universities of those countries to provide adequate supervision. In that way students may rapidly put into practice in their own countries the basic scientific knowledge recently acquired.

Arrangements should be made to bring more of the outstanding students of Latin America for undergraduate studies in agriculture. Proper orientation could be offered during these 4 yr of training. Many may proceed into graduate work with a more thorough academic background than those released directly from Latin American universities.

Latin America is full of opportunities for career men from the United States with majors in dairy production. But these men must decide to stay at least until their efforts become a real asset to the countries in which they work; it is obvious that it will take time for them to become acquainted with the people and their problems before actual contributions can be made.

DISCUSSION

J. B. FRYE, JR.¹

Department of Dairy Science, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge

As indicated by the previous speakers on this subject, this assignment is a difficult one,

¹ Professor Frye has much experience in teaching students from Latin America and has been on several assignments there.

which must not be treated lightly by the educators in American universities and colleges if we are to be successful in this program. Although my experience in Latin American countries has been limited, I have had enough in



J. B. Frye, Jr.

some of them, and enough contact with representatives of many of them, to fully appreciate the important points emphasized by Dr. Waugh. I concur with what he has said. During the short time that I have on this program, I should like to offer a few comments on the following:

- 1. The role of the department head.
- 2. The attitude of the American teacher and research worker.
- 3. The language barrier.
- 4. The importance of a practical training program for the Latin American student.

The role of the department head. Under this topic, I should like to discuss the general role of the department head as related to the student's program of work. As a general rule, the department head is the key individual in establishing the first contact between the Latin American student and the American university. Whether by letter or personal interview, this first contact should be one of welcome and friendly warmth; it should give the student a feeling of being wanted. In fact, this is the sort of relationship that should be established with all students. The foreign student needs more individual attention because in most instances he is a total stranger to the new community in which he is about to make his home. Help should be given on such matters as a place to live, a place to worship, and schools for the children. A satisfactory solution to these matters is extremely important if the student is to do his best work. From the standpoint of the student's academic program, a counselor or major professor should be assigned to the student immediately. Usually, it is the counselor or major professor who assumes the responsibility for seeing that the student is properly administered to in all of his basic needs. It should be the role of the department head to see that the stage is properly set for a productive learning experience for the student.

The attitude of the American teacher and research worker. Once the student has been properly introduced into his field of study by the department head, the success of the educational program for the student will be closely related to the proficiency and attitude of the counselor or major professor. He should show a deep interest in the student's background and needs, and should learn the future plans of the student, so that an effective program can be planned.

It has been my experience that most of the Latin American students display a considerable degree of timidity and reluctance to discuss problems frankly with the American professor. Apparently, this is the result of the social patterns developed in their homeland. This obstacle can be easily overcome by the professor who is sincerely interested in his student, so that he makes a special effort to get to the bottom of a problem. It is most unfortunate if the professor resents having to spend time with a Latin American student and has no understanding at all of the student's needs. When this situation develops, the department head should assume the responsibility for taking corrective action. An American professor finds it almost impossible to understand the social and religious customs, the educational background, and the deep needs of the Latin American student if he has never been in the country. Hence, some type of continuing orientation program should be developed, whereby more of the American teachers and research workers will have an opportunity to visit some of these countries and learn more about the environment from which the Latin American student comes. At least the head of every department that offers undergraduate and graduate training to these students should have this experience. It is impossible for a department head to do the most effective job of administering a good educational program for the student if he is not sold on it. Without the department head's full understanding, the program will have little opportunity to succeed.

The language barrier. It is my feeling, and that of those with whom I have discussed this matter, that the language barrier is a far more important problem for Latin American students than many people realize. It is one thing to have a reading knowledge of a foreign language, and still another thing to be able to follow the same language well when it is being spoken. Not all of the learning of the student is through reading, since much of the material in our American colleges and universities is given by lecture, discussion, and laboratory demonstrations. These students should be encouraged to room with American students, to improve their proficiency of the English language. Consequently, Latin American students should live in dormitories with North American students and be encouraged to talk English as much as possible.

The importance of a practical training program for the Latin American student. It was pointed out by Dr. Waugh that the lack of practical training in the field of dairying is often observed in the Latin American student. This has been our experience at Louisiana State University. However, most students are ready and willing to learn when given the proper opportunity. Latin American students, like Americans, have considerable pride and do not like to be embarrassed; neither do they like to do any more than is required of them. The time to settle this problem is when the student reports for work the first day. If he understands that practical training is a requirement of the department for proficiency in his field, and that all students must be evaluated on this basis, the Latin American student will accept the program without question. The word soon gets around from the graduate students who have already had the training. Once the Latin American student realizes that the jobs of feeding, milking, cleaning the barns, breeding cows, and cleaning the laboratory are part of the total educational program, he forgets about pride and goes about his work with interest and enthusiasm. Although he may never do these things again when he returns to his home, these experiences will enable him to do a better job in his profession. It will give him a deeper appreciation of the educational program and the ability to evaluate programs and situations that he would never develop otherwise. The American professor must be careful not to downgrade the student because of his inadequacies. It is usually better that such discussions be confidential between the professor and the student. This practice will soon teach the student that he can confide in the teacher and receive advice without other people knowing about it. As a result, any reluctance to participate in the entire educational experience because of his pride will be minimized.

One of our students made the following comment about this matter: "Although the native home of the student may not have the modern and up-to-date facilities for training and for a highly productive agriculture, the student should be motivated to take advantage of these opportunities while in America. The knowledge and practical experience he gains may not have immediate application when he returns to his country, but are wonderful assets for the near future. Students must fully realize that there is no substitute for practical experience."

Dr. Waugh indicated that the North American universities should be mostly concerned with the graduate program. This may be true, but it is the feeling of my colleagues that more emphasis should be given to the undergraduate program than is the case in many instances. The undergraduate program is like the foundation of a building. Builders do not think of erecting a tall building without a good foundation. Likewise, I do not believe that one can build a strong graduate program without a strong undergrad-uate background. Thus, department heads, major professors, and graduate schools in the United States need to do better jobs of evaluating the undergraduate courses taken by Latin American students and their practical experiences in their countries, and of tailoring their graduate programs according to the needs in each case. Most of us are too inclined to want every graduate student to fit into the same mold, regardless of the background, desires, and needs of the student.

In closing, I would like to offer the following recommendations for improving the education for leadership in dairying in Latin America:

- 1. It is recommended that the American Dairy Science Association consider the possibility of organizing affiliate units of the Association in Latin American countries. Such an organization would speed up the educational processes now in effect.
- 2. It is recommended that the American Dairy Science Association investigate the success of the orientation courses for foreign agriculture students at universities where they are given and, if they are successful, take the necessary action to encourage more of the colleges and universities to offer such courses.
- 3. It is recommended that the Association spearhead a move through FAO, other government agencies, and private foundations to sponsor a program whereby department heads, other key administrators, and professors would have the opportunity to spend some time in Latin American countries for the purpose of learning more about the background of their students.

SUMMARY REMARKS

K. L. TURK

Department of Animal Husbandry, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York

These analyses and observations of the educational problems are of great significance to all of us as we think about the food needs of rapidly increasing populations throughout Latin America. Food needs will increase, especially for high-quality proteins, and dairy products can play an increasingly important role in meeting them if the right kind of leadership is given to the development of the dairy industry.

All of our speakers have referred to the fact that education, or lack of it, is the real bottleneck in the future development of Latin America. While greatest emphasis has been given to higher education, it is well to remember that the critical problem really begins at the elementary and secondary educational levels. Greater opportunities must be provided to fill this educational pipeline all of the way up to the college and university level. Greater efforts must be made to provide education for more people at all levels.

Our speakers agree that Latin American colleges and universities urgently need more welltrained, full-time professors, more adequate research facilities, better libraries, increased financial support and stability, and freedom from political insecurity—all of which are essential for good education in any discipline. These educational institutions need to be prepared and equipped to disseminate knowledge that will contribute to the improvement of the living standards of all the people. To accomplish this will require larger numbers of more highly trained personnel, especially in the agricultural sciences, including dairying.

cultural sciences, including dairying. Reference has been made to the desirability of Latin American students obtaining their training for leadership in dairying and other technological fields at universities in the area rather than in the United States and in other countries abroad. This has many advantages where universities have developed to a point where adequate staff and facilities are available. Regional graduate education and research centers are developing in some countries which will provide opportunities for advanced training for students under an environment more nearly like those in their own countries. This is a commendable development. Until such time as adequate educational institutions for work in dairying and related fields are developed in more countries in Latin America, however, many students will find it to their advantage to go to the United States or Europe for advanced training.

As more people become trained in the various agricultural disciplines, better ways and means of transmitting knowledge to the people for translation into action need to be developed in the local countries and institutions. This is highly essential if nutritional and living standards are to be up-graded.

The definite shortage of well-trained people in dairy and animal science has been emphasized; also, the fact that there is a place for the animal scientist just as there is for the agronomist, dairy technologist, or veterinarian. Well-trained people in each of these professions have important roles to play in the further development of dairying in Latin America.

Even though most of our participants have described unfavorable elements affecting education in agriculture in Latin America, I should like to summarize by saying that dairying is developing at a rapid rate in many areas. There are bright spots among the universities and colleges, some of which are the oldest in the Americas, and several are making remarkable strides. I should like to emphasize again that the key to a more important and progressive dairy industry in the future in any country is a better supply of well-trained people to provide leadership needed in all aspects of dairying.

The situation in Latin American universities is quite similar to that in the United States about 100 yr ago, when the Land-Grant Act was passed. It is hoped these universities among our neighboring countries in Latin America can play a similar role in molding the future of their countries, as have our Land-Grant universities in the United States during the past century. Education and research can provide a sound basis for agricultural and human development.

ASSOCIATION AFFAIRS

SURMOUNTING LOCAL, STATE, INTER-STATE AND REGIONAL PROBLEMS IN UP-DATING, REVISING, REORGANIZING, CONSOLIDATING DAIRY SCIENCE DEPARTMENTS ¹

G. M. WORRILOW²

School of Agriculture, University of Delaware, Newark



G. M. Worrilow

You have honored me by asking me to present an invitational paper to this 57th Annual Meeting of the American Dairy Science Association. I am happy to be here.

Your Committee has confused me by assigning me the topic, Surmounting Local, State, Inter-State, and Regional Problems in Up-dating, Revising, Reorganizing, and Consolidating Dairy Science Departments. This might well be considered the reading of the paper—a real Mother Hubbard.

Perhaps by now you have joined me in my confusion. If not, perhaps later. The topic did seem understandable when I discussed it with the members of the Education Committee of this Association. They explained that a part of last

¹ Presented at the Fifty-Seventh Annual Meeting of the American Dairy Science Association, University of Maryland, June 1962.

²Vice-President for University Relations and Dean and Director of the School of Agriculture. year's annual meeting had been given over to a symposium during which the discussants covered the general area of Changes Forced Upon Us by Trends in Enrollments in Agricultural Colleges, from the particular point of view of university administrators and the undergraduate curricula in dairy manufacturing and dairy production.

This academic exercise of last year, according to one college of agriculture administrator in one land-grant college was successful in throwing out some ideas for the membership to think about, but certainly there needs to be considerable follow-up on some of the ideas given if any action is to be forthcoming.

This quote is probably the understatement of the year, with my feeble efforts here this morning as the fingered follow-up man no doubt ranking well under the just-quoted understatement.

In the light of last year's discussion, perhaps we can agree that re-examination, re-evaluation, and resultant change is bound to come. So, the key word in my topic as I see it is—Surmounting. Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, in part, defines it thusly: to mount or rise above; to surpass; to lie at the top, get over or across barriers, obstacles, etc; lit. or fig: as It was impossible for cowards to surmount the barriers of unknown seas and hostile Barbarians.

In short, last year you talked about Why. Now you expect me to talk about the What and the How, so that most of you can build up your Why and How Not defenses.

As we are this year celebrating the Centennials of the Land-Grant Colleges and the United States Department of Agriculture, a bit of history at this point may serve to remind us that Senator Morrill was also uncertain as to the wise course to follow a century ago, upon the passage of the Land-Grant College Act.

And now I am quoting history, implying that by so doing we will tie down our perspective a bit:

"Above all, the Land-Grant Act completed the breakaway of American higher education from the European tradition of education for an aristocracy based on heredity, occupation, or money. It was not intended that we be 'Ivy League'." (One possible exception in the Northeast.) Even so, I detect that there is an increasing tendency to emulate Harvard, rather than a determination for each of us to develop new meanings in our time for the Land-Grant philosophy and to meet the indigenous needs of the States which support us. For nearly 100 years, or ever since President Abraham Lincoln on July 2, 1862, signed the Morrill Act, it seems to me that most land-grant colleges have been continually in the process of defining and redefining our purposes—of sorting out that which is distinctive from that which is commonplace. This is not inconsistent with the Act, as many educators and historians agree that "Morrill himself was quite indefinite about the educational purposes of his legislation until he was well along in years and had had time to organize his memory."

The main reason I dwell at all on history, parentage, and experience is for emphasis. As in these times of great stress on nonagricultural education and research, and the tendency to seek status by being in fashion, it is heartening to review the distinguished history and steady growth of this unique educational enterprise.

Today, more than in any other era of the last century, the over-riding reason for stark realism in thinking about the future role of land-grant colleges, their colleges of agriculture, and their dairy science departments, is that the stakes in this nuclear age are too high for any milder treatment.

On the other hand, what were the human, social, and economic conditions that prevailed at the time President Lincoln signed the Land-Grant Act on July 2, 1862? On July first, Union forces had lost a major battle in a war which made uncertain the very existence of this nation. This country, North and South, had a population of 32 million at the time. Out of this population more lives were lost as a result of war between 1861 and 1865 than in any other war in which this country has been engaged. Inflation was rampant, and printing-press money was a fact. Yet in this darkest period of our history the Congress of the United States and the President of the United States had no hesitancy in investing a major portion of our national resources in the higher education of future generations of America's young people.

Again, the world is confronted with a continuing crisis; yet, even so, I contend that if sputnik did nothing else for this country, it multiplied manyfold our production of experts on higher education. Everybody knows what's wrong with our universities, our colleges of agriculture, and dairy science departments and their respective students, particularly our neighboring departments, their faculties and students. Of course, it is true that many of these experts who know all the answers do not know all the questions, but this is an advantage, as it makes for a mettlesome exchange of biases and prejudices.

But, as far as I am aware, there are no seers among us, certainly not at the podium at this time. At the rate our world is moving, particularly in science, one who conjectures about matters one hundred years hence is more likely to be ahead of his time, if at all, by only a decade. Moreover, it is even truer now than when Ralph Waldo Emerson made the statement, "Things are in the saddle and ride mankind."

I'd dwell for a moment upon Emerson's key word, things. The big thing is that we have known what was in the minds of the Russians for 40 years past and only in the last decade brought ourselves to recognize it. For a long time we are going to have to live with Soviet aggression, if live we shall. Our preoccupation with lesser things—incidentally, our universities have beeen as culpable as society—getting two chickens in every pot, two cars in every garage, has dulled a higher sense of purpose and obscured the fact that we are facing national, if not world, survival.

To prove that critical re-examination is not new, may I remind you that thirty years ago, at the 45th meeting of the Land-Grant Association in Chicago, the president of what then was Oregon State Agricultural College—now Oregon State University—defined the spirit of the landgrant institutions in words which I do not think I or anyone else could improve upon today. As President W. J. Kerr put it, this spirit is quadripartite. In his own words:

"First, the spirit of initiative-pioneering

"Second, the spirit of growth—progress "Third, the spirit of equal opportunity for

all—democracy

"Fourth, the spirit of helpfulness-service."

Although President Kerr would scarcely recognize the problems we are facing if he were alive today (he died in 1940), the spirit he delineated—and each part of it—is as valid today as when he spoke, two years before we recognized Soviet Russia, eight years before World War II, 14 years before Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 25 years before monkeys explored outer space, 27 years before sputnik, 30 years before John Glenn and Scott Carpenter orbited, and at a time when the parents of many of our postwar babies were still babies themselves.

I expect the understatement of our times could well be that our colleges of agriculture have assumed their full burden of critical reexamination, evaluation, or just plain biased criticism.

The Centennial Convocation of the State and Land-Grant Universities Association was devoted in a large part to the evaluation of our traditional programs at the undergraduate and graduate levels.

Let's briefly review the reports on agriculture. First, an outside evaluator, J. Earl Coke, Vice-President of Bank of America, and formerly Assistant Secretary of Agriculture:

"As our agriculture has developed into today's pattern, it has become increasingly interrelated with other segments of our economy. Political, social, and economic developments throughout the world affect our commercial farmers. Consequently, the successful operator of a commercial farm must have some understanding of these forces.

"Change lies ahead of us as well as behind in this age of innovation. Effective education must look ahead to work that does not exist today."

Of course, he said more, but time limits further quotations.

The inside evaluatior, Dr. Paul Miller, exsociologist, ex-Extension Director, ex-Provost and President-elect of the University of West Virginia, commented under the topic, The Intellectual Perspective:

"The colleges are in no small way disconcerted and off-balance because the entire agricultural establishment is contorted by interlocking webs of organized special interests, somehow less effective than they once were, and eaught up in divergent grounds for agreement. The result is indecision, occasional self-defacement, confusion, modest discouragement, and contest. No given part of the establishment seems to be speaking for and leading the whole."

And the final outside evaluator, Dr. Theodore W. Schultz of the University of Chicago, made his usual biting but well-taken comments, and I quote briefly from his topic, "My test of the agricultural colleges is in terms of higher education in the United States.

"Here, too, important changes are taking place affecting instruction and research. Basic forces are influencing all sectors of higher education. The adjustments that must be made are neither trivial nor easy. How are the agricultural colleges meeting this test?

"Some of your activities are complementary and some are competitive with those of other educational sectors. It is a mistake, one that many, however, make, to evaluate the functions of the agricultural colleges as if they were off by themselves in splendid isolation."

So much for the ideas and collective wisdom of those inside-outside experts and scholars involved in this evaluation.

Now to my first specific clue concerning what the nonisolated dairy science faculty member can do at home to up-date, revise, or reorganize and make more effective his efforts as a teacher.

The technological explosion makes it mandatory that each individual faculty member of every college of agriculture consider himself as a member of a large team, and that, while doing as an intensive job as he possibly can within his special disciplines, he must recognize that his own efforts must strengthen and complement those of our colleagues.

A quick review of the 150-odd papers to be presented at this annual meeting reveals that you are aware of the importance of interschool and departmental teamwork. Progress is evident, but much more must be done.

Yes, even on a university-wide basis your influence must be felt and your worth appreci-

ated. To illustrate this point of worth, I am reluctantly going to use the dollar sign to establish the comparative pattern of fiscal growth of the agricultural programs and a composite of all other university budgets and programs. These data were supplied by the presidents of 20 land-grant state universities to President D. W. Colvard of Mississippi State University and used by him in a recent seminar presentation at the University of Wisconsin. The comparison is made between the budget years, 1940– 41 and 1960–61.

For the Cooperative Extension Service, the budget increase for the 20 states was 354% during that period. The range was from 260% for the lowest state to 610% for the highest state. Total budgets for the 20 states increased from \$14,270,627 in 1940-41 to \$64,847,148 in 1960-61.

The Agricultural Experiment Station (19 states) increased at a much faster rate from \$8,786,665 to \$68,563,684, or 680%. Also, the range of the increase from the lowest to the highest state was much wider. The lowest increase was 392%, which is higher than the average for the 20 Extension Services. The highest increase for the Experiment Stations was 1,226%.

For all other parts of the universities in these 20 states total budgets increased during this 20-yr period from \$49,647,076 to \$385,965,487, or 677%. The range here was even wider, from 305 to 1,767%.

These figures for the three divisions of the 20 institutions include funds from all sources. A substantial part of the increase for experiment stations and other parts of the universities has been provided by student fees, contractual, or other nonpublic funds. The fact remains, however, that in 1940–41 agricultural budgets (not including the budgets for resident instrution in agriculture) accounted for 46.4% of the total budgets for these 20 institutions, and by 1960–61 this figure had dropped to 34.0%.

I am not attempting to justify or explain these university gains or agricultural losses. This may be a profitable exercise for the dairy science faculties represented here today.

I should explain that the budgets for resident instruction are included in the other parts total, and although teaching costs in agriculture are quite often considered to be unduly costly by many top college administrators, teaching budgets usually do not constitute more than 25%and sometimes as little as 10% of the total budget of the school of agriculture alone.

I should in all fairness add that during the past two decades society and/or the public has placed great store in research (agriculture included, but not emphatically so) and that student enrollment both in on-campus and off-campus programs have grown at an unusual rate. The past is but prologue in this respect. New and additional needs, new frontiers of service, adult education, and urban services have tended to compete for available funds. I suspect the college presidents have been engrossed in financing for the future rather than the past.

Even so, the traditional agricultural programs are still important and deserve and must have the understanding of top administration.

This suggests the prime importance of effective communication between presidents, deans of agriculture, and their department chairmen, and every faculty member if the objectives and procedures of our schools of agriculture and dairy science departments are to be in harmony with the over-all goals and objectives of the university. Mutual respect and understanding of the individuals involved is a must.

Even if the optimum administrative climate prevails, I have found that a legally constituted agricultural committee of the university's board of trustees or governing body can be of invaluable help in interpreting a modern school of agriculture, both to administrators and other trustees. Then, too, over-all agri-industry and commodity advisory committees often can contribute the great common sense and wisdom needed to meet the criticisms and challenge of our time.

Now to the most important ingredient in today's schools of agriculture—The Student. Is he ready for us and are we ready for him? I can quickly cover this question and meet my purposes by quoting from an article entitled, The New Student in the Old College, by E. D. Eddy, Jr., President of Chatham College:

"In the past two to three years, the students have changed faster than the colleges. Vested interests on every campus prevent recognition of the obvious. Established customs, long-standing departmental and administrative structure, and sentimentalized traditions protected by alumni keep the colleges from responding with vigor and enthusiasm to the vigor and enthusiasm of the new students. The interest of the youngster who is ready for something new in the way of learning is quickly dampened by the self-oriented faculty member who sees a threat in change and resists it out of apprehension."

The number of students. Are agriculture and dairy science majors keeping pace with the other colleges and departments of the university? Unfortunately, the answer is No. The facts are that undergraduate enrollment, although it increased from 32,006 in 1960 to 32,861 last fall—2.8% representing 6.5% of the total enrollment in all land-grant universities, it dropped from 8.0% 5-yr ago. Graduate enrollment in dairy manufacturing up to 319 from the 204 the year before, +56% increase; dairy production, down to 323 from 387 the year before, -16.5%. The enrollment in terminal programs increased 24.3% in 1961 over 1960. Graduate degrees at the master's level increased 40.3%, and at the Ph.D. level, 75.3% over the previous year.

So much for those we will have to teach. Now for a quick look at which is taught—the curriculum—course of study—the broad field of agriculture.

Does it not also seem futile that after nearly 100 yr since the granting of the first college degree in agriculture, there could be any question regarding the curriculum for the undergraduate in agriculture and what it should contain, or what should be valid measurements for evaluating the undergraduate program in agriculture? We have a yardstick for evaluating the improvement of the dairy cow—a minimum production of 500 lb of milk fat and an average selling price of \$500. Surely, during this time, we should have these basic problems settled if we have anything settled in the field of education in agriculture.

But, I suspect that in any group of professional dairy scientists such as are represented here this morning, there are many different viewpoints as to what should be the criteria by which we should evaluate the character and effectiveness of the curricula to be set up in their particular specialties of education in agriculture.

The three criteria for testing a curriculum which I can most strongly defend are:

- 1. What is the purpose of a college training in dairy science and does our program serve this purpose?
- 2. Does it produce a truly well-educated college graduate, equal to the best in any other field of human service, or does it give us only a craftsman or technician?
- 3. Are our programs too specialized and rigid in requirements and designed only for the present, or will they also equip the dairy science major for his part in the next quarter-century of dairy development?

We take it for granted that everyone feels that our undergraduate programs could and should be upgraded—not to achieve status, but to more adequately meet the needs of modern dairy science as well as the modern-day student.

But, how many of you here this morning talk with students concerning curricula content? Or how often has a student raised the question with you? May I suggest that they are silent because you have set them too good an example. And what we need are some professors who are both inspiring and disturbing, as well as some undergraduate students who regularly voice their intelligent dissatisfaction with our course offerings. How fortunate we would be if we could only discover a Conant who would rediscover agriculture.

Recruitment. An acceptable word in dairy science circles? I also raise, in passing, the question concerning your efforts to recruit top students for the dairy science curricula. High school principals and guidance counsellors just don't understand modern dairy science, but

county agents and the 4-H staff do. Have you ever discussed with them their unique opportunity to recruit for you, or do you feel that inasmuch as they are scattered over your statewide campus that the probable returns just might not be worth your effort?

Where to look for potential students—in the town or in the country? The per cent of the population between the ages of 18 and 24 enrolled in school is about a fourth larger for urban than for farm youth. The percentage of urban high school seniors who plan to attend college (among those who were seniors during October, 1959) ran 59% higher than for farm high school seniors (32 and 51 out of a hundred). The reasons are many and they are complex.

In reading last year's symposium papers, I failed to find student or job placement mentioned, although I suspect many of you are quite active in this field. If not, I strongly urge you to consider this phase of your program as important. Placement competitionwise is difficult due mainly to the fact that at the baccalaureate level you generally have only the average student available for on-the-job placement. (Even then, you are in competition with his military obligation.) The highly qualified student, having decided freely or by coercion to go on for graduate study. And all too often you arrange to have him take his work under you after all you have taught him, he must be good; so, why let him go to a strange university and get any new or different ideas?

Then too, I often wonder if many of our graduates aren't heeding Bob Hope's advice on going out into the world today, Don't. Certainly, graduate work is necessary and essential to meet the increasingly high demands of the scientific and professional world. Yet, I sometimes question the balance of modern education in that over a third of today's high school graduates don't go to college, and about one-third of our most able college graduates won't leave college until they are too old to consider anything but the academic life.

James Reston recently wrote that "A generation ago we deplored the athletic burn who put sports ahead of everything else. Now we have substituted the academic burn who puts books ahead of everything else." Money produced both of them.

This cult of graduate degrees encouraged by parents, teachers, foundation and government grants is not all bad, but it does mean that we are getting a relatively few of our best minds into the lifestream of our business, industry, and public service today.

This causes justifiable concern, as evidenced by the fact that the manufacturing representative on this Association's educational committee commented thusly in a letter to your committee chairman:

"If the industry demands a high caliber of

training and accomplishment of dairy school graduates and gets what it demands, I feel certain that it will pay for what it gets. The universities that can train their graduates to meet the high standards will find a ready market for their product. Those that cannot will soon be required to raise their academic standards or drop the courses altogether. I feel that the success of the program will lie in courageously setting the standards sufficiently high. When we do that we will attract a caliber of student commensurate with the program.

"Two other thoughts I'll briefly mention concern the universities, also. The first is that the colleges might take a greater part in assisting their graduates in locating suitable positions. This would need to be done on an individual basis whereby the training the student has had and his personal response to the complete academic program would be evaluated. This might help create a demand for the highly trained, well-balanced student and thus effect a more favorable salary range. In back of such a program would be the effective screening of students prior to their second or third year in college."

Simply stated, the desirable goal is bettertrained and qualified men in better-paying jobs, but at work in industry.

Let me explain that I am in full sympathy with the current emphasis on producing Ph.D's, but I also favor at an earlier age real production by Bachelors as well as Ph.D's.

Let's get back to my multifarious topic and have a quick look at the aspects of reorganizing and consolidating dairy departments. Ideas freely discussed but difficult of achievement, you will agree, even though it is a device which is currently the height of fashion.

A basic assumption we have to make if we follow this road is that in union there is not only strength but quality. And that in order to compete, colleges of agriculture and dairy science departments, like the corner grocer, must join together to fight the supermarkets.

Professor- and facility-sharing is in vogue, and to the extent that we profit by either or both in producing a quailty product at a lesser cost, the technique of consolidation should be further explored and implemented. We must realize, however, that it is most difficult to convince faculty, parents, students, and even state legislators that this is the wise or politic road to pursue, particularly across state lines, although federation has been more successful in a limited number of private colleges.

The New England Study of Agriculture in that area's land-grant colleges is still in the formative stage and its objectives have not yet been clearly defined. The director of the study, Dr. H. A. Brinser says, "We may have to come to a system of in-and-out education, in which a student comes in for some education, out for experience, back for more education, etc., until the proper level of education for the individual has been determined." Not a new idea, we must admit, but an interesting one. This thought may lead one to conclude that there is merit in further considering the twelve-month college, four terms, refresher courses in technology, and a working-learning partnership with industry. We are moving in this direction at a faster rate than most faculty or students realize.

Some regional and interstate educational plans do work; witness the Southern Regional Education Board's arrangement in veterinary medicine and other professional programs now operating. It should be pointed out, however, that the financial advantage is mostly in favor of the paying state. For example, Maryland gets a graduate veterinarian for an out-of-pocket outlay of \$6,000, whereas it actually costs Georgia \$7,500 to \$8,000 to educate this same individual. Admittedly, Georgia gains some fringe benefits, such as research findings resulting from graduate thesis work and perhaps greater budget flexibility.

Now, what about the vields from intrauniversity reorganization and consolidation? Such local arrangements appear to me to have considerable potential from the point of view of both intellectual stimulation and the reduction of credit-hour costs.

Faculty must respond to the needs of our changed students. (I am hopeful that better students will bring this response, as better salaries have not.)

All too few faculty members make an honest effort to change course content and teaching methods to challenge these new students. Few and far between are the professors who take a hard look at the total curricular offerings reinforcing his major field. Instead, when he hears from the president or director of admission "that this fall's class is the best ever to enter the university," he immediately decides to hand out longer assignments, while maintaining the same curve in the grade scale.

We must, indeed, revise and up-date the technology taught and we must teach it better and do it now. We must have curricular flexibility without laxity. Courses must have depth, and proliferation must be resisted at all costs. Therefore, upon you falls the responsibility for determining the objectives of education in dairy science, and not allow the courses to fall together willy-nilly, unduly influenced by the urge to be in fashion, the new professor with a new specialty who must have new research assistants to assist in building his new empire. Department heads must resist the temptation to be everything to everybody, particularly commodity organization, and small businesses who want ready-made employees.

At this point, I should warn you against the inherent weakness in practicing Parkinson law as I know from experience that our presidents and provosts are quite adept and positively insistent on the size of staff being status quo or even reducing the numbers of staff. (You know the gimmick, replacing two mediocre staff members with a top-quality man and saving 100% of the salary.)

But why should they not follow these tactics as long as you continue to try to fill vacant slots with the same kind of man, with very little if any thought given to why and what will stand your department in good stead 10 yr hence.

On the organization at the department or division level, there is quite often a distinct opportunity to add depth to staff, scope to your offerings, reduce duplication of equipment, and add competence to your graduates. In short, it is high time we replaced our box stalls with a functional dairy barn with a milking parlor.

Let's educate for all the segments of today's agri-business-industry complex. To do this, we may well have to consider the wisdom of introducing a 5-yr curriculum in agriculture with the broadly educated student having earned both a baccalaureate and a master's degree. If this innovation were made, a technical or practical training program would be a logical complement, terminal with an associate degree. (The trend in this direction is a 24.3% increase in enrollment in the last year.) Taught by the same faculty (different course content) with a credit-hour penalty involved for those students deemed capable of transferring at a given point to the degree program.

In conclusion again, may I warn you of the folly of reorganizing or consolidating just to be in style or to evade a looked-for administrative or board of regents edict. The current paper reorganization rash in colleges of agriculture of new divisions, bureaus, and institutes all too often adds to the problems of administration and lessens the productivity of those individuals unwilling to be reorganized or consolidated. I say this in spite of the fact that when your vote was counted, you were in favor, but by the time you had re-established your place in a new pecking order, you were in a cold war, or didn't give a damn, at best. Of course, there are exceptions where changes are not the result of expediency and have been wisely made and widely accepted.

As a starter, or even a finisher, why not consider the organization pattern we would design were we to have the opportunity and challenge of establishing a brand new land-grant college system today to meet the needs of our dynamic agriculture of the next century?

Oh, yes! Agriculture will be with us in the 2062 and a look at today may provide some clues as to its importance tomorrow.

We have today 3,700,000 farms in the United States producing the food and fiber for 186,-000,000 Americans and for millions of others throughout the world. Estimates from the Census Bureau indicate that the number of people to be fed and clothed in this country by 1970 could reach 220,000,000. Africa and other underdeveloped countries will probably have their populations doubled before the year 2000. These countries will not be able to produce sufficient food to supply their needs until about the year 2040. If the United States population makes such growth, and if we are to feed and clothe the people in 1975 as well as they are fed and clothed today, the farmers must produce half again as much as they are producing now. It appears highly likely that our agriculture can meet this challenge, not in spite of, but because of our land-grant colleges and the Department of Agriculture. In fact, if productivity continues to increase at the present rate, surplus problems will be even more acute than now. So, the dairy scientist and his counterpart allies in the department might well consider not only the natural and physical sciences, but allow for enough curriculum flexibility to include the social and political sciences, also, if and when you decide to surmount local, state, interstate and regional problems by up-dating, revising, reorganizing, and consolidating the dairy departments of the 21st century.

Thank you.

CALL FOR PAPERS FOR THE 1963 ANNUAL MEETING OF THE AMERICAN DAIRY SCIENCE ASSOCIATION

S. D. MUSGRAVE, Chairman, Program Committee, A.D.S.A. Department of Dairving, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater

The 58th Annual Meeting of this Association will be held June 16-19, 1963, in the Memorial Center of Purdue University, Lafayette, Indiana.

All members of the Association, including graduate student affiliates, are entitled and encouraged to submit papers for consideration for presentation. Participation by members of industry and by senior members of the Association is especially encouraged. The Program Committee favors the general policy that an individual present only one paper and that his name should appear as author on no more than two. This committee, with the Association officers and membership, wishes to stimulate excellence in research and in presentation and realizes that these restrictions may penalize certain members engaged in full-time research. Therefore, a member may exceed these limits if he or his department ranks the affected abstracts in order of preference for oral presentation.

Papers submitted for the Annual Meeting nust be confined to research that has not been reported elsewhere. Abstracts of papers accepted for publication by a scientific journal before the annual meeting are not acceptable for presentation at this meeting. If the total number of acceptable papers submitted by the membership for presentation in a section program is too great to include in the program, the committee will assign some papers to be read by title. In this event, consideration will be given to evident quality of research to be reported and number of abstracts per author and per department. Abstracts arriving late may be read by title or rejected.

Attention is called to the Dairy Manufacturing Extension Section program, and interested members are urged to participate. This is a subsection of the Manufacturing Section. Mimeographed copies of pertinent details and data are desirable for distribution at the time of presentation. At least 300 copies should be made available. They should be numbered with the assigned program number in the upper right corner of the first page. This can be supplemented with slides for projection, provided the author can adhere to the assigned time of 12 to 14 min for presentation of each paper. For papers presented in joint sessions or in a symposium, it is suggested that 500 copies of the mimeographed material be made available.

ABSTRACT PREPARATION

The Program Committee continues to encourage improvement in quality of material to be presented and in the method of presentation. Good experimental design and interpretation are essential. Exact compliance with these instructions for preparation of abstracts will simplify the task of the Program Committee, improve the program, and ease your own work load. Careful editing of abstracts before submission is essential! Each year a number of abstracts must be returned for correction or clarification.

- 1. Submitted titles and abstracts must be in the hands of appropriate section officers by March 1. This deadline must be met to permit publication of titles with the complete program in the April JOURNAL and abstracts in the May or June issue.
- 2. Four copies of each abstract must be typed double-spaced on $8\frac{1}{2}$ - by 11-inch paper. The original (on bond paper) and the first carbon should be mailed to the chairman, the second carbon to the vicechairman, and the third carbon to the secretary of the Section where the paper

is to be presented. The original copy will be used for publication in the JOURNAL. Student affiliates entering the Graduate Student Presentation Contest should check below for additional instructions on submitting abstracts.

- 3. Abstracts must not exceed 200 words by actual count. Those exceeding 200 words must be returned to the author for revision.
- 4. The style and abbreviations of the JOUR-NAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE must be used. Please refer to abstracts in the May, 1962 JOURNAL for guidance.
- 5. Only initials of authors should be used, except in unusual cases, where it may be necessary to use the complete name.
- 6. When more than one author is listed, indicate who will present the paper by an asterisk after his name.
- 7. The title should indicate clearly the nature of the research. It should not be repeated in the text. The abstract should indicate, insofar as possible, the design and major results of the investigation. Only completed research should be reported. Brief, essential statistics will make the abstract more meaningful.
- 8. The following form with no caps for the title is correct: Utilization of carbohydrates posterior to the rumen-reticulum of the bovine. J. T. Huber and N. L. Jacobson, Iowa State University.
- 9. If the author lists an address for an experiment station other than the university, such as a USDA research branch or a commercial company, the complete address should be provided, as in the following example: A study of dye reduction methods as platform tests for the detection of antibiotics. Burdet Heinemann, Producers Creamery Co., Spring-field, Missouri.
- 10. All symposium papers should be typed double-spaced and organized according to the acceptable style of the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE. The author should send the first copy directly to the JOURNAL editor, E. O. Herreid, before the annual meeting.

GRADUATE STUDENT PRESENTATION CONTEST

This contest will be conducted in both the Production and Manufacturing Sections. A cash award will be given to the winner in each section. Each institution is entitled to enter one participant in each contest. Participants must be student affiliate members. Complete rules for the contest will be sent to department heads. Those wishing to enter the contest must submit copies of their abstracts to the section officers as outlined above. In addition they must include a letter indicating their desire to enter the contest. This letter must be signed by the major professor and the department head. A carbon copy of this letter and four additional copies of the abstract should be mailed to the contest representative so as to be received by March 1.

For Production Section Graduate Student Competition: Dr. J. L. Albright, Department of Dairy Science, University of Illinois, Urbana.

For Manufacturing Section Graduate Student Competition: Dr. A. V. Moore, Department of Dairy Science, The Agricultural and Mechanical College of Texas, College Station.

Names and addresses of officers of sections to whom titles and abstracts should be sent are:

EXTENSION SECTION

- Chairman: C. D. McGrew, Department of Dairy Science, Ohio State University, Columbus 10.
- Vice-Chairman: D. E. Voelker, Department of Animal Husbandry, Iowa State University, Ames.
- Secretary: C. H. Parsons, Department of Dairy and Animal Science, University of Massachusetts, Amherst.

PRODUCTION SECTION

- Chairman: L. H. Schultz, Department of Dairy Husbandry, University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Vice-Chairman: V. R. Smith, Department of Dairy Science, University of Arizona, Tucson.
- Secretary: P. M. Reaves, Department of Dairy Science, Virginia Polytechnic Institute, Blacksburg.

MANUFACTURING SECTION

- Chairman: D. M. Graham, Pet Milk Co., Research and Development Center, Greenville, Illinois.
- Vice-Chairman: E. L. Thomas, Department of Dairy Industries, University of Minnesota, St. Paul.
- Secretary: M. E. Ellertson, Carnation Research Laboratory, 8015 Van Nuys Boulevard, Van Nuys, California.

(The Dairy Manufacturing Extension Section is a subsection of the Manufacturing Section. A. L. Rippen, Department of Food Science, Michigan State University, East Lansing, is chairman, and J. C. White, Professor of Dairy and Food Science, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, is secretary of this subsection. All abstracts for papers in this subsection should be submitted through the regular channels of the Manufacturing Section, and should be identified for presentation at the Manufacturing Extension Section meeting and a courtesy copy sent to A. L. Rippen, Chairman.)

ASSOCIATION AFFAIRS

PRICE SCHEDULE FOR REPRINTS OF PAPERS THAT APPEAR IN THE JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE

H. F. JUDKINS, Secretary-Treasurer 32 Ridgeway Circle, White Plains, New York

The Executive Board, at the time of the Annual Meeting of the American Dairy Science Association at the University of Wisconsin, increased the price of reprints 25%, effective July 1, 1961. The new reprint schedule follows:

published in the JOURNAL; otherwise, the type will have been destroyed.

In case the original type has been destroyed, it is possible to supply reprints by a special photographic process, and their cost will be

No of	Number of pages								
No. of reprints	2	4	8	12	16	20	24	28	32
				(C	ost in doi	lars)			
50	17.50	20.00	36.25	51.25	67.50	78.75	97.50	115.00	125.00
100	20.00	22.50	41.25	61.25	77.50	92.50	112.50	132.50	145.00
200	22.50	28.75	51.25	76.25	97.50	117.50	143.75	162.75	185.00
300	28.00	33.75	62.50	91.25	117.50	143.75	173.75	205.00	226.25
400	30.00	40.00	72.50	107.50	137.50	170.00	205.00	241.25	266.25
500	33.75	45.00	83.75	122.50	157.50	195.00	236.25	277.25	306.25
600	37.50	51.25	93.75	137.50	177.50	221.25	266.25	313.75	346.25
700	41.25	56.25	105.00	153.75	197.50	246.25	297.50	350.00	387.50
800	45.00	62.50	115.00	168.75	218.75	272.50	328.75	386.25	427.50
900	48.75	67.50	126.25	185.00	238.75	298.75	358.75	422.50	467.50
1,000	57.25	73.75	136.25	200.00	258.75	323.75	390.00	458.75	507.50

If covers for reprints are desired, the cost of 50 covers will be \$21.18, and for each additional 100 covers, the cost will be \$8.75. Back copies of the JOURNAL will cost \$2 each.

The reprints are made from standing type within 30 days after the papers appear in the JOURNAL. Requests for a few reprints of a paper should be sent to the authors, whose names and addresses appear with the title. The Secretary and the Editor's office do not keep supplies of the various reprints. Orders for large numbers of reprints should be sent to The Garrard Press, 510 North Hickory Street, Champaign, Illinois. These orders must be received within 30 days after the papers are 50% more than the regular ones. For example, 100 reprints of 32 pages will cost \$217.50.

It is hoped that the publication of this reprint schedule will make it easier for interested people to obtain reprints in any number desired and, at the same time, aid in disseminating useful information to the dairy and related industries.

The JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE is copyrighted. Reproduction of complete papers from this JOURNAL by any organization is not permitted. The reproduction of graphs, tables, and illustrations for books and other periodicals may be authorized by the Editor-in-Chief.

FIFTY-SEVENTH ANNUAL MEETING, AMERICAN DAIRY SCIENCE ASSOCIATION, UNIVERSITY OF MARYLAND, JUNE 17-21, 1962

E. L. JACK, President and Presiding Department of Food Science and Technology, University of California, Davis

Inadvertently, the following material was omitted from the August JOURNAL. The reader is referred to page 1028 of that issue for the beginning of this article covering the 57th Annual Meeting of the American Dairy Science Association. —Ep.

PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS

Honored Guests, Members of the American Dairy Science Association, Ladies and Gentlemen:

The president of a society such as ours has two obligations in addressing the membership at the Annual Meeting: to give an accounting of his stewardship in relation to the affairs of



E. L. Jack

the society, and to point out some of the problems likely to be encountered. The affairs of the Association may be discussed under three headings: the physical aspects such as finances, membership, and JOURNAL circulation; the scientific elimate within the Association; and the Association activities of the members.

I shall direct my remarks first to the physical aspects of our Association. I am pleased to be able to report that the financial condition at the present time is sound. Last year, because of some loss of advertising revenue and of increased costs of publication, we encountered a deficit. At first it appeared that this deficit might be as much as \$15,000, but later audits showed it to be only about \$7,000. Even though we had ample reserves to carry this without embarrassment for one year, steps had to be taken to bring us back to a stable basis. Your Executive Board a year ago initiated several measures designed to achieve fiscal soundness. The dues and subscription rate to the JOURNAL were increased along with the price of reprints. Also, this year the Journal Management Committee instituted some savings in newsprint by adopting a two-column page with a different size type face for the JOURNAL. In addition, the A.D.S.A. Review was discontinued because it did not seem to be serving a purpose sufficient to justify its cost of about \$3,000 per year.

Another source of increased revenue adopted by the Executive Board was the creation of a Sustaining Membership classification for industrial supporters of the Association. While one of the results of Sustaining Membership is increased revenue, in my opinion it should not be regarded primarily as a revenue-producing action. Actually, what it does is give industrial organizations a recognized way of supporting the American Dairy Science Association in its scientific endeavors by corporate action rather than solely by individuals. I am pleased to report to you that a substantial number of organizations this year have taken sustaining memberships, and I am sure they will benefit from this action. Also, we are very appreciative.

Membership is the life blood of any organization and there was some apprehension that perhaps the increase in dues, together with a tendency toward a decrease in the number of university scientists solely in dairy science, would make it difficult to maintain our membership. However, I am pleased to report to you that, thanks to the strong efforts of our membership solicitors, the national, regional, and state committees with yeoman assistance from our Secretary, the membership total is about 2,500, where it has remained relatively stable for several years. Also, the number of affiliate members, which is vital to the future of our Association, is holding about where it has been. And the circulation of the JOURNAL to subscribers other than members has not diminished. I think we can be pleased that we have been able to maintain our membership and circulation levels. Growth is usually desirable, but maintaining a strong stable position in the face of obstacles is not to be disdained.

A proper scientific climate is another element of strength in a scientific society. There are several criteria that can be used to judge the climate of our society. First is the quality of scientific achievements to which our Association contributes. I refer mainly to the papers published in the JOURNAL and presented at our national and divisional meetings. The scientific merit of these papers is, indeed, impressive. It is apparent to those of us who have watched the changing character of the educational and research activities over the vears that dairy science has kept pace with the general development and has given its share of leadership. Our Association has had a big part in this change through offering a critical but receptive forum where ideas can be presented and debated.

Another way in which the scientific stature of our Association may be measured is in its relationship to other groups. As evidences of leadership we appoint each year representatives to numerous organizations, both within and without the dairy industry. These take the form of formal advisory committees and of individuals of liaison and advisory purposes. A new committee of this sort was appointed this year to the Dairy Society International at its request, and one has been authorized as advisory jointly to the Food and Agricultural Organization of United Nations and the federal Food and Drug Administration.

Additional international leadership is exhibited in many other ways. We represent the largest community of dairy science scholars in the world and we would be sadly remiss if we did not extend our assistance wherever it can benefit. The Symposium on Education for Leadership in Dairying in Latin America on our program this year is an example of one of the areas in which we can serve. Among other ways is the technical assistance rendered by many of our members on an individual basis. But whether on an individual or an Association basis, the background of A.D.S.A. activity is ulways a helpful factor. This leadership may well be expanded and extended. The opportunities are many and the need is great. The Atlantic Community will soon be a reality and dairy science must carry its full share of responsibility in this great movement. Powerful forces are moving to achieve economic integration and increased unity of political action in the free world. The realization of these aims can have a greater influence on the future of mankind than all the threats of nuclear destruction. These are the ideologies that defeat those who would overthrow our systems. Our Association should continue to strengthen its position of leadership to assist in this development.

Another source of strength in our Association is the widespread and active participation in Association affairs by the members. Last year there were 35 committees and representatives comprising 165 persons serving the parent body. Add to this number the officers and committees of the Extension, Manufacturing, and Production Sections and the total is increased by 85 or 90 more. Also, there are those serving the Eastern, Southern, and Western Divisions. A conservative estimate is that there are about 350 members participating in the affairs of the Association under formal election or appointment. This is nearly 15% of the total membership and is a substantial factor in maintaining the cohesiveness necessary for a vigorous Association.

The students in dairy science to whom we must look for future leadership have been active. The student branch of the American Dairy Science Association is a lusty infant with its own constitution, officers, and program. This is a movement to which we must give encouragement and sound guidance. Mention must also be made of the student competitions, including the presentation of research papers and the club activities reports. It is evident that our young people are picking up the torch.

Review of member activities would not be complete without mentioning some of the internal-association cooperative activities. These usually take the form of joint committees among the sections. We long have had joint committees between the Extension and Production sections because of their closely allied interests. Recently, however, all the sections have joined in committees to provide technical knowledge from their own individual fields on problems that extend across all areas of dairy science. This is most commendable and is to be encouraged wherever it can be effected.

Thus, it appears to me that our Association today is in a strong and vigorous condition; the financial affairs are in balance, the JOURNAL circulation is good, the scientific elimate of the Association is healthy and conducive to maintaining a position of leadership in dairy science, and the participation by the members in Association affairs is widespread and effective. For this healthy state of affairs the Association is indebted to many people: those who established the firm base on which we operate, the many persons who formally or informally serve in many ways, your Editor-in-Chief who has done so much to elevate the standards of the JOURNAL, the Secretary-Treasurer who looks after the affairs of the Association so vigorously, and the Executive Board which has deliberated the problems and resolved them wisely.

So much for the present state of affairs. What of the future? In order to appraise the future with some degree of intelligence, it is necessary to examine briefly the broad background of the Association and those matters relating to it.

A quick look at the development of science in agriculture and its relation to dairy science will perhaps help us to see where we are today with respect to agriculture and our contemporary sciences. Originally, curricula in agriculture were composed largely of basic sciencesbotany, chemistry, geology, and a few otherswith only scant reference to applications to agriculture. Soon it became apparent, however, that there were special applications of these sciences to many areas of agriculture. Thus, departments were formed to exploit and expand specialized knowledge in nearly every segment of agriculture. This departmentalization and specialization resulted in tremendous advances in all agricultural practices and particularly in the dairy industry. It was within the framework of these developments that many scientific agricultural societies, including the American Dairy Science Association, came into existence. They were essential parts of this great advancement, in that they promoted scientific interchange through the publication of suitable journals and through the presentation of results of research at formal meetings. These societies have continued to thrive because they provided leadership for the development and application of science.

What is the situation today? It seems that we have come nearly full-circle in our educational and research activities. Once again the emphasis is on basic sciences, with the applications to practical uses subordinated. Our dairy scientists are no longer husbandmen and technologists; they are geneticists, physiologists, nutritionists, chemists, bacteriologists, and engineers. Their allegiance is torn between their basic science field and the applied field on which their activities bear. One of the tasks of the American Dairy Science Association is to maintain a scientific climate that will retain the allegiance of these and future basic scientists to our Association.

Sweeping changes have taken place in industry, also. I need not dwell on the revolution that has occurred in milk production, processing, and marketing. The development of large-scale operations, the adoption of science-based practices, the advent of automation, and unionization have greatly changed both the technology and the manpower situation in industry. The need is for relatively fewer technically trained men, but those that are needed must have a much broader and stronger education than in the past. This situation poses problems for A.D.S.A. in educational policies and in membership potential.

In our universities and research institutions there is an increasing tendency for dairy science to lose its identity. This stems, in part, from the increased emphasis on basic science which cuts across commodity and departmental lines, but is also accounted for by consolidation necessitated by low student enrollment and by the emergence of broader areas of interest having a common scientific base. The same trend prevails in industry; our large dairy companies no longer are concerned solely with milk and milk products but are in the general food business. These are changes that may seem at first glance to bode ill for the American Dairy Science Association. But they need not if the Association is alert to the opportunities offered for leadership. Changing conditions and new challenges are the most constant of all things in life. They continually offer opportunities for progress. They are detrimental only when ignored by trying to maintain the status quo. These, then, are the conditions that confront our Association, and decisions will have to be made as to how to meet them effectively.

It would be presumptuous of me to attempt to lay out a blueprint for the future as to how this can be done. There are certain basic principles, however, that I think are self-evident and, if adhered to, will assure an increasingly influential future for our Association. In the first place, I believe that there is now, because of the changing conditions I have noted, more than ever a need for the American Dairy Science Association as a unifying force in dairy science research and education. With the great dispersion of dairy science it is of utmost importance to have a journal and meeting forums where ideas can be brought together for study and debate. A central agency for dairy science affairs is a necessity if dairy science is to prosper. The American Dairy Science Association is such an agency. Secondly, I am firmly convinced that A.D.S.A. must maintain a favorable scientific climate and must strengthen it at every opportunity. Only in this way can good scientists be attracted to our Association. and without a strong nucleus of the best scientists in the field we are doomed to wither and die.

A strong and vigorous Association has many opportunities for effective leadership. In particular, one area where our Association might profitably direct special attention is in connection with the problems of dairy science edueation. I have mentioned earlier some of the

ASSOCIATION AFFAIRS

changes that have taken place in this field. These changes have posed difficult problems for our universities and the solution of them is not yet clear. Various means have been adopted by different institutions in adjusting to changed conditions and many of these measures have not been favorable for dairy science. Our Education Committee, through a series of symposia during the last few years, has called these problems to the attention of the membership. Another such symposium is scheduled for this year. The problem has been stated adequately. The solution remains to be determined. This would seem to be an area in which the Association could direct major effort to working with university administrators and departments in developing a solution to this problem so that the teaching of dairy science would not suffer. A sound plan or plans developed in conjunction with the other interested parties and officially endorsed by the American Dairy Science Association should have substantial influence in shaping the future of dairy science education.

Regardless of how the future may develop, the challenges will be great and meeting them will give much pleasure and satisfaction to those who will have that privilege. I have utmost confidence in their success and my best wishes go to them.

Now in conclusion, I have enjoyed this past year as your President and I am grateful to you for allowing me that privilege. My thanks also to the entire membership for giving so unstintingly, some formally and some informally, to the affairs of the Association. There was not a single person who did not perform any task requested of him if able to do so. That sort of loyalty is characteristic of our Association and therein lies its inner strength.

Long may it continue!

E. L. JACK

Delivered at University of Maryland June 18, 1962

Citation by Dr. K. L. Turk for the Recipient of the American Dairy Science Association's Award of Honor for 1962

The highest recognition that the American Dairy Science Association can extend to any of its members is its Award of Honor. Again this year it is our privilege to honor a distinguished teacher and scientist, a man who is concluding an outstanding 42-yr. career in dairy cattle education and research.

The recipient of our Award of Honor was born and raised at Clermont, Iowa. After finishing high school, he entered Iowa State College



R. B. Becker

(now Iowa State University) and completed the B.S. degree in 1916. After serving in the 91st Infantry Division of the United States Army in World War 1, he returned to Iowa State College for graduate work and earned the M.S. degree in 1920.

At that time he accepted a position as Instructor of Dairy Dairy Husbandry at Kansas State College

(now Kansas State University), where he remained 3 yr. He later served as Instructor at the University of Minnesota, where he completed the requirements for the Ph.D. in 1925.

After completing his grauate work our recipient was appointed Associate Professor of Dairy Husbandry at Oklahoma A & M College (now Oklahoma State University), a position he held 3 yr. In 1929, he transferred to the University of Florida, serving as Associate Dairy Husbandman until 1935 and as Professor of Dairying and Dairy Husbandman continuously since that time.

His long and distinguished service to three universities, especially to the University of Florida, and to the dairy industry, is widely known and appreciated. While his interests in research have been many, our recipient probably is best known for his contributions and stimulating leadership in mineral studies with cattle. His name is intimately associated with cobalt studies and the establishment of cobalt as a necessary nutrient, with research on copper, and with classical investigations on the role of calcium and phosphorus in the nutrition of dairy cattle.



President E. L. Jack congratulating Dr. R. B. Becker (center) after presenting him with the American Dairy Science Association Award of Honor. Dr. K. L. Turk (left) read the citation.

He is also well known and respected because of his investigations into the factors which make for a productive dairy herd, studies on the useful life span of dairy bulls, and the management and breeding patterns which result in the development of a profitable dairy operation.

This man has been particularly appreciated by the dairymen of the country because of his intimate knowledge of dairy production problems and because he has been interested in conducting extensive and continuous studies with various feedstuffs. He is a careful and meticulous worker and his insistence upon careful evaluation of new feed materials has paid tremendous dividends to dairy farmers and the entire dairy industry. The results of his research have been recorded in more than 90 scientific articles and bulletins. In addition, he has published over 100 articles in trade and breed journals. He has recently completed the manuscript for a new book entitled, Dairy Cattle Breeds - Origin and Development.

It may surprise you to know that our recipient has been active all of his life in paleontology and anthropology. Many of his specimens collected are now housed in some of the most famous museums in this and other countries. He has been an active stamp collector for many years, and has spent some of his other spare time in nature study, particularly in the field of ornithology. Also, he has been active in his church and in Rotary International.

This man has served our Association extensively and ably since his first appointment to the 4-H Club Committee in 1922. His service on many of our important committees has been almost continuous since that time. On two different occasions he served as Secretary, Vice-President, and President of the Southern Division, A.D.S.A., and he served as Vice-President of this Association in 1951 and President in 1952.

Many honors have come to our recipient. He received the Honors Award for distinguished service to the dairy industry of the South presented by the Southern Division, A.D.S.A. in 1952. He received the Borden Award in dairy production in 1953. His University presented him with the first Gamma Sigma Delta Senior Faculty Award in 1955, the outstanding teacher award presented by Alpha Zeta in 1959, and the Blue Key Certificate of Appreciation in 1959, in recognition of significant contributions to his profession and to academic life at the University of Florida.

Tonight the members of the American Dairy Science Association are pleased to bestow further honor upon this distinguished fellow member. Our Award of Honor does not carry money value, as do most of the other awards, but it does include best wishes from more than 2,500 members of this Association, in recognition of his many contributions to the dairy industry.

The American Dairy Science Association be-

stows its highest recognition, the Award of Honor, on Dr. Raymond B. Becker of the University of Florida.

Citation by Professor Raymond Albrechtsen for the Recipient of the DeLaval Extension Award for 1962

The recipient of the 1962 DeLaval Award in Extension was born in Indiana. His early experience in dairy farming came from living on a Jersey farm and his experience as a 4-H Club boy. At this early age, he showed qualities of leadership by becoming a leader of the 4-H Club work in his community. This leadership trait was further developed at Purdue Univer-



C. G. Cushman

sity where, while earning his B.S. degree in Dairy Husbandry, he also was managing director of the student daily newspaper, a chairman of the Senior Gala Week and many other campus functions. He was a member of several honorary journalism and public relations fraternities.

He entered dairy extension work in 1921 in a state rather distantly removed from his native state. His ability to organize people was quickly brought into play in his new work. He recognized the disastrous consequences of using scrub dairy sires, so he proceeded to organize Scrub Sire Eradication Programs. His interest in dairy eattle and other types of livestock led to the organization of 16 county agricultural programs which eventually resulted in the establishment of 11 milk fat manufacturing plants. These programs gave significant impetus to dairying in this state.



Dr. G. H. Hopson (left) of the DeLaval Separator Company presented the DeLaval Extension Award to Professor C. G. Cushman of Clemson College, with Professor Raymond Albrectsen (right), who read the citation.

He devoted a great deal of time to the development of a forage production and harvesting program supplemented with extensive annual and permanent pasture demonstrations. These works are basic to the present practices throughout the state.

His versatility in the field of dairy husbandry is exemplified by his organization of 4-H dairy clubs, his leadership in brucellosis eradication, the organization of four state dairy cattle organizations, and the organization of artificial breeding associations.

He has served as chairman of such activities as June Dairy Month, a committee studying the dairy industry in the state with recommendations for long-range program development. More recently, he has been chairman of a public relations committee involving television, radio, and press programs in the public relations effort in keeping the dairy industry of his state in a favorable position in the eyes of the general public.

In the field of dairy herd improvement association work, he is credited with devising a system of recognizing the percentages of various dairy cattle feed nutrients that need to be considered in evaluating feeding programs on dairy farms. He has found time to write more than 20 extension circulars and bulletins.

He has been recognized by dairymen in his state, by the agricultural press, and by his associates in the southern division of the American Dairy Science Association for his outstanding contribution to the dairy industry of his adopted home state. The designation of C. G. Cushman of Clemson College to receive the DeLaval Award in Extension is a fitting climax to 39.5 yr of dedicated service to the people and to the dairy industry of the state of South Carolina.

Citation by Dr. Bruce Poulton for the Recipient of the Milk Industry Teaching Award in Dairy Production for 1962

In his book The Education of Henry Adams, the author, Henry Brook Adams, made this observation: "A teacher affects all eternity. He can never tell where his influence stops." Tonight, our Association recognizes a man whose influence as a teacher has been felt by nearly 5,000 students during his 34 yr of active teaching. Certainly, our recipient's influence as a teacher is destined to continue for many, many years. It is particularly appropriate that this



P. M. Reaves

year's recipient be a member of the great State of Virginia's teaching faculty, for certainly our country's agricultural beginnings are in Virginia. Our recipient's career began in Greene County, Tennessee, where he was farm-reared and directed national attention to his exploits particularly as a State Champion Corn-Club boy. He received his B.S. degree in dairy production from the University of Tennessee. He did his graduate work there, receiving his M.S. degree, then continued graduate work at Iowa State College. Since 1928, he has been a member of the teaching faculty at Virginia Polytechnie Institute. His teaching ability has been recognized by his colleagues, who granted him the College's Outstanding Teaching Award in 1957.



Mr. L. S. Robinson (left), General Manager, Sealtest Foods Division, Washington, D. C., presented the American Dairy Science Association Teaching Award in Dairy Production, sponsored by the National Dairy Products Corporation, to Professor P. M. Reaves of Virginia Polytechnic Institute, with Dr. Bruce Poulton (right), who read the citation.

Through the years, he has not only taught but has found time to publish a number of scientific articles and to collaborate as an author on several widely used textbooks in our field. His contributions to our American Dairy Science Association are too numerous to list—suffice it to say that at the present time he is very active in our Organization's Membership Committee and Student Affiliate Committee. He is Past-President of the Southern Section of the American Dairy Science Association.

Perhaps the best way to bring to life his devotion to undergraduate students in dairy science is to quote from the dedication section of the P.I. Dairy Year Book of 1955: "In recognition of his sterling character, unselfish service, wise counsel, and enduring faith in students of dairy husbandry we dedicate the 1955 issue of the Milk Way to—."

At this time it gives me great pleasure to call to the stage for our recognition Professor Paul Marvin Reaves, to receive this year's Λ .D.S.A. Award for Distinguished Teaching.

Citation by Dr. C. L. Norton for the Recipient of the Borden Award in Dairy Production for 1962

The recipient of the Borden Award in Dairy Production for 1962 was born in Elmhurst, Long Island, in 1916. He attended Johns Hopkins University and Stanford University before enrolling at Iowa State University, where he graduated in 1939. He received his M.S. degree at Rutgers University in 1941. Military service in the African and European theaters of operation



H. D. Eaton

from 1942–1946 interrupted his Ph.D. studies at Ithaca, but he completed his work and was awarded this degree by Cornell University in 1947.

The recipient's research has involved nutritional studies on forage evaluation, methods of calf rearing, antibioties in calf rations, the role of antioxidants in vitamin A utilization, and prevention of oxidized flavor in milk. However, his research for over 10 yr has dealt primarily with numerous studies of fat-soluble vitamins and their interrelationships and the mechanisms responsible for the biochemical, physiological, anatomical, and histopathological effects of de-



The citation for the Borden Award in Dairy Production was read by Dr. C. L. Norton (left) and presented to Dr. H. D. Eaton of Connecticut State University by Mr. J. H. McCain, Vice-President of the Borden Foundation.

ficiencies of vitamin A. These and others studies are the subject of 62 scientific publications by him and his co-workers.

The recipient is a meticulous researcher who emphasizes precision in all phases of his work. He has always possessed a keen interest in experimental design and the statistical analysis of results. His graduate students have benefited from his unselfish and unrelenting encouragement to develop and his outstanding example of zealous and dedicated research effort.

Aside from a six-month sabbatical leave at North Carolina State College in 1954, and a year's sabbatical leave in 1961–62 at the Philadelphia General Hospital, where he worked on biochemical interrelationships between protein and vitamin A, the recipient has been a staff member at the University of Connecticut since 1947. He received the A.D.S.A. American Feed Manufacturers Award in Dairy Cattle Nutrition in 1952 and the New York Farmers, Inc., Agricultural Award in 1955.

On behalf of the selection committee, it is my happy privilege to ask Dr. Hamilton D. Eaton, Professor of Animal Nutrition, to come forward to receive the 1962 Borden Award in Dairy Production.

Citation by Dr. W. M. Roberts for the Recipient of the American Dairy Science Association Distinguished Service Award for 1962

Our candidate to receive the 1962 Distinguished Service Award is a native of Maine. He earned his bachelor's degree at the University of Maine, and did graduate work in bacteriology and botany at the same institution.

Before the turn of the century he was engaged in research at the New York Agricultural Experiment Station. He joined the U.S. Department of Agriculture as a bacteriologist in 1902. From 1906 until his retirement in 1942, he was chief of the Dairy Products Research Laboratories, U.S. Department of Agriculture.

As scientist, inventor, and author, he has contributed much to the dairy industry. He showed conclusively that butter made from pasteurized sweet cream had better and more uniform initial flavor, and much better keeping quality than butter made from raw, ripened cream. This discovery, made almost 60 yr ago, revolutionized the theory and practice of butter making, and resulted in a tremendous increase in monetary return to the industry.

He initiated, conducted, and through associates directed and influenced both fundamental and applied research for 45 yr over a wide area of dairy science. He was an unselfish leader and developer of scientists. He was admired, esteemed, and loved by them. The discoveries of this man and his associates have contributed profoundly to the knowledge of milk and milk products, and to the development of improved



L. A. Rogers

methods for manufacturing or processing milk products.

In all his activities he exhibited a high degree of creativity which led him and his associates to new approaches to old problems. He was endowed with a rare mechanical sense and a love for fashioning new equipment and apparatus. This was a tremendous asset in research a halfcentury ago before apparatus manufacturers were able to cater to every whim of the experimental scientist.

Alone or jointly he authored almost 100 scientific publications, exclusive of the many published abstracts of papers presented at national and area meetings.

His accomplishments are many, and the honors have not been lacking. In 1937 he was the first to receive the Borden Award. He holds honorary degrees from the University of Maryland and the University of Maine. The building which houses the University of Maine's dairy instructions and research was named and dedicated in recognition of his many outstanding scientific contributions to the dairy industry. The classic reference book, Fundamentals of Dairy Science, was written in 1927 and revised in 1934 by his associates. The book was dedicated to him as follows:

"In recognition of his quarter-century service in the advancement of knowledge, embracing important contributions in pure science as well as its applications to industry; and because he embodies in the highest degree their ideal of unselfish devotion and untiring loyalty, alike to his work and to his fellow workers, this volume is dedicated with admiration and affection, by those who have been privileged to serve under his leadership."

Many years have passed since his associates penned those words. They are worth repeating, however, because the qualities that made him a leader are still evident. It is with real pride that the Committee recommends that the American Dairy Science Association salute this leader by awarding the Distinguished Service Award to Mr. Lore Alford Rogers.

Citation by Dr. Robert Jenness for the Recipient of the Borden Award in Dairy Manufactures for 1962

The 1962 recipient of the Borden Award in Dairy Manufacturing was born in Walla Walla, Washington, in 1905. He was educated at the University of Missouri, receiving the A.B. from that institution in 1929 and the Ph.D. in 1933. From 1933 to 1935 he served as instructor at his Alma Mater and then went to Yale University for 2 yr of post-doctoral study. In the period 1937 to 1939 he was associate professor in the Medical School of the University of Arkansas. In 1939, he joined the staff of the State College of Washington at Pullman, in which institution, now Washington State University, he has served continuously until the present, now occupying the position of Professor of Dairy Science.

The scientific research of the recipient has been principally concerned with basic studies



U. S. Ashworth

of the nonfat solids of milk and particularly with the milk proteins. His work, characterized by originality, thoroughness, precision, and meticulous attention to detail, has produced valuable techniques now widely used in commercial as well as institutional research laboratories. Examples are a turbidimetric method for estimation of whey proteins as an indication of baking quality of nonfat dry milk, a wettability test for dry milk, a turbidity test for determining efficiency of homogenization, and an improved procedure for determining milk proteins by dye binding. He has been very active in studies of various problems in the field of dry milk including baking quality, reducing substances, solubility and reconstitutability, and flavor. In recent years he has turned his attention to fundamental studies on casein and changes induced therein by the action of rennin.



Mr. J. H. McCain, Vice-President of the Borden Foundation, presented the Borden Award in Dairy Manufacturing to Dr. U. S. Ashworth (center). Dr. E. O. Herreid, substituting for Dr. Robert Jenness, read the citation.

The recipient is author or coauthor of about 30 publications in scientific journals and of numerous contributions to the scientific sessions of the American Dairy Science Association and of its Western Division. He has served the Association on committees concerned with curd tension, with protein nemenclature and with milk solids. At present he is serving on the Editorial Board of the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE.

It is a pleasure to present Dr. U. S. Ashworth of Washington State University as the 1962 winner of the Borden Award in Dairy Manufacturing.

Citation by Dr. J. B. Stine for the Recipient of the Paul-Lewis Award for Cheese Research for 1962

The person chosen by the Committee to receive the 1962 Paul-Lewis Award for cheese research was born in Conway, South Carolina. He received his B.S. in 1943 from Clemson College, his M.S. in 1948 from Iowa State Univer-



E. B. Collins

sity, and in 1949 his Ph.D. from the same institution.

The recipient did research at the Dairy Research Institute at Palmerston North, New Zealand, under the Fulbright Award. He is a member of a number of organizations and societies, including Phi Kappa Phi, Phi Eta Sigma, Alpha Zeta, Phi Lambda Upsilon, Sigma Xi; listed in Who's Who in American Colleges and Universities; member of the American Dairy Science Association, Society of American Microbiologists, and the International Association of Milk and Food Sanitarians. He served in the U. S. Army from 1943-46.

Our nominee for the Paul-Lewis Award has made major contributions to understanding the growth of lactic streptococci separately and in combination with other organisms. Two important aspects have received detailed study. They are the antibiotic production by certain strains of the lactic streptococci, and domination among strains of the lactic organisms, These studies provided information essential for dependable control of composition of cultures in both research and commercial work.

The recipient's studies have provided a program for control of cheese cultures to prevent slow acid production due to action of bacteriophage. The program he worked out involved determining which phages are present in a dairy plant, combining appropriate strains of culture organisms for use in rotation, replacing the combinations routinely to avoid strain domination, examining whey for bacteriophage routinely, and changing the composition of cultures when different phages appear in the dairy plant. This control program has been made available to dairy plants by a commerical laboratory.

The recipient has made a number of contributions to Cottage cheese in the prevention of spoiling of this product. His findings have contributed much to the manufacture of Cottage cheese.

On behalf of the Paul-Lewis Award Selection committee, it is a distinct pleasure to present the recipient of the 1962 Award, Dr. Edwin Bruce Collins, Associate Professor of the University of California, Department of Food Science and Technology, of Davis, California.



Mr. M. W. Hale, Director, Dairy Division, Paul-Lewis Laboratories, presented the Paul-Lewis Award to Dr. E. B. Collins of the University of California. Dr. W. V. Price (right) read the citation.

Citation by H. A. Keener for the Recipient of the American Feed Manufacturers' Award for 1962

The recipient of the American Feed Manufacturers' Award for 1962 was born in Cleveland, Ohio, in 1917. He earned the B.S. degree in 1940, the M.S. in 1941, and the Ph.D. in 1947, all at The Ohio State University. During the past 21 yr he has been the author or coauthor of 130 scientific papers and miscellaneous reports dealing with many phases of dairy cattle nutrition. He has systematically combined fundamental and applied research within the same project to develop physiologically sound, practical feeding programs. His papers have displayed a high standard of scholarship and personal attainment.

The recipient is best known for the following research contributions:

1. Determination of dosage levels and critical time for giving massive doses of Vitamin D for prevention of milk fever.



J. W. Hibbs

- 2. The development of a high roughage system for raising low-cost dairy herd replacements.
- 3. Causes and alleviation of anemia in the new-born calf.
- 4. Low-cost production of dairy beef feeders and relative merits of the dairy breed as economical sources of beef.

Other projects which he has either directed

or been closely associated with include the effect of ration changes on feed intake and thyrodial uptake of radioactive iodine, nitrogen metabolism in dairy cows, blood levels of Vitamin A, and the effect of antibiotics on the growth and metabolism of cows.

The recipient received the Borden Award in Dairy Production in 1952. Since 1948 he has been a member of the Graduate Faculty at The Ohio State University. He carries the academic title of Professor of Dairy Science in the Department of Dairy Science, Ohio Agricultural Experiment Station, Wooster, Ohio.

On behalf of the selection committee and the Association, it is a genuine pleasure for me to ask Dr. John W. Hibbs to come forward to receive the American Feed Manufacturers' Award for 1962.



Dr. H. A. Keener (left) read the citation and Mr. W. E. Glennon, President of the American Feed Manufacturers Association, presented the American Feed Manufacturers Award to Dr. J. W. Hibbs (third) of the Ohio Agricultural Experiment Station, with Dr. I. W. Rupel (right), President-Elect of A.D.S.A.

FINAL REGISTRATION, 57th ANNUAL MEETING, AMERICAN DAIRY SCIENCE ASSOCIATION

Men—Members from universities and Federal Government		509			
Members from various branches of industry	• ••	263			
Total members		772			
Nonmembers from universities and and Federal Government Nonmembers from various branches		81			
of industry	• •	56			
Total nonmembers		137			
Affiliate members	•	234			
Total males	•	$1,\!143$			
Women		440			
Children	• •	479			
Grand Total		2,062			
Previous High—Wisconsin 1961—1,916					

The following foreign countries were represented:

Argentina	Ireland
Australia	Netherlands
Belgium	New Zealand
Brazil	Norway
Canada	Peru
Chile	Poland
Colombia	Puerto Rico
Germany	Scotland
Great Britain	Switzerland
India	Union of South Africa
Indonesia	United Arab Republic
Iraq	Venezuela
V	ietnam

All states but Alaska, North Dakota, and Wyoming were represented.

MINUTES OF NATIONAL STUDENT BRANCH MEETING

The third successful meeting of the National Student Branch of the American Dairy Science Association was held at the University of Maryland with President Joseph Lineweaver presiding. Sixteen affiliate chapters were represented, with approximately 60 members attending the business meetings.

The Student Affiliate Chapter Award went to the Georgia Dairy Science Club. Louisiana, Mississippi, and Virginia were given awards of merit for their outstanding work. R. P. Bradley, of Michigan State, was awarded the recognition of being the graduate student who presented the outstanding graduate paper in Manufacturing, while D. E. Otterby of North Carolina State won the award for the outstanding paper in Production.

E. C. Flounders from Abbott Dairies, Philadelphia, addressed the Student Affiliate lunchcon, which was attended by 160 affiliates and guests. The main points which he discussed under his topic, What Management Expects from the College Graduate, were:

- 1. Intelligence
- 2. Ability to handle people
- 3. Ability to adapt to the job
- 4. Ability to communicate
- 5. Ability to analyze

The breakfast, attended by 65 persons, was the time for recognition of those who helped to make our meeting a success. Dr. J. B. Mickle, our senior advisor, and Miss Rebecca Murray, Maryland's Dairy Princess, were each honored. The present officers, advisors, senior Branch Executive Board, and Past Presidents were also recognized. Miss Louise Knolle, A.D.A. Princess, was honored earlier in the week.

Items of business transacted at the meeting were:

(1) A Student Branch emblem made in the form of a tie-pin was approved. This can be purchased by Student Affiliates from the Secretary-Treasurer of the Student Branch.

(2) The Student Branch agreed to work with W. W. Snyder, editor of the Student Affiliate News, for the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE, in featuring one chapter each month along with the regular news in the JOURNAL.

(3) The problem of decreasing membership in the local chapters was discussed extensively.

At the closing meeting of the convention, election of officers was held for our next year's leaders. Those elected were: President—Morris Nichols, Oklahoma; 1st Vice-President—Robert Smargia, Maryland; 2nd Vice-President—Robert Allard, Ohio; 3rd Vice-President—Robert Rossor, Oklahoma; Secretary-Treasurer—Marie Jarvinen, Minnesota.

> CAMILLA CRISTMAN, Secretary-Treasurer Dairy Department

Michigan State University

ACTION ON COMMITTEE REPORTS

a. Awards Rules Revision Committee. This Committee made a final report of a 3-yr. study of the monetary awards rules, designed to clarify and condense the present rules and particularly to organize the dossier material for nominees that is required by the principal nominator. An excellent job has been done. Some of the major changes are as follows: (1) In addition to making nominations in the usual manner, a canvassing committee of two members has been established with a view to canvassing the field to prevent any worthy candidate being overlooked. (2) All nominees for a particular award, other than the winner, will automatically be carried forward as nominees for one additional year. (3) The balloting procedure has been greatly clarified and simplified. (4) The nomination form will be essentially the same as that used in the past, with the exception that it will carry the following statement: "A nominee for an award of honor must be a member of the Association and is recognized for activities in the Association; whereas, a nominee for the distinguished service award (a) may or may not be a member and (b) is recognized for activities in the dairy industry." (5) Forms have been developed stating very clearly what should be supplied by the principal nominator as information supporting the nomines. This, of necessity, varies to some extent depending upon the award. Voted that the report be accepted, properly edited, and placed in the hands of the Secretary for use in connection with the 1963 awards.

b. Journal Management Committee. Voted that the report be accepted and printed in the Journal.

c. International Relations Committee. This Committee has been very active. (1) The reception planned for foreign participants attending the Annual Meeting was a great success, with 150 to 200 present. (2) The Committee planned the symposium on education for leadership in dairying in Latin America. (3) The efforts to work with industry groups on United States membership in the National Dairy Federation have proved to no avail and the Committee feels that if anything further is done, it will have to be by other segments of the industry. (4) There has been some discussion about our Association sponsoring an International Dairy Science Forum. The Board felt that this should be held in abeyance for the time being. Voted to accept the report with commendation. Voted to designate Dr. J. F. Sykes, or a suitable alternate, as a representative of the Association to the World Congress on Fertility and Sterility in Brazil. The Committee is charged with the duty of determining the cost and feasibility of reproducing the JOURNAL summaries of research papers and making them available to appropriate persons in Latin America. The Committee also is to study the possibility of translating the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE into Spanish and Portuguese for distribution in Latin America. The Association President is to write the Secretary of the USDA about this when and if the time seems appropriate.

d. Student Affiliate Committee. Voted that the report of the Student Affiliate Committee be accepted with commendation. The report indicated that their major activities during the past year were: (1) Coordination of the activities of the National Student Branch with those of the parent association; (2) stimulation of interest in Student Chapter activity; (3) stimulation of interest in the Graduate Student Presentation content; (4) recruitment of new members and retention of old members; and (5) promotion of the Student Affiliate News Section in the JOURNAL. Voted that a faculty representative of the institution where the president of the student branch is located should be designated as advisor.

e. Public Health Committee. This report was of an unusually informative nature, covering many major items relating to public health. Voted that the report be accepted and the Committee commended for a well-performed job. Also voted that the section pertaining to staphylococcus food poisoning in cheese, prepared by Dr. C. K. Johns and R. B. Read, and the section pertaining to the certification of bacteriological media and the certification of milk and milk products, prepared by Dr. C. K. Johns, J. C. Olson, Jr., and M. L. Speck, be edited and published in the JOURNAL OF DAIRY SCIENCE.

f. Membership Committee. Voted to accept the report with commendation to the Chairman and his Committee, and that the recommendations contained in the report be given to the new Committee Chairman.

g. Revision of Duties of Resolutions Committee. Voted that a notation be made to the statement in the Administrative Handbook to the effect that the Chairman of the Resolutions Committee may present a resolution that has been rejected by the Board. Also make it clear that a resolution may be presented by any member from the floor.

h. Program Committee. Voted that the Board accept the report and refer a copy to the Chairman for 1963.

i. Education Committee. Voted that the report be accepted with the recommendation that the Handbook statement concerning the duties of the Committee be revised.

j. Ballot Tabulating Committee. Voted that the report of the Ballot Tabulating Committee be accepted. The Committee reported the election of the following officers for 1962-63: S. T. Coulter, Vice-President, W. M. Roberts and N. L. Jacobson, Directors. Because S. T. Coulter had served only 2 yr on the Executive Board, F. E. Nelson was elected for 1 yr to serve Dr. Coulter's term.

k. Auditing Committee. Voted that the report of the Auditing Committeee be accepted and placed on file.

l. Policy Committee. Voted that the report of the Policy Committee be accepted.

m. Centennial Commemorative Program Committee. Voted to thank the Committee for the fine program developed in connection with our Annual Meeting and to discharge the Committee.

n. Advisory Committee to the Dairy Society International. President Jack reported that the officials of D.S.I. were very pleased with the assistance rendered on various matters by the Association Advisory Committee. Voted to accept the report of this Committee.

o. Historian. Voted to accept the report of the Historian with instructions to the Journal Management Committee to review the matter of the location of biographical sketches in the JOURNAL.

p. Representative to the National Research Council. Dr. W. E. Krauss presented an informative report and recommends that the A.D.S.A. advise the Division of Biology and Agriculture of the role it thinks this organization should play in matters pertaining to agricultural seience development and in providing scientific advice on matters pertaining to agriculture. Voted to accept the report and that a letter be sent to Dr. Krauss, thanking him for his stellar service as representative to the Agricultural Board. It was voted that the Editor publish the salient points of the report in the JOURNAL.

q. Representative to American Association for Advancement of Science. This is a very informative report and it is recommended that A.D.S.A. continue to have strong representation to AAAS and Section O and that greater efforts be made to inform our members of programs of AAAS. Voted to accept the report.

r. Representative to 3-A Standards Committee. The report outlines the principal achievements of 3-A Standards Committee for the past year and recommends that A.D.S.A. re-assert its strong interest in the program of 3-A Sanitary Standards and appoint liaison representatives for ensuing years. It was also recommended that instructions concerning 3-A standards be incorporated in dairy curricula. Voted to accept the report and to send an appropriate letter to the 3-A Standards Committee, commending them on the services it is rendering to the dairy industry.

s. Representative to the Ralston Purina Award. The report stated that the qualifications of most of the applicants this year were excellent and that it is gratifying to see students of such high caliber entering graduate study. The Ralston Purina Company is to be commended for its continuing interest in and support of this program. Voted that the report be accepted.

t. Representative to National Association of

Artificial Breeders. Voted to accept this report.

u. Representative to American Grassland Council. This report covers the program that would appear to be a very informative conference to be held at Hershey, Pennsylvania, August 15–17, 1962. Report also states that it will engage in the preparation of educational material for the use in industry, beginning with the preparation of a silage handbook. It is felt that this presents a fine opportunity for members of scientific societies representing dairy, animal husbandry, agronomy, and agricultural engineering to cooperate in writing publications for mass distribution by industry. Voted to aecept the report. v. Representative to National Mastitis Council. The report details the activities of the first annual meeting of the Council, held in Chicago, February 16, 1962, and recommends that the A.D.S.A. not only continue its affiliation with the National Mastitis Council but encourage its members to participate through their respective organization in the promotion of the program. Voted to accept the report.

w. Representative to Milk and Milk Products Labelling Committee. Voted that the report be accepted.

x. Representative to the U.S. Livestock Sanitary Association. Voted to accept this very informative report.

MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND ITS ACTIONS AT THE INTERIM MEETING, FEBRUARY 26–27, AND AT THE ANNUAL MEETING, JUNE 15–16, 1962

H. F. JUDKINS, Secretary-Treasurer 32 Ridgeway Circle, White Plains, N.Y.

1. Minutes of the June, 1961, and February, 1962, meetings. The reading of the minutes of the June, 1961, and February, 1962, meetings was dispensed with.

2. Executive Board and Committee reorganization. President Jack proposed a study of the organization of the Executive Board and Committee functions as follows: (1) the expansion of the Executive Board, (2) creation of an Executive Committee to be the administrative body, (3) establishment of a Finance Committee, and (4) reassignment of some committee functions. Voted that a special committee be named to study the proposal and report to the next meeting.

3. Sustaining Membership. The Secretary reported on the activities of sustaining membership solicitation and stated that 34 memberships had been received to date. Voted that the report be accepted with great satisfaction and that the Association members be encouraged to solicit sustaining members.

4. Acceptance of future award offers. Secretary Judkins announced that all donors of monetary awards have agreed to make them available for 1963. A resolution thanking the donors for their generosity will be sent to them. Voted that the Teaching Award be called the Milk Industry Foundation Teaching Award in Dairy Manufactures in the odd year. In the even years it is to be called the National Dairy Products Corporation Teaching Award in Dairy Production.

5. Secretary-Treasurer's report. Attached.

6. Budget for 1963. Voted to approve a budget in the amount of \$103,708.

7. Annual Meeting locations—next five years. Secretary Judkins announced future Annual Meeting locations as follows: In 1963, Purdue, June 17–19; 1964, Arizona, June 22–24; 1965, Kentucky, June 21–23; 1966, Oregon, June 20–22. Since Auburn University is uncertain about accommodating us for the year 1967, the Secretary was instructed to explore the possibilities for a place for that meeting, preferably in the East.

8. Editor's report. Report accepted with instructions to publish salient portions in the JOURNAL.

9. Selection of Editor. E. O. Herreid was re-elected for 1963 and received the commendation of the Board.

10. Selection of Secretary-Treasurer. H. F. Judkins was re-elected for 1963 and received the commendation of the Board.

11. Selection of Journal Management Committee member. J. E. Legates was elected to a 3-yr term. B. H. Webb was elected for 2 yr to fill the unexpired term of F. J. Doan, retired. Professor Doan remains as consultant to the Committee.

12. Selection of Policy Committee member. G. M. Werner was elected to a 3-yr term. G. H. Wise was elected for 2 yr to fill out the unexpired term of N. L. Jacobson, who has been elected to the Executive Board. The Secretary reported that the vote of the Board taken in September, 1961, resulted in the election of G. M. Trout, Michigan State University, to the Policy Committee.

13. Cooperation on Feed and Agricultural Organization and Association of Official Agricultural Chemists on testing procedures. Voted that a three-member A.D.S.A. liaison committee be established to advise with F.A.O. and A.O.A.C. and the Interagency F.A.O. Committee. This committee will be appointed annually.

14. Distillers' Research Council award proposal. President Jack presented a letter from the Executive Director of the Distillers' Research Council, stating that the Council is considering an award for nutrition in dairy science. A request was made for the rules pertaining to our Association monetary award. This information was supplied. It was the sentiment of the Board that any proposal of this kind, made to our Association, would require careful consideration to avoid conflicts with present awards.

15. Life membership survey. Pursuant to Board action on February 26, the Secretary presented a report showing a classification of the membership according to the number of years dues have been paid. The record shows that 346, or 13.8%, have paid dues for 21 yr or more, indicating that in the next 5 yr our life membership can be expected to increase somewhat from the present number of 53. The report was accepted and it was voted to take no action pertaining to the matter at this time.

16. Élection of life members. The following were elected to life membership effective January 1, 1962: John C. Barnes, Morris Baron, Walter C. Bartsch, P. A. Campbell, L. M. Chapman, C. D. Dahle, R. N. Davis, Bruce Q. Engle, Michael Grimes, Harold Maey, W. B. Nevens, and Harold T. Pratt. As of January 1, 1963: L. H. Burgwald, Ara O. Call, C. J. Cohee, W. A. Cordes, A. C. Fay, H. W. Gregory, Lyman Rich, and C. C. Walts. 17. Publication of APHA Standard Methods

17. Publication of APHA Standard Methods of Milk Analysis. The Secretary reported on a letter from Dr. E. F. Mattison, Executive Director of APHA, dated December 1, 1961, to the effect that it had been decided that the APHA would publish the next edition rather than to engage in a joint association effort. The letter closed with the statement, "We trust that we can continue to have the valuable assistance of the members of the Association in the preparation of future revision of the Manual."

18. Career Booklet. In view of the career material published by the various universities, and in view of the symposium, Selecting a Career in the Dairy Industry, published in the October, 1961, JOURNAL, it was voted not to pursue the matter of a Career Booklet at this time.

19. Publishing of Annual Meeting Symposia. It was voted that symposia presented at the annual meeting be published in the JOURNAL at the recommendation of the Chairman of the Section involved and the Editor-in-Chief.

20. Commendation for President Jack. President E. L. Jack was commended for his fine leadership and extended best wishes for the years to come.

21. Retiring Board members. Appreciation was extended to retiring Board members F. J. Doan and G. H. Wise, and the hope was expressed that the Association would benefit by their counsel for many years to come. 22. Program Chairman, 1963 Meeting. Dr. Stanley Musgrave of Oklahoma was selected.

23. National Medal of Science Nominations. The President read a letter of May 28 from Dr. Frederick Seitz, President of the National Science Foundation, regarding this Award and inviting A.D.S.A. to submit nominees. Since there is an August first deadline on nominations for 1962, President Jack was authorized to appoint an ad hoc Committee to select nominees and to appoint a continuing committee for 1963 to be selected on the same basis as other award committees that would canvass the field encompassed in the Association and select a list of nominees according to instructions. The President appointed R. E. Hodgson, Chairman, L. A. Moore, B. H. Webb, and R. F. Davis for 1962. The sciences covered in this award are physical, biological, mathematical, and engineering.

SECRETARY-TREASURER'S REPORT

MEMBERSHIP

Total no.	members	1961	2,637
Total no.	members	June 22, 1962	2,576

It would appear that we might finish 1962 with about the same number of members as for 1961. At least it appears that the \$2.50 increase in dues has had little or no effect on the results to date.

AFFILIATE MEMBERSHIP	
Total no. members 1961	683
Total no. members June 22, 1962	669

SUBSCRIBERS

Total	no.	subscribers	1961		1,675
Total	no.	subscribers	May 31,	1962	1,611

FINANCIAL

Years ending December 31, 1960, and 1961

	1960	1961
Income	\$92,512.65	\$ 96,560.48
Expense	87,570.32	104,278.18
Gain or Loss	+ * 4.942.33	-\$ 7.717.70 ¹

Value of investments December 31, 1961-\$37,875.29

TRAINING MANUAL

Costs	to	January	31,	1962	\$6,400.12
Sales	to	January	31,	1962	6,824.86
				Gain	\$ 424.74

Inventory January 1, 1962–204 bound copies; 500 unbound copies

SUPPLEMENT—APRIL, 1960, JO	OURNAL
The Effect of Cell Damage on	Animal
Reproduction	
Costs to January 31, 1962	\$2,674.24
Sales to January 31, 1962	2,575.12
\mathbf{Loss}	\$ 100.12
Inventory January 1, 1962-410 d	copies.

¹ Due mainly to increase in size of JOURNAL and 8% increase in printing costs effective July 1, 1961.

1962 prospects

Prospects for 1962 seem good.

1. Membership and subscriptions have held up well.

2. Journal production costs may be lower for 1962. Costs for the first four months of 1962 were \$1,635.61 less than for the same period in 1961, due to the new two-column format and fewer pages per issue.

3. Savings of \$2,936.26 will result because of discontinuance of A.D.S.A. Review.

4. As of May 8, 1962, 34 Sustaining (\$100) Memberships have been obtained.

The above should more than offset any increase in costs and a possible reduction in returns from advertising.

REPORT OF THE DAIRY MANFACTURING SECTION

The Dairy Manufacturing Section held two business meetings, on June 18 and 19, respectively, with Chairman M. L. Speck presiding. Officers elected for 1962-63 were: Chairman, D. M. Graham, Pet Milk Company; vice-chairman, E. L. Thomas, Minnesota; and secretary, M. E. Ellertson, The Carnation Company.

The Committee to Develop a Score-Card for Sterile and Concentrated Milks for Beverage Purposes (J. C. Flake, chairman) reported further progress. During the year a taste panel was conducted using the proposed score-card and a modified hedonic rating system. Analysis of results revealed that each system has merits but that one system cannot be substituted for the other. Further work is needed to select appropriate flavor terms, to describe defects, and to study the relative merits of the two methods of evaluation. The committee was continued for another year.

The committee on Milk Protein Nomenclature, Classification and Methodology (C. W. Gehrke, chairman) reported further progress on the development of a collaborative program on the isolation and characterization of casein fractions. A collaborative study of the kappa caseins has been initiated. The committee was continued.

The Committee on Judging Dairy Products (E. L. Thomas, chairman) reported a successful Collegiate Students' International Contest in the Judging of Dairy Products held at Washington, D. C., on October 23, 1961. Two fellowships were awarded by the Dairy Industries Supply Association. Twenty-one teams participated in the contest, which was the 27th cosponsored by the A.D.S.A. and the D.I.S.A. and the 40th for the A.D.S.A. The Revision of the Contest score-cards was completed and printed cards have been made available from the A.D.S.A. Significant changes were reported in the official 1962 contest rules as follows: (a) inclusion of Cottage cheese as a fifth product in the contest; (b) a provision for permitting an institution which does not enter a three-member team to enter one or two eligible students who may compete for individual placings and prizes only; and (c) an increase in maximum grade on individual criticisms of from one to two points in the grading of contestants' score-cards. Progress was reported towards development of scoring guides for each of the contest score-cards.

A motion that the recipient of the Borden Award in Dairy Manufacturing be invited to present a paper on a phase of his research the year following presentation of the award was defeated. It was decided that the section officers should give further consideration to instituting such lectures by recipients of both the Borden and Paul-Lewis award[§].

Chairman Speck commented on the desirability of arranging for the presentation of invitational papers by outstanding colleagues from foreign countries. This aspect of the program will be investigated further during the coming year.

The Graduate Student Scientific Paper competition in Dairy Manufacturing continues to arouse interest and there were seven competitors representing approximately 9% of the research papers presented. Further consideration will be given towards strengthening this aspect of the program.

The Dairy Manufacturing Extension Section continues to fill a need for many members and eight invitational papers and one regularly submitted paper were presented. The 1961-62 officers of the Section were: chairman, W. S. Arbuckle (Maryland) and secretary, A. L. Rippen (Michigan). At its business meeting on June 18 the following officers were elected for 1962-63: Chairman, A. L. Rippen (Michigan) and secretary, J. C. White (New York).

A total of 77 research papers were presented before the Manufacturing Section meetings.

M. L. SPECK, Chairman D. M. GRAHAM

E. L. THOMAS

REPORT OF PRODUCTION SECTION

Production Section Business Meeting 11 AM, June 19, 1962, with Chairman John C. Thompson, presiding. Minutes of the 1961 meeting were read and approved.

The Dairy Cattle Judging Committee report was presented by C. F. Foreman. The 10-yr report of the activity of the Dairy Cattle Judging Committee was not fully summarized, so a report was not made.

The Eligibility of Contestants in the National Contest was changed to read: "The student must be enrolled in a 4-yr or longer course and have completed not less than 36 wk of college work."

The rules pertaining to classes were changed to read: "Ten classes of four individuals each shall be judged. These shall consist of five classes of cows, three classes of yearling heifers, and two classes of heifer classes in the Holstein, Guernsey, Jersey, Brown Swiss, and Ayrshire breeds."

Resolutions committee report was presented by Chairman Philip Kelly (Nebraska). The following resolutions were passed: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, and 9.¹ There was some discussion on Resolution 2 and the wording was changed to be more compatible with the entire group. There were some objections to Resolution 7, but after an amendment was made the resolution was passed.

I. W. Rupel (Texas) commented on the purposes of the Dairy Shrine Club.

New Committee appointments made by L. H. Schultz (Wisconsin) were as follows: Resolutions: J. B. Frye (Louisiana), Judging: J. W. Crowley (Wisconsin), Breeding: Keith Huston (Kansas), Type: Howard Thoele, (Holstein Assoc.), Dairy Cattle Health: J. F. Sykes (USDA), Feeding and Management: C. A. Lassiter (Michigan), Milk Solids: Lon Mc-Gillard (Michigan).

Officers elected for 1962-63 were: Chairman, L. H. Schultz, Wisconsin; Vice-Chairman, Vearl R. Smith, Arizona; and Secretary, Paul Reaves, Virginia.

J. C. THOMPSON, Chairman

L. H. SCHULTZ, Vice-Chairman V. R. SMITH, Secretary

REPORT OF THE EXTENSION SECTION

There were 133 registrants in the Extension Section, of which 92 were Extension Dairymen.

By action of the Production, Manufacturing, and Extension Sections at the A.D.S.A. Meeting in Madison, Wisconsin, 1961, two new committees were named: (1) Dairy Feeding and Management Committee and (2) Milk Solids Committee.

J. C. Thompson of the Production Section gave the report for the Feeding and Management Committee.

The Milk Solids Committee consists of three members from each of the sections, Production, Manufacturing, and Extension. The chairman of the Committee is to rotate each year from: Extension to Production and to Manufacturing. Four papers were presented. Much interest was shown in solids-not-fat and protein analyses. This committee will continue to function, enthusiastically.

Actions taken at the Business Section:

The Teaching Methods Committee recommended that the exhibits be placed in an area where all members of A.D.S.A. could see them.

The Resolution Committee presented the fol-

lowing resolution for the Extension Section record:

"WHEREAS, Dr. J. F. Kendrick has served for nearly 30 yr as the leader of the National Dairy Herd Improvement Program and has now been appointed Chief of the Data Processing Branch of the Statistical Reporting Service of the USDA, be it

RESOLVED, That the Extension Section of the A.D.S.A. recognize and commend the outstanding leadership and inspiration given to the D.H.I. Program by Dr. J. F. Kendrick. We especially recognize his work with the extension dairymen in the development of electronic data processing, standardization of production testing, and sire-proving procedures on a national basis.

The Dairy Records Committee recommended that an additional member be added to this Committee, who shall be a member of a state or local D.H.I.A. organization. This was defeated. Another motion was passed that the Dairy Records Committee should reconsider this recommendation during the ensuing year.

The Subcommittee Report on modified testing program was presented by Mr. Winters of Washington. It was moved that the Extension Section approve the modified record-keeping plan developed at the state level to meet the needs of dairy farmers. This motion was amended so that the letters of D.H.I.A. shall not be referred to in such a program as developed by such states.

Sam Jones from Alabama reviewed the Handbook of Extension Workers on the record-keeping plans. This handbook will go to the printers as a USDA publication about January 1, 1963.

Gerald King, USDA, reported on the revision of the D.H.I.A. Supervisors Manual. This manual will fill the general needs and is to be supplemented by state and regional central processing centers. Publication of this manual will be November, 1962.

will be November, 1962. The changes in the D.H.I.A. rules as presented by the Dairy Records Committee were amended and adopted by the Extension Section.

A motion was passed requesting that the officers of the extension section assume the responsibilities of revision of the extension section officers handbook. Motion carried.

Expansion of Committee. The committee recommends that the formal organization of the milk composition committee be amended to include three additional committee members from the Dairy industry. These three members should be interested in sales and promotion of dairy products and should be appointed by the President of the American Dairy Science Association. In selecting these three members, one should be interested in sales and promotion of for a 2-yr term, and a third for a 3-yr term. Each year thereafter a person should be appointed for a 3-yr term.

Clarence H. Parsons of Massachusetts was

¹ Numbers refer to resolutions on page 1157.

elected secretary. The officers for the coming year are chairman, C. D. McGrew of Ohio; vice-chairman, Donald Voelker of Iowa; and secretary, C. H. Parsons of Massachusetts.

> W. R. VAN SANT, Chairman C. D. McGrew, Vice-Chairman DONALD VOELKER, Secretary

RESOLUTIONS

1. WHEREAS, The members of the American Dairy Science Association attending the 57th Annual Meeting recognize the work and planning done by the dairy department of the University of Maryland and the USDA departments and local supporting groups involved in this 1962 Annual Meeting, it is hereby

RESOLVED, That we express our appreciation to all of the people who have helped to make this a successful and memorable annual meeting of the American Dairy Science Association.

2. WHEREAS, The generosity of national companies and organizations makes possible a significant progam of annual awards for outstanding achievements in the dairy industry, be it

RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association hereby recognize the important contributions of the following: The Borden Foundation, American Feed Manufacturers Association, DeLaval Separator Company, Milk Industry Foundation, National Dairy Products Corporation, and Paul-Lewis Laboratories, Inc.

- 3. WHEREAS, The National Mastitis Council meeting in February, 1962, has set forth the objective of organizing state units, be it RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association reiterate its commendation of the objectives of the N.M.C. and urge members in the various states to recognize the need for such activity and give their support and encouragement to the establishment of state units involving the leaders in production, processing, and animal health areas.
- 4. WHEREAS, The need for research and education in, and promotion of, milk and milk products continues to be a challenge, be it

RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association commend the work of the American Dairy Association, The National Dairy Council, and public and private organizations for expanding their efforts in this field.

- 5. WHEREAS, Milk fat is a highly nutritious food and contributes to the flavor of the products in which it is used, be it RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association urge the Agricultural Research Service of USDA and the college and university dairy departments to give consideration to initiating and expanding research leading toward new forms of products containing milk fat.
- 6. WHEREAS, There is increasing emphasis on milk and dairy products of higher relative solids nonfat content, be it RESOLVED, That the Agricultural Research Service of USDA and dairy husbandry departments in colleges and universities develop research on breeding, feeding, and management factors which affect solids-notfat and protein production. Be it further RESOLVED, that the American Dairy Science Association encourage the use of higher solids levels in all fluid milk products.
- 7. WHEREAS, The problem of atomic fallout is of concern to consumers and to the food industry, be it RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association commend the government agencies for their valuable services to the industry in the areas of testing, interpretation, and planning for emergency control of food supplies in the event of excessive fallout contamination. We further express our confidence in these agencies as a source of valid information for industry and public use.
- 8. WHEREAS, The beneficial role of milk fat as a source of lipids in human nutrition continues to be challenged, be it RESOLVED, That the American Dairy Science Association recognize the need for further research on the relation of fats to human health by the National Heart Institute of the

National Institute of Health and the Agricultural Research Service of the USDA.

> D. H. JACOBSEN, Chairman FRED MEINERSHAGAN P. L. KELLY J. C. WHITE D. E. MOOK

LECTURE OUTLINES OF PREVENTIVE VETERI-NARY MEDICINE FOR ANIMAL SCIENCE STU-DENTS. I. A. Schipper, Burgess Publishing Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota. 3rd edition, 168 pp., \$4.50. As indicated by the title, the book is an out-

As indicated by the title, the book is an outline of preventive veterinary medicine. It is a very extensive outline and covers anatomy, physiology, endocrinology, reproduction, microbiology, nutrition, pharmacology, environmental factors, stress, and immunology. Diseases of the various systems, acute generalized infectious diseases, parasitology, including internal and external parasites and intoxications caused by insecticides are included in the outline. The outline on infectious disease includes etiology, influencing factors, symptomatology, prophylaxis, public health aspects of the disease, and preventive measures. Management and sanitation, including disinfection, are outlined in detail. The outline is so comprehensive that if covered in detail it would be an abridged course in veterinary medicine. To use all of the outline and cover it in detail would require courses extending over several terms.

> ROGER P. LINK University of Illinois, Urbana

DIFCO

STANDARD METHODS AGAR

Tenth Edition 1953 Eleventh Edition 1960

APPROVED A P H A FORMULA

Pancreatic digest of casein.....5 g. Yeast extract.....2.5 g. Glucose.....1 g. Agar, bacteriological grade.....15 g. Reaction pH 7.0

BACTO PLATE COUNT AGAR

*Bacto - Tryptone PA	OF CASEIN USP 5 g.
Bacto - Yeast Extra	ct2.5 g.
Bacto - Dextrose	SLUCOSE1 g.
Bacto - Agar	15 g.
Reaction	pH 7.0

n pri 7.0

*BACTO – TRYPTONE, Pancreatic Digest Casein USP, has been an A P H A Standard Methods Peptone since 1923 and a Plate Count Agar Peptone since 1939.

According to specifications and standards of

USP United States Pharmacopoeia XVI 1960

APHA Standard Methods for Examination of Dairy Products XI 1960

AOAC Association of Official Agricultural Chemists IX 1960

Descriptive literature on request

Specify

DIFCO LABORATORY PRODUCTS BIOLOGICS CULTURE MEDIA REAGENTS